
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 23 November 2018 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Ms. J. Bailey (Tel. 0116 305 2583) 

Email: jenny.bailey@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 

 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 

Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 

Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk - notices will be on display at 
the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
 Webcast. 
 A webcast of the meeting can be viewed at https://bit.ly/2NKDhFz 

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 
2018.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 14) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth 
Plan - Consideration of Revised Plan for 
Approval.  
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 15 - 82) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online
https://bit.ly/2NKDhFz


 
 
 
 

 
Item   Report by   

 
5.  

  
Annual Delivery Report and Performance 
Compendium 2018.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 83 - 218) 

6.  
  

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 
2018: Leicestershire's Health - The Challenge 
of Frailty and Multi-Morbidity.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 219 - 268) 

7.  
  

Development of a New Model for 
Homelessness and Housing Support.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 269 - 274) 

8.  
  

Improving Connectivity within Watermead 
Country Parks - New Footbridge and 
Cycleway.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 275 - 282) 

9.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

10.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

11.  
  

Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 

 
 

 

 The public are likely to be excluded during the 
following item of business in accordance with 
Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972:- 
Adult Social Care Target Operating Model. 
 

 

12.  
  

Adult Social Care Target Operating Model.  
(Exempt under Paragraphs 3 and 10 of 
Schedule 12A) 
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 283 - 298) 

   



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 16 
October 2018.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 

Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
 

 
In attendance 
 
Mr. L. Breckon CC, Mrs. C. Radford CC, Mrs. D. Taylor CC, Mr. S. J. Galton CC, Dr. T. 
Eynon CC. 
 

201. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2018 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

202. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

203. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. Rushton CC, Mr. Blunt CC, Mr. Rhodes CC, Mrs Posnett CC, Mrs Richardson CC, Mr 
Pain CC and Mr. Shepherd CC each declared a personal interest in agenda item 4 ‘The 
Development of a Unitary Structure for Local Government in Leicestershire’ as members 
of district councils. 
 
Mr. Pain CC declared a personal interest with regard to agenda item 10, ‘Passenger 
Transport Policy and Strategy’ as relatives owned a local taxi company.  
 
Mr. Blunt CC declared a disclosable pecuniary interest with regard to agenda item 11, 
‘HS2 Phase 2b’, as an owner of land affected by HS2 and he undertook to leave the 
meeting during consideration of this item. 
 

204. The Development of a Unitary Structure for Local Government in Leicestershire.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which outlined proposals for a 
unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire and provided an update on the 
development of a Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands. A copy of the report, marked 
‘4’, is filed with these minutes. 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

Regarding a Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands, the Chief Executive advised that 
further consideration would need to be set alongside the recent Government 
announcement about establishing a development corporation around the proposed HS2 
hub at Toton and the eventual geography of the corporation.  
 
Mr. Rushton CC welcomed the opportunity to engage more widely throughout autumn to 
spring with all stakeholders, particularly district councils, MPs, business leaders and 
parish councils on the two options set out in the report and encouraged them to suggest 
alternatives. These would be considered by the cross-party working group, which would 
meet for the first time on 19 October 2018.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the outline proposals for the development of a unitary structure for local 

government in Leicestershire be approved for stakeholder engagement; 
 
b) That the Terms of Reference for the Working Party established by the County 

Council on 26 September be approved; 
 
c) That the present position in respect of a Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands be 

noted. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  
 
To enable consideration to be given to the next steps in the development of a unitary 
structure for local government in Leicestershire. 
 

205. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019-2022.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities concerning 
the outcome of the consultation on the draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Living 
Well with Dementia Strategy for 2019-2022 and seeking approval of the revised Strategy 
and associated delivery plan.  A copy of the report, marked ‘5’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Blunt CC welcomed the Strategy, which sought to improve the quality of specialist 
care for people with dementia.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
a) That the outcome of the consultation on the draft Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019-2022, be noted; 
 
b) That the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Living Well with Dementia Strategy 

2019-2022 and associated delivery plan, be approved. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Overall, the results of the public consultation exercise supported the implementation of 
the Strategy. Minor changes have been made to the document to reflect the feedback. 
 

4



 
 

 

A requirement of the Strategy was that each statutory organisation builds on the high-
level Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland action plan contained within the Strategy by 
developing their own specific delivery plans.  The County Council’s delivery plan has 
been drafted to reflect the consultation results and key responsibilities of the County 
Council. 
 

206. Review of Long Term Residential and Nursing Care Fees.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities seeking 
approval to consult on proposed changes to the way in which the Council agreed prices 
for residential care and residential nursing care.  A copy of the report, marked ‘6’, is filed 
with these minutes.  
 
The Director explained that fees were reviewed annually but a fundamental review of the 
pricing structure had not been undertaken since 2011.  
 
Mr. Blunt CC welcomed the review of the fee structure which was crucial to ensuring that 
the care system worked effectively.  
 
RESOLVED:  

 
a) That the Director of Adults and Communities be authorised to consult on the 

proposed changes to the way in which the Council agrees prices for residential care 
and residential nursing care, as detailed in paragraphs 19 to 27 of the report; 

 
b) A further report be submitted to the Cabinet in June 2019 regarding the outcome of 

the consultation and the proposed way forward. 
 

(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Care Act 2014 places statutory duties on councils to establish a usual price for the 
care home placements they fund. This price needs to give due regard to ensuring that 
there are sufficient care and support services in the local market to meet the needs of all 
people who require care and support. It also places a duty on councils to give due regard 
to ensuring provider sustainability and viability to enable them to meet their employer 
duties and responsibilities and provide the agreed quality of care. 
 
The Adults and Communities Department undertakes an annual fee review process with 
the residential and nursing care market, but it has not fundamentally reviewed its pricing 
structure since 2011.  It is recognised that there have been significant changes to the 
way care and support is delivered since this time and that the demographic of people 
being permanently placed in residential care by the Council is now different. 
 
A fundamental review of the Council’s fee structure and fee levels will help ensure it 
remains fit for purpose and supports a sustainable care market across the County. 
 

207. Capital Investment into Adult Social Care Accommodation-based Support Services.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities regarding the 
development of a capital investment plan for adult social care accommodation-based 
support services and seeking approval to publish a Prior Information Notice. A copy of 
the report, marked ‘7’, is filed with these minutes.  

5



 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the development of a capital investment plan for adult social care 

accommodation-based support services, including its aims and objectives as 
detailed in paragraph 13 of the report, be noted; 

 
b) That the publication of the Public Information Notice (PIN) to initiate engagement 

with the adult social care and investment market be approved; 
 
c) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet in late spring 2019 outlining the 

outcome of the PIN engagement exercise and presenting for approval the capital 
investment plan and strategic business case for future capital investment in adult 
social care accommodation. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The revenue costs of supporting those with social care needs are increasing and are 
likely to continue to increase annually for the foreseeable future. Accommodation based 
care is generally dependent on costs associated with the provision of accommodation 
which itself is influenced by investment models within the private social care and 
investment markets. By engaging with the market the Council will seek to validate its 
assumptions on accommodation costs and develop a strategic business case that will set 
out potential revenue cost savings and income generation through the use of capital 
investment. 
 

208. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Carers Strategy 2018 - 2021.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Adults and Communities, the 
Director of Children and Family Services and the Director of Public Health regarding the 
outcome of the consultation on the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Carers’ Strategy 
2018-21 and seeking approval of the revised Strategy and County Council 
Implementation Plan.  A copy of the report, marked ‘8’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
a) That the outcome of the consultation on the draft joint Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland Carers’ Strategy 2018–2021, be noted; 
 
b) That the joint Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Carers’ Strategy 2018–2021, 

attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved; 
 
c) That the Implementation Plan for the Strategy (attached at Appendix C to the 

report), to be delivered by the County Council, be approved. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The landscape for social care, both nationally and locally, is changing. It is imperative 
that unpaid carers are supported to continue in their caring role and to maintain their own 
health and wellbeing. The new Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Carers’ Strategy, 
which has been the subject of substantial work by partners over the last 18 months, will 
help to facilitate this. 

6



 
 

 

Subject to approval of the Strategy by other commissioning partner organisations, it is 
intended that the Strategy and County Council Implementation Plan will be put into effect 
in Autumn 2018. 
 

209. Development of Integrated Lifestyle Services for Leicestershire - Outcome of 
Consultation.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health regarding the outcome of 
the consultation on the remodelling of lifestyle services and seeking approval for their 
redesign.  A copy of the report, marked ‘9’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Mrs Posnett CC welcomed the report, stating that the proposed model would result in 
improved services, and help enable the Council to remove health inequalities. Integration 
and coordination of lifestyle services would improve their effectiveness, especially for 
those people who accessed more than one service. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
a) That the results of the public consultation on the delivery of integrated lifestyle 

services be noted; 
 
b) That the proposed model for the new integrated approach to lifestyle services and 

remodelled weight management service, set out at paragraph 30 of the report, be 
approved; 

 
c) That the Director of Public Health, following consultation with the Cabinet Lead 

Member for Health and Wellbeing, be authorised to implement the new integrated 
approach to lifestyle services and remodelled weight management service. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The County Council has a statutory responsibility to take appropriate steps to improve the 
health of the people who live in Leicestershire, including the provision of health 
improvement information and advice, and behaviour change support services. 
 
Multiple unhealthy behaviours that contribute to ill health such as poor diet, smoking etc. 
often cluster in the same populations.  An integrated approach will enable services 
currently offered separately to be more co-ordinated and therefore more effective.  
Developing services to utilise newer, and potentially wider-reaching, digital and 
telephone-based methods will also complement the Council’s existing stop smoking and 
First Contact Plus services that have successfully adopted these approaches. 
 

210. Draft Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport regarding 
the outcome of the consultation on the Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS) 
and seeking approval to adopt the PTPS as the basis for future management of 
passenger transport services.  A copy of the report, marked ‘10’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 

Members noted the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, a copy of which is filed with these minutes. 

7



 
 

 

Mr. Pain CC thanked everyone who had responded to the consultation which had 
informed the final Strategy, and noted that the Environment and Transport Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee would receive an annual report on the performance of passenger 
transport services financially supported by the Council. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
a) That the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee be noted; 
 
b) That the results of the consultation on the draft Passenger Transport Policy and 

Strategy (PTPS) be noted; 
 
c) That the response to the consultation, as set out in paragraphs 49 to 55 and 

appendices to the report, be agreed; 
 
d) That the draft PTPS, attached as Appendices A and B to the report, be approved; 
 
e) That the reallocation of £145,000 from the current passenger transport budget be 

approved for assisting in the delivery of the PTPS, including the development of 
local solutions and building public understanding of and confidence in Demand 
Responsive Transport; 

 
f) That a PTPS Operational Handbook  be developed (as set out in paragraphs 56 to 

58 of the report) to ensure a clear, consistent and effective approach to the day-to-
day operational delivery of the PTPS; 

 
g) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 

Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Transport, be authorised to make such 
minor amendments to the PTPS and associated Operational Handbook as 
necessary to ensure that they remain current and conform to legislation (provided 
that such changes have no material effects on the PTPS). 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The PTPS will ensure that the Council meets its statutory duties, delivers value-for-
money passenger transport services and supports the 2018/19 to 2021/22 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 
 
The new PTPS will provide a robust and transparent framework for determining decisions 
on the provision of passenger transport services. This will also help to mitigate the risk to 
the Council from changing circumstances in the commercial market. 
 

211. HS2 Phase 2b.  
 
(Mr. Blunt CC, having declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter, left the 
meeting whilst this item was considered). 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport regarding 
HS2 Phase 2b mitigation measures. A copy of the report, marked ‘11’, is filed with these 
minutes. 

8



 
 

 

Members noted the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, and from Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC and Mr. Max Hunt CC, copies of which are 
filed with these minutes. 
 
The Cabinet noted that the investment was vital to maximise benefits for residents and 
businesses, as well as minimise the dis-benefits during the construction phase and in the 
long term. Officers would be working collaboratively with East Midlands Councils.  
 
Mr. Pain CC said that £400,000 per annum was required for the work as explained in the 
report (not, as he had suggested previously, in total). Whilst this was a substantial sum, it 
was vital to get the best possible outcome for Leicestershire. Mr Pain also thanked Mrs. 
C. Radford CC for representing the Council at numerous meetings/events relating to HS2.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee be noted and its suggested amendment is reflected in (e) below; 
 
b) That the County Council continues to work collaboratively with East Midlands 

Councils regarding HS2 and issues of common interest, as set out in paragraphs 28 
to 35 of the report; 

 
c) That the discussion and feedback received from Warwickshire and 

Buckinghamshire County Councils regarding their experiences of managing Phase 
1 of HS2 be noted; 

 
d) That Option 3, a full proactive approach to engagement with HS2 Ltd, be approved, 

noting the resources implications; 
 
e) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 

Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Transport and subject to engagement 
with the relevant local members, be authorised to respond on behalf of the Council 
to requests and consultations from HS2 Ltd; 

 
f) That the County Council’s response to the Secretary of State regarding a proposed 

route change near Measham, as set out in Appendix B to the report, be noted.   
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
In order to ensure that the County Council has the necessary resources and decision 
making processes in place to seek to achieve maximum benefits for Leicestershire from 
HS2 Phase 2b and to minimise impacts of the rail line during construction and longer 
term operation. 
 
OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED: 
 
The following 3 options were considered:  
 

1. No change to current approach – the Council would continue to engage with HS2 
Ltd, but no work would be carried out on environmental impacts, and there would 
be no involvement with the Parliamentary Select Committee process. 

9



 
 

 

2. Basic engagement – the Council would engage sufficiently in the planning and 
legal process, primarily on a reactive basis, to ensure that Phase 2b is built and 
will operate with the minimum level of disruption.  
 

3. Full, proactive approach – the Council to raise matters with HS2 Ltd and seek to 
maximise the amount/level of mitigation from HS2 Ltd as well as fulfilling a 
leadership role.  

 

(Mr. Blunt then returned to the meeting). 
 

212. Traffic Regulation Order - Churchill Close, Oadby - No Waiting at any Time Restrictions.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport regarding 
the implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) “No Waiting at Any Time” 
restriction on Churchill Close, Oadby.  A copy of the report marked ‘12’ is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
The Director clarified that there were 27 (not 35) garages on the site owned by Oadby 
and Wigston Borough Council; half of which had since been brought back into use. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Traffic Regulation Order proposed “waiting restrictions” associated with Churchill 
Close, Oadby, as shown on drawing no. TM4422/T1/1/1 attached as Appendix A to the 
report, be approved for implementation. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
TROs are usually determined by the Director of Environment and Transport but in this 
case the local Members did not support the proposal so it was referred to the Cabinet. 
 
Churchill Close is a “no through road” and is relatively narrow. When vehicles are parked 
on both sides of Churchill Close it is difficult for the emergency services to gain access. 
There are also issues for vehicles using the road in both directions due to lack of passing 
spaces.  The restrictions will create a safe access for the emergency services into and 
out of Churchill Close and also provide passing places for vehicles in the vicinity and 
prevent potential blocking of the highway. 
 
The garages on Churchill Close owned by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council used to 
provide residential off-street parking for up to 27 (not 35) vehicles. The garages had been 
taken out of use for a period of time by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, however 
have recently been brought back into use with half of the available spaces currently 
leased by residents. 
 

213. Review of Leicestershire County Council's Planning Obligations Policy - Consultation 
Draft.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the review of the 
Planning Obligations Policy.  A copy of the report marked ‘13’ is filed with these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the revised draft Leicestershire Planning Obligations Policy document attached 

as an Appendix to the report be approved for consultation; 

10



 
 

 

b) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet in February 2019 regarding the 
outcome of the consultation exercise and presenting the final revised Planning 
Obligations Policy for approval. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
It is essential that the effects of new developments approved by the Leicestershire local 
planning authorities and the County Council in its Local Planning Authority role are 
mitigated through the provision of appropriate and necessary infrastructure, services and 
community facilities funded via developer contributions secured by way of s106 planning 
obligations. 
 
The County Council adopted its current Planning Obligations Policy in December 2014. It 
is necessary to keep the Policy under review in the light of changes in planning policy, 
good practice, the law, and market conditions and the proposed revisions reflect the 
changes that have taken place over the past four years. 
 

214. Developer Contributions towards County Council Services.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which provided an update 
regarding concerns that the Council’s reasonable expectations of receiving developer 
contributions to meet demands placed on services created by developments across the 
County were being met.  A copy of the report, marked ‘14’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update be noted and that progress with regard to securing Developer 
Contributions continues to be monitored. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
It is important that the County Council does what it can to meet the demands on its 
services in increasingly difficult financial circumstances. Ensuring that developers make 
appropriate contributions to mitigate the consequences of their developments via 
Developer Contributions is essential if communities are not disadvantaged and the 
County Council is not put under excessive financial demands which it will not be able to 
meet. 
 
Local planning authorities should do all they can to ensure developments are sustainable 
and meet the reasonable obligations requested of them. 
 

215. Response to Government Consultation on Permitted Development for Shale Gas 
Exploration and Inclusion of Shale Gas Production Projects in the Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project Regime.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which sought approval of the 
draft responses to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and the 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy consultations on shale gas 
exploration and production.  A copy of the report, marked ‘15’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 

11



 
 

 

 
That the responses set out in Appendices A and B to the report be approved for 
submission to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and the 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy respectively as the views of the 
County Council. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
The Government considers that onshore shale gas production has the potential to play a 
major role in securing energy supplies and creating economic benefits for the UK, and in 
May 2018 Written Ministerial Statements announced measures to facilitate timely 
decisions on shale gas planning applications and support Mineral Planning Authorities. 
These two consultations offered an opportunity for the County Council to comment on the 
Government’s proposals for 
 

a.  changing the process for making decisions on shale gas developments, including 
granting planning permission through a permitted development right to some non-
hydraulic fracturing shale gas exploration development; and 

 

b.  taking decisions on applications for shale gas production away from the County 
Council and placing them with the Secretary of State for the Department of Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy through the National Infrastructure Planning regime. 

 
216. Social Value Policy Statement.  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive and Director of Corporate 
Resources which sought approval for the County Council’s Social Value Policy 
Statement.  A copy of the report, marked ‘16’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mrs Richardson CC commended the Policy Statement, which would help the Council to 
get maximum value from contracts, bringing in resources from suppliers and providers to 
benefit communities.  It was not just about money, but wider benefits such as health and 
wellbeing. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the Social Value Policy Statement appended to the report be approved; 
 
b) That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources, 

be authorised to review and amend the Social Value Policy Statement annually to 
ensure that it remains fit for purpose and in line with legislation and good practice. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION:  
 
Under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, the Council must consider wider 
social, economic and environmental benefits when awarding contracts for services 
valued above the current EU financial threshold for public procurement. This Policy 
Statement proposes an approach which goes beyond this statutory requirement in order 
to secure wider community benefits for the people of Leicestershire. 
 

217. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from Overview and Scrutiny. 
 

12



 
 

 

218. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded for 
the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act and that, in all circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information – 
 

Sale of Land at Market Harborough - Report to the Cabinet as Trustee of the Nicholson 
Memorial Trust. 
 

219. Sale of Land at Market Harborough - Report to the Cabinet as Trustee of the Nicholson 
Memorial Trust.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint exempt report of the Director of Corporate Resources and 
the Director of Law and Governance seeking the agreement of the Cabinet sitting as the 
Trustee of the Nicholson Memorial Fund to the sale of land at the rear of 32 Leicester 
Road, Market Harborough.  A copy of the report, marked ‘20’, is filed with these minutes. 
The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the Cabinet in its role as Trustee of the Nicholson Memorial Fund agrees to the 

sale of the land to the rear of 32 Leicester Road, Market Harborough;  
 
b) That it be noted that the proposed sale price outlined in the report is subject to the 

potential purchaser obtaining planning permission, and that the Fund’s selling agent 
has indicated that the agreed price is a fair reflection of the full value; 

 
c) That the Director of Corporate Resources, in consultation with the Director of Law 

and Governance, be authorised to proceed with the sale of land referred to in (a) 
above, subject to obtaining confirmation from the original valuer (Professional 
House Surveys Ltd), in the event of planning permission being granted, that the 
agreed sale price remains a fair reflection of the full value to ensure compliance with 
the Charities Act 2011. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION:  
 
To secure a capital receipt for the Nicholson Memorial Fund.  
 
 

 
2.00 - 3.19 pm  CHAIRMAN 
16 October 2018 

 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 23RD NOVEMBER 2018 
 

LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN -  
CONSIDERATION OF REVISED PLAN FOR APPROVAL 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to enable Members to consider the revised 
Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (the revised SGP) which is 
attached as Appendix A to this report. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 

 
(a) The Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) “Leicester and Leicestershire 2050: 

Our Vision for Growth” be approved;  
 
(b) The Chief Executive (or equivalent) of each SGP partner authority, 

following consultation with the Leader of that authority and the Joint 
Strategic Planning Manager, be authorised to agree, prior to publication, 
any final minor amendments to the SGP which do not significantly 
change the overall content or purpose of the document; and 

 
(c) The Members’ Advisory Group be thanked for its work on the 

preparation of a long-term strategy for the future development and 
prosperity of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 

3. Approval of the SGP will put in place a key long-term strategy for the future 
development and prosperity of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
4. The revised SGP is being submitted to each participating authority for approval 

during the autumn/early winter and it is likely that, during this process, the need 
for some minor changes will be identified.  Enabling the Chief Executive (or 
equivalent) to make such amendments following consultation with the Leader 
and Joint Strategic Planning Manager (JSPM) will avoid unnecessary delay.  
The JSPM reports to all partner organisations and acts on behalf of the 
Members’ Advisory Group (MAG). 
 

15 Agenda Item 4



5. The MAG, comprising representatives from each of the District Councils, the 
County Council and Leicester City Council (with the LLEP as an observer), has 
overseen the preparation of the SGP over the past three years 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
6. The Scrutiny Commission considered the revised SGP on 31 October 2018 and 

an extract from the minutes of that meeting is attached to this report as 
Appendix D. 
 

7. The revised SGP was endorsed by the MAG on 24 September 2018, and 
individual authorities recommended to approve the revised SGP via the 
appropriate member processes during autumn/winter 2018. 

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

8. On 17 June 2016, the Cabinet approved the Strategic Growth Statement for 
consultation.  This formed the first stage in the development of the SGP.  The 
Statement: 
 

 Set out the rationale and proposed process for preparation of the SGP;  

 Identified the defining characteristics of the local area and challenges 
faced by the partners; 

 Outlined the evidence base that would be assembled and the generic 
spatial options to be considered in formulating a SGP; and  

 Set out initial objectives and ambitions for the future. 
 

9. On 10 March 2017, the Cabinet approved the Joint Statement of Co-operation 
Relating to Objectively Assessed Need for Housing. The Statement: 
 

 Confirmed the commitment of partner organisations (the seven district 
councils of Leicestershire, Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County 
Council, and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership) to 
collaborative working; and 

 Ensured that all partners demonstrated commitment to providing for their 
objectively assessed housing needs and a collaborative approach to be 
taken to resolve the provision of any unmet need. 

 
10. The Consultation Draft SGP was endorsed by the MAG on 6 November 2017 

and subsequently approved for the purpose of public consultation by the 
Cabinet on 24 November 2017.  A 17-week consultation period began on 11 
January 2018 and closed on 10 May 2018. 
 

11. On 9 March 2018, the Cabinet considered its response to the consultation and 
resolved that: 

 

 The Consultation Draft Strategic Growth Plan be welcomed as a key, 
long-term strategy for the future development and prosperity of Leicester 
and Leicestershire; 

16



 The detailed comments on the draft Strategic Growth Plan as set out in 
paragraphs 33 to 36 of the report be submitted to the Members Advisory 
Group for its consideration in finalising the Plan. 

 The Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with 
the Cabinet Lead Member, be authorised to agree a joint statement on 
the findings of the strategic transport assessment with Leicester City 
Council if it is decided that this is required.  

 
Resource Implications 
 

12. There are no immediate resource implications for the Council arising from the 
recommendations in this report as support for the development of the Plan is 
being resourced through existing staffing and operational budgets.  The long 
term delivery of the SGP will be dependent on the necessary resources being 
secured to finance the delivery of key infrastructure in parallel with the growth 
outlined in the SGP. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

13. A copy of this report will be circulated to all members under the Members’ 
Digest service. 

 
Officers to Contact 
 

Tom Purnell   
Assistant Chief Executive  
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 

Sharon Wiggins  
Strategic Planning Manager, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 8234   Email: sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk 
 

17

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Context 
 
14. The report to the Cabinet in June 2016 set out the background to the 

development of the draft SGP, including the abolition of regional spatial 
strategies by the Government in 2010 and the resulting need for local planning 
authorities to consider strategic planning within the context of the ‘duty to co-
operate’ required by the Localism Act 2011. 
 

15. In Leicester and Leicestershire it was decided by the local planning authorities 
that long-term strategic planning would be more effective if undertaken across 
the City and County and to include the local enterprise partnership, the LLEP, 
as a partner.    

 

16. The SGP has, therefore, been prepared jointly by the district councils as local 
planning authorities, the County Council as the highway authority and the City 
Council as a unitary authority with combined planning and highways 
responsibilities.  Each of these is represented on the MAG which, supported by 
senior officers, has overseen the preparation of the Plan.  The LLEP attends 
MAG meetings as an observer.  Homes England (formerly the Homes and 
Communities Agency) attends the senior officer group that supports the MAG in 
the capacity of an observer. 

 

17. The SGP will: 
 

 Support partners to plan effectively for the future, giving Local Plans a 
consistent framework, help to make decisions on infrastructure and 
secure Government funding. 

 Give some control over accommodating and supporting future growth 
and help to protect and enhance environmental assets. 

 Provide confidence to the market, Government, local businesses and 
residents that the local councils and the LLEP are working together to 
manage the growth of the area in a plan-led and co-ordinated manner. 

 

18. There are risks in not having a SGP, summarised in Appendix C to this report.  
These include the danger of ad-hoc and piecemeal development unsupported 
by the necessary infrastructure, failure to deliver on housing requirements, and 
delays in the preparation of Local Plans. 
 

19. As the SGP has been developed, a number of events have been held for 
Members to keep them advised of progress including all-Member briefings 
which took place on 10 June 2016, 27 September 2017, 1 November 2017 and 
12 September 2018.  

 
Key elements of the SGP 
 

20. The SGP sets out a strategy for the growth and development of Leicester and 
Leicestershire in the period to 2050, enabling partners to consider the longer 
term needs of the area and opportunities which extend beyond the 
conventional timeframe of a Local Plan.  The MAG considered the distribution 

18



of housing and employment land over the period 2011-31 and 2011-36 in the 
context of the Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(January 2017) in order to give a more detailed framework for shorter term 
Local Plans which are produced by the districts and City Council as local 
planning authorities (the County Council is the local planning authority for 
minerals and waste). 

 

21. There have been ongoing discussions with organisations such as Network Rail 
and Midlands Connect to ensure that their emerging policies and proposals are 
incorporated in emerging plans, strategies and funding programmes where 
necessary. 

 

22. The SGP proposes that most development will take place in major strategic 
locations with less development happening in existing towns, villages and rural 
areas; in so doing, it allows new development to be focused along transport 
corridors and close to employment centres. 

 

23. The five building blocks that have been used to prepare the Plan are an 
understanding and appreciation of: 

 

(i) the existing settlement pattern; 
(ii) national policies, particularly in relation to planning, housing and 

infrastructure provision; 
(iii) the local economy and how it is supported by the Midlands Engine 

Strategy (March 2017); 
(iv) road and rail networks and the proposals and priorities of the Midlands 

Connect Strategy (March 2017); and 
(v) the area’s environmental, historic and other assets. 

 

24. Four priorities are identified in the SGP: 
 

(i) creating conditions for investment and growth 
(ii) achieving a step change in the way that growth is delivered 
(iii) securing essential infrastructure 
(iv) delivering high quality development. 

 

25. Analysis has indicated that through existing and emerging Local Plans and 
planning permissions provision can be made for the amount of new housing 
needed in the area to 2031.  This will be achieved through a mixture of major 
strategic sites already identified in Local Plans (approximately 40%) and 
smaller scale growth on non-strategic sites (approximately 60%).  The 
proposed new spatial distribution of strategic development, therefore, does not 
need to focus on this time period but it remains an important part of the SGP, 
i.e. partners wish to accelerate the delivery of consented and allocated sites 
and need to secure the infrastructure which is essential to their success. 

 

26. Beyond 2031, the SGP proposes that more growth should be directed to 
strategic locations.  This requires new strategic infrastructure to open up land 
for development and the Midlands Connect Strategy (setting out key transport 
priorities for the East and West Midlands) lays the foundations for this. 
 

19



Proposed Growth Areas 
 

27. The proposed growth areas are: 
 

 Leicester City 

 the A46 Growth Corridor 

 the Leicestershire International Gateway in the north of the County 

 the A5 Improvement Corridor 

 the Melton Mowbray Key Centre for Regeneration and Growth. 
 

28. The towns of Coalville, Hinckley, Loughborough, Lutterworth and Market 
Harborough are identified as areas where growth would be managed in Local 
Plans. 

 

29. In the villages and rural areas, the SGP proposes that there will be limited 
growth consistent with providing for local needs. 

 
Public Consultation  
 
30. Public consultation took place over 17 weeks, from 11 January to 10 May 2018.  

Activities included: 
 

 press releases, periodic media coverage 

 emails/letters to statutory consultees 

 emails/letters to organisations and groups identified by partners 

 public exhibitions 

 distribution of copies of the Draft SGP and summary leaflets 

 distribution of paper copies of questionnaires and all evidence at main 
local authority offices 

 information on the SGP website 

 links to the SGP website from partner websites 

 social media messages. 
 
31. A total of 588 responses were received, 79% of which were from members of 

the public.  These comments have been analysed and considered during the 
preparation of the revised SGP.  A summary of key changes is given in 
Appendix B. These include: 
 

 New text on the revised National Planning Policy Framework; 

 New text and plan relating to environmental, historic and other assets; 

 The Northern Gateway redefined and identified as ‘The Leicestershire 
International Gateway; 

 The Southern Gateway deleted and replaced with ‘A5 Improvement 
Corridor’; 

 Lutterworth deleted as ‘Key Centre for Growth’ and re-designated as an 
‘Area of Managed Growth in Local Plans’;  

 Amended housing allocations: reduced by 2000 dwellings in 
Harborough; increased by 800 dwellings in Melton; increased by 1200 
dwellings in North West Leicestershire. 

 

20



32. In line with the Statement of Community Involvement, those respondents who 
provided contact details have been informed that a revised SGP has been 
prepared.  The opportunity for further comment will take place during 
governance and/or the preparation of Local Plans. 

 
Views of the Scrutiny Commission 
 
33. Scrutiny Commission considered a report and a presentation on the revised 

SGP at its meeting on 31 October 2018.  It also received a submission from the 
Campaign for the Protection of Rural England. 

 
34. Issues raised by the Scrutiny Commission included the response rate to the 

consultation, the advisability of further growth in areas currently experiencing 
congestion, the impact of development elsewhere on the County, and the need 
to consider transport issues and green space in more detail at Local Plan level.  
A minute extract is attached to this report as Appendix D.   Members asked in 
particular that the Cabinet be advised that the Commission considered that 
arrangements for the future review of the SGP should be incorporated in the 
approved Plan.   

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

35. By seeking to ensure that economic growth is secured, and appropriate 
provision for market and affordable homes is made, the implementation of the 
SGP can contribute to meeting the needs of disadvantaged groups across 
Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
36. An Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) has been 

undertaken and the report is attached as Appendix E. The assessment 
considers a number of options for the spatial distribution of growth within 
Leicester and Leicestershire, including that of the SGP.  It is clear that different 
options have the potential to have an impact, in different ways, on matters such 
as age, disability, race, religion or belief (some positive, some negative and 
some neutral).   

 
37. As the SGP is a high-level strategic plan, however, the responsibility for 

mitigating any adverse impacts upon individuals or community groups will fall to 
subsequent statutory plans, primarily the Local Plans prepared by individual 
authorities.  In most cases, it will be important to ensure that specific 
infrastructure and services are planned effectively to deal with the particular 
needs of these groups.  The EHRIA ensures that the partner organisations are 
aware of the various impacts of the SGP and enables them to put in place any 
necessary mitigating measures and/or enhancements. 

 
Environmental Implications 

 
38. A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (incorporating Strategic Environmental 

Assessment) (SEA) has been undertaken together with a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA).  The outcomes are available to view in a report supporting 
the SGP.  The SA concludes that the SGP has the potential to deliver 

21



significant positive effects in relation to health and well-being; housing; and 
economy and employment.  Minor positive effects are reported in relation to 
climate change and cultural heritage (although, in the case of the latter, minor 
negative effects are also reported as well).  Minor negative effects are reported 
in relation to water; and moderate negative effects in relation to landscape and 
land.  Mixed effects are reported in relation to transport and travel, i.e. 
significant positive effects in relation to the focusing of development in strategic 
locations and minor negative effects in relation to potential congestion on 
nearby routes.  Uncertain negative effects are recorded in relation to 
biodiversity and minerals.  Where significant effects are identified, measures to 
mitigate these have been suggested, if possible.  Further measures to enhance 
the positive effects have also been suggested, where possible. 
 

39. The SA reports that the findings broadly support the preferred SGP as it would 
generate the most benefits in terms of employment and housing growth.  It 
reports that the focus of growth at key areas of economic growth and 
infrastructure capacity is also likely to reduce the length of car trips, and 
encourage sustainable modes of travel (particularly where there are strong rail 
and bus links into the City of Leicester).  It also states that, in terms of 
environmental effects, the preferred approach does not generate any major 
negative effects and performs better or the same as the alternatives in this 
respect. 

 

40. The SA acknowledges the role of the SGP in establishing broad preferred 
locations for longer term growth to provide a framework for statutory Local 
Plans.  It states that the broad locations would evidently be able to 
accommodate a range of different growth levels so, if subsequent work based 
on updated evidence confirms that a higher level of growth ought to be pursued 
in certain locations, then this can be considered at that stage.  A higher level of 
growth (than the notional projected housing requirement) will have largely 
negative impacts.  This is supported by the SA findings which suggest that the 
negative effects for every option would be likely to increase and this could lead 
to major negative effects on the built and natural environment, water and 
transport infrastructure. 

 

Background Papers 

 

Report to the Cabinet on 17 June 2016: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan – Strategic Growth Statement 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4 
 

Report to the Cabinet on 10 March 2017: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan: Joint Statement of Co-operation  

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4 
 

Report to the Cabinet on 24 November 2017: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan - Consultation arrangements 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4865 

 

22

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4


Report to the Cabinet on 9 March 2018: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan - Consultation Draft, and minutes of that meeting 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s136178/Consultation%20Draft%20SGP%20report%20final.pdf 

 

Report to the Scrutiny Commission on 31 October 2018: Leicester and 

Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan - Consideration of Revised Plan for Approval, 

and minutes of that meeting 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MID=5654#AI57552 

 

SGP Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA) and 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

http://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/the-plan/stage-three/ 

 
Appendices 

 

Appendix A: Revised Strategic Growth Plan 
Appendix B: Summary of key changes from Consultation Draft Plan 
Appendix C: Risk Assessment 
Appendix D:  Minute extract - Scrutiny Commission meeting held on 31st October 2018 
Appendix E:  Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment 

  

 

23

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MID=5654#AI57552


This page is intentionally left blank



 

SEPTEMBER 2018

LEICESTER & 
LEICESTERSHIRE  
2050:  
OUR VISION  
FOR GROWTH

25

EWalters
Text Box
APPENDIX A



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH1

Our Partners:

FOREWORD

This document has been prepared on behalf of: Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough Council, 
Harborough District Council, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council, Leicester City Council, Leicestershire 
County Council, Leicester & Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership, Melton Borough Council, North West 
Leicestershire District Council and Oadby & Wigston Borough Council.
 
© OpenStreetMap contributors | openstreetmap.org

The Strategic Growth Plan has been prepared by the ten partner 
organisations in Leicester & Leicestershire to provide a long term 
vision that will address the challenges we face and the opportunities 
presented to us.  It is a non-statutory plan but it sets out our agreed 
strategy for the period to 2050.  We will deliver the strategy through 
our Local Plans.

We have listened to the comments submitted in response to our 
consultation and this document is the final version of the Plan.  It 
explains the approach that we have taken in preparing the Plan, 
identifies broad locations where we think that development should 
take place and the infrastructure needed to deliver it.  We will 
now work with local people, businesses, developers, landowners, 
government and statutory organisations to deliver the strategy and 
secure the infrastructure which is so critical to its success.

Cllr Trevor Pendleton 
Chair, Members’ Advisory Group for the Strategic Growth Plan

26



CONTENTS 

LEICESTER &  
LEICESTERSHIRE  
TODAY 

01 02
RECOGNISING THE 
CHALLENGE

03
PLANNING FOR 
OUR GROWTH AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

04
THE BUILDING BLOCKS 
FOR OUR PLAN 

05
OUR OVERALL 
APPROACH

06
OUR SPATIAL 
STRATEGY

07
OUR COMMITMENT  
TO DELIVERY

APP
APPENDIX A

APPENDIX B 
 

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 2

27



1

3

LEICESTER & 
LEICESTERSHIRE  
TODAY

OUR STRENGTHS:

Great location and connectivity  
– at the heart of the UK, with 
nationally significant road, rail 
and air services, and businesses 
that have the potential to export 
more goods and services

Growing and diverse economy 
– with employment opportunities 
ranging from traditional 
manufacturing, logistics and 
distribution to cutting edge, 
research and enterprise, 
innovation and technology 
sectors

Congestion on our roads and 
railways - we are tackling this 
but further investment is needed 
to continue improvements and 
support our long term growth

Gaps in the road and rail 
network - travelling north-
south is relatively easy (albeit 
congested) but east-west links 
are slow and unreliable

Poor economic productivity 
per head of population - lower 
than the national and regional 
averages

Low pay structure – many 
highly skilled employees and 
graduates move away, travel 
costs are high for those on a 
low wage making it difficult to 
access jobs

High levels of commuting - 
some of the most important 
employment areas are remote 
from places where people live

Distinctive environmental, 
historic and other assets - 
beautiful countryside, valuable 
flora and fauna, thriving market 
towns and popular villages, 
country parks, waterways and 
canals

A diverse and multi-cultural 
city - with a young population, 
unique history, global tourism 
appeal, and attractive city 
centre with great shops, leisure, 
arts and entertainment

Three outstanding universities  
– globally significant in space, 
engineering and sports science, 
and high quality FE colleges.

Outside the City, an ageing 
population, not economically 
active but relatively wealthy.  
A strong influence on the 
number and type of dwellings

Pressures on existing 
communities from new 
development, lack of 
infrastructure and services 
such as education  
and health

IN SHORT, A 
COMBINATION 
THAT OFFERS 
EXCEPTIONAL 
QUALITY OF LIFE 
AND BUSINESS 
OPPORTUNITY

OUR WEAKNESSES:

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH

28



2
4

READINGREADINGREADINGBRISBBBRISTOL

TETTEXETETTERTT

OXFORDDDDOXFORDDD

CHWICHIPSWI
OWEWEFELIXSTOW

CHNORWIC

RIDGECAMBRIMM
BEDFORDOROR

MNORTHRTHTHAMPTONTHTH

COVENTRNTCO TTTNNTCO TTRYTRYTRYTRYTRY

WORC TERTRCETTT

TERTEGLOUCESTTT

PETERBOROUGHP

MILTOTONONTONTON
KEYNESSS

LIVERPOOOVERPOOLOOOLOOOOOOOVERPOOL
ESTERENNCHENNCHEMAANAANNCHE

ELDELESHEFFIEEFIEFIEEFIEEFIE

ENEWCASTLE 
UPON TYNEEECARLLLISLELL

TINGHAMTINOTTTTI
DERBY

OSTOOKE-ONOKTOOKOK
ENTE-TREEE

LEEDS

YORK

NGHAMNGHAMABIRMIIN AMAMAHAAINGHAMA

LEICESTER & 
LEICESTERSHIRE

LONDON

BBRIGHTON
HAMMMSOUTHAMUTHAMMPTONMPTONMUTHAMPTON

Leicester & Leicestershire has 
huge potential for growth.  
Located at the very heart of the 
UK, with a population of over 
1 million, a thriving and vibrant 
city, distinctive and characterful 
market towns, three universities 
and an international airport, 
our economy contributes some 
£23bn to the UK economy.  We 
have much to offer in terms of 
quality of life.

We want to play our part in 
developing the UK economy, 
improve productivity and create 
the conditions for growth.  We 
want to increase the speed 
of housing delivery, remove 
the barriers that have slowed 
progress to date, and ensure that 
there is a good supply of new 
housing for people who need 
it.  We also want to protect the 
places and features that make 
Leicester & Leicestershire special.

If we are to be successful, we 
need to plan for the future at a 
‘larger than local’ level and for 
the longer term.  This allows us 
to consider a wider range of 
possibilities.

The Strategic Growth Plan has 
been prepared by the ten partner 
organisations - the City Council, 
the County Council, the seven 
boroughs and districts, and 
the Leicester & Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership – to 
provide a plan which will shape 
the future of Leicester and 
Leicestershire in the period 
to 2050. It is a ‘non-statutory’ 
plan but it provides an agreed 
framework which we will use 
when preparing our individual 
Local Plans and other strategies.

RECOGNISING 
THE CHALLENGE

The Strategic Growth Plan 
focuses on four key matters:

■ delivering new housing

■ supporting the economy

■ identifying essential 
infrastructure, and

■ protecting our environment 
and built heritage.

We have not started with a 
blank sheet.  Government, local 
and regional agencies are also 
making plans.  Where these 
already have a measure of 
support, we have used them as 
a basis for our work.  We have 
also commissioned evidence 
to inform our work and this is 
available on our website.*  

FIGURE 1:  
LEICESTER & 
LEICESTERSHIRE: 
A CENTRAL 
LOCATION  

GREAT 
LOCATION AND 
CONNECTIVITY 
– AT THE HEART 
OF THE UK

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018

*llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk

29



3

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH5

CALCULATING OUR HOUSING  
AND EMPLOYMENT NEEDS 

PLANNING FOR 
OUR GROWTH AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE

* Reference: Leicester & Leicestershire Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (January 2017)

2011-31 (AND 2036) 

The Strategic Growth Plan covers 
the whole of the period from 
2011-50.  It is not possible to 
produce accurate estimates of 
the scale of growth that is likely 
to be required for the whole of 
the period up to 2050 but we 
can divide it into stages.

Up to 2036, we can use 
government statistics and 
economic forecasts to plan with 
some confidence.  The results are 
set out in our study of housing 
and economic development 
needs which calculates the need 
for both new homes and jobs.*1  
Because our Local Plans are 
being prepared to end dates of 
either 2031 or 2036, the study 
sets out our need for new homes 
and jobs to the same end dates.  

The detail is set out in Appendix 
A but, in summary, across 
Leicester & Leicestershire we 
need some 96,580 homes 
and 367-423ha of land for 
employment use in the period 
2011-31 (See Table A). 

2031-50

For the period 2031-50, we can 
use government statistics and 
economic forecasts only for the 
period 2031-36.  Beyond that, 
there are no reliable estimates of 
population growth or household 
change, nor economic forecasts, 
but we need to have some 
understanding of how much 
growth we might be expected 
to accommodate.  Having this 
information allows us to consider 
a wider range of options than if 
we were to focus only on shorter 
term needs.

For the purposes of the Strategic 
Growth Plan, we have chosen 
to work with an estimate of our 
housing needs for whole of the 
period 2031-50.  

These are referred to as our 
‘notional’ needs and have been 
produced by projecting forward 
the annual figures given in our 
study of housing and economic 
development needs.  This 
indicates that, across Leicester 
& Leicestershire, we will need an 
additional 90,500 dwellings in 
this period.

The results will need to be 
monitored and reviewed as 
Government statistics become 
available but they are considered 
to be a reasonable basis on 
which to proceed.  If we do not 
look to this longer timescale we 
will not be able to plan for, and 
secure funding for, the essential 
infrastructure that we need.

TABLE A: TOTAL HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT 
LAND NEEDS 2011-50

Housing Employment Land (B1/B2/B8)*3

2011-31 96,580*1 367-423ha.*1

2031-50 90,516*2 Not quantified at this stage

Total (2011-50) 187,096 

Notes:  
1. As shown in Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (January 2017)

2. ‘Notional’ needs calculated by projecting forward estimates set out in the Housing and 
Development Needs Assessment (January 2017)

3. Small scale B8 only (i.e. less than 9,000 sqm); the amount of land needed for strategic 
distribution facilities has not been quantified because it is so heavily dependent upon property 
market considerations.

WITHOUT ADDITIONAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE WE WILL 
BE UNABLE TO DELIVER LONG 
TERM GROWTH ON THIS 
SCALE, OR IN THE TIMESCALE 
PROPOSED

30



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 6

Beyond, 2031, we have assumed 
that neither Leicester City 
Council nor Oadby & Wigston 
Borough Council will be able to 
accommodate their needs.  An 
important aspect of the Strategic 
Growth Plan, therefore, has been 
to consider how any unmet needs 
might be shared between the 
other local authorities in Leicester 
& Leicestershire.

We have decided that these 
additional needs will be satisfied, 
in part, by development in 
strategic locations in accordance 
with the strategy set out in this 
Plan.

The agreed distribution will be set 
out in an agreed statement.  In 
line with the needs of our Local 
Plans, this will cover the time 
periods to 2031 and 2036. The 
statement will be used with the 
Strategic Growth Plan as the basis 
for preparing or reviewing Local 
Plans.

* Reference: Joint Position Statement on Housing and Employment Land Supply (March 2018) 

WHETHER DEVELOPMENT 
TAKES PLACE BEFORE OR 
AFTER 2031, IT IS CLEAR THAT 
MORE HOMES AND JOBS WILL 
BE NEEDED. WE NEED TO 
PLAN FOR THIS NOW.

ALIGNING 
GROWTH, 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
AND SERVICES

We are very clear that significant 
new development cannot 
be accommodated within 
Leicester & Leicestershire 
without significant investment 
in infrastructure and services.  
We welcome government’s 
recognition of this problem at a 
national and regional level, and 
the investment that is already 
being committed to projects in 
our area.

We will continue to work with 
government, landowners, 
developers and other 
stakeholders to accelerate 
development and to align this 
with essential infrastructure.

In terms of economic growth, it 
is very difficult to predict needs 
with any accuracy beyond 2036.  
We have decided, therefore, 
not to quantify the need for 
additional employment land for 
this period, at this stage.  Again, 
in accordance with normal 
practice, we will monitor and 
review needs as necessary. 

Our total requirements for the 
period 2011-50 are shown in 
Table A on page 5.

ACCOMMODATING 
OUR HOUSING 
AND EMPLOYMENT 
NEEDS  

We have analysed the amount 
of development that has 
already been built, has planning 
permission or is allocated in 
adopted or emerging local plans 
that have been published.  This 
demonstrates that much of our 
housing and employment land is 
already provided for in the period 
2011-31.*

Only Leicester City Council has 
declared that it will be unable 
to meet its housing needs.  We 
are confident, however, that any 
shortfall in the period 2011-31 
can be met through Local Plan 
allocations in other areas.

31



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH7

To accelerate the speed of 
development, we will address the 
lack of essential infrastructure 
(highway capacity, schools, 
healthcare facilities, etc.) We will 
also consider financial viability 
which can be a problem on some 
sites. In others, the costs of the 
necessary infrastructure might 
need to be shared across several 
development sites. 

We are working with developers, 
landowners and statutory 
agencies to remove the barriers 
to development and will focus 
on this more intensively as we 
move forwards.  Our highway 
authorities have already 
identified key road and rail 
projects and are progressing 
these through formal approval 
and funding regimes.  Outside 
the City, the County Council has 
summarised the key projects in 
its ‘Prospectus for Growth’.*

Together the City and the 
County Councils, as highway 
authorities, are collaborating on 
a Strategic Transport Plan which 
will identify additional projects 
and set out short and long 
term aspirations for sustainable 
transport initiatives including 
public transport inprovements, 
ways of reducing the use of the 
private car and green transport 
initiatives.

Other statutory undertakers 
will be able to use the Strategic 
Growth Plan and Local Plans 
as a clear statement of the 
proposed growth in Leicester 
& Leicestershire.  This will allow 
them to identify their own 
investment priorities.  We will 
support them in their requests 
for funding, lobbying government 
and supporting applications 
for funding through the normal 
processes. 

MAXIMISING THE 
RETURNS ON 
INVESTMENT

Where infrastructure has already 
been committed, we now have 
the opportunity to maximise 
the returns on this investment 
and use it to the advantage of 
our local communities.  We have 
taken as one of the building 
blocks for our Plan, proposals for 
infrastructure investment that 
already have a degree of support 
from government, executive 
agencies and other organisations.  
All of the strategic infrastructure 
in our Plan is acknowledged as 
being required to resolve national 
and regional problems.

Through the Strategic Growth 
Plan we can maximise the 
benefits of this investment by 
focusing growth in areas close 
to new infrastructure proposals.  
This does not mean to say that 
these are the only road and 
rail projects that are needed 
to support the growth that we 
will have.  Existing schemes 
are already in the pipeline (e.g. 
improvements to the A5, the 
A511 and Melton Mowbray Relief 
Road) and we are working 
to deliver these.  Additional 
schemes will be needed to 
provide better connections to the 
strategic network. We will also 
look for ways to improve public 
transport, cycling and walking.

In undertaking this work, we 
recognise that, on our own, we 
cannot deliver growth on this 
scale. Government, statutory 
agencies, landowners, developers 
and local authorities all have 
an important role to play in 
this process.  The partnership 
approach that we have achieved 
to date provides a secure 
foundation on which to move 
forward with other organisations.  
Without additional infrastructure 
we will be unable to deliver long 
term growth on this scale, or in 
the timescale proposed.

WITHOUT ADDITIONAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE WE WILL 
BE UNABLE TO DELIVER 
LONG TERM GROWTH ON 
THIS SCALE, OR IN THE 
TIMESCALE PROPOSED.

* Reference: Prospectus for Growth, Leicestershire County Council, September 2017

32



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 8

4Other agencies are preparing 
plans and strategies which will 
influence what we do.  In many 
cases, we have contributed 
to these documents so their 
contents are already aligned 
with our own aspirations.  At the 
same time, the Strategic Growth 
Plan must be firmly rooted in 
the character of Leicester & 
Leicestershire and must protect 
our environmental, historic 
and other assets.  This chapter 
summarises the principal building 
blocks that we have used to 
prepare our Plan.

The first building block for our 
Plan is the settlement pattern 
that we already have. Looking 
beyond the county boundaries, 
the settlement pattern can be 
described as a series of separate 
towns and cities, extending 
from Derby and Nottingham 
in the north to Coventry and 
Birmingham in the south-west, 
mostly focused around the M1 and 
the M69 with intervening rural 
areas.  On either side, extensive 
rural areas separate Leicester 
& Leicestershire from the West 
Midlands and Cambridgeshire.

THE BUILDING 
BLOCKS FOR  
OUR PLAN

FIGURE 2:  
SETTLEMENT PATTERN

Key: 

Settlements focused around M1/M69

Rural Areas

Within Leicester & Leicestershire 
the settlement pattern is quite 
distinctive:

■ A strong ‘central’ city 
(Leicester), located at the 
heart of the County, with 
suburbs extending into 
adjoining boroughs and 
districts.  With strong office, 
shopping, arts, culture, 
heritage and visitor profiles, 
the City is a focus for the 
market towns, rural areas and 
major employment areas that 
are linked to it.

THE EXISTING  
SETTLEMENT PATTERN

©
 O

p
en

S
tr

ee
tM

ap
 c

o
nt

ri
b

ut
o

rs
 | 

o
p

en
st

re
et

m
ap

.o
rg

33



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH9

■ A ring of strong, 
independent and 
characterful market towns  
each connected to Leicester 
by radial routes and with 
strong physical, functional, 
social and economic ties to 
the City.  The market towns 
contribute much to the 
character of Leicestershire, 
are economically buoyant 
in their own right and are 
an important focus for local 
communities.

■ Extensive rural areas  
encircling the City and the 
market towns, villages and 
hamlets.  The landscape is 
beautiful and varied, and 
has an economy of its own, 
from nationally significant 
agriculture and food 
production to a growing 
professional services sector.

Together, this mix of urban 
and rural areas underpins our 
quality of life.  The long-standing 
relationship between Leicester, 
the market towns and the rural 
areas is a feature that we wish 
to enhance.  It is not lost on 
us that our settlement pattern 
resembles that of the ‘social 
city’, a phrase coined by the 
garden cities movement of the 
early 20th Century to describe a 
cluster of new garden cities in the 
countryside.  The garden cities 
movement sought to deliver the 
perfect partnership between town 
and country. 

NATIONAL 
POLICIES

The second building block of 
our Plan is an understanding 
of national policies.  These 
influence what we can do, 
particularly in relation to our 
priority areas: housing, the 
economy, infrastructure and 
the environment. They also set 
the government's agenda for 
funding so it is important that we 
reflect these priorities. We want 
to be ready to take advantage 
of opportunities that will bring 
benefits to our area, yet able to 
control excessive development 
pressures.

THE INDUSTRIAL 
STRATEGY

The Government’s Industrial 
Strategy sets out a long term 
plan to boost the productivity 
and earning power of people 
throughout the UK.  It provides 
a framework for our own 
Local Industrial Strategy* and 
investment by the LLEP.  The 
Strategic Growth Plan considers 
how existing employment areas 
can be supported and where new 
growth should be directed.

THE HOUSING STRATEGY

Government has also published 
its strategy for tackling problems 
in the housing market.  This 
recognises that if more new 
housing is to be built, at a 
faster rate, it will have to be 
accompanied by investment in 
new infrastructure.  The housing 
strategy also recognises the 
importance of strategic planning 
for long term growth.

Government has already 
committed to new investment 
in housing, industry and 
infrastructure in Leicester & 
Leicestershire through various 
funding programmes, and 
more is promised.  We want to 
maximise the benefits of this 
investment, nationally, regionally 
and locally.

* Local Industrial Strategies are prepared by economic partnerships when invited by government.   
The Leicester & Leicestershire Economic Partnership has already been invited to do so.

34



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 10

THE NATIONAL 
PLANNING POLICY 
FRAMEWORK

The National Planning Policy 
Framework has recently been 
revised.  The emphasis of the 
new document is very much 
on strategic priorities, housing 
delivery and joint working. It 
includes a number of significant 
changes:

■ the re-introduction of 
strategic planning

■ the use of a ‘standard 
methodology’ for calculating 
housing need, and

■ the requirement to prepare 
a ‘Statement of Common 
Ground’.

In terms of strategic planning, 
authorities must now, as a 
minimum, ensure that there 
is a plan which addresses the 
priorities for an appropriate 
geographical area.  It is 
acknowledged that in many 
cases, this will highlight the need 
for collaborative working on a 
joint plan.

We have used the standard 
methodology to calculate 
housing needs so that we can 
compare the results with our 
own study.  We have found that, 
across Leicester & Leicestershire 
as a whole, the scale of need is 
very similar, although there are 
variations at the local level.

In terms of a Statement of 
Common Ground, our Strategic 
Growth Plan already fulfils much 
of what is required: it is a clear 
statement of acknowledged 
issues, it identifies our priorities 
and it sets out an agreed 
strategy for our Local Plans. It 
provides a good foundation for 
future work on our Statement of 
Common Ground.

Although the National Planning 
Policy Framework states the 
government’s preference for 
statutory plans, this has come at 
a late stage in the preparation of 
our Plan.  We consider that the 
current Plan fulfils many of the 
government’s requirements.  We 
also have a need for an agreed 
strategy to set a framework for 
our Local Plans and investment 
priorities.  For these reasons, we 
have decided to complete our 
work on the Plan but we will, of 
course, consider the need for a 
statutory plan in line with the 
requirements of national planning 
policy as we move forwards.

WE CONSIDER THAT OUR 
STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN 
RESPONDS VERY POSITIVELY 
TO THE GOVERNMENT’S 
PRIORITIES FOR INVESTMENT 
AND NEW PLANNING POLICY 

35



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH11

The third building block of our 
Plan is an understanding of 
the local economy and how it 
is supported by the Midlands 
Engine Strategy.  The economy 
in Leicester & Leicestershire is 
recovering strongly from the last 
recession but there is still much 
to be done.  Productivity and 
wages remain below the national 
average but we have many 
important growth sectors and 
key employment locations.

The Midlands Engine Strategy 
has been prepared by 
Government and sets out a 
collective ambition for economic 
growth and prosperity.  It aligns 
with the national industrial 
strategy and highlights how the 
region can build upon existing 
business sectors and areas of 
opportunity.  It highlights many 
of our key industries, universities 
and employment areas as places 
of national, and even global, 
significance.

The Midlands Engine Strategy 
also recognises the growth 
potential of major employment 
areas such as East Midlands 
Airport, East Midlands Gateway, 
the two enterprise zones – MIRA 
Technology Park near Hinckley 
and the Loughborough & 
Leicester Enterprise Zone – the 
logistics and distribution industry 
and the potential of Leicester 
City Centre.  Since the strategy 
was published government 
funding has been put in place for 
key projects.  

OUR ECONOMY AND THE  
MIDLANDS ENGINE STRATEGY

THE MIDLANDS ENGINE 
STRATEGY HAS BEEN 
PREPARED BY GOVERNMENT 
AND SETS OUT A COLLECTIVE 
AMBITION FOR ECONOMIC 
GROWTH AND PROSPERITY 

36



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 12

FIGURE 3:  
ECONOMIC GROWTH AREAS*

Key:

1.  Toton Station (High Speed 2)

2.  East Midlands Gateway (Strategic Rail  
Freight Interchange)

3.  East Midlands Airport 

4.  Engineering Skills Training Centre at MIRA

5.  MIRA Enterprise Zone

6.  Centre for Connected Autonomous Vehicles

7.  Birmingham International Airport 

8.  Arden Cross Station (High Speed 2) 

9.  Magna Park Distribution Centre

10.  Agri-Food and Drink Processing

11.  Fosse Park Retail Centre

12.  City Centre and Strategic Regeneration  
Area in Leicester

13.  Leicester University

14.  De Montfort University

15.  Global Space Technologies Hub

16.   Space Research Centre & Earth   
Observation Centre

17.  IBM Client Innovation Centre

18.  Agri-Food and Drink Processing

19.  Loughborough & Leicester Enterprise 
Zone

20.  Loughborough University

21.  Life Sciences Opportunity Zone

*Places and activities highlighted in the Midlands Engine Strategy (2017)

©
 O

p
en

S
tr

ee
tM

ap
 c

o
nt

ri
b

ut
o

rs
 | 

o
p

en
st

re
et

m
ap

.o
rg

37



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH13

The fourth building block of 
our Plan is an understanding 
of the local road and rail 
networks and how they are 
supported by proposals in the 
Midlands Connect Strategy.  A 
particular feature of the road 
and rail network in Leicester & 
Leicestershire is its emphasis on 
north-south movement and the 
difficulty of east-west movement.  
All routes, however, are heavily 
congested and few have the 
capacity to support growth 
beyond 2031.

The Midlands Connect Strategy 
has been prepared jointly by the 
Midlands Connect Partnership 
and government agencies.  It 
supports the Midlands Engine 
Strategy and sets out a series of 
long term transport investment 
priorities to help unlock jobs and 
growth.  It proposes a rolling 
25-year programme of strategic 
road and rail improvements 
around a series of economic hubs 
and intensive growth corridors.

The Strategy endorses a number 
of key rail projects in Leicester & 
Leicestershire including improved 
rail services between Leicester, 
Coventry and Birmingham.  Key 
road projects include improving 
the A5, M42/A42 and A46 to 
expressway standard, including a 
new road to the south and east 
of Leicester linking into strategic 
highways to the west.

Whilst the electrification of 
the Midland Main Line north 
of Kettering will not now 
proceed as originally planned, 
we will continue to press for 
improvements to the track, 
stations and services to support 
our local economy and housing 
growth.

The improvement of the 
Leicester-Burton Railway Line 
does not form part of the 
Midlands Connect Strategy.  
Currently, the cost of improving 
the track for passenger use, re-
instating stations and operating 
services on this line far exceeds 
available funding and the 
likely income.  If viable funding 
solutions were to emerge, 
however, supported by new 
development in the vicinity of  
the line such that it could be  
re-opened for passenger use,  
the matter could be reviewed  
in future.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND THE 
MIDLANDS CONNECT STRATEGY

THE MIDLANDS CONNECT 
STRATEGY HAS BEEN 
PREPARED JOINTLY BY 
THE MIDLANDS CONNECT 
PARTNERSHIP AND 
GOVERNMENT AGENCIES

Similarly, the railway lines from 
Leicester to Melton Mowbray 
and from Melton Mowbray to 
Nottingham/Newark do not 
feature in the Midlands Connect 
Strategy.  Improvement of 
these lines would also improve 
connectivity and provide 
additional public transport 
options to support growth.   
At present, however, the cost 
of improved lines and services 
requires further investigation  
to establish the economic  
case and availability of  
funding solutions.

38



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 14

FIGURE 4:  
ROAD AND RAIL 
IMPROVEMENTS  
(referenced in the Midlands Connect Strategy 
and shown diagrammatically)

Key: 

ROAD  IMPROVEMENTS

1.      Smart Motorway M1 J19-23a

2.      M1 J23/A512 improvements

3.      A46 Expressway (route to be defined)

4.      A5 Expressway

5.      M42/A42 Expressway

RAIL  IMPROVEMENTS

A.     Midland Main Line Upgrade  
 and Electrification

B.     Leicester-Coventry Upgrade

C.     Leicester-Birmingham Upgrade

D.     High Speed 2

©
 O

p
en

S
tr

ee
tM

ap
 c

o
nt

ri
b

ut
o

rs
 | 

o
p

en
st

re
et

m
ap

.o
rg

39



Based upon O.S. mapping with the permission of the 
Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office.
Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction
infringes copyright and may lead to prosecution.
Leicester City Council Licence LA 100019264 (2018)  
 
© OpenStreetMap contributors | openstreetmap.org

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH15

40



 National / Charnwood Forest

 Battlefield

 Parks and Gardens

 Ancient Woodland

 Green Wedge

AGRICULTURAL LAND GRADES:

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

NATIONAL FLOOD ZONES:

 Level 3

 Level 2

 Scheduled Monument

 River Mease Catchment Area

 River Mease SAC

 Conservation Areas

 National Nature Reserve

 Geology

 LNRs and Wildlife Sites

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest

 Archaeological Alert

 HS2

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 16

The fifth building block in the 
Plan is a recognition of the assets 
that are most important to us.  
We have identified key features 
and designations to help us make 
decisions about areas that need 
to be protected (See Fig 5).  We 
have few national or international 
constraints but there are key 
features that are important 
to Leicester & Leicestershire, 
not least the National Forest, 
Charnwood Forest, Bosworth 
Battlefield, areas separating 
urban areas (our ‘green 
wedges’), valuable landscape 
and townscape, local nature 
conservation designations, civic 
heritage, conservation areas, etc.  
Many other places are important 
locally and these too need to be 
protected.

PROTECTING OUR 
ENVIRONMENTAL, 
HISTORIC AND 
OTHER ASSETS

FIGURE 5: ASSETS 
Key: 

In a strategic document such as 
this, it is impossible to convey 
the range of assets that we 
have.  This information has been 
assembled, however, and is 
available on our website.  Further 
detailed information is held by 
each of the local authorities and 
will be used to make decisions 
about potential development 
sites.  Balancing the need for 
growth with protection of 
our assets has been a critical 
consideration. 

Difficult decisions have had 
to be made but we know, 
from previous experience, 
that unplanned growth can 
bring even more unacceptable 
consequences.  We will continue 
to gather evidence about our 
assets and how they can be 
protected as we continue our 
work on Local Plans.

41



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH17

5
We acknowledge that Leicester 
& Leicestershire will grow.  Our 
population is increasing and 
we need more homes.  We 
have clusters of businesses, 
universities and research 
institutions that operate on a 
world stage.  There is a national 
and regional imperative to 
provide more homes and jobs.

But we also know that too much 
growth in particular locations, 
and insensitive development, 
is having an adverse impact on 
our local communities and on 
our environment.  The lack of 
essential infrastructure is also 
slowing the pace of delivery.

The Strategic Growth Plan is 
our proposal for balancing 
these competing interests.  By 
providing a long term strategy 
and a framework for our Local 
Plans, the Strategic Growth 
Plan gives us the opportunity to 
identify strategic development 
locations and the infrastructure 
that is essential to their delivery.

OUR OVERALL 
APPROACH

OUR PRIORITIES

During the course of our work 
we have identified four priorities.  
They are:

■ creating conditions for 
investment and growth  - 
balancing the need for 
new housing and jobs with 
protection of our environment 
and built heritage.

■ achieving a step change 
in the way that growth is 
delivered – focusing more 
development in strategic 
locations and less on non-
strategic sites.

■ securing essential 
infrastructure that is needed 
to make this happen – taking 
advantage of proposals to 
improve national and regional 
networks (as set out in the 
Midlands Connect Strategy) 
and maximising the benefits 
from them.

■ maintaining the essential 
qualities of Leicester & 
Leicestershire and delivering 
high quality development.

This sets an agenda for growth 
which is based on achieving 
a better relationship between 
homes, jobs and infrastructure, 
increasing the speed of delivery 
and ensuring that development 
does not damage the special 
places that we cherish.

INVESTMENT AND 
GROWTH
Analysis of population and 
household statistics tells us 
that Leicester & Leicestershire 
will continue to grow whether 
we plan for this or not.  New 
jobs continue to be created 
particularly in Leicester city 
centre, in the northern part of the 
county and around the market 
towns.

More new jobs are expected in 
the LLEP’s priority sectors of life 
sciences (medical technologies); 
advanced manufacturing and 
engineering; advanced logistics; 
space and digital technologies; 
and textiles.  These reflect the 
priorities of the Midlands Engine 
Strategy and the growth of the 
national economy.

More locally, individual authorities 
are focusing on tourism, leisure, 
health and wellbeing and 
supporting the rural economy.  
The Strategic Growth Plan 
provides a spatial framework 
within which this investment and 
growth can occur.

THIS IS OUR 
OPPORTUNITY  
FOR CHANGE

*llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk

42



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 18

SHIFTING THE 
FOCUS OF 
DEVELOPMENT

To date, the majority of 
new housing in Leicester & 
Leicestershire has been built 
on small and medium-sized 
sites in the City, market towns, 
villages and rural areas.  Some 
of this development has 
been unplanned.  Often these 
developments make little or no 
contribution to infrastructure 
or services and, instead, rely on 
existing facilities.  This has created 
significant problems.  Some 
communities feel overwhelmed 
by the speed and scale of change.  
Others are disadvantaged by 
pressures on local schools, health 
centres and recreation facilities. 
Congestion on local roads and 
public transport is a frequent 
cause of complaint.

Sometimes those who want 
to live in good quality homes 
close to their place of work 
find that there is little available 
within their price range.  Several 
major employers and clusters 
of economic opportunities are 
located towards the edge of 
the County.  Not all are close 
to housing so a great deal of 
commuting takes place.  This is 
a problem not least for those 
who do not have a car – public 
transport is often limited.

Our strategy proposes to build 
more development in major 
strategic locations and to reduce 
the amount that takes place in 
existing towns, villages and rural 
areas.  This will allow us to plan 
for new housing and employment 
together with new and improved 
roads, public transport, schools, 
health services, local shops and 
open space.  

We are working with developers 
and Homes England to increase 
the speed at which development 
sites come forward and are built 
out.  We will continue to seek 
funding for essential infrastructure 
to support development.

Our analysis has demonstrated 
that, through our existing and 
emerging Local Plans, and 
planning permissions, we can 
make provision for the amount of 
new homes and jobs we need in 
the period up to 2031.  This will 
be achieved through a mixture 
of major strategic sites already 
identified in Local Plans (about 
40%) and smaller scale growth on 
non-strategic sites (about 60%).

OUR VISION*

Our vision is that: 

“By 2050, Leicester & Leicestershire will have 
established itself as a driver of the UK economy, 
exploiting opportunities for linkages across its 
diverse economic base, supporting its urban 
and rural centres, and taking advantage of its 
exceptional location.  Growth will contribute 
to people’s health, happiness and well-being 
through the timely delivery of well-designed and 
high quality development, raising the bar in terms 
of environmental standards, quality of life and 
local distinctiveness.”

* Reference: Strategic Growth Statement (2016)

43



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH19

SECURING 
ESSENTIAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Delivering sustainable growth, 
before and after 2031, needs 
new infrastructure, not only road 
and rail improvements but also 
schools, healthcare facilities, 
venues for sports and leisure, 
open space, community halls, 
etc.  Through our work on Local 
Plans we have already identified 
the road and rail improvements 
that are needed to support 
growth in housing and jobs up 
to 2031.  Statutory agencies also 
have the information that they 
need to organise their investment 
priorities.  The problem has been 
aligning this provision across a 
number of delivery agencies. 
Solving this problem will lie at 
the heart of delivering growth in 
the early stages of our plan.

Beyond 2031, the scale of 
infrastructure and service 
provision is such that significant 
investment by government will 
be needed. Our strategy makes 
provision for more of our growth 
to be provided in strategic 
locations.  To do this, we need to:

■ deliver the infrastructure and 
services that have already 
been identified in Local Plans 
and planning applications; 
and

■ secure public sector 
funding for new strategic 
infrastructure which will open 
up sites for development.

In terms of road and rail 
improvements, the Midlands 
Connect Strategy lays the 
foundations for longer term, 
strategic investment.  Analysis 
has shown that by investing 
in road and rail schemes in 
Leicester & Leicestershire, 
congestion can be reduced on 
other parts of the regional and 
national network.  The strategy, 
therefore, proposes major 
improvements to road and rail 
facilities throughout the area.

We have considered how these 
road and rail improvements could 
support strategic development 
in Leicester & Leicestershire.  We 
have concluded that there are 
major opportunities for strategic 
development in locations that 
relate well to areas of housing 
need and economic opportunity.  
It makes great practical and 
financial sense to maximise the 
benefits that are offered by these 
schemes.

We recognise that, if high quality 
sustainable development is to 
be achieved, these schemes will 
need to be supported by public 
sector investment in local road 
and rail improvements, and in 
public transport.  The City and 
County Councils, as highway 
authorities, are already starting 
to identify what will be needed 
but decisions cannot be finalised 
until specific development 
sites have been identified in 
Local Plans.  The Strategic 
Transport Plan will provide 
more information on what these 
improvements are and how they 
will be delivered.

In terms of private sector 
projects, we recognise that the 
lack of funding, or the ability 
to secure finance, and a range 
of other factors have caused 
delay.  We need to resolve these 
problems if we are to create 
high quality developments with 
a sense of place and everything 
that they need to create real 
communities.  Growth after 2031 
is also very much dependent 
upon earlier infrastructure being 
put in place.

We will work collaboratively with 
the private sector and others 
to remove any barriers which 
exist.  The Strategic Growth Plan, 
together with Local Plans, the 
Local Industrial Strategy and 
the Strategic Transport Plan 
will demonstrate that we are 
speaking with one voice and are 
committed to an agreed strategy.

44



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 20

DELIVERING 
HIGH QUALITY 
DEVELOPMENT

We have decided that our 
common agenda will be 
delivering 21st century garden 
towns, villages and suburbs 
within our strategic growth areas.  
This reflects the settlement 
pattern of the City and County, 
and establishes a framework for 
protecting the valuable assets 
that we have.  It also allows us 
to develop a strong agenda 
around social, economic and 
environmental priorities.

The scale of opportunity in 
Leicester & Leicestershire assists 
these choices.  Our strategy 
focuses development along 
transportation corridors and 
close to important employment 
centres.  At a local level, 
we could expand existing 
settlements or create new ones.  
We could plan for some new 
development in existing urban 
areas.  Indeed, given the scale 
of opportunity, several of these 
options could be delivered in 
combination.  The decisions will 
be made in our Local Plans but 
the intention is that individual 
decisions will be made in line 
with this strategy.

We also propose to seek high 
quality environments, with a 
strong community focus and 
economic justification, and we 
consider that new strategic 
development should be delivered 
to a common agenda.

For this we have looked to our 
distinctive settlement pattern 
- Leicester as a thriving central 
city surrounded by strong, 
independent and characterful 
market towns, and extensive 
rural areas.  We are keen to 
reflect our heritage of garden 
suburbs and government 
support for new garden towns, 
villages and suburbs.

The Garden City concept 
allows us to plan for new 
development which captures 
the very best of town and 
country.  It would ensure that 
new development is planned 
with strong social, economic 
and environmental foundations, 
and that communities are 
placed at the heart of planning.  
This is the common agenda to 
which we will work as we bring 
forward, through our Local 
Plans, the major development 
opportunities in the Plan.

FIGURE 6:  
THE SOCIAL CITY CONCEPT OF 
THE GARDEN CITY MOVEMENT

C
re

d
it

: T
ow

n 
A

nd
 C

o
un

tr
y 

P
la

nn
in

g
 A

ss
o

ci
at

io
n

45



6
Our spatial strategy 
acknowledges the scale of 
growth that is already in the 
pipeline as a result of Local Plans 
and planning permissions.  It also 
builds upon known road and 
rail infrastructure opportunities 
or commitments.  In delivering 
the strategy we will enhance 
the role of Leicester at the heart 
of the county and maintain the 
close relationships between 
the City, the market towns and 
rural areas. In doing so, we will 
prepare Local Plans in line with 
this spatial strategy to ensure 
that growth is delivered in a way 
which responds positively to our 
aspirations.

LEICESTER: OUR 
‘CENTRAL CITY’
Leicester has a pivotal role to 
play in the strategy.  We propose 
that it should develop its role as 
the ‘central city’ supporting the 
market towns and rural areas 
around it.  More jobs, leisure, 
arts, culture and entertainment 
facilities would be provided 
within the City Centre.  The 
strategic regeneration area along 
the Waterside will develop as a 
mixed use area, extending the 
economic opportunities available 
within the centre of the City, but 
balancing new jobs with the need 
for new homes.

OUR SPATIAL 
STRATEGY

The population of the urban area, 
in and around Leicester City, is 
about 650,000 and increasing 
rapidly.  We are working 
collaboratively to accommodate 
all of the homes that the City 
needs in places that are well-
connected to it.  

Given the scale of housing 
need and the potential for 
new jobs, the City needs to 
grow.  This needs to be done in 
such a way that we can make 
full use of existing services 
and infrastructure within the 
City.  Also, by providing more 
homes close to jobs in the City 
Centre and other employment 
centres, we will be able to 
relieve development pressures in 
other parts of the surrounding 
authorities.

Given the scale of development 
on the fringes of Leicester, 
any growth would need to be 
accompanied by measures 
to increase capacity on the 
radial roads and improve public 
transport, cycling and walking.

WE WILL ENHANCE THE 
ROLE OF LEICESTER AND 
MAINTAIN THE CLOSE 
RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN 
THE CITY, THE MARKET 
TOWNS AND RURAL AREAS 

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH21

46



STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 22

FIGURE 6:  
STRATEGY PLAN

Key: 

Leicester: Our Central City 

A46 Priority Growth Corridor 

Leicestershire International Gateway

A5 Improvement Corridor

Melton Mowbray: Key Centre for  
Regeneration and Growth

Managed Growth in Local Plans

Growth to support local needs only

 

ESSENTIAL INFRASTRUCTURE: 
(shown diagrammatically)

M1 Smart Motorway

A46 Expressway (route to be defined) 

A5 Expressway

M42/A42 Expressway

Rail improvements

HS2

©
 O

p
en

S
tr

ee
tM

ap
 c

o
nt

ri
b

ut
o

rs
 | 

o
p

en
st

re
et

m
ap

.o
rg

47



    

THE A46 PRIORITY 
GROWTH 
CORRIDOR

The ‘expressway’ proposal for the 
A46 is critical to our strategy.  It 
not only provides an alternative 
route to the M1 but also creates 
the opportunity for significant 
development to the south and 
east of the City.  The expressway 
proposal is included in the 
Midlands Connect Strategy and 
proposes a new road extending 
from a new or improved junction 
on the M69, and continuing to 
the south and east of Leicester, 
with a new junction on the M1 
(J20a).  The new road will re-join 
the existing A46 to the north-
east of the City. The precise 
route of the new road will have 
significant implications for 
encouraging growth in Leicester 
and Leicestershire and will be the 
subject of consultation at various 
stages in its routing and design.

Improvements to the railway lines 
and services between Leicester, 
Coventry and Birmingham are 
also proposed.

The combination of new and 
improved roads and railways in 
this area creates the opportunity 
for major development along a 
corridor extending around the 
southern and eastern fringes of 
Leicester.  The proposed new 
road is of national and regional 
significance but it also provides 
the opportunity for strategic 
development in Leicester & 
Leicestershire.  We estimate that 
this corridor has the potential to 
accommodate about 38,000 new 
homes and additional new jobs.

The Midlands Connect Strategy 
proposes that the A46 and A5 
expressways will be built by the 
early 2030s.  Increased capacity 
on the railways is proposed within 
the same timeframe. As planning 
progresses on these road and rail 
projects, and Local Plans make 
provision for future development, 
the Plan proposes that we should 
start to shift the balance of new 
growth, away from small and 
medium-sized sites, towards 
major strategic locations within 
this corridor.

WE ESTIMATE THAT 
THIS CORRIDOR HAS 
THE POTENTIAL TO 
ACCOMMODATE ABOUT 
38,000 NEW HOMES AND 
ADDITIONAL NEW JOBS

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH23

48



    

24

THE 
LEICESTERSHIRE 
INTERNATIONAL 
GATEWAY

The Leicestershire International 
Gateway is focused around the 
northern parts of the A42 and 
the M1, where there are major 
employment opportunities 
notably East Midlands Airport, 
East Midlands Gateway (strategic 
rail freight terminal) and HS2 
station at Toton nearby. The 
authorities have already made 
provision for strategic new 
housing developments in Ashby, 
Coalville, and Loughborough and 
these need to be completed as a 
matter of priority to provide the 
opportunity for people to live 
close to their places of work.  At 
the same time, some parts of the 
area (e.g. the centres of Coalville 
and Shepshed) are in need of 
regeneration and the physical 
fabric needs to be improved.  In 
our Local Plans we intend to 
explore the theme of ‘forest 
towns’ suggested in the National 
Forest Strategy.  This could be 
a way of enhancing the physical 
fabric of the towns and villages 
in this area and making the most 
of our environmental assets.  It 
would also support investment in 
tourism and leisure facilities and 
health and wellbeing agenda.

Loughborough, with a world 
class university, has also made 
provision for a science and 
enterprise park and this needs to 
be delivered in conjunction with 
improved access from J23 on the 
M1, now funded.

Overall, we estimate that 
the area has the potential to 
accommodate about 11,000 
new homes.  Improvements to 
the A42, the M1, railway lines 
and services – all set out in the 
Midlands Connect Strategy – 
support this opportunity.

THE A5 
IMPROVEMENT 
CORRIDOR

The A5 provides a long distance 
strategic route running from the 
south-east to the north-west.  
The route acts as an alternative 
to the M6 motorway between 
J12 and the M1 but suffers from 
increasing congestion and lack 
of capacity to serve as a relief 
route when there are problems 
on the M6.  Also, it is expected 
to experience increased traffic 
growth in the future from 
advanced manufacturing and 
logistics developments such 
as the MIRA Enterprise Zone & 
Technology Park, phase three of 
DIRFT near Daventry and Magna 
Park in Lutterworth.

Improvement of the A5 corridor 
is essential to reduce congestion 
in the area, to deliver already 
planned housing growth and 
to support delivery of major 
industrial sites which already 
have Local Plan allocations 
and/or planning permission.  
Managing the delivery of 
consented/allocated sites in and 
around Hinckley will be achieved 
through Local Plans.

There are long-standing 
proposals, promoted by the A5 
Partnership, to improve the A5 
from Dodwells to Longshoot, 
widening to dual-carriageway 
a short section of the A5 near 
Hinckley, which carries the traffic 
of both the A5 and the A47.  
The A5 Partnership proposals 
also call for improvements to 
upgrade the A5 between the 
A38 and the M1 to ‘expressway’ 
standard. This is supported by 
the Midlands Connect Strategy 
and will provide much needed 
relief to local roads, and provide 
an efficient alternative route to 
the M6, between J12 and the M1.

MELTON 
MOWBRAY:  
KEY CENTRE FOR 
REGENERATION 
AND GROWTH

Melton Mowbray sits at the 
centre of a largely agricultural 
area in the north east of the 
county. Somewhat distant 
from other centres, strategic 
road and rail routes, the town 
functions as a rural hub for the 
surrounding villages and rural 
communities, the focus of social 
and economic activity, enhanced 
by a characterful and distinctive 
landscape. Recently economic 
growth has been constrained by 
lack of sites and poor connectivity 
but there is evidence that local 
firms are looking to expand and 
new businesses wish to move in.

The town centre is congested 
and in need of regeneration but 
has a great deal of potential.  
Investment in the public realm 
– the buildings, public spaces, 
streets – would do much to 
restore confidence in the town 
and support its potential as 
centre for tourism and leisure in 
one of the most attractive parts 
of the county.

The recent approval for the Melton 
Mowbray Relief Road provides the 
catalyst for change: it will remove 
congestion in the town centre and 
open up land for development 
to the north and east of the 
town.  Similar investment in 
highways to the south of the 
town could increase this further.  
New growth will support town 
centre shops and services and 
provide the opportunity for 
people to live close to where they 
work.  The new A46 expressway 
and improved connections to it, 
will also improve connectivity 
to Leicester, the M1 and the 
Leicestershire International 
Gateway.

* Reference: The Department for Transport’s Road Investment Strategy (2015/16-2019/20) includes proposals to upgrade the A5.   
The A5 Partnership is made up of 18 local councils supported by other public agencies along a 70 mile stretch from Gailey in Staffordshire, 
to Weedon in Northamptonshire (via Leicestershire and Warwickshire).  It is supported by Highways England, four Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (LEPs), Midlands Connect, East Midlands Councils and the Homes and Communities Agency.

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018

49



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH25

TABLE B: NOTIONAL 
CAPACITY OF 
STRATEGIC GROWTH 
AREAS (DWELLINGS)

Growth area Notional capacity (dwellings)

A46 Priority Growth Corridor 38,000

The Leicestershire International Gateway 11,200

Melton Mowbray: Key Centre for 
Regeneration and Growth

3,800

Total 53,000

AREAS OF 
MANAGED 
GROWTH IN LOCAL 
PLANS
Coalville, Hinckley, Loughborough, 
Lutterworth and Market 
Harborough vary in size, location 
and economic base but all 
contribute significantly to the 
local economy.  All are already 
under intense pressure for 
development and have made 
substantial provision within and 
on the edges of the existing 
towns.  Much of this has still 
to be built and is dependent 
upon new local infrastructure.  
Further sustainable development 
should be consistent with the 
need to support local growth. In 
particular, there are aspirations 
for continued town centre 
regeneration and better services.

OUR VILLAGES 
AND RURAL 
AREAS

In recent years, our villages and 
rural areas have been under 
intense pressure for growth.  The 
strategy proposes that, in future, 
there will be limited growth in 
these areas, consistent with 
providing for local needs.

NOTIONAL CAPACITY 
(DWELLINGS)

We have estimated the notional 
capacity of our strategic growth 
areas to accommodate new 
homes and this is shown in Table 
B below.  In Appendix B we 
indicate how this growth would 
be distributed across the eight 
local authorities in Leicester & 
Leicestershire.

NOTIONAL CAPACITY 
(EMPLOYMENT LAND)

Our study of housing and 
economic development needs* 
indicates the amounts of 
employment land that will be 
required in the periods 2011-31 
and 2011-36 (see Appendix A). 
We are confident that, for these 
periods, provision will be made 
in existing and emerging Local 
Plans.

Longer term requirements are 
not quantified.  The need for 
employment land is subject to 
considerably greater market 
variability than the need for new 
homes.  

It is, therefore, unrealistic to 
anticipate what these might be so 
far ahead.  In principle, however, 
it is considered that the spatial 
distribution of new employment 
will need to reflect the overall 
strategy of the Plan, enable 
homes and jobs to be located 
in close proximity, and take 
advantage of opportunities for 
commuting by public transport.  
The need for new employment 
land will be monitored and 
reviewed on a regular basis 
through the preparation and 
adoption of Local Plans.

* Reference: Leicester & Leicestershire Economic Development Needs Assessment (January 2017)

50



726

OUR COMMITMENT 
TO DELIVERY

A PARTNERSHIP 
APPROACH
Our analysis demonstrates that 
Leicester & Leicestershire has the 
potential to deliver development 
which is of national and regional 
significance. The fact that the 
Strategic Growth Plan has been 
prepared by the ten partner 
organisations responsible for 
planning, transport and economic 
development demonstrates 
the extent of the collaborative 
work that is taking place.  Three 
strategic documents are being 
prepared in parallel: the Strategic 
Growth Plan, the Strategic 
Transport Plan and the Local 
Industrial Strategy.  Together 
with Local Plans, these key 
documents will demonstrate our 
commitment to future growth 
and infrastructure investment.

STATUTORY VS 
NON-STATUTORY 
PLANS

The changes to the National 
Planning Policy Framework 
state a preference for statutory 
plans, make recommendations 
on a standard methodology for 
calculating housing need, and 
set out the requirements for a 
‘Statement of Common Ground’.  
The work on our three strategic 
documents, however, has 
reached an advanced stage.  To 
pause and re-work the Strategic 
Growth Plan in a different 
format would cause significant 
delay at a time when there are 
significant issues to resolve and 
opportunities to grasp. 

We propose, therefore, to 
proceed on the basis of a 
non-statutory plan and we 
will reinforce its provisions as 
necessary to give confidence 
that we are committed to 
delivery.  We will implement the 
Strategic Growth Plan through 
our statutory Local Plans, 
supplemented by additional 
documents as necessary. 

Should circumstances change in 
future, we can update housing 
need and supply through 
Statements of Common Ground 
and/or a review of the Strategic 
Growth Plan.

ALIGNING 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
AND GROWTH

It is clear, however, that we will 
need support from government 
if we are to achieve the step 
change in the amount and speed 
of housing and economic growth 
that we propose.  We started our 
work with a shared commitment 
to deliver the homes and jobs 
that Leicestershire needs over 
the period 2011-50 and our 
strategy is set out in this Plan.  
We wish to take full advantage 
of the opportunities that are 
presented by the Midlands 
Engine and Midlands Connect 
strategies.  Our proposals, 
therefore, maximise the 
benefits that are delivered by 
the infrastructure investment 
proposed in these documents.  
We value the government’s 
stated commitment to the region.

DIGITAL 
CONNECTIVITY
Digital connectivity is a 
significant issue in parts of 
Leicester & Leicestershire, both 
rural and urban.  High quality 
communications support 
remote working and provide 
access to on-line services.  They 
are an essential part of the 
infrastructure planning process 
and need to be funded as such.

OUR OFFER TO 
GOVERNMENT
Our offer to government, in return 
for investment in infrastructure, is 
to maximise the benefits that can 
be achieved from commitments 
that are already made in the 
Midlands Engine and Midlands 
Connect strategies.  We are 
confident that we can deliver 
genuinely high quality new 
homes and jobs, in successful 
communities at a faster pace than 
has been achieved to date. New 
infrastructure will enable this to 
happen.

Given that our growth in the 
period 2011-31 can be provided on 
existing sites or in Local Plans, we 
have time to align infrastructure 
and new growth.  We propose 
to work with government and 
its executive agencies to put 
this into effect.  We will also 
work with local communities 
and government departments 
to ensure that new development 
brings with it the local services 
that are needed. For our part, 
through our Local Plans, we will 
deliver the growth that is set 
out in this Plan, ensuring that 
new development is built to the 
highest possible standards.

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018

51



APP

LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH27

HOUSING NEEDS 
2011-31 AND 2011-36
We have undertaken a study of 
our housing and employment 
economic development needs 
for the periods 2011-31 and 2011-
36 to align with the different 
time periods for which Local 
Plans are being prepared.  The 
results of this analysis are set 
out in Tables 1 and 2 and further 
detail can be found in the study.  
Leicester City Council has 
formally declared that it will be 
unable to meet its ‘objectively 
assessed needs’ (OAN) for 
housing for the period 2011- 
31.  Oadby & Wigston Borough 
Council has declared that, 
subject to further investigation 
of highway matters, it might 
be unable to meet its needs for 
the period 2031-36.  Planning 
guidance requires the OAN to 
be satisfied across the ‘housing 
market area’ (HMA) as a whole.

Authority Housing Need1

Number of 
dwellings per 
annum

Total number 
of dwellings

Blaby DC 370 7,400

Charnwood BC 1,031 20,620

Harborough DC 532 10,640

Hinckley & Bosworth BC 471 9,420

Leicester City Council 1,692 33,840

Melton BC 186 3,720

North West Leicestershire 
DC

481 9,620

Oadby & Wigston BC 148 2,960

Total (Leicester & 
Leicestershire)

4,8292 96,5802

 

TABLE 1: HOUSING NEED 2011-31 TABLE 2: HOUSING NEED 2011-36

Authority Housing Need1

Number of 
dwellings per 
annum

Total 
number of 
dwellings

Blaby DC 361 9,025

Charnwood BC 994 24,850

Harborough DC 514 12,850

Hinckley & Bosworth BC 454 11,350

Leicester City Council 1,668 41,700

Melton BC 170 4,250

North West Leicestershire 
DC

448 11,200

Oadby & Wigston BC 155 3,875

Total (Leicester & 
Leicestershire)

4,7162 117,9002

APPENDIX A

Notes: 

1. Source: Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment, GL 
Hearn, January 2017

2. The totals do not match the sum of the parts due to the way in which 
additional provision to support economic growth in Melton BC and North 
West Leicestershire DC is taken into account.

We have undertaken an analysis 
of completions, planning 
permissions and allocations in 
adopted and emerging Local 
Plans.  We have concluded that 
sufficient provision has been, 
or will be, made in adopted 
or emerging Local Plans to 
accommodate the OAN for 
housing, across the HMA as a 
whole, for the period 2011-31.  
The unmet need arising in the 
administrative areas of Leicester 
City Council will, therefore, be 
accommodated in the remaining 
borough and district councils 
and this will be reflected in Local 
Plans as they progress, supported 
by an agreed statement or 
Statement of Common Ground as 
appropriate.

Beyond 2031, provision will 
be made in Local Plans in 
accordance with the framework 
set out in this Plan.  

52



APP

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN: SEPTEMBER 2018 28

TABLE 3: EMPLOYMENT LAND NEEDS (HA) 2011-31 AND 2011-36

Notes:  
The range for the Total B1a/b does not sum to the cumulative minimum and maximum range for each 
local authority.  This is because the source of the minimum and maximum figures varies according to 
the outcome of the labour demands scenario and completions trends.  The totals reflect the total for 
each scenario.  Numbers may also not add up due to rounding.

Local plans will make provision for these needs in the period 2011-36.  

Beyond 2031, provision made in Local Plans, for both housing and economic growth will be made in 
accordance with the framework established by the Strategic Growth Plan.

2011-31 2011-36

B1a/b B1c/B2 Small B8 B1a/b B1c/B2 Small B8

Blaby DC 37-45 15 10 47-48 19 12

Charnwood BC 14-37 21 11 17-40 26 13

Harborough DC 14-21 22 8 17-24 28 9

Hinckley & Bosworth BC 11-32 14 16 13-34 17 20

Leicester City Council 2-6 36 15 3-7 45 19

Melton BC 10-18 21 14 10-23 26 17

North West Leicestershire DC 45-46 3 17 50-56 4 21

Oadby & Wigston BC 1 0 4 2 0 5

Totals 142-198 132 93 177-215 165 117

EMPLOYMENT 
LAND NEEDS  
2011-31 AND 2011-36

The study of housing and 
economic development needs 
also considered employment 
land needs for the periods 
2011-31 and 2011-36.  The results 
of this analysis are set out in 
Table 3 and further detail can be 
found in the study.  In addition 
to the needs set out in Table 
3, the authorities will seek to 
meet the need from strategic 
B8 uses identified in a separate 
study relating to logistics and 
distribution.

53



LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE 2050: OUR VISION FOR GROWTH29

APP
TABLE 4: NOTIONAL HOUSING NEED AND SUPPLY 2031-50

Notes: 
1. Notional housing needs 2031-50 based on information contained in Housing and Economic 
Development Needs assessment (January 2017)

2. Charnwood and North West Leicestershire are assumed to meet notional OAN so delivery on non-
strategic sites exceeds the Strategic Growth Plan’s figure of 40% of notional OAN.

3. Due to the level of provision for development on strategic sites in Blaby DC, Harborough DC and 
Hinckley & Bosworth BC, development on non-strategic sites is limited to 30% of notional OAN.

4. Delivery on non-strategic sites rounded to the nearest ‘10’.

Authority Notional Housing Needs 
2031-501

Delivery on Non-Strategic 
Sites4

Delivery on 
Strategic Sites

Total Delivery

dpa Total dpa Total Total dpa Total

Blaby DC 361 6,859 110 2,0603 15,500 924 17,560

Charnwood BC 994 18,886 470 8,8902 10,000 994 18,890

Harborough DC 514 9,766 150 2,9303 13,000 838 15,930

Hinckley & Bosworth BC 454 8,626 140 2,5903 7,500 531 10,090

Leicester City 1,668 31,692 550 10,450 0 550 10,450

Melton BC 170 3,230 80 1,520 3,800 280 5,320

North West 
Leicestershire DC

448 8,512 240 4,5202 5,200 512 9,720

Oadby & Wigston BC 155 2,945 60 1,140 1,500 139 2,640

Total (Leicester & 
Leicestershire) (%)

4,764 90,516 1,800 34,100 
(38%)

56,500  
(62%)

4,768 90,600

NOTIONAL 
HOUSING NEEDS 
AND SUPPLY  
2031-50
 
For the purposes of the Strategic 
Growth Plan, we need to estimate 
the likely scale of growth for the 
period 2031-50.  This needs to 
be identified across the housing 
market area as a whole.  Currently, 
only the Melton Local Plan goes 
beyond 2031, and only to 2036.

The study of housing and 
economic development needs 
also gives us an indication of what 
needs might be for the period 
2031-36.

APPENDIX B

We recognise that projecting 
forward beyond this date is highly 
problematical but we need some 
notional estimates of growth 
in order to take a longer term 
view.  In the absence any more 
authoritative data, therefore, we 
have chosen to extrapolate these 
figures forwards. The results are 
set out in Table 4.

It is important to note that, 
although these numbers 
cannot be regarded as being 
authoritative, they will be 
consistently monitored and 
reviewed, and can be adjusted as 
necessary.

In Table 4, we have also estimated 
the likely sources of housing 
supply. The Strategic Growth 
Plan assumes that both Leicester 
City Council and Oadby & 

Wigston Borough Council will be 
unlikely to be able to meet their 
objectively assessed needs during 
this period.  Table 4, therefore, 
assumes that there will be a re-
distribution of housing across 
the housing market area.  In 
line with the strategy set out in 
the Plan, we propose that there 
should be a shift in the focus of 
development from small- and 
medium-sized sites to strategic 
locations.

The authorities in Leicester & 
Leicestershire agree that the 
distribution in Table 4 will be 
used as the basis for future Local 
Plans.  This will be reinforced in an 
agreed statement or Statement 
of Common Ground and in Local 
Plans.

54



APP 55



For further details on the Strategic Growth 
Plan please visit our web site:
 

llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk
 
or contact any of the partner organisations 
listed on the inside cover.

56



APPENDIX B 

Key changes made following consultation on the Draft Strategic Growth Plan 

Matter Explanation 
 

Chapter 3: Accommodating our Growth 
 

Ch 3: Title changed from ‘Accommodating Our 
Growth’ to ‘Planning for Our Growth and 
Infrastructure’. 

Emphasises relationship between 
growth and infrastructure. 

Ch 3: Re-drafted to bring together two time 
periods 2011-31 and 2031-50 (housing 
numbers as before). 

Provides clarity on scale of growth over 
long term; better support for funding 
bids. 

Ch 3: New text on aligning growth, 
infrastructure and services; focus on delivery, 
removing barriers to development; increasing 
speed. 

Emphasises need for infrastructure to 
support committed and new 
development; identifies other 
infrastructure needs and priorities. 

Chapter 4: The Building Blocks for our Plan 

Ch 4: New text added on the revised National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Explains how we will address changing 
government policy. 

Ch 4: New text and plan relating to 
environmental, historic and other assets. 
 

Emphasises that such assets are an 
important consideration when planning 
for and integrating growth into its 
environment, context and setting. 
 

Chapter 5: Our Overall Approach 
 

Ch 5: New text on ‘Investment and Growth’ Recognises that Leicester & 
Leicestershire will continue to grow so 
we have to plan for this; links to the 
LLEP’s emerging Local Industrial 
Strategy; and ensures that local 
aspirations are reflected in the SGP. 

Ch 5: New text on ‘Securing essential 
Infrastructure’ 

States that wide range of infrastructure 
is needed; promised infrastructure 
needs to be provided in parallel with the 
delivery of growth; much of this from the 
public sector but also collaboration with 
private sector. 

Ch 5: Text on garden cities agenda brought 
forward. 

To emphasise the way in which this 
agenda will lie at the heart of our 
proposals to give social, economic and 
environmental focus to the delivery of 
growth in a plan-led way. 
 
 

 

 

57



Chapter 6: Our Spatial Strategy 
 

Ch 6: New text to emphasise that the SGP will 
be delivered via Local Plans 

To emphasise that local planning 
authorities intend to be at the forefront, 
managing the delivery process 

Ch 6: A46: identified as the ‘The A46 Priority 
Growth Corridor’ 

Reinforces the message that the new 
A46 Expressway is a critical 
infrastructure element of the strategy 
without which growth on the scale/speed 
proposed would not be possible. 

Ch 6: Northern Gateway’: Re-defined and 
identified as ‘The Leicestershire international 
Gateway’ 

Recognises the increasingly 
international importance of this area with 
East Midlands Airport, East Midlands 
Gateway, HS2 station, major employers, 
new roads, etc. 

Ch 6: ‘Southern Gateway’ deleted; replaced 
with ‘A5 Improvement Corridor’ 

Emphasises the importance of the A5 
improvements to the delivery of 
committed growth 

Ch 6: Lutterworth deleted as ‘Key Centre for 
Growth’; re-designated as an ‘Area of 
Managed Growth in Local Plans’ 

Allows the local planning authority to 
focus on current proposals for growth 
and manage future development in 
Local Plans 

Ch 6: Melton Mowbray renamed ‘Key Centre 
for Regeneration and Growth’ 

Better reflects the aspirations of the local 
authority for growth and regeneration 
supported by new infrastructure 

Strategy Plan revised 
 

Amended in line with changes. 

Housing numbers: 

 Reduced by 2,000 dwellings in the area 
of Harborough DC 

 Increased by 800 dwellings in the area 
of Melton BC 

 Increased by 1,200 dwellings in the 
area of North West Leicestershire DC 
 

 Provides a more sustainable distribution 
and accurately reflects the positive 
aspirations of local authorities. 

General changes to the text in various places 
 

Clear support for public transport 
enhancements; including radial routes and 
railways not in Midlands Connect Strategy e.g. 
Leicester-Burton Line and around Melton 
Mowbray. 

 

Better reflects the aspirations of the 
partners in terms of public transport 
improvements. 

Recognition of the need for public transport to 
support growth. 
 

Amended to emphasis aspirations for 
improved public transport as part of a 
sustainable transport strategy. 

Importance of delivering infrastructure in 
parallel with growth in order to support both 
long term growth and growth committed 
through the grant of planning permission. 

Emphasises that infrastructure is 
needed to support both long term growth 
and sites which already have planning 
permission. 

58



Emphasis on relationship/dependency 
between strategic and ‘lower order’ 
infrastructure 
 

Recognises that improvements to the 
wider network will be needed to support 
the strategic road and rail improvements 
highlighted in the Plan. 
 

Emphasis on delivery. Emphasises that development in the 
period 2011-31 needs to be accelerated. 
 

Align homes and jobs; recognising LLEP 
priorities. 
 

Recognises the desire to reduce levels 
of commuting and the relationship 
between major employment centres and 
new homes. 
 

Clear support for regeneration e.g. Coalville 
Town Centre 
 

Acknowledges that growth can take the 
form of regeneration and redevelopment 
of brownfield sites. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

Risk Assessment 

Risk Specific issue Response 

   

Joint working The revised NPPF makes it 
very clear that government 
wants LPAs to work 
together, specifically 
preparing joint statutory 
Local Plans. 

The SGP is clear evidence of joint 
working albeit on a non-statutory basis.  
The work has made steady progress 
over the last three years with no 
interruption, signs of hesitation or 
withdrawal of support.  Failure to agree 
at this late stage would signal a major 
break-up in the partnership putting at 
risk all of the attendant benefits which 
could be delivered through continued 
joint working (notably access to 
funding and the ability to resist 
unwanted development pressures). 
 
Joint working has also raised the 
profile of the Leicester & Leicestershire 
partners with statutory agencies and 
has contributed to a positive outcome 
on a number of funding applications. 
 

The ‘Duty to Co-
operate’ 

The revised NPPF 
strengthens the 
requirements of the ‘Duty to 
Co-operate’, effectively 
turning it into a ‘Duty to 
Agree’. 
 

If approved by all partners, the SPG 
will be a clear statement of co-
operation and agreement.  It highlights 
the issues, identifies a strategy and, in 
its final form, will be a clear statement 
of agreement by the partners.  This is a 
powerful statement and a good 
collaborative position for the partners 
which can be clearly demonstrated. 
 

Statement of 
Common Ground 

The revised NPPF 
establishes a mandatory 
requirement for a Statement 
of Common Ground and 
sets out a timetable for its 
preparation. 
 

The SGP provides much of the 
information needed for a Statement of 
Common Ground.  The Statement of 
Common Ground will set out the 
agreement on housing numbers 
including a recognition on behalf of the 
partners that they will need to 
accommodate any demonstrated 
unmet need arising from Leicester City 
(and Oadby & Wigston Borough if 
necessary). 
 
 
 
 

Reputational 
damage if one or 
more partners 
does not approve 

Clear demonstration of 
failure to work co-
operatively, lack of strategy 
to address acknowledged 

Withdrawal of support by a number of 
partners would signal clear failure in 
attempts at joint working.  This would 
be likely to result in a position that 

61



the Plan development requirements 
and no framework for Local 
Plan.  Consequential, ad 
hoc and piecemeal 
development pressures 
which would be difficult to 
resist. 

would probably be worse than if the 
SGP process had not started.  Intense 
pressure from development interests 
would be likely to arise across the 
Leicester & Leicestershire Housing 
Market Area (HMA), in all likelihood 
targeting the types of site that the SGP 
is attempting to protect (e.g. 
development in villages and rural 
areas). 
 

Delay in the 
preparation of 
Local Plans 

The SGP is intended as a 
framework for Local Plans.  
If this does not exist, then 
the Duty to Co-operate will 
need to be re-cast in a 
different form. 
 

Possibility of delay rather than rapid 
progression towards Statement of 
Common Ground being agreed across 
the Leicester & Leicestershire HMA 
and in the preparation of Local Plans. 

Failure to deliver 
new housing at the 
pace required. 
 

Local Planning Authorities 
will have to return to relying 
on disaggregated and 
piecemeal ways of securing 
infrastructure. 

Government is committed to the 
delivery of new housing and 
accelerating the speed of delivery.  
Work on the SGP has already 
supported applications for funding 
(which have been successful).  Homes 
England have expressed a willingness 
to support the partners in accelerating 
growth, bringing other government 
departments into the process.  This is 
a good collaborative position for the 
partners to be able to demonstrate as 
they go forward. 
 

Delivering new 
infrastructure 

Different mechanisms to 
make the case for arguing 
for strategic infrastructure 
would have to be devised.  
Returning to disaggregated 
and piecemeal means of 
doing this might not deliver 
provision at the scale and 
pace required. 
 
Lack of infrastructure is 
currently delaying the 
delivery of some growth that 
already benefits from 
planning permission and, as 
a result, pressure continues 
to be exerted on other sites. 

Government’s view is that 
infrastructure and growth are closely 
aligned.  Those authorities which best 
demonstrate joint working and a 
commitment to growth will access the 
greatest Government funding.  
Leicester & Leicestershire has had 
some significant funding successes 
already e.g. the Melton Mowbray Relief 
Road; progress to Stage 2 of the 
Housing and Infrastructure Fund both 
the South-West Leicestershire 
package of improvements and the final 
section of the Melton Mowbray Relief 
Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62



Accelerating the 
pace of housing 
delivery 

The SGP demonstrates to 
Government the effort that 
has already been made by 
the partners to 
accommodate development 
via existing Local Plan 
allocations and planning 
permissions.  This provides 
a good platform to negotiate 
infrastructure funding and 
other work with Government 
in order to accelerate 
delivery. 
 

Leicester City Council has secured 
Marginal Viability Funding to 
accelerate the pace of delivery at the 
important Ashton Green site.  The 
Leicester & Leicestershire partnership 
is recognised by Homes England who 
have offered support in a variety of 
forms.  Accelerating the delivery of 
consented schemes allows local 
people to see how growth can support 
the local housing market and to see 
the merits of growth. 
 

Loss of 
confidence in the 
ability of the 
partners to plan 
pro-actively. 
 

Powers exist already for the 
government to transfer 
control to the County 
Council if the partners fail to 
co-operate and manage 
growth positively and 
proactively through a plan-
led approach. 

The SGP is an excellent example of 
collaborative working across 
organisations with responsibility for the 
whole range of local government 
functions.  It could be an exemplar of 
how to balance competing interests 
and thereby maximise funding 
opportunities. 
 

The scale of 
growth will not 
reduce 

There is intense pressure 
for development in the 
logistics sector in the 
Leicestershire and 
Leicestershire area.  Both 
the Housing and Economic 
Development Needs 
Assessment (January 2017) 
and the new standard 
methodology for calculating 
housing needs (set out in 
the revised NPPF) indicate 
a similar scale of housing 
need across the Leicester & 
Leicestershire housing 
market area.  
 

The SGP does not promote growth 
above objectively assessed needs.  
That being the case, even if the SGP 
were to be abandoned, Local Plans 
would have to plan for the same scale 
of growth but with no over-arching 
strategy in place.  The development 
industry could target particularly 
vulnerable authorities e.g. those whose 
five-year housing land supply is 
marginal. 
   

Deletion of the A46 
Expressway ( 
Southern/Eastern 
Leicester Bypass) 

Growth likely to gravitate 
towards existing 
infrastructure and major 
employment centres. 
Continued pressure also in 
villages and rural areas 
across the Leicester & 
Leicestershire area. 
 

The SGP does no more than 
accommodate the objectively assessed 
needs of Leicester & Leicestershire.  
That being the case, if the new A46 
Expressway were to be deleted from 
the plan, some 38,000 dwellings would 
have to be provided in other locations.  
Conventional sustainability criteria are 
likely to support the notion that new 
growth should gravitate towards places 
with infrastructure and economic 
generators. 

 

63



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTE EXTRACT - MEETING OF THE SCRUTINY COMMISSION HELD ON  
31 OCTOBER 2018 

 
 

38. Strategic Growth Plan  
 
The Commission considered a report and presentation of the Chief Executive which 
set out the revised Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), which 
had been amended in the light of consultation responses.  A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, and the slides forming the presentation, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
The Commission also considered a submission from the Campaign to Protect Rural 
England, a copy of which is filed with these minutes. 
 
In introducing the report, the Chief Executive advised that the SGP would be a key 
document to help the local area plan for future development needs.  Leicester and 
Leicestershire were one of the only areas in the country developing a voluntary plan 
in this way and had consequently attracted interest from central Government and 
agencies such as Homes England.  He noted that the SGP was not set in stone but 
would be reviewed as new evidence became available and would be considered and 
tested through the Local Plan process at district council level.  
 
The Commission was advised that the breakdown of consultation responses showed 
that 42% of respondents agreed with the key priorities and 42% disagreed.  57% of 
respondents disagreed with the A46 Expressway being a primary growth area.  54% 
of respondents agreed that Leicester should be the central city.  47% agreed with the 
proposals for the development of the Northern Gateway (now the Leicestershire 
International Gateway) whereas only one third of respondents agreed with the 
proposals for the Southern Gateway, which had been removed from the Plan as a 
result of the consultation.  A full report of the consultation findings was available on 
the SGP website. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 
 
(i) The SGP had been prepared in the context of Government policy and 

guidance, as well as independent evidence, such as the Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA).  The HEDNA was 
recognised as a robust and comprehensive assessment.  It was based on the 
2014 housing need projections and was therefore in line with the Government’s 
latest guidance for calculating housing need, which were currently subject to 
consultation.  These figures were preferred by the Government to the 2016 
projections which had only recently been published and had yet to be 
considered in the context of other available evidence and Government policy.  

 
(ii) The Commission was keen to see a review timetable built into the SGP.  

Officers advised that it had always been the intention to review the Plan in the 
light of triggers such as updated housing need projections, but acknowledged 
that this had not been made explicit.  The Commission felt that clarity around 
the triggers for a review would provide some assurance for stakeholders. 

APPENDIX D 

65



 
 
(iii) Concern was expressed that the response rate for the consultation was low, 

with only 588 responses received across Leicester and Leicestershire.  It was 
understood that each stakeholder had been responsible for their own 
consultation; however, it was suggested that the County Council should 
reconsider its arrangement for consultations, with a view to improving their 
effectiveness.  It was noted by officers that the consultation response was 
broadly in line with response rates for similar strategic planning documents.  

 
(iv) Some disappointment was expressed that there was already significant 

congestion in some areas, such as Coalville, but the SGP proposed further 
managed growth.  The Commission was assured that the SGP intended to 
change the recent approach to development, which had seen the addition of 
new extensions to existing settlements and which if continued into the future 
would lead to further congestion and a lack of sustainability.  In addition, a 
package of measures to address congestion issues around Coalville was 
already in place.  In the future, using the SGP as a framework for the more 
detailed, statutory Local Plans would result in a more sustainable distribution of 
development across the county, creating new communities which were 
supported by infrastructure.  It was intended that the Local Plans would also 
seek to address concerns around issues such as air quality and the housing 
needs of an ageing population. 

 
(v) It would be important to take account of development outside of Leicestershire 

which could have an impact on the county, particularly in terms of congestion 
and the long-term infrastructure required to address this.  Officers confirmed 
that developments around Toton in the north of the county and the Oxford- 
Cambridge arc to the south had been taken into account, but acknowledged 
that the Kettering and the A14 could have been given greater attention.  
Members were reminded that the proposed A46 Expressway was intended to 
relieve congestion to the south of the county. 

 
(vi) It was confirmed that the dual role of the County Council as landowner and as 

promoter of land for development had not been raised as an issue during the 
consultation.  The County Council was aware of potential conflicts of interest 
and the usual appropriate safeguards would be put in place before any 
planning application process commenced.  In addition, consideration was being 
given to how, if any profits were realised from the sale of County Council land, 
these could be used to forward-fund infrastructure developments. 

 
(vii) Midlands Connect had commissioned a study into the A46 Expressway, which 

was due to be published on 7 November and would then be made available to 
members.  Due to the scale of the development, this work was being taken 
forward by Midlands Connect and Transport for the East Midlands, with support 
from the County Council and other affected local authorities.  The study would 
look at all options in the context of issues such as cost and resilience for the 
transport network. 

 
 

66



 
(viii) The Transport Evidence which had been published during the consultation 

period, leading to its extension, was at a very high level, with broad themes 
which would need working through at the Local Plan level.  A transport strategy 
would also be developed with Leicester City. 

 
(ix) The Leicestershire International Gateway would be an area of major growth 

and job creation.  HS2 was expected to be delivered from 2033.  The County 
Council's Cabinet had approved the use of additional resources to enable a 
proactive approach to be taken to mitigate the impact of HS2 and realise 
benefits for the area.  The Government had announced the creation of a 
development corporation the previous week, including the International 
Gateway and station at Toton.  This was at an early stage and the implications 
were not yet known.  However, Leicestershire County Council and the Leicester 
and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) intended to be actively 
involved in creating it. 

 
(x) In response to a query about skills and workforce, the Commission was advised 

that this would feature in the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), which would focus 
on putting the right training facilities in place and supporting people into better 
jobs, including through the promotion of knowledge-based skills.  The LIS 
would interact with the SGP particularly as the LLEP was involved in both 
documents.  The evidence base was also consistent across the two. 

 
(xi) A conscious decision had been taken to exclude strategic B8 class of land use, 

(storage and distribution) from the SGP.  This was because the four district 
councils most affected by this type of land use were already working together to 
commission an independent study which should enable them to influence any 
proposals for strategic B8 development in Leicester and Leicestershire in the 
future. 

 
(xii) It was confirmed that the SGP evidence base had identified the protection of 

green wedges as an important consideration when planning for development.  
The methodology for identifying and reviewing green wedges had been in place 
for a number of years.  It was currently being considered by Planning Officers 
and would be revised if necessary. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration 
at its meeting on 23 November; 

 
(b) That the Cabinet’s attention be drawn to the view of the Commission that 

arrangements for review should be explicitly built in to the Strategic Growth 
Plan; 

 
(c) That details of the national consultation on the national planning policy and 

guidance be circulated to members of the Commission for information.  
 
 

67



This page is intentionally left blank



1

STRATEGIC GROWTH PLAN

EQUALITY & HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(EHRIA)

Final Report

September 2018

69

EWalters_1
Text Box
APPENDIX E



2

Key Details

Name of policy being assessed: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth
Plan

Date Started: June 2016
Date Completed: September 2018
Project Sponsor: Strategic Director of Housing, Planning &

Regeneration and Regulatory Services
(Charnwood Borough Council)

Lead Officer: Head of Planning and Regeneration
(Charnwood Borough Council)

Team Members: Principal Planning Officer (Charnwood Borough
Council)

Planning Policy Manager (Leicester City
Council)

Corporate Improvement & Policy Officer
(Charnwood Borough Council)

Policy Officer- Equalities (Leicestershire County
Council)

70



3

1. Introduction

1.1 This is the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) of the
Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan.

1.2 All partner organisations involved in the development and implementation of
the Strategic Growth Plan have a legal responsibility (as set out in the
Equality Act 2010) to ensure that we can demonstrate having paid due regard
to the need to (referred to as the ‘General Public Sector Equality Duty’):

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

1.3 There are certain characteristics protected by equalities legislation. These
‘protected characteristics’ are:

1. Age
2. Disability
3. Gender Re-assignment
4. Marriage & Civil Partnership
5. Pregnancy & Maternity
6. Race
7. Religion or Belief
8. Sex
9. Sexual Orientation

1.4 Such equalities legislation does not allow the following:

 Direct discrimination, including by association and perception
 Indirect discrimination
 Pregnancy & maternity discrimination
 Harassment
 Third party harassment
 Discrimination arising from disability

1.5 Such equalities legislation allows the following:

 Duty to make reasonable adjustments

1.6 Additionally, all partner organisations involved in the development and
implementation of the Strategic Growth Plan understand the importance of

71



4

valuing human rights and are committed to ensuring that the human rights of
individuals are maintained and respected. It is for this reason that we have
chosen to additionally assess any human rights implications of the Strategic
Growth Plan and also consider opportunities to promote or protect any of the
relevant human rights within the EHRIA process. These include:

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT PART 1: The Convention – Rights and Freedoms

Article 2: Right to life
Article 3: Prohibition of torture, inhuman or degrading treatment
Article 4: Prohibition of slavery/ forced labour
Article 5: Right to liberty and security of person
Article 6: Right to a fair trial (applies to criminal and civil issues)
Article 7: No punishment without law
Article 8: Right to respect for private and family life
Article 9: Freedom of thought, conscience and religion
Article 10: Freedom of expression
Article 11: Freedom of Assembly and Association
Article 12: Right to Marry
Article 14: Prohibition of Discrimination (linked to a convention right i.e.
equal access to convention rights)

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT PART 2: The First Protocol

Article 1: Protection of property/ peaceful enjoyment
Article 2: Right to education
Article 3: Right to free elections

1.7 This document explains what steps have been taken to understand the likely
implications of the Strategic Growth Plan upon the specific individuals and
community groups protected by the Equality Act 2010 and Human Rights Act
1998, including what steps/ mitigation has been taken in order to address any
differential impacts, and draws upon any recommendations and conclusions.

2. The Strategic Growth Plan

2.1 The Strategic Growth Plan is a new plan that sets the vision and strategy for
future growth in Leicester and Leicestershire. Its main purpose is to distribute
housing and jobs and support strategic infrastructure within the Housing
Market Area between 2011 and 2050. The Strategic Growth Plan will be a
locus for agreement between Local Authorities concerned demonstrating the
‘Duty to Cooperate’ as well as setting the strategic policy framework for
partner authorities to prepare their individual Local Plans. These individual

72



5

local plans will each have their own Equality and Human Rights Impact
Assessment as part of the process to prepare them.

2.2 The Strategic Growth Plan will provide a framework for delivering growth and
infrastructure and it will therefore affect the whole community. It is intended to
deliver the right growth, at the right time, in the right locations, creating
successful residential and business communities that are well-served by
essential infrastructure and services, in a landscape where environmental
resources are protected and enhanced.

3. The process followed

3.1 The EHRIA has followed a process that mirrors the key stage gates of the
Strategic Growth Plan during its preparation. The relationship between the
two processes is:

Stage Date EHRIA SGP

Stage 1 July 2016 Baseline evidence and
appraisal matrices

Strategic Growth
Statement

Stage 2 September
2017

Draft Equality and
Human Rights Impact
Assessment

Draft Strategic Growth
Plan

Stage 3 September
2018

Final Equality and
Human Rights Impact
Assessment

Final Strategic Growth
Plan

4. Consultation

4.1 Public consultation has been carried out at stages 1 and 2 detailed above. A
Strategic Growth Statement sought views on the scope of the Growth Plan
and its key objectives. This was followed by consultation on a draft Strategic
Growth Plan published in January 2018 which ran until May 2018, along with
the supporting Draft Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment.

4.2 The draft plan followed the testing of 7 alternative options through the EHRIA
framework.

4.3 A number of responses to the draft Strategic Growth Plan have identified that
housing stock should address the needs of an ageing population for smaller
housing types close to services and facilities, thus reducing transport issues
and releasing larger homes for families. The need for dwellings suitable for
younger families was also highlighted along with the need to provide housing
in rural settlements which allow younger households to remain in the
communities in which they were raised. The Report of Consultation is

73



6

available detailing the comments raised and the partner authorities’ response
is available on the strategic growth plan website: llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk

5. Outcome of EHRIA assessment

5.1 The results of the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment are
summarised below, the assessment framework itself is available in Appendix
A.

Age - The Strategic Growth Plan is likely to impact negatively upon age in the
scenario tested and it will be important to ensure that specific infrastructure and
services are planned effectively to ensure they are appropriate for the age
demographic of the community (i.e. specific to older people, young people etc.) - this
is likely to be an issue for subsequent local plans.

Disability - The Strategic Growth Plan is likely to impact positively upon disability in
this scenario. The strategy is likely to focus development in areas that favour
disabled people by virtue of access to jobs, services and facilities where their needs
can be met. It will be important to recognise that wherever new development is
focused barriers may be faced by this community group if effective due
consideration is not given in the planning and consultation stages of local plans.

Gender Reassignment - The effects upon the protected characteristic of gender
reassignment are not considered likely to have an impact.

Marriage and Civil Partnership - The effects upon the protected characteristic of
marriage and civil partnership are not considered likely to have an impact.

Pregnancy and Maternity - The likely impacts upon the protected characteristic of
pregnancy and maternity are neutral.

Race - The Strategic Growth Plan is likely to positively impact upon race provided
consideration is given to the specific infrastructure and services required to create
mixed and balanced communities. It will be necessary to plan effectively in local
plans to ensure new developments have appropriate community infrastructure for the
demographic of the community (i.e. BME Residents; the gypsy and traveller
community).

Religion or Belief - The assessment presents a neutral outcome for this
characteristic. It reflects the reality that areas of higher population are more likely to
be able to support a wider range of faith communities and buildings compared to
lower populated areas. Specific infrastructure and services will need to be planned
effectively to ensure that the needs of faith groups are addressed in local plans.

74



7

Sex - The assessment records that the impact upon the protected characteristic of
sex for the strategy is neutral.

Other Groups (e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, health inequality, carers,
asylum seeker and refugee communities, looked after children, deprived or
disadvantaged communities, community cohesion) - The assessment records
that the impact upon the protected characteristic of other groups for the strategy is
neutral.

6. Human Rights

6.1 Based on the evidence and findings, the final Strategic Growth Plan is likely to
have an impact on some of the Articles in the Human Rights Act in the
following ways. There may be a positive effect on the right to respect for
private and family life, particularly in relation to the gypsy and traveller
communities as new development ensures needs are met. There will be a
neutral impact upon the right to a fair trial and the right to freedom of
expression as the plan has been produced in consultation with the public and
stakeholders.

6.2 There is considered to be no impact upon the other Articles in the Human
Rights Act. A full assessment of the impacts is provided in Appendix A. It
should be noted that the preparation of subsequent local plans must be
transparent, carried out in an equitable way and subject to Examination in
Public to ensure that impacts are properly assessed and negative impacts
restricted.

7. Mitigation of impacts

7.1 The Strategic Growth Plan is likely to impact negatively upon age in most of
the scenarios tested and it will therefore be important to make certain that
specific infrastructure and services are planned effectively to ensure they are
appropriate for the age demographic of the community (i.e. specific to older
people, young people etc.). This will be a key issue for subsequent local plans
and the use of robust evidence identifying an appropriate mix of types,
tenures and size of homes to meet the identified housing need will be vital for
their preparation.

7.2 The Strategic Growth Plan’s impact on disability is likely to be positive, by
concentrating growth close to employment areas. This will provide the
opportunity to live closer to work, so improving access to jobs along with
services and facilities. However, it has been noted that there will be no
improvement for those who cannot work, or ability to work is restricted. The
type of housing provided through the local plan will have an important impact

75



8

and should be addressed by building homes to meet the identified need,
including those with disabilities.

7.3 In terms of pregnancy and maternity the Strategic Growth Plan is likely to
have a neutral impact overall. The growth areas will provide opportunity to
improve services and facilities for those with good access to these locations.
However, rural areas are unlikely to benefit from this positive impact. The
impact on the existing urban areas, notably those managed areas of growth,
at Leicester City, Loughborough, Coalville, Lutterworth, Hinckley and Market
Harborough is likely to remain unchanged. In terms of rural areas it may be
possible to improve access through local plans by ensuring all settlements
can access larger centres which can provide relevant services and facilities.

7.4 The Strategic Growth Plan is likely to impact positively upon race. The plan
provides an opportunity for the creation of mixed and balanced communities
with the necessary infrastructure, cultural facilities and services being
delivered to ensure that there are no barriers facing specific community
groups. Local plans should plan effectively to ensure new developments have
appropriate community infrastructure for the demographic of the community
(i.e. BME residents; the gypsy and traveller community).

7.5 The assessment of the Strategic Growth Plan presents a mixed outcome for
religion and belief. It reflects the reality that areas of higher population are
more likely to be able to support a wider range of faith communities and
buildings compared to lower populated areas. Specific infrastructure and
services will need to be planned for effectively in local plans to ensure that the
needs of faith groups are addressed.

7.6 There is considered to be no likely impact upon gender reassignment, sex,
sexual orientation and a neutral impact on other groups.

7.7 In terms of Human Rights, the Strategic Growth Plan has been produced in
consultation with both stakeholders and the public. The resultant local plans
will be produced through a transparent and equitable plan-making process
involving further consultation and Examination in Public. This will ensure that
where effects occur any resultant impact is likely to be positive or neutral and
provides the opportunity to mitigate against any potential negative impacts
which are identified.

8. Monitoring and Review

8.1 The findings of this EHRIA will be reviewed by the Strategic Planning Group
and MAG and thereafter the individual governance structures of each partner
authority in considering the proposal to take forward and endorse the
Strategic Growth Plan. It is expected that the approved plan will be addressed

76



9

in relevant local plans and monitored by the relevant local authority through
their Annual Monitoring Report. Should any negative impacts upon the
protected characteristics or Human Rights be identified and attributed to the
Strategic Growth Plan these can be reported back to the relevant local
authority and the necessary action taken to address the issue, as appropriate.

9. Recommendations

9.1 All local planning authorities should consider the potential for policies in local
plans to adversely affect protected groups within equalities legislation and
take account of their possible impacts upon Human Rights.

77



10

Appendix A – Assessment Framework

Strategic Growth Plan Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment
Final Strategy

Emphasise development in two strategic growth areas (each associated with planned employment growth and infrastructure
investment), the key centre of Melton Mowbray and managed growth in the City of Leicester and at Coalville, Loughborough,
Lutterworth, Hinckley and Market Harborough; growth in other locations restricted to that justified to meet local need.

The Strategic Growth Plan enables a combination of the following growth options to be defined in local plans:

 Urban intensification
 Sustainable Urban Extensions
 Concentration on key settlements
 Growth ‘corridors’
 Employment-led growth
 New freestanding settlements

It would require the provision of housing, potentially at increased density, on underused land, land currently in other uses and some undeveloped
land within the urban area.  The strategy would require Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) and/or new freestanding settlements within the
growth corridor fringing the existing southern and eastern edges of the main urban area and within the ‘gateway’ growth area.  It would also
support SUEs at Melton Mowbray.

The housing growth elsewhere would be less extensive than that planned for over the period 2011-2031.  The amount of housing growth at other
settlements and in the rural area would be carefully managed. The distribution of housing growth in and around Leicester and at the ‘gateway’
would be accompanied by employment growth in all these locations.

Broad assumptions:

 Around 15% of homes provided within the main urban area including Leicester

78



11

 Around 40% of homes provided in the growth corridor on the periphery of Leicester
 Around 15% of homes provided within the ‘gateway’ area
 Around 5% of homes provided at the key centre of Melton Mowbray
 Up to 15% of homes provided in/adjacent to the other main market towns
 Up to 10% of homes provided in smaller settlements

Age Disability Gender
Reassign-

ment

Pregnancy &
Maternity

Race Religion/
Belief

Sex Sexual
Orientation

Other groups*

  O O  O O O O

The strategy favours
those of working age
in linking new homes
to areas of
employment growth.
Possibility that the
needs of older people
and their choices of
location will be limited.

There is likely  to be
an impact relating to
age and the type of
housing required; it is
acknowledged this will
be assessed through
local plans

Concentrating growth
in the proximity of
employment areas
provides the best
opportunity to live
close to jobs, which
will provide additional
advantage for some
people. However, it
is recognised the
strategy works
against a minority of
those with a disability
who cannot work or
whose ability to work
is limited.

Much will depend on
the type of housing
provided through
local plans

No impact The strategy will
provide greater
opportunity to
improve services
and facilities and
support networks
in identified areas
of growth
although the level
of access in rural
areas  are unlikely
to gain such a
positive impact.
The impact on the
city,
Loughborough,
Coalville,
Hinckley,
Lutterworth and
Market
Harborough is
likely to remain
neutral.

The strategy
provides an
opportunity for
the creation of
mixed and
balanced
communities
with the
necessary
infrastructure,
cultural facilities
and services to
ensure that
there are no
barriers facing
specific
community
groups.

The strategy
presents an
opportunity to
realise
reasonable
access to faith,
community and
related facilities
for a wider
sector of the
population thus
enabling greater
access to the
support
networks within
those
communities.

No Impact No Impact Neutral

79



12

Human Rights Act Assessment

Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms
Article Comment

Article 2: Right to life No Impact
Article 3: Right not to be
tortured or treated in an
inhuman or degrading way

No Impact

Article 4: Right not to be
subjected to slavery/ forced
labour

No Impact

Article 5: Right to liberty and
security

No Impact

Article 6: Right to a fair trial Neutral impact - the plan-making process
has been carried out in consultation with the
public and stakeholders. It will be important to
ensure that the subsequent local plans are
prepared in a transparent and equitable way
and are subject to Examination in Public.

Article 7: No punishment
without law

No Impact

Article 8: Right to respect for
private and family life

Positive effect – the strategy may potentially
have a positive impact upon the human rights
of individuals in terms of private and family
life, particularly for Gypsy & Traveller
communities.

Article 9: Right to freedom of
thought, conscience and

No impact – However, it is acknowledged
that further consultation will be required at the

80



13

religion local plan stage.
Article 10: Right to freedom of
expression

Neutral impact – the plan-making process
has been carried out in consultation with the
public and stakeholders. It will be important to
ensure that the subsequent local plans are
prepared in a transparent and equitable way
and are subject to Examination in Public.

Article 11: Right to freedom of
assembly and association

No Impact

Article 12: Right to marry No Impact

Article 14: Right not to be
discriminated against

No impact - The strategy is unlikely to have
an impact upon the human rights of
individuals. However, all individuals must
have a right not to be discriminated against
throughout the implementation of the
Strategic Growth Plan.

Part 2: The First Protocol

Article 1: Protection of
property/peaceful enjoyment

Neutral impact - The strategy is likely to
have a neutral impact upon the human rights
of individuals when planning decisions are
made in terms of this Article. New
development will be determined in light of the
development plan for that area, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
Therefore, a local authority preparing a local
plan will need to ensure that policies do not
interfere with peaceful enjoyment of property
or possessions where possible.

Article 2: Right to education No Impact

81



14

Article 3: Right to free
elections

No Impact

82



 
 

CABINET - 23 NOVEMBER 2018 
 

ANNUAL DELIVERY REPORT AND PERFORMANCE COMPENDIUM 
2018 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the draft Annual Delivery Report and 

Performance Compendium for 2018 which set out the Council’s performance over 
the past year.  The Report itself (Appendix A) focuses largely on delivery against 
County Council priorities as set out in the Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22 and 
other main service strategies.  The Performance Compendium (Appendix B) 
includes information on comparative funding and performance, savings plans and 
transformation requirements, service pressures and risks.                   

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

(a) The overall progress during 2017/18 in delivering on the Council’s Strategic 
Priorities, securing transformation, and mitigating the impact of national 
funding reductions, as set out in the draft Annual Delivery Report, be noted; 
 

(b) That the current comparative funding and performance position, service 
pressures and areas for continued focus set out in the Performance 
Compendium be noted;  

 
(c) That it be noted that the national funding system is:-  
 

(i)   causing serious financial challenges for the Council, with major 
implications for the provision of services to the people of 
Leicestershire;  

 
(ii) placing increasing pressure on delivery with risks to the quality of 

services which require enhanced performance monitoring, contract 
and risk management; 

 

and that the Council continues to press its case for a fairer funding 
settlement and to pursue other major savings initiatives; 

 
(d) The Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader, be authorised 

to make any amendments to the draft Annual Delivery Report and 

83 Agenda Item 5



Performance Compendium prior to its submission to the County Council on 
5 December 2018 for approval. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
3. It is best practice in performance management, implicit in the LGA Sector-Led 

approach to local authority performance and part of the Council’s Internal 
Governance Framework, to undertake a review of overall progress at the end of 
the year and to benchmark performance against comparable authorities. It is also 
good practice to produce an annual performance report and ensure that it is 
scrutinised, transparent, and made publicly available. 
 

4. The Council is poorly funded in comparison with other local authorities and this 
will affect future delivery and performance levels.  
 

5. The draft Report and Compendium may be modified to reflect comments made by 
the Cabinet as well as to include any final national comparative data which 
becomes available prior to its consideration by full Council.  
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. The draft Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium 2018 was 

considered by the Scrutiny Commission on 31 October.  The views of the 
Commission are set out in paragraphs 47 to 50 below. The Annual Delivery 
Report and Compendium is scheduled for consideration by the County Council at 
its meeting on 5 December. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium 2018 forms part of 

the County Council’s Policy Framework.  The information outlined in the report 
provides performance data which will help the Council and its partners to ensure 
services continue to meet standards, provide value for money, and that outcomes 
are being achieved for local people. 
 

8. The five priority outcome themes in the Council’s Strategic Plan encompass a 
number of supporting outcomes which together form the overall Single Outcomes 
Framework which set clear priorities for the Authority and enable more effective 
deployment and targeting of its resources.  The Annual Performance Report 
includes an assessment of progress in relation to the Outcomes Framework. 

  
Resource Implications 
 
9. The report has no direct resource implications. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
 

84



Officers to Contact 
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 7019 
Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Andy Brown, Operational Business Intelligence Team Leader 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6096 
Email: andy.brown@leics.gov.uk 
 
Richard Wilding, Business Intelligence Business Partner – Corporate Services and 
Performance 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel 0116 305 7308 
Email: richard.wilding@leics.gov.uk 
  
 
 

85

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:andy.brown@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.wilding@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background 
 
10. The draft Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium appended to 

this report cover County Council delivery over the last 12 months or so.  They 
draw largely on 2017/18 comparative data, although older data is included where 
more up to date information is not available. In some cases the data is more 
recent, such as the summer 2018 school examination results.  
 

11. The assessment of performance has been divided into two parts – the Annual 
Report, the first part, is narrative, describing delivery, progress with implementing 
agreed plans and strategies, and achievements over the last 12 months. It largely 
focuses on performance against County Council priorities for community 
outcomes as set out in its Strategic Plan 2018-22 and other main service strategies. 

 
12. The second part is the ‘performance compendium’ which has been enhanced this 

year and contains information on:- 

 Current inequality in funding and the Council’s Fair Funding proposals;  

 Current savings plans and future transformation requirements; 

 National and local service pressures and corporate risks;  

 Comparative performance, cost and service benchmarking 2016/17 including 
lower comparative performing areas; 

 2017/18 end of year performance figures and a summary of progress towards 
the 2018/22 Strategic Plan outcomes.   
 

13. Comparative data is sourced from a range of acknowledged data sources 
including the Local Government Association (LG Inform) national data system, 
Public Health and Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework data, OFSTED and 
Department for Education data sets, national highways survey, statutory returns, 
and Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) data. There 
is some comparative data still to be published - notably some attainment and 
children’s social care data, which are due to be published by December 2018.  
The overall Council benchmarking position for 2017/18 will be updated at that 
point.   

 
14. The appended Annual Report is a draft document and will continue to be 

developed to incorporate points made by the Cabinet as well as the inclusion of 
any final national comparative data which becomes available prior to its 
consideration by the County Council on 5 December.  The final Annual Report will 
be published on the County Council website (http://www.leics.gov.uk), together 
with a shorter summary version.  

 
Delivery Narrative Summary 

 
15. Overall analysis of the narrative shows some strong examples of both delivery 

across the theme outcome areas and transformation to meet savings 
requirements. There are good plans, financial management and governance in 
place supporting delivery and improvement.  

86

http://www.leics.gov.uk/


16. The Council has established a Strategic Plan Delivery Group at officer level in 
order to coordinate the commissioning of activity to ensure maximum delivery 
against the new Outcomes Framework. A new corporate focus has initially been 
established in relation to the quality and affordable homes outcome theme with a 
chief officer champion, lead officer and delivery group. The group has carried out 
mapping of existing activity to support the outcome and areas that require extra 
activity. These are being drawn together into a new delivery plan. 

 
17. The report includes a full section on delivery of the new communities outcome 

priority (including environment and culture work), drawing on work taking place in 
relation to the refreshed Communities Strategy and supported by the corporate 
Communities Team, communities section of the Adults and Communities 
Department and Public Health activity such as local area coordinators. 

 
18. The report also has substantial sections on economy and transport, health and 

wellbeing and safer communities, children and families delivery, reflecting a range 
of work going on to meet priority outcomes in these theme areas. There is less 
content on enabler activity (i.e. areas such as customer service, digital delivery, 
procurement, workforce matters) this year to ensure more of a focus on overall 
outcomes for residents.               

  
Performance Data Analysis 
 
19. Initial analysis of 2017/18 end of year data shows that out of 191 metrics 

(excluding schools and crime), 76 service metrics improved (44%), 36 saw no real 
change (21%), and 59 (35%) got worse. For 20 service metrics the ‘direction of 
travel’ cannot be determined, usually due to changes in indicator definitions or 
due to the addition of new indicators. 

 
20. Looking at progress in terms of the new Outcomes Framework:- 

 Strong Economy: 14 out of 31 metrics have improved, while 7 metrics have 
declined. 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity (excluding schools): 21 out of 62 metrics 
improved, while 20 have declined. Detailed schools analysis is not yet 
available but generally has seen improvement in 8 out of 17 metrics, with a 
decline in 4. 

 Keeping People Safe (excluding crime): 12 out of 29 metrics have improved, 
while 11 have declined. Looking at key indicators for crime, 8 out of 9 metrics 
have worsened. 

 Great Communities: 14 out of 26 metrics have improved, while 7 have 
declined. 

 Affordable and Quality Homes: 2 out of 11 metrics have improved, while 4 
have declined. 

 
21. Of the current comparative analysis out of 144 indicators, 38 are top quartile, 54 

second quartile, 25 third quartile, and 27 fourth quartile.  In late 2017 the Council 
was identified by the consulting firm iMPOWER as the most productive council 
using a range of performance and spend measures.   

87



22. There have been some notable improvements in the following areas of 
performance but also some areas showing a decline:- 

 
Economy and Transport  

23. In relation to Leicestershire’s economy, 6 indicators show improvement compared 
to the previous period. These covered economic growth, broadband delivery, 
business creation and survival. In relation to 12 performance indicators for 
employment and skills, 4 show improvement compared to the previous period, 
relating to apprenticeships, percentage with NVQ 4+ qualification levels and gross 
weekly pay. The employment, unemployment and NEET (Not in Education, 
Employment, or Training) rates remained broadly unchanged. Four indicators 
covering Jobseeker’s Allowance claimants and skill levels showed small 
deteriorations in performance. 

24. The dashboard covering transport infrastructure includes road condition, journey 
times, bus usage and road safety.  Four indicators display improvement 
compared to the previous period, covering road safety, satisfaction with cycle 
routes and business concerns about congestion. Five indicators remain similar; 
these covered average vehicle speeds, satisfaction with traffic levels, road 
condition and gritting. Two indicators show a decline in performance: CO2 
emissions from road transport and bus passenger numbers. 

Housing – Affordable and Quality Homes  

25. Looking at the 11 indicators, 2 show an improvement (new Registered Social 
Landlord owned dwellings and units of specialist/extra care housing), while 4 
deteriorated (supply of new homes, purchase affordability, households living in 
temporary accommodation and units of supported accommodation for working 
age adults). The percentage of adults with a learning disability who live in their 
own home or with their family remain similar to the previous year, while 4 other 
indicators had no previous or new data. All indicators with comparative data 
display above average performance. 

Wellbeing – Health and Care 

26. The first dashboard covers work with health partners to reduce admissions to 
hospital and residential care, and facilitate discharge from hospital and 
reablement. Looking at the 9 performance indicators, 3 display improvement 
compared to the previous period covering delayed transfers of care from hospital 
and admissions of older people to residential care. Three indicators covering 
admissions to care and hospital show deterioration. Three indicators display 
similar performance to the previous year: 2 covering reablement remain above 
average, while the metric for service users who find it easy to find information 
about support remains in the bottom quartile.  

27. The second dashboard covers adult social care services including support for 
carers. Looking at the 14 performance indicators, 2 show an improvement in 
performance: the percentage of care homes requiring improvement or inadequate 
and the dementia diagnosis rate. Seven indicators show a decline in 
performance. These cover service users receiving direct payments and cash 

88



payments, service users perceiving that they have control over their daily life, 
overall satisfaction with care and support, social care related quality of life, 
percentage of home care providers requiring improvement or inadequate, and the 
gap in employment rate for those in contact with secondary mental health 
services. Three indicators display similar results: carers receiving direct payments 
and cash payments, and percentage of adults with a learning disability in paid 
employment. 

Public Health 

28. Looking at the 19 indicators, 7 show an improvement compared to the previous 
period, while 6 deteriorated and 5 show no change. The indicators that have 
improved cover life expectancy, healthy life expectancy (males), cancer mortality, 
mortality for preventative causes, smoking prevalence and alcohol related 
admissions. The indicators displaying lower performance are the gap in life 
expectancy between the best and worst-off, cardiovascular disease mortality, 
respiratory disease mortality, non-opiate drug treatment and adult obesity. The 
indicators with similar performance were healthy life expectancy (females), opiate 
drug treatment, NHS health checks, and physical activity/inactivity. 

29. In relation to child health and Early Years services, out of 13 indicators, 8 showed 
an improvement, while 2 deteriorated and 1 showed no change. The indicators 
that have improved cover smoking in pregnancy, 5-year-old dental decay, quality 
of Early Years provision, take up of free early education by 3 and 4 year-olds, 
achievement of a good level of development at school reception age, excess 
weight at primary age and under-18 conceptions. The indicators displaying lower 
performance are the inequality gap in achievement across early learning goals 
and chlamydia diagnoses in young people, where the aim is to increase the 
detection rate.  

Mental Health 

30. Looking at the 7 indicators, 1 improved, 2 deteriorated, 1 stayed the same and 3 
had no data available.  The indicator showing improvement was the suicide rate, 
while the percentage of people with a low happiness score and those with a high 
anxiety score both deteriorated.  

Keeping People Safe  

Safeguarding Children, Families and Vulnerable Adults 

31. Looking at the 19 indicators, 9 show improvement compared to the previous 
period, while 6 display a decline in performance and 2 showed no change. The 9 
indicators showing improvement were the number of families and individuals 
supported by Early Help Services, the percentage of Payment by Results families 
outcomes met, the percentage of children in care with 3 or more placements in 
year, looked after children’s health checks, immunisations and emotional health, 
care leavers in education employment or training, and time to place with 
prospective adopters. The 6 indicators showing lower performance relate to 
timeliness of single assessment (where health and social care work together), re-
referrals to children’s social care, review of child protection cases, repeat child 

89



protection plans, children in the same placement for 2+ years and the percentage 
of children waiting less than 14 months or less for adoption.  

Safer Communities 

32. This dashboard covers youth justice, domestic abuse and adult safeguarding and 
contains 10 indicators, of which 3 show improvement compared to the previous 
period, 5 deteriorated and 1 shows no change. The 3 indicators showing 
improvement were first time entrants to the youth justice system, youth re-
offending and the achievement of desired outcomes for adult safeguarding 
enquiries. The indicators showing lower performance concerned young people 
sentenced to custody, perceptions of anti-social behaviour, users of adult social 
care who say services made them feel safe, adult safeguarding alerts raised and 
the percentage of adult safeguarding enquiries substantiated.  

Police and Crime 

33. This dashboard includes indicators for total crime as well as specific crime types 
covering burglary, vehicle crime, violence and criminal damage. With the 
exception of the burglary rate, all other indicators show lower performance than in 
the previous year. Three indicators now fall within the bottom quartile compared 
to other two-tier county areas: burglary, vehicle crime and theft rates, while three 
indicators (violence against the person, criminal damage and sexual offences) 
remain within the top quartile. 

Communities, Environment and Waste 

34. In relation to the ‘great communities’ priority in the Outcomes Framework, the 
dashboard covers libraries, cohesion and volunteering.  Looking at the 15 
indicators, 6 showed improvement compared to the previous period, while 3 
displayed a decline in performance and 4 showed no change. The 6 indicators 
showing improvement are the percentage of survey respondents giving unpaid 
help, local election turnout, Library Service issues, children's issues, e-downloads 
and the number of communities running their own library. The 3 indicators 
showing lower performance are the percentage of users of adult social care 
services who had sufficient social contact, the percentage of respondents 
agreeing that they can influence County Council decisions, and number of library 
visits.  

35. The second dashboard covers waste management and the County Council’s 
environmental impact. It includes 11 indicators, of which 7 show improvement 
compared to the previous period and 4 a deterioration. The improvements relate 
to total waste per household, CO2 emissions from the Council’s operations, 
buildings and street lighting, business mileage, renewable energy generated and 
CO2 emissions per capita in the County.  The 4 indicators showing lower 
performance are household waste recycled, percentage of collected waste sent to 
landfill and 2 indicators covering waste and recycling from the Council’s own 
operations. 

 

 

90



Corporate Enablers 

36. This dashboard covers customer service, digital delivery, procurement and the 
Council workforce. Looking at the 19 indicators, 7 show an improvement 
compared to the previous period, 6 display a decline in performance and 6 show 
no change. The 7 indicators showing improvement covered the County Council 
website star rating and visits, procurement savings, days lost to sickness 
absence, reportable health and safety incidents, percentage of workforce of a 
BME background and percentage of managers that are female. The 6 indicators 
showing lower performance cover perceptions of the County Council, media 
rating, commendations received and the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index 
Ranking. The 6 indicators displaying no change are satisfaction with the 
Customer Service Centre, complaints received, speed of response to complaints, 
staff satisfaction, staff perception of the Council’s commitment to equality and 
diversity, and the percentage of the workforce that is disabled. 

Fair Funding 
 
37. The report analysis identifies that low funding remains the Council’s Achilles heel. 

Leicestershire remains the lowest-funded county council in the country with 
greater risks to service delivery as a result. If it was funded at the same level as 
Surrey it would be £99m better off.  

 
38. The list of county authorities with serious financial issues continues to grow with 

Northamptonshire, Somerset, Lancashire, East Sussex, Shropshire, 
Buckinghamshire, West Sussex, Suffolk and Surrey going public with financial 
problems – with some counties moving towards providing services only to the 
statutory minimum level.  

 
39. Last year the Council published a new simplified funding model based on factors 

that drive demand for local services.  It allocates money fairly based on need and 
narrows the gap between the highest and lowest funded. If implemented, the 
model would unlock up to an extra £47m for Leicestershire. The extent of service 
reductions made has already affected most areas of service delivery and some 
areas of performance, and further cuts to come will put other areas at risk. 

 
40. Rising demand means that over the period of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy, growth of £41.2m is required due to pressures related to child 
placements, school places, learning disabilities, support for children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), waste disposal, and the ageing 
population. As a result the Council needs to save a further £50m, £13m of which 
is as yet unidentified. The refreshed transformation programme and areas of 
service reduction are highlighted in the appended report and will require difficult 
decisions to continue to be taken.     

 
National and Local Service Demands and Pressures  
 
41. In March 2018, the National Audit Office (NAO) issued a report on the financial 

sustainability of local authorities. The report finds that the financial position of the 
sector has worsened markedly, particularly for authorities with social care 
responsibilities with signs of real financial pressure and trends that will not be 

91



sustainable over the medium term. 10.8% of single tier authorities and counties 
have less than three years’ worth of reserves left at the current rate of use, with 
enhanced risks to services. The trajectory for local government being towards a 
narrow core offer increasingly centred on social care. The NAO also found the 
Government lacks a long-term funding plan for local government and noted the 
absence of monitoring of the impact of funding reductions.  

 
42. CIPFA and the Institute for Government have also recently reported on the 

performance of public services. The report (Performance Tracker 2018) raises 
serious concerns about the quality of prisons, adult social care and libraries, with 
growing recruitment and retention difficulties across a range of services.  National 
spending on health is crowding out other spending and locally spending on social 
care is following the same pattern, at the expense of other services such as 
libraries, waste and trading standards, with more costs being passed to citizens.  

 
43. The Care Quality Commission, in its recent annual report on health and care, 

highlighted continuing challenges around demand and funding, coupled with 
significant workforce recruitment/retention pressures. Workforce problems were 
having a direct impact on people’s care and the adult social care market remained 
fragile with providers continuing to close contracts. As unmet need continues to 
rise, the tipping point has been reached for some people who are not getting the 
care they need.  In July 2018 one in six adult social care services needed to 
improve amid rising demand from an ageing population and increased numbers 
with complex chronic conditions. Locally 13% of adult social care providers 
require improvement as well as the service looking to increase overall satisfaction 
with social care as reported through the social care user survey.   

 
44. In relation to children’s services, there continues to be a range of demands and 

pressures including on prevention budgets, increased numbers of children coming 
into care and placements, more child mental health issues (fuelled partly by social 
media), qualitative improvements to meet higher regulatory practice standards, 
SEND high needs block pressures and Education Health and Care Plans and 
wider family pressures related to welfare provision and homelessness.  Low 
comparative funding for public health and trading standards also create additional 
risks to the delivery of priority outcomes.  

 
45. The combination of pressures, high profile service reductions and national 

strategy to allow funding for the above through local tax rises rather than national 
taxation has seen an overall reduction in satisfaction with the Council this year 
and this will be subject to ongoing monitoring.  

 
Improvement Plans Delivery  
 
46. Given the significant financial challenges, demand, and delivery pressures facing 

the Council there is a need to maintain the strong delivery focus and take forward 
a number of agreed strategies and improvement plans.  There is also some time 
lag in the performance data and from actual delivery on the ground. Areas for 
continued focus include:- 

 

92



 The Fair Funding Campaign, other major savings initiatives and seeking more 
sustainable funding for local services.  Analysis shows that Leicestershire, due 
to unfair funding, is now the lowest spender in a number of areas, with 
enhanced risks as a result of the time lag in some service performance data. 

 

 Continuing to implement the Strategic Plan and Outcomes Framework, and 
associated strategies relating to housing delivery and communities, the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Transformation Programme delivery.   
 

 Ensuring a stronger commercial focus and more digital delivery of Council 
services. 

 

 Continuing partnership working with the Police and Crime Commissioner to 
pursue improvements in crime reduction, in particular vehicle crime and 
burglary. 
 

 Maintaining the focus on qualitative improvements in children’s and adults 
social services in light of increasing demand pressures. 
 

 Delivering on strategies to address current and new public health challenges 
such as obesity, diabetes, child and adult mental ill health, and issues 
associated with poor air quality. 
 

 Supporting workforce health and wellbeing and helping to reduce staff 
sickness absence.  
 

 Looking to mitigate any reduction in public satisfaction with services and the 
Council. 
 

 Continuing to enhance business intelligence, performance and contract quality 
monitoring, and feedback processes so that any service quality issues are 
detected and addressed at the earliest opportunity. 
 

Views of the Scrutiny Commission 
 
47. The report was considered by the Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 31 

October 2018. The Commission generally welcomed the development of the 
report to include enhanced information on the impact of austerity and pressures 
and risks now affecting the Council and services both nationally and locally.  

 
48. The work of the Communities Team and Local Area Co-ordinators were praised, 

as was the recognition of the work being undertaken to help support staff and 
reduce levels of sickness absence.  It was suggested that the provision of 
affordable homes, home education of children, and community mental health 
services for children and young people were all areas which would merit further 
scrutiny. 

 
49. Concern was expressed regarding the increase in crime.  It was recognised that 

this was a national issue, but there were four areas where Leicestershire’s 
performance was in the fourth quartile when compared with other local authority 

93



areas.  It was also suggested that the increase in the number of safeguarding 
inquiries in care homes should be assessed in relation to any link to recruitment 
and retention difficulties.  

 
50. It was also noted that air quality was a local public health issue and included as 

such in the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report and that this would be 
added explicitly to the improvement plans delivery list above.  

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
51. There are no equality and human rights implications directly arising from this 

report.  The draft Annual Delivery Report and draft Performance Compendium 
incorporate the progress of the County Council against key equalities 
commitments and indicators. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan 
 
Ofsted Inspection of Leicestershire Children’s Social Care – February 2017 
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/leicestershire 
 
National Audit Office Report – Sustainability of Local Authorities 
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/ 
 
Care Quality Commission – The State of Health Care and Adult Social Care in 
England – 2017/18 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/major-report/state-care 
 
CIPFA/Institute for Government – Performance Tracker 2018. A data driven analysis 
of the performance of public services 
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/performance-tracker-2018 
 
Local Government Association: LG Inform Benchmarking System 
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/ 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Draft Leicestershire County Council Annual Delivery Report 2018 
Appendix B - Draft Performance Compendium 2018 

94

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/leicestershire
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/major-report/state-care
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/performance-tracker-2018
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/


Published December 2018

Annual 
Delivery 
Report
2018

Appendix A - Draft Leicestershire County Council
Annual Delivery Report 2018

95



CONTENTS 
 Page 
Introduction…………………………………………………………………………. 1 
Key Priorities 
Financial Context, Challenges and Fair Funding 

A Strong Economy………………………………………………………………… 3 
Infrastructure for Sustainable Growth 
Highly Skilled and Employable Workforce 
Supporting Business to Flourish 
Transport – Major Road Schemes supporting Growth 
Highways and Transport Services 
Sustainable Travel 
Highways Maintenance and Management 

Affordable and Quality Homes………………………………………………….. 17 
Housing to Support Independence 

Wellbeing and Opportunity………………………………………………………. 21 
Health and Care Integration 
Adult Social Care 
Adults Aged 18-64 
Helping Older People to Stay Independent 
Public Health and Wellbeing 
Best Start in Life - Child Health 
Mental Health 
Physical Health, Sport and Physical Activity 
Opportunity – Educational Performance 

Keeping People Safe……………………………………………………………… 38 
Child and Adult Safeguarding 
Keeping Children Safe and Cared For 
Support for Vulnerable Children 
Supporting Families and Early Help 
Safer Communities 
Consumer Protection 

Great Communities………………………………………………………………... 48 
Communities Strategy 
Libraries, Heritage and Culture 
Environment and Waste 
Corporate Enablers – sustainable organisation leading modern, 
effective services………………………………………………………………….. 58 

Transformation 
Commercial and Traded Services 
Asset Investment and Strategic Property 
Digital and Information Technology 
People Strategy 
Overview and Scrutiny 

Separate Annual Performance Compendium with performance data  
 

96



Introduction 

In December 2017 the County Council agreed a new four year Strategic Plan and 
Outcomes Framework to 2022. The Council developed the Plan by focussing on the 
things that will make life better for people in Leicestershire. We have also developed 
a shared vision across the Council that we want people to experience in their daily 
lives.  

By investing our limited resources in local priorities we aim to deliver real and lasting 
benefits for Leicestershire and its residents and the best value for the Leicestershire 
pound. Whilst the outcomes are, in places, aspirational they outline the sort of end 
results that we want to see for the people of Leicestershire.  

However the Council alone cannot deliver all the change that is needed. We need 
our residents to share responsibility for their communities and take care of 
themselves and plan for the future. We also need maximum collaboration with 
partners to coordinate and integrate our plans in order to make the maximum impact 
on the most pressing problems that we face.   

Key Priorities 

The Council’s new Strategic Plan sets out 5 high level priorities –

A Strong Economy – that Leicestershire’s economy is growing and resilient so that 

people and businesses can fulfil their potential; 

Wellbeing and Opportunity – that the people of Leicestershire have the 

opportunities and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing; 

Keeping People Safe – that people in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 

harm; 

Great Communities – that Leicestershire communities are thriving and integrated 

places where people help and support each other and take pride in their local area; 

and  

Affordable and Quality Homes – that Leicestershire has a choice of quality homes 

that people can afford.  

This Annual Delivery Report summarises some of the changes and improvements 
that have been made over the last 12 months or so in order to progress delivery of 
the outcomes in the plan, as well as a number of other key service priorities. A 
separate and related Performance Compendium sets out details of the impact of our 
delivery and our current comparative performance using a wide range of 
performance measures. The compendium also includes information on our 
comparative low funding position, the service pressures and risks this creates and 
the associated Fair Funding Campaign.       

1

97



Financial Context, Challenges and Fair Funding Campaign   

Delivering on our priority outcomes and ambitions for Leicestershire continues to be 
hampered by low funding levels. The Performance Compendium sets out our 
comparative low funding position and how this translates into low funding for local 
services. The Council also faces a very difficult financial scenario. Over the medium 
term the combination of an aging and growing population and static income means 
we need to continue to save money. 

Over the last year we have seen an escalation of the emerging crisis in local 
government finance, with the collapse of Northamptonshire and a number of other 
authorities halting all but statutory spending and warning of significant job losses and 
further major budget reductions.  Delivery of our current medium term financial 
strategy requires savings of £50m to be made by 2021/22. Our current MTFS sets 
out the £37m of savings planned and proposed areas that may produce further 
savings to reduce the £13m funding gap in 2021/22. Unavoidable cost pressures 
require an investment of £41m, primarily to meet the forecast increase in demand for 
social care.  Strong financial control, plans and discipline will be essential in the 
delivery of the MTFS.       

Fair Funding – given our low overall funding and the emerging financial crisis it is 
vital we are given a fair share of overall national resources for local government 
services. In October 2017 a number of other low-funded councils got behind our 
renewed call for fair funding from the government. Lincolnshire, Kent, North 
Yorkshire, Worcestershire, Cambridgeshire and Essex – among the 25 lowest 
funded councils in the country lent their support to the Council’s campaign. Cross-
party support group the County Councils Network (CCN) also backed the campaign 
for local government funding reform.  

In March 2018 we published a further report looking at the issue of Fair Funding. It 
showed that if we were funded at the same level as Islington we would be £305m a 
year better off or £50m compared to Oxfordshire. The current system of funding is 
broken and we are calling for a new approach which matches funding with need 
based on a smaller number of cost drivers which would produce a fairer distribution 
of resources.  

With social care pressures rising, a new fair system matching funding with need is 
essential. We’ve drawn up a new model which would unlock millions of pounds for 
under-funded councils, including £128m for Lincolnshire and £49m for Kent. The 
emerging crisis of funding is leading councils to service and financial failure. The 
current system is broken and with service demands rising, it needs fixing. Our 
proposed new model allocates money using factors such as the number of older 
people, the length of roads travelled by HGVs and the amount of school-age 
children.   

2

98



A Strong Economy  

Our new economy outcome focuses on ensuring that there is a thriving, balanced 
and inclusive economy in Leicestershire that manages resources sustainably, and 
provides employment, business opportunities and growth that works for everyone. 
Leicestershire is well placed to become a centre for jobs in science, technology and 
engineering. Ensuring access to the latest digital infrastructure and the development 
of skills will support wider uptake of digital technologies, enabling businesses to 
improve productivity and remain competitive in future markets.   

Local Industrial Strategy – following the UK’s Industrial Strategy published in 
November 2017, Leicester and Leicestershire has been announced as one of nine 
local enterprise partnership areas (out of 38 across the country) to develop a Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS) in partnership with Government. The Council is working with 
the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) to set out future 
ambitions for supporting growth across the City and County.   The LIS will identify 
the important growth sectors for Leicestershire such as life sciences, advanced 
logistics and advanced manufacturing.    

Midlands Engine – is a coalition of local authorities and LEPs set up to help the 
region compete with London and the South East as well as the Northern 
Powerhouse, based in Greater Manchester. We are continuing to engage fully with, 
and influence, the Midlands Engine, raising the profile of the Midlands both nationally 
and internationally and securing increased government funding to boost economic 
growth. In September 2017 the Midlands Engine Partnership launched its ‘Vision for 
Growth’ focusing on five areas of collaboration which support economic growth and 
prosperity across the East and West Midlands. These include: Connect the 
Midlands; Invest in Strategic Infrastructure; Grow International Trade and 
Investment; Increase Innovation and Enterprise and Shape Great Places.  

Strategic Growth Plan – over the past two years we have worked in partnership 
with Leicester City Council, the seven district councils and LLEP to take a strategic, 
long term approach to growth. Underpinned by a comprehensive Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment, the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) 
identifies the need for 190,000 new homes and sets out ambitious plans for 
supporting road infrastructure; including 40,000 new homes which could be unlocked 
with a new A46 Growth Corridor. The SGP will be considered for approval through 
the governance processes of each partner before the end of 2018. 

Enabling Growth Plan – in May 2018 we agreed an Enabling Growth Plan setting 
out how we aim to support the local economy over the next 12 months. Priorities 
include planning strategically for good quality new homes and ensuring we have the 
right road and digital infrastructure in place; building high quality workspace for new 
and growing businesses; working with partners and employers to help those furthest 
from the labour market and to upskill the current workforce; championing the rural 
economy and promoting support and grant opportunities for businesses. The 
Enabling Growth Plan sits alongside our previously agreed Infrastructure Plan which 
establishes a strategic approach to the planning of infrastructure across our service 
departments by prioritising capital investment.     

3

99



Infrastructure for Sustainable Growth  

People and businesses need infrastructure that provides excellent connectivity to 
meet their everyday needs. By building quality premises we want to help firms take 
their first step on the ladder, and to grow. Our budget agreed in February 2018 
commits to spending £289m on roads, schools, broadband, supporting new homes 
and boosting the local economy, funded by one-off government grants and land and 
property sales. We have our largest ever capital investment programme in vital 
infrastructure.   

Enterprise Zones - we are continuing to support work to develop and deliver the 
county’s Enterprise Zones (EZ). During the year there have been some significant 
developments, including: planned construction of two new facilities to support 
expansion of the automotive cluster at MIRA Technology Park near Hinckley and 
confirmation of a Queens Award for Enterprise for International Trade; and formal 
designation of the UK’s first ‘Life Science Opportunity Zone’ at Charnwood Campus, 
Loughborough. 

Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park (LUSEP) - in August 
2018 innovative plans to create hundreds of jobs, and generate £1.6m for front line 
services were unveiled by the Council. Leading software company, The Access 
Group, announced it will be expanding its headquarters and moving in to a new 
100,000 sq. ft. office on the Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park. 
Investment in the new office space by the Council will see the creation of over 500 
new jobs as well as money for front line council services. It is believed to be the 
largest, single-occupier office deal in the county this century. The venture is possible 
thanks to a pioneering partnership between the Council and Loughborough 
University. Works on site are planned to begin in January 2019. LUSEP, which forms 
part of the Loughborough and Leicester EZ, is now established as one of the largest 
Science Parks in the UK, with over 66,000m2 of high quality lettable space and more 
than 70 companies on site hosting over 2,000 jobs. 

Vulcan Business Park, Coalville - in February 2018 we released details of a new 
41,000sq ft workspace to help boost business in Coalville. We are creating Vulcan 
Park to support start-ups and firms looking to expand, which should create more 
than 120 jobs. The £5.5m venture – part-funded by LLEP – will offer a range of high-
spec industrial units for let. Investing in property also means we can generate 
income to help fund local services. The LLEP has invested £2.3m of Local Growth 
Fund in the project. The development concentrates on addressing the market 
shortfall in smaller and medium grow on units in the Coalville area.  More than 15 
companies have already expressed an interest in Vulcan Park and the site is due to 
open summer 2019.  

Airfield Farm Business Park – in May 2018 we unveiled major plans to expand 
Airfield Farm Business Park in Market Harborough. Under the proposals the 
Business Park would extend by 80,000 sq. ft. to offer a wider range of top quality 
premises for fledgling firms and companies looking to expand. The £7m plan should 
create up to 80 jobs and generate £500k a year to invest into front line services.  

 

4

100



Lutterworth East Strategic Development Area (SDA) – we are continuing to 
promote the 516 acre Lutterworth East SDA site through the emerging Harborough 
Local Plan. The Local Plan will be tested at the Examination in Public by a Planning 
Inspector in October 2018 and is expected to be adopted by Harborough District 
Council in late spring 2019. Land acquisition is proceeding well to demonstrate to the 
Planning Inspector that the development can be delivered.  The Authority will submit 
an outline planning application in early 2019 for housing, employment and necessary 
infrastructure, including a new bridge over the M1. 

Superfast Leicestershire and Better Broadband – our multimillion pound project 
in partnership with BT continues to support communities and businesses by 
increasing fibre broadband coverage across the county. Faster broadband speeds 
are an important part of everyday life and essential for many small businesses. By 
the end of 2018 75,000 homes and businesses will have access to superfast fibre 
broadband, achieving 97% coverage. In April 2018 we announced that more than 
half of all homes and business enabled by the Superfast Leicestershire programme 
were now using fibre broadband.  

In January 2018 it was announced that thousands of homes and businesses in 
remote areas across Leicestershire could benefit from a Government-funded 
scheme which helps improve broadband speeds. The Better Broadband scheme, 
managed by the council, aims to ensure that everyone is able to access a basic 
broadband service, with £350 made available to eligible applicants to cover the cost 
of installation and equipment needed to provide a faster service. The connection 
discount is available to anyone who is unable to access basic broadband of at least 
2Mb per second, and where there are no plans to provide superfast broadband 
access within the next 12 months.    

A Highly Skilled and Employable Workforce 

Ensuring that people have the skills and aptitudes to access employment will help 
businesses to grow and provides a more inclusive economy which in-turn supports a 
good quality of life for everyone.  

The most recent Leicester and Leicestershire Business Survey, carried out in late 
2017, found that 52% of business had recruited staff in the last year demonstrating 
the continuing growth of the county’s economy; although, 28% of businesses had 
experienced recruitment difficulties often linked to skills shortages. 60% of 
businesses had identified skills gaps in their workforce.      

European Social Fund – we have worked with key partners, including the LLEP, to 
help influence priorities and effective delivery of the current European Structural and 
Investment Fund programme. We are strategic delivery partners in a number of 
projects that support people to enter the labour market and upskill once in work, 
these include MoneyWise Plus and The Great Project.  

Skills for Local Development Sites – the Council works closely with partners to 
ensure that local people are able to access new job opportunities through large scale 
development sites. SEGRO Logistics Park East Midlands Gateway is a 700 acre site 
and includes the creation of a Strategic Rail Freight Interchange. An Employment 
and Skills Group is supporting apprenticeships and work placements on the site 

5

101



during the construction and end user phases.  HS2 is another key development and 
the Council is supporting the HS2 Skills and Supply Chain Delivery Board to make 
sure local people have the skills required to access future employment opportunities. 

Skills for the Future – the Council works with the LLEP to forecast future skills 
needs, including the consideration of new and growth sectors, and skill requirements 
emerging from advancements in technology and artificial intelligence. The role of 
Universities and Colleges is crucial to link business to knowledge and to local talent, 
and this will be further exploited through the development of the Local Industrial 
Strategy. Universities and colleges are integral to much of the partnership work we 
undertake in relation to key sectors and developments.   

Health and Social Care – working with relevant partners the Council has recently 
adopted a Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan which identifies key priorities 
for the future development of health and social care providers and their workforce. 
Activities are now focussing around 4 key themes: the image of the sector; 
supporting the growth of local providers; workforce retention; and workforce 
attraction. A number of interventions are underway including 35 ‘I-Care 
Ambassadors’ trained to promote working in the sector to others. 

Apprenticeships – raising the nation’s productivity is a Government top priority as is 
increasing the quality and quantity of apprenticeships in England, reaching three 
million starts in 2020.  Leicestershire Adult Learning Service (LALS) supported this 
vision in 2017/18 by continuing to offer training to 381 apprentices. LALS currently 
work with 4 larger levy paying employers including the County Council, and continue 
to work with SMEs who started apprentices before March 2018.  The authority has 
ring-fenced 6 apprenticeships per annum to offer to care leavers and LALS will 
continue to provide progression pathways to support this programme in 2019. In 
addition, as part of the Governance Group for the new Leicester Employment Hub, 
we are working to ensure that local apprenticeship opportunities are widely promoted 
across Leicester and Leicestershire and that employers, teenagers and their parents 
understand the benefits of apprenticeships. 

Unemployment and those furthest from the labour market – the Council 
continues to provide support to residents in CV development, job search and digital 
skills, through our library-based work clubs. We are also working with local partners 
to secure £2.4m European Social Funds which will target those furthest from the 
labour market and those living in rural areas. The project will provide training and 
volunteering, self-employment advice, work experience and apprenticeship 
opportunities. This is the only national ESF programme which specifically targets 
rural areas and if successful will be rolled out during 2019/20. 

Information, Advice and Guidance – we have commissioned service providers to 
ensure that vulnerable 16-19 year olds are able to remain in education or find 
suitable employment or training. Through our Adult Learning Service adults are 
provided with high quality support to enable them to make informed choices about 
their best options to find work and progress up the career ladder.   

Adult Learning Strategy - a new Adult Learning Strategy 2018-2022 has been 
adopted with the vision ‘to inspire and support the people of Leicestershire to 
improve their lives through lifelong learning’. The learner focussed Strategy aims to 

6

102



provide high quality learning, maintain peoples’ independence, to ensure accurate 
information, advice and guidance and to work with partners to create learning 
pathways. Learning activities continue to focus on the delivery of core skills that 
employers value, including English, maths functional skills, GCSE’s, ICT, family 
learning, languages, personal development and learning for wellbeing. 

Participation in Adult Learning – 7297 learners enrolled on Adult Learning 
programmes during the academic year to July 2018.  Learning activities continued to 
focus on supporting those hard to reach groups.  Programmes included English, 
maths, GCSE’s, ICT, family learning, languages, personal development and learning 
for wellbeing courses including help to maintain mental health.  Standards remain 
high with Ofsted inspectors judging the service as ‘Good’ in February this year. 
Inspectors stated; “The range of education and training programmes you offer 
successfully addresses identified local needs and offers progression opportunities for 
learners that encourage them to achieve further”. 

Traineeships - Leicestershire Adult Learning Service works closely with partner 
organisations to deliver a Traineeship programme specifically for 16-24 year olds 
with little or no experience in the workplace.  Voluntary work placements included 
retail, pharmaceutical, animal care, home improvements and ICT.  The traineeship 
programme supported 33 young people in 2017/18 many of whom progressed to 
positive outcomes including full time further education courses, jobs in retail, IT 
apprenticeships and employment with other local businesses.   

Supporting Business to Flourish 

In 2017 a business survey commissioned by the County Council, City Council and 
LLEP showed that business optimism in Leicestershire is high with 65% businesses 
aiming to grow over the next 12 months, 71% expecting to increase profits and 44% 
looking to recruit more staff.  Our Enabling Growth Plan supports a number of 
activities which encourage and support businesses to invest, grow and flourish in 
Leicestershire. It will be particularly important over the next 12 months as we 
approach Brexit that we work with partners and businesses to plan effectively for any 
changes in trade, regulation and workforce.  

Supporting Businesses – we are working with Leicester City Council, the LLEP 
and East Midlands Chamber to ensure there is high quality and targeted business 
advice for our local SME’s. Collectively we have secured over £5.5m European 
Regional Development Funds (ERDF) to provide 1-2-1 business advice, a series of 
workshops covering a wide range of subjects, and £2.5m for business growth grants. 
Work is now underway to secure further ERDF funds that will enable partners to 
deliver intensive and targeted business support up to 2021.   

The Council also provides advice to businesses through its Trading Standards 
Service and is an active partner in the Better Business for All Programme which aims 
to reduce the regulatory burden on businesses. Our Resilience Team supports local 
businesses to prepare for disruption in order to increase resilience in the event of 
major incidents.  It’s important to us that local businesses are able to maximise the 
benefits of public sector procurement we therefore attend and host events which 
promote the opportunities available.  

7

103



Rural Economy and Market Towns – chaired by the Council the Leicestershire 
Rural Partnership (LRP) continues to champion the importance of the rural economy 
and market towns. The Partnership has sponsored a number of projects to support 
rural businesses including the Council run East Leicestershire LEADER programme 
which has supported 21 projects with over £600k of EU grant funding since 2015; a 
further 38 projects have been invited to full application. The LRP has also advised 
the LLEP on priorities for the £3m European Agricultural Fund for Rural 
Development (EAFRD) which has supported 9 projects since 2015, with a further 12 
in the pipeline. The County Council is working with District Councils and the LLEP to 
install free consumer Wi-Fi in 11 towns and to ensure that local retailers have the 
skills to maximise the use of digital technologies.  

Inward Investment and Trade – the County and City Councils work collaboratively 
to provide an Inward Investment service across the sub-region. The service is part 
funded through ERDF and recent activities have focussed on attracting investment 
from outside the EU including from China, India and the US. In 2017 a Leicestershire 
China Forum was established and earlier this year the Forum adopted a new 
Leicestershire China Strategy to boost trade and investment. The County Council 
has a particular focus on developing trade links with Sichuan Province and 
celebrates its 30 year twinning anniversary with Sichuan this year.  

Tourism – is an important asset for any area to increase visitor spend and to make 
the place attractive for businesses to invest and people to live, study and work. In 
2017 we worked with partners to establish a Tourism Advisory Board which has key 
public and private players from the industry. The Board will help to raise the profile of 
the sectors positive contribution to the local economy, identifying key priorities for 
future investment and lobbying Government and local stakeholders to ensure that 
policies and plans are in place to support the tourism sector.  

8

104



Economy - Transport  

People and businesses need infrastructure that provides excellent connectivity that 
meets their every-day needs. Transport infrastructure is a key enabler providing 
access to opportunity and opening up sites for growth. We aim to ensure good 
connectivity within the county and across the UK through working closely with 
partners to realise the Midlands Connect Strategy. We also continue to progress 
delivery of our local transport priorities to support growth, reduce congestion, 
increase road safety and support more sustainable travel.   

Midlands Connect – the Midlands Connect Strategy outlines the region’s vision to 
become an engine for growth through investment in transport infrastructure. It 
proposes a 25 year programme of investment in strategic road and rail 
improvements to reduce congestion, improve journey times and support housing 
growth.   We are currently involved in a number of Midland Connect projects that are 
directly related to the successful delivery of our Prospectus for Growth, including 
improvements to rail services to places such as Coventry and Birmingham, the A46 
Expressway, which is also a key element of the draft Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Growth Plan, and upgrades to the A5. These projects will not only greatly 
enhance people’s ability to travel efficiently and safely around and through 
Leicestershire, but will also enable the provision of much needed houses and jobs to 
meet the demands of the area’s growing population. 

Transport for East Midlands (TfEM) – through our involvement in TfEM we have 
set out our top priorities for transport improvements across the East Midlands 
including making the most of the HS2 development, securing a Midland Main Line fit 
for the 21st century, improving access to East Midlands Airport, the A46 Growth 
Corridor, A5 Improvement Corridor and transforming East-West connectivity.   

Rail Strategy – working with the City Council and LLEP we have set out rail 
priorities up to 2043 to influence the Government and rail companies to fund further 
improvements to Leicestershire’s rail network and services.  The strategy aims to 
achieve significant improvements to rail travel to and from Leicestershire stations 
including cutting Midland Main Line journey times. Progress includes providing input 
into the East Midlands Trains and Cross Country refranchising processes and 
working jointly with Midlands Connect, Leicester City Council and Warwickshire 
County Council to develop a business case for the reinstatement of direct Leicester 
to Coventry rail services. We are also learning more about the implications for the 
council of work to develop the proposals for and to build HS2 Phase 2b.     

 

Major Road Schemes Supporting Growth  

Since November 2016, we have outlined a list of transport projects totalling in excess 
of £360m and with the potential to generate at least £500m GVA for the local 
economy. We have a very strong track record of securing external funding, having 
since 2014 secured over £120m to invest in supporting growth and improving the 
County’s transport infrastructure. Current and future schemes include:  

9

105



Northern and Eastern Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - in May we were 
delighted with the announcement of a £49.5m government contribution towards the 
building of a distributor road for Melton Mowbray. The successful bid to the 
Department for Transport Local Major Schemes Fund gives the green light for further 
preparation work to enable completion of the scheme in 2022. We’ve committed £4m 
in making this scheme shovel-ready and will continue to work with the local planning 
authority, Melton Borough Council, to secure developer contributions. It’s part of a 
strategy that includes further measures to address congestion issues, air pollution, 
public transport improvements, and provide healthy walking and cycling options. 
Work has already been carried out to develop designs, carry out traffic studies and 
work with partners and landowners. In June we announced the preferred route for 
the road, to run north and east of Melton starting on the A606 Nottingham Road.    

Hinckley – a £2m third phase of works to improve walking, cycling and public 
transport provision was completed in spring 2017. The works followed on from and 
supplemented two previous phases of works in the Hinckley area, totalling £3.5m. In 
October 2017 the Council was successful in securing funding for a further multi-
million pound package of transport measures.  This consisted of £3.5m secured from 
the government’s National Productivity Investment Fund and a further £1.5m of 
County Council match funding. The £5m package notably includes junction 
improvements along Rugby Road to help reduce queue lengths and improve journey 
times along the corridor. The package of measures will help ease congestion, which 
affects businesses and constrains growth, as well as help boost the economy. This 
phase of works is planned to start in May 2019 and set to finish in the summer of 
2020. 

M1 J23/A512 – the detailed design of improvements to ease congestion and provide 
access to the West Loughborough housing development commenced in 2017/18 and 
will continue in 2018/19 with completion on site anticipated in late 2020.   

Ashby - in September 2017 a £2.3m scheme to reduce congestion and improve 
road conditions near Ashby began. The project saw work carried out to Discovery 
Way, the Ashby bypass junction and Tesco roundabout, to give motorists easier 
access to the many industrial and retail premises in the area. The work aims to 
reduce traffic congestion at key locations, improve road conditions and support jobs 
and the local economy. The work, part-funded by the government’s National 
Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) included providing an alternative route to the 
shops and businesses on the Flagstaff 42 industrial estate at the A511 Ashby 
bypass junction with Discovery Way. It also involves widening the carriageway on 
the A511 Ashby bypass approach to the Tesco roundabout to reduce the length of 
queues; reducing the size of the Tesco roundabout to give more room for circulating 
traffic; widening the lanes on the Nottingham Road approach; and putting in new 
direction signs and lane markings to encourage the use of two lanes by motorists 
approaching the roundabout.  

A46 Anstey Lane – the detailed design of improvements to ease congestion and 
mitigate the effects of the Aston Green housing development commenced in 2017/18 
and will continue in 2018/19 with completion the following year. The works will be 
part funded by Growth and Housing Fund monies from Highways England. 

10

106



Ratby Lane - Ratby Lane/Wembley Road (£0.6m) NPIF funded improvements to the 
signal junction were completed in 2017/18.  

Transport Awards - our work on the Lubbesthorpe Strategic Employment Site 
infrastructure won top prize from the East Midlands Institute of Civil Engineers. Our 
Medium Schemes Framework 2 was also highly commended in the CIHT 
Collaboration Award 2018. Our transport modelling capability was recognised 
through a separate award.    

 

Ongoing Highways and Transport Services 

Town Centre Traffic – since 2008 traffic levels in county towns have increased 
year-on-year as the population continues to grow. We are aware of the impact on 
road users, residents and businesses in terms of congestion as well as air quality 
and noise pollution concerns. In June 2018 we considered a report looking at how 
traffic will be managed in the county towns to best minimise the impact. As part of 
our day-to-day work to manage traffic we are looking at the effectiveness of current 
traffic management in the towns, including double yellow line restrictions, residents’ 
permit parking and limited waiting times.  The focus for the impact assessment is on 
Ashby, Castle Donington, Coalville, Hinckley (including Barwell and Earl Shilton), 
Loughborough, Lutterworth, Market Harborough, Melton Mowbray and Oadby and 
Wigston.     

Tackling School Parking Problems - we work closely with schools and colleges to 
improve issues around on street parking, pedestrian and pupil safety.  We are aware 
of residents’ and parents’ concerns about the level of inappropriate parking that 
takes place outside schools across the county. Ideally the schools and local 
communities work together to encourage parents to park appropriately on the school 
run and we continue to provide help and guidance on school travel plans to help 
tackle the problem. However, this is not always successful. In September 2017 we 
therefore agreed plans to combat the problems of parents parking outside schools. 
Plans involve making more zig zag zones outside schools enforceable across the 
county to address concerns that parents, residents and teachers have about parking. 
A new camera car to enforce these restrictions became operational in September 
2018. 

School Clear Zone – in April a school clear zone trial commenced with the aim to 
reduce congestion and encourage parents and children to cycle or walk. Through a 
grant from the DfT’s Access Fund, traffic management measures were put in place 
to reduce congestion around Millfield Academy. The school clear zone involves no 
waiting restrictions being put in place on streets around the school.  

School Pedestrian Crossing – in March we responded to concerns and confirmed 
that an area outside two schools in Hinckley met the criteria for a new pedestrian 
crossing.  We will introduce a puffin crossing following concerns raised in the 
community about children crossing the road outside Dorothy Goodman School and 
Redmoor Academy.  An assessment was carried out which considers the number of 
vehicles and pedestrians at the location. The crossing will be in place in 2018/19. 

11

107



Puffin crossings are signal-controlled crossings fitted with equipment that can extend 
the time which allows vulnerable pedestrians to cross the road.   

Road Safety – despite the increase in traffic, roads in Leicestershire are significantly 
safer than they were 18 years ago.  However, in April 2018, we announced that we 
were planning on spending a further £500k on improving road safety across the 
county. Using funds from our capital programme we reviewed roads and junctions 
where seven or more collisions had occurred over a five year period. The safety 
measures being implemented include new signs and lining measures, with more 
substantial works being considered where appropriate. We are also looking at rural 
roads that could benefit from a speed reduction.  We continue to offer our pre-driver 
days aimed at 16 and 17 year olds wishing to gain experience behind the wheel and 
covering issues relating to speed, impairment, distraction, the Highway Code and 
general road safety.  

Driver Education Workshops - the Driver Education Workshops provide 
educational courses, on behalf of the Police, as an alternative to the conditional offer 
of a fixed penalty and points, to drivers committing minor driving offences. These 
courses are run from 3 venues within the Leicestershire area – Thurmaston, 
Glenfield and Loughborough.  We currently offer the following courses: National 
Speed Awareness Course; National What’s Driving Us Course; National Motorway 
Awareness Course and National Driver Alertness Course. 

School Crossing Patrol Service – our School Crossing Patrol Service has helped 
thousands of children and parents on the journey to school again in 2017/18. Our 
patrols provide an important link in encouraging sustainable travel and in many 
cases walking to school helps to reduce school gate congestion and associated 
parking issues. There are currently 75 school crossing patrol sites in operation 
across the county and there are an additional 28 sites where there is a vacancy. 
Vacancies are advertised through our new online recruitment portal as well as via 
site notices near the crossing area/locally and also via the school through parent 
newsletters etc.   

Community Speed Watch (CSW) - the April to October CSW programme helped to 
support 16 county wide schemes resulting in 2300 letters being sent to drivers. It is 
an educational scheme which enables volunteers to work within their community to 
raise awareness of the dangers of speeding.  The scheme is run by Leicestershire 
County Council’s Safe & Sustainable Travel Team and is fully supported by 
Leicestershire Police.   CSW incorporates poster campaigns and a pledge system 
linked to direct action using speed detection equipment.  The use of the radar 
devices does not lead to prosecution.  Drivers will get a letter from the police which 
will help to underline the community’s commitment to reducing speed. 

Bikeability - cycle training is delivered in Leicestershire by six Road Safety Tutors 
who are all National Standard Instructor Trainers.  There are three Bikeability levels, 
each designed to improve cycling skills.  Levels 1, 2 and 3 takes trainees from the 
basics of riding all the way to planning and making an independent journey on busier 
roads.  Level 1 and 2 is delivered to children in years 5 or 6.  The delivery of level 3 
is currently being developed and will be available to years 6 or 7.  In addition to this 
we also deliver a programme of Bikeability Balance.  This is an initiative to inspire 
younger children to take to two wheels and aims to give children the basic balance 

12

108



and co-ordination skills they will need to learn to ride a bike. Bikeability Balance is 
delivered to 4+/year 1 children. During the period April 2017 to March 2018 the 
Council had 2359 grant funded places to deliver Level 1/2.  2705 children were 
trained to level 2 standard.  During the same period Bikeability Balance had 264 
grant funded places delivered to reception age children.  

Reducing Speed Limits - in August we announced proposals to reduce the speed 
limit from 60mph to 50mph on some stretches of country roads across 
Leicestershire. The move follows a study which found that around 60% of collisions 
which caused injury on rural routes involved motorists exceeding the 60mph speed 
limit. We have identified 11 rural roads across the county where action will be taken 
to reduce the speed limit. The speed limit reductions will also incorporate reviews of 
the existing road markings and signs to ensure that they provide adequate warning 
of bends and junctions.    

Average Speed Cameras – there are communities across the county whose lives 
are blighted by the effects of speeding motorists. We have listened to what people 
have been telling us about the problem. In May 2018 we announced that we were 
starting work to install new average speed cameras as part of a trial to alleviate 
safety concerns across the county. The speed cameras will cover four villages and 
three key main and rural routes which have various issues and concerns around 
speeding and safety. The scheme will address the concerns of residents and aims to 
make a positive change to drivers’ behaviour. The 12-month trial and enforcement, 
funded by us, started in summer 2018. The locations of the speed cameras will be 
Sharnford, Walcote, Oadby, Groby, Measham, Woodhouse Eaves and Freeby. 
Following the trial, we will look to widen out the camera programme, should a 
proposed new approach to funding be supported by the Government.  The devices 
will be switched on in September 2018.  

Street Lighting – in March 2018 we announced that a project to upgrade our street 
lights to energy saving LEDs was largely complete, following a £19m investment 
programme. This involved replacing existing street lights and removing unnecessary 
highway sign lighting. The technology will save us £2m a year and the scheme has 
already seen a reduction in the carbon footprint by 4,450 tonnes. The new lights will 
be controlled by a central management system. This provides flexibility in how 
lighting is provided, for example enabling those in part-lit areas to be switched back 
on temporarily during the evening to help the emergency services at incident scenes 
if necessary, or to dim or brighten lights if needed.  

13

109



Sustainable Travel  

Sustainable Travel – we are supporting businesses to encourage their employees 
to walk and cycle to and from work. Up to £5,000 in grants were made available to 
businesses through the Access Fund, which focuses on supporting active and 
sustainable travel in the west of Leicester and neighbouring areas of the county. The 
scheme has helped businesses to benefit from training programmes for community 
cycle champions, as well as funding to provide electric charging points, repair stands 
and cycle pumps, parking spaces, maintenance courses and equipment for pool bike 
schemes. Promoting travel options can reduce pressures on car parking, tackle 
congestion, improve health and help reduce stress. 

In July personal travel plans were launched to help reduce traffic congestion and 
boost sustainable travel in and out of Leicester. Around 10,000 residents will receive 
postcards telling them about personal travel plans which will then be followed up with 
doorstep visits. As part of the scheme people will be given information and advice 
about alternative options such as walking, cycling and public transport as well as tips 
on smart driving and car sharing. The plans aim to tackle congestion, encourage 
active travel and help people to save money. The scheme is funded through a £3.2m 
award from the Government’s Sustainable Transport Access Fund.       

Demand Responsive Transport and Subsidised Bus Services - in November 
2017 essential transport services were put in place for residents in Syston following 
a bus firm’s decision to change one of its services. From November the Council 
provided a demand responsive transport service for residents as well as re-routing 
the existing 100 bus service, following Arriva’s decision to stop running its 
commercial number 6 service. In June 2018 we also responded to residents’ 
concerns and stepped in to support the number 58 service between Lutterworth and 
Market Harborough.  

Park and Ride – our Park and Ride services ran nearly every day in December, 
making it easier for people to enjoy the city centre offer for Christmas. 
Extra services ran on all five Sundays in December and Boxing Day – including 
Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve. All three of the Park and Ride sites have free 
parking for service users, including disabled spaces and parent and child parking.    
All the buses have free Wi-Fi on board.  

Cycling – in March 2018 we supported the free Bike Fest event held at the recently 
opened cycle track at New College in Leicester to help promote cycling and walking 
across the county.   

Public Rights of Way – over 40% of the highways network in the County is made 
up of footpaths, bridleways or byways. In and around urban areas where the vast 
majority of the community live, they provide access to a range of places and facilities 
to users on foot or on a bicycle. In a wider context they provide the key and often 
only way for the public to access the wider countryside. The authority manages a 
network that is over 3000 kms or 1880 miles long. A condition measure is in place to 
see how easy it is to use by the public each year as well as analysis of customer 
reports to see how resources are best focused.  Over 12500 waymark posts and 
42000 waymarkers point the way ahead. Ongoing cyclical cuts to keep paths clear 

14

110



are carried out. The authority also carries out a wide range of checks and 
enforcement each year to keep paths open.  

 

Highways Maintenance and Management 

Highways Maintenance – Leicestershire has some of the best maintained roads in 
the country, and the highways and transport service was the highest rated county 
council for road condition in the National Highways and Transport Network Public 
Satisfaction survey last year. In 2017/18 a total of £12m was spent on Highways 
Asset Maintenance including £9.7m on roads, £0.3m on footways and rights of way, 
£1.5m on bridge maintenance and strengthening, £0.1m on flood alleviation and 
£0.3m on traffic signal renewal. During the year we agreed additional funding to be 
used to allow potholes on the county’s roads to be repaired quicker than previously. 
We also trialled a new system that saw customer reported potholes repaired within 
two weeks. 

In March we reported that we had fixed around 6000 potholes over the past 12 
months. Following the cold snap highways teams worked hard to fix the problems 
caused by freezing water expanding the road surface and leading to cracks. We 
agreed in February to put an additional £600k per year into fixing potholes, tackling 
flooding hotspots, repairing signs and relining roads. It was also announced in March 
that the County was to receive around £1.56m extra from the Government to help 
repair potholes and damage caused by recent storms.       

In April we announced that 700,000sq metres of roads across the county would be 
treated during the summer to help reduce the chance of potholes. Surface dressing 
provides the road with an additional protective layer, by sealing the surface.  
Carrying out surface dressing is up to 10 times more cost effective than conventional 
resurfacing.  In May we unveiled plans to inject an extra £5m into fixing and 
maintaining Leicestershire’s roads. The money will be used to prevent more potholes 
and ramp up our resurfacing programme to stop defects occurring in the first place.  
The extra income is generated from recent investments including rents from 
properties purchased over the last year. It’s on top of a further £8m of funding 
already directed towards highways maintenance in recent years. The total road 
maintenance budget for 2018/19 is now £24m. 

Roadworks Permit Scheme – in March 2018 we launched a new scheme to 
minimise disruption for motorists. The permit scheme will give more control over the 
works that take place on roads across the county. Under the scheme we will 
have more of a say over the timing, duration and how works are carried out to 
minimise any adverse impact on motorists. Permit schemes have been used in other 
areas of the country to great effect and we have tailored ours to the county’s 
particular needs. Anyone carrying out road and street works will have to apply for a 
permit in advance of works, unless they are for an emergency. Permit fees will be set 
to cover running costs. 

15

111



Clearing Roadside Drains – in September 2018 we unveiled a new approach to 
clearing roadside drains of blockages. We are applying a new ‘risk-based’ approach 
to cleaning them that includes increasing the number of roadside drains visited by 
officers - from 64,000 per year to 92,000 – without costs rising. A trial found that 
visits to roads that are not at risk of flooding can be made less often, meaning 
officers can concentrate on areas where evidence shows that drains are likely to fill 
up with silt faster. Currently drains are cleaned on an 18 to 24 month fixed 
programme, whether the road is at risk of flooding or not. It is planned that the new 
approach is rolled out early in 2019.   

Gritting and Winter Maintenance – in December our gritters worked round-the-
clock to keep Leicestershire moving. Crews hit the roads treating key roads across 
the county. We have a total of 21 gritters and drivers who spread roughly 170 tonnes 
of rock salt across 45% of the road network each time they are called out. This year 
our grit barns were stocked up with 14,500 tonnes of rock salt (giving an 18,000 
tonne capacity), ready to treat key routes across the county and ensure that 
motorists can get around. We monitor the weather constantly and if freezing 
temperatures are forecast our fleet of gritters will be ready to treat major roads and 
key routes. In addition to the gritters there are also a number of snow wardens based 
in communities across the county who grit paths, as well as farmers who during 
snow conditions, fit ploughs to their tractors and assist us in clearing roads. A team 
of volunteer 4x4 drivers are on hand to deliver hot meals to the elderly as well as 
help carers and health visitors reach their patients if there is prolonged heavy 
snowfall.  

During the 17/18 winter season our fleet of vehicles were out 109 times, spreading 
over 20,000 tonnes of rock salt across 115,740 miles of road. The equivalent of four 
trips around the world. During the winter we completed 1,256 night runs – a 41% 
increase on last year. The crews experienced some of the most challenging 
conditions in recent times with road surface temperatures as low as -8 degrees, 
heavy snow and ice.  By contrast in July 2018 our gritters spread around 150 tonnes 
of granite over roads at risk of melting during the summer heatwave. Highway teams 
dusted more than 25 locations across the county. Temperatures soared and officers 
constantly monitored the road surface temperatures.   

 

16

112



Affordable and Quality Homes 

Housing is a key enabler to delivering other outcomes, as a secure, quality, and 
affordable home in the right location is essential for a good quality of life. Housing 
matters, it influences people’s security, resilience, health, access to education and 
employment and can enable the effective provision of care.  

We have established a much stronger focus on the delivery of homes through a 
Chief Officer Champion, Lead Delivery Officer and supporting Outcome Advisory 
Board. Our aim is that Leicestershire has a choice of quality homes that people can 
afford, which includes new and existing housing and accommodation. Also that there 
is enough suitable housing to support independence for those with care needs and 
that development does not have a negative impact on the environment and existing 
communities.      

Strategic Growth Plan for Leicester and Leicestershire – in November 2017 a 
draft strategy to enable local councils to plan and manage future housing growth was 
presented. Thousands of new homes will be needed in the city and county between 
2031 and 2050, and the strategy enables us to help choose locations, protect 
environmental and historic assets, and bid for money to put the right roads, transport 
and other infrastructure in place.  Without planning ahead we could face dispersed, 
developer-led development, making it harder to put the right infrastructure in place 
and secure funding for it.  We’ve worked closely with the city and district councils 
and this collective approach is important to the process.  

New Homes Needed - the Strategic Growth Plan states that Leicester and 
Leicestershire needs 96,580 new homes and 367-423 hectares of employment land 
from 2011-2031. Some of these homes have already been built or have planning 
permission. Beyond 2031 the plan identifies the need for a further 90,500 dwellings 
and additional employment land, which is why further land needs to be unlocked. 
Local Plans will deal with the detailed allocation of which sites will be brought 
forward.   

Areas for Housing Growth - key areas for potential growth are the city of Leicester 
and the corridor of land around a proposed new A46 expressway to the south and 
east of Leicester.  Secondary areas for growth are identified in the north and the 
south of the county. New housing would be built closer to where people work, to 
minimise congestion from commuters. 

Supporting Infrastructure - draft proposals put forward in the Strategic Growth 
Plan include major infrastructure improvements on which new growth is dependent. 
These include a new link road – the A46 Expressway – to the south and east of 
Leicester, running from the M69 and the M1 to the A46 north of the city. The A5 and 
A42 would also be upgraded to expressway status, supporting growth in these 
areas. Rail improvements are also proposed.  These road and rail improvements 
would require significant Government investment and would relieve congestion 
pressures along the M1 and more widely across the Midlands. It would also unlock 
land for the required housing and employment. 

17

113



Housing Infrastructure Fund – in March 2018 it was announced that we had been 
successful in the first phase of a funding bid to the Housing Infrastructure Fund.  The 
£4.1bn fund is available to develop infrastructure which will unlock new housing and 
the announcement means that expressions of interest on two schemes will progress 
through to the next stage for consideration. The announcement is a key milestone in 
working with the Government and partners to develop schemes which help to create 
much needed new homes. Work is also progressing with the Government to develop 
business cases covering south west Leicestershire and south of Melton.  

Affordability and Affordable Homes – the HEDNA considers the extent of 
households who require financial support to meet their housing needs and thus who 
would be eligible for affordable housing. This identifies an annual net need for 2,238 
such households per year across the housing market area for 2011-36. The HEDNA 
identified that to deliver the affordable housing needs of 2,238 new homes per year 
with an average delivery of affordable housing of 24% would require 9,293 homes 
per annum. This is over twice the need shown in the demographic analysis, justifying 
upward adjustments to boost affordable housing delivery in all of the local authorities 
in the housing market area.  

Promotion of Development Land - over the past two years consents for in excess 
of 450 houses and 170,000sq ft. of employment space have been achieved, further 
planning applications for 400 houses submitted with applications for a further 3,000 
houses and 1m sq. ft. of employment space are in the course of preparation. Further 
opportunities with the potential to deliver an additional 3,250 houses on County 
Council owned sites have been identified and will be progressed over the next 12 
months enabling long term housing delivery into the next two decades. 

Lutterworth East - in September 2018 we sought residents views on our plans for 
new homes, community facilities and business space near Lutterworth. The plans 
propose around 2,750 homes on 516 acres of land east of Lutterworth.  The plans 
would provide new homes, schools, a country park and other community facilities, 
over 2,500 jobs and also protect green spaces. Developing the site would also raise 
tens of millions of pounds, helping to support vital front line services, including social 
care, and offset the impact of national funding reductions. 

As the sole landowner and promoter of the Lutterworth East SDA, the Council has an 
opportunity to invest in the right types of homes, guided by the Council’s Strategic 
Plan and specifically the Affordable and Quality Homes Outcome. Master-planning 
for the site will incorporate commitments to affordable housing and social housing as 
well as an innovative design standard ensuring the homes and community facilities 
meet the wider objectives of the Council, including public health, community 
cohesion and environmental considerations. A planning application is due to be 
submitted to Harborough District Council in the New Year with construction 
expecting to be undertaken over the following 10 to 15 years. 

Snibston Homes - as part of our proposals to revamp the former Snibston Colliery 
site and country park in November 2017 we submitted proposals involving creating 
space for 144 new homes.    

18

114



Rural Housing Enabler – the Council together with the District Councils, EMH 
Group, Waterloo Housing Group and Nottingham Community Housing Association 
jointly fund the Leicestershire Rural Housing Enabler Service. Since 2014 this has 
been run by Midlands Rural Housing and has led to the development of a robust 
rural housing need evidence base for Leicestershire, and facilitated the delivery of 
rural housing where a need is identified.  Since its establishment the Rural Housing 
Enabler Service has helped secure homes for local people, completed local housing 
need surveys, supported neighbourhood plans and raised awareness of rural and 
affordable housing needs across the county. 

Mitigating the Impact of Development - the Council’s Planning Obligations Policy 
sets out a variety of requirements to help mitigate the impact of new developments 
on local communities and the environment. So that developments make a positive 
contribution to services and infrastructure in the area. The Council has carried out a 
review of the policy which aims to identify improvements and enhancements to the 
approach.  

Housing To Support Independence 

Our aim is that people with social care needs have access to well-located and 
suitable housing which promotes their independence. The number of older people is 
forecast to increase significantly over the next few years, leading to a greater need 
for specialist accommodation.  Both dementia and mobility problems are projected to 
increase significantly.  Some of these households will require housing adaptions to 
meet their changing needs, some will need more specialist accommodation or 
support. Our older people and working age adult strategies consider what 
appropriate housing provision might look like for adult social care client groups and 
our Place to Live Board is looking at how this provision is delivered.  

Brooklands Accommodation - in April 2018 we announced that we had purchased 
a site in Great Glen to provide homes for adults with disabilities. We intend to 
refurbish and remodel the scheme to provide homes that will allow for independent 
living for adults with disabilities, with support staff based at the building. The new 
accommodation will provide residents with the opportunity to live as independently 
as possible, while still ensuring their specific support needs are met. Plans for the 
remodelled scheme have been developed with work expected to begin in January 
2019, following all of the current residents being rehoused to alternative 
accommodation. The remodelling will remove the existing bedsits and reduce the 
maximum capacity to 20 people. The aim is to have the first new tenants move in 
during the summer of 2019. 

Extra Care Housing – we are looking to extend our offer to older adults seeking to 
live independently in accessible, telecare enabled housing with flexible on-site care 
and support, as an alternative to residential care. We successfully contributed 
towards the provision of 62 new extra care places in Loughborough, with the scheme 
opening on schedule. The site is forecast to be fully occupied in autumn 2018.  

Learning Disabilities Housing  - the conversion of two existing semi-detached 
houses at Hinckley into four self-contained single long term accommodation units 
designed for individuals from within the Transforming Care cohort is nearing 
completion.   

19

115



Warm Homes Scheme - a 'warm homes' service is helping vulnerable people 
across the county to save hundreds of pounds on their fuel bills.  Living in a cold 
home can affect people's health and well-being and the Council offered advice 
through Warm Homes, part of the council's First Contact Plus advice and information 
hub. Warm Homes Officers can visit vulnerable people to show how to reset heating 
and hot water controls and provide easy-to-follow instructions. They can also help in 
updating energy supplier. Other advice which can also be offered includes debt relief 
support and energy efficiency and grants. Last year the Council’s Warm Homes 
Service provided 1000 Leicestershire households with free, impartial advice to help 
them stay warm at home and keep energy bills down.  

Children’s Placement Strategy - the placements and homes where children, young 
people and their families live are key to achieving our priority outcomes. For our 
children in care we provide good quality care and placements to help them reach 
their potential. Our Care Placement Strategy outlines how we design and 
commission services of a high quality that place children and their needs firmly at the 
centre. Our Care Placement Strategy also determines what services may be 
necessary to meet the needs of children both on the edge of care and in care and 
how permanence for children and young people can be achieved at an earlier stage 
in the child’s journey.  The Strategy acknowledges the need to co-invest, co-produce 
and co-deliver services with partner organisations to optimise outcomes for young 
people and ensure, where possible, that efficiencies in costs are achieved. 

Lightbulb – lightbulb offers practical housing support, keeping vulnerable people 
independent in their homes, helping to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions and 
facilitating timely hospital discharge. It offers a range of help with issues such as: 
keeping the home warm in a way that is affordable, aids and equipment, major 
adaptations, assistive technology, and advice and support to choose the right 
housing option. The Lightbulb, Housing Support Co-ordinator, offers a holistic 
housing need assessment, single point of contact for practical housing support, 
signposting and helps to arrange solutions in response to any needs identified.  They 
work at each site across the districts in conjunction and supported by Occupational 
Therapists. The Lightbulb Hospital Enabler Team offer housing specialists, working 
directly with patients, relatives and hospital staff to identify housing problems that are 
a barrier to discharge and putting in the right steps to address this. They also assist 
with the transition from hospital to home and provide support with setting up a new 
tenancy or managing the existing home, support with furniture packs and rent 
deposits, working across 3 hospital sites and the Bradgate Mental Health Unit. 

20

116



Health, Wellbeing and Opportunity 

We want people to be enabled to take control of their health and wellbeing 
throughout their lives and to be as independent as possible. In order to do this 
people need the right support in the right place at the right time. Although some 
people can fulfil their potential by themselves, others need help, sometimes 
throughout their lives.    

Health and Care Integration 

In order to transform and integrate health and care we are working intensively in 
partnership across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). We are making a 
difference by committing to joint plans, delivering change using blended teams 
across organisations and pooling funds across NHS and local authority partners. We 
are increasingly providing care and support in a more consistent way, modernising 
how care is delivered, providing care which is easier to access and navigate and 
moving more integrated care into community settings.  

Our Better Care Fund (BCF)  plan, spanning both the NHS and local government, 
supports the joining up of health and care services so that people can manage their 
own health and wellbeing independently in their communities for as long as possible. 
This involves providers and commissioners of health, care and housing services to 
ensure integrated services are planned and delivered effectively in partnership. Our 
current BCF plan covers the period 2017 to 2019.   

Unified Prevention Offer – the Leicestershire BCF has, since its inception, placed a 
high priority on developing a Unified Prevention Offer for local communities, making 
the best use of community assets and building community capacity. It is recognised 
that many of these interventions should be non-medical and can be provided by a 
range of partners, including the voluntary sector. The menu of prevention 
interventions includes lifestyle services, housing support, local area coordinators, 
support for carers, home safety and falls prevention.        

Frailty – a new approach to frailty across LLR has been implemented which sets out 
a number of proven interventions that should take place in the community, in 
hospital, and on hospital discharge if someone is assessed as having certain frailty 
markers. The LLR area has adopted the Rockwood scale for assessing frailty 
consistently across the health and care system and all practitioners will be using the 
same set of prompts to check how someone’s care could be managed most 
effectively at every opportunity.  

Prevention at Scale Project – evidence shows that up to 30% of GP appointments 
are taken up by patients seeking non-medical interventions. Leicestershire’s 
prevention at scale project is working with a number of GP surgeries to develop 
better insights into the reasons for these types of attendances, how the local 
prevention offer can be improved and how best to support patients and GPs with 
easy access to the most suitable support for their non-medical needs, via GP or self- 
referral into First Contact Plus, or via other agencies and the community itself. 
Releasing more GP capacity for those activities that only GPs can deliver is the aim 
of this work.  

21

117



Integrated Housing Support – Leicestershire’s Lightbulb Service has both 
community based and hospital based components. The hospital housing enablement 
team, which is funded by the BCF plan, was created to work inside Leicester’s acute 
hospitals and the Bradgate Mental Health Unit. Since April 2016 the service has 
helped in excess of 1,200 patients and, over time, demand for the service has risen. 
The team offers 22 interventions to support patients in local hospitals, many of which 
relate not only to housing but also to other community support offers. The Lightbulb 
service has won three national accolades for innovation and partnership working. In 
the community based service there is also access to a full housing needs 
assessment with Lightbulb’s housing support coordinators carrying out “housing 
MOTs” and acting as case managers to arrange solutions to the full range of housing 
support including aids and adaptations, tenancy and welfare advice, hoarding, house 
clearing and cleaning, furniture packs, affordable warmth, home safety and falls 
prevention.   

Integrated Locality Teams – the implementation of Integrated Locality Teams, 
whereby community nurses, GP practice and social care staff work hand in hand to 
support the same cohort of people in their locality, continues to be embedded. This 
delivers multiagency care planning and improved care coordination in the 
community, keeping people at home as long as possible.  Locality teams are 
currently testing integrated working for people with frailty, multiple long term 
conditions and other complex needs. 

Integrated Urgent Response and Care – LLR partners have implemented a new 
model of integrated urgent care through participation in the national Urgent Care 
Vanguard programme. The new model commenced in April 2017.    

Hospital Discharges – Home First – the Home First programme focuses on 
services designed to provide rehabilitation and reablement. The programme has 
supported the development of an integrated discharge team (see below) at 
University Hospitals of Leicester and has developed a blueprint for integrated 
intermediate care services. Work is now underway to implement the integrated 
health and care reablement offer including referral and access points, skill mix, triage 
and service delivery. The aim is to have a more integrated service operational by 
winter 2018.     

Integrated Discharge Team (IDT) – the IDT encourage and promote an integrated 
way of working across all organisations to ensure smoother and faster resolution of 
delays to discharge. There has been a significant improvement to multi-agency 
working with a discharge hub where all professionals working on discharge can be 
co-located.  Through focused efforts across partner agencies we have seen a 
significant reduction in delayed transfers of care (DTOC) from hospitals – helping 
reduce pressure on hospital beds.  We have achieved our targets for reducing adult 
social care related delays and joint delays with health. An action plan is in place for 
2018/19 including key initiatives to help maintain reduced DTOC levels. This 
includes the ‘Red 2 Green’ daily assessment system and reducing the complexity of 
current discharge pathways, plus the provision of 14 beds to assess onward care 
needs outside of a hospital setting.  

22

118



Integrated Domiciliary Care – Help to Live at Home – since November 2016 
home care in the county has been delivered through the Help to Live at Home 
service. The service is commissioned jointly by the Council and two county Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) with lead providers appointed to lead the delivery of 
home care services. 

Integrated Data – through the LLR Digital Roadmap we are developing a summary 
care record that will ultimately be linked, viewed and edited by both the NHS and 
Council staff, helping all professionals involved in patient care to have access to the 
most up to date information.  

 

Health and Wellbeing - Adult Social Care 

We want people to be cared for at home, in their own community, wherever possible 
and for as long as possible.  We commission and provide a wide range of services to 
support people to maintain their independence, enable them to be part of society, 
protect them and meet a variety of care needs. Ensuring that eligible support needs 
are met and people can exercise choice and control over their lives.  In 2018/19 we 
levied an extra 3% adult social care precept to help meet demands and pressures on 
the service.  We have also used extra resources provided through the Improved BCF 
to meet increased pressures on Adult Social Care, tackle delayed transfers of care 
and help stabilise the local social care provider market.    

Enabling Choice and Control – the proportion of people in receipt of a personal 
budget last year was 94%. Those in receipt of direct payments has also increased in 
recent years and is now at 54%.  We increased staffing within the Personal Budgets 
team to meet increased demand for personal assistance support. The team offer 
advice and guidance to direct payments recipients in being an employer and 
managing their budgets. There are now in excess of 2,600 direct payment cards in 
circulation. Our care pathways improvements programme encourages users to take 
an active role in their assessment and support planning and now includes a 
progression model from self-assessment underpinned by an asset based approach 
to support planning.    

Access to Information – during 2017/18 there were over 28,000 new requests for 
social care advice and support. 58% resulted in universal services, signposting or no 
services, 18% in equipment and adaptations, 12% in reablement and 11% long term 
services. The proportion of respondents who find it easy to find the information they 
need was 69%, similar to last year. An advice and information officer has been 
appointed to review and develop customer facing information, with more self-serve 
options to help make the customer journey more efficient and move demand away 
from our customer service centre. In addition a project team has been established to 
develop and implement a new customer portal.  

Assistive Technology - new technology is transforming the care technology sector. 
Currently a telecare service is provided based on a pendant alarm. Nearly 6,000 
alarms are in place in homes across the county. There are now many products 
available that can support people to live independent lives and deliver a more 
preventative response, which is more effective at delaying and reducing needs. Our 

23

119



BCF assistive technology project is looking at how the service offer in Leicestershire 
can be enhanced by maximising opportunities offered by new technology. We have 
completed an initial market appraisal exercise, are looking at experience elsewhere 
and aiming to establish a standardised approach across the county to assistive 
technology. In relation to community alarm telecare and mobile response, the Lifeline 
Service has been refocused to provide assessment and provision for reablement and 
urgent cases to facilitate hospital discharge, a community alarm is fitted for a time 
limited period of 4-6 weeks. In 2017/18 the service supported 331 installations. The 
Council’s assistive technology service also continues to receive approximately 230 to 
300 referrals per month.   

Support for Carers – carers have a vital role to play in the community, but it is 
equally important they are supported, particularly with their own health and 
wellbeing. In October 2017 we identified ways of improving support for carers across 
LLR. Some of the measures - outlined in a draft strategy drawn up in conjunction 
with local CCGs, the City Council and Rutland Council – include dedicated workers 
offering help to carers, increasing access to respite provision and helping young 
carers into further education or employment. Two-year funding of £200,000 from the 
Improved BCF is supporting improvements for carers including a grant scheme to 
encourage development of local carers groups. In January 2018 we encouraged 
businesses to follow our lead by joining a free scheme that offers advice and 
information to support carers in the workplace.   The Employers for Carers (EfC) 
scheme provides a range of online resources to support people juggling paid work 
and unpaid caring responsibilities.  Our carers’ delivery group continues to oversee 
progress.  

Care Quality – ensuring that high quality care and support is being delivered by care 
homes is a priority, and provides important re-assurance to relatives and friends. In 
September 2017 more than 40 private care homes throughout Leicestershire were 
recognised in an awards event at County Hall. The nursing and residential homes 
earned Quality Assessment Framework (QAF) status at gold, silver or bronze level, 
illustrating they have exceeded the standard quality of service required. Areas they 
are judged on include positive outcomes for people, the range of activities 
undertaken, the environment in the care home as well as staff training. We also 
awarded ‘Dignity in Care’ accolades to homes and day services which support 
people with a learning disability, and who provide a service which emphasises 
dignity and respect.  

Strengthening the Social Care Workforce – in October 2017 we began a major 
recruitment drive to attract people to work with adults across a variety of roles, 
particularly social and community care workers to work with residents with learning 
disabilities, physical disabilities and mental health needs, or older adults. The drive 
aims to attract around 70 people, including newly-qualified workers, into the adult 
social care sector. In May 2018 we ran a special adult social care recruitment event 
to attract social workers to help people with mental health issues and learning and 
physical disabilities.   

 

24

120



Helping People Stay Well and Independent – Adults Aged 18-64  

Learning Disabilities – Transforming Care – our local Transforming Care 
Partnership has continued to ensure there is the right support for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism to be discharged from inpatient hospital care and 
also to help people in the community at risk of being admitted. The partnership is 
delivering bespoke accommodation, a four bed step down provision and a crisis 
service to support those at risk of admission. A reduction from 29 to 12 NHS hospital 
inpatients by April 2019 is expected.       

Settled Accommodation and Supported Living – the proportion of people aged 
18-64 with a learning disability in settled accommodation continues to improve and 
was 80% in 2017/18. We have a Supported Living Framework to 2021 which 
streamlines services, provides a greater volume of business for suppliers and 
achieves economies of scale. The new operating model for supported living is now 
well established with five contracted providers managing their areas and we are 
engaging to increase supply of suitable accommodation for supported living. Our 
pathway to housing project, supporting access to settled accommodation, continues 
to be successful. The number of people in permanent care fell from 470 to 443 last 
year. We are also purchasing a large ex-sheltered housing scheme in Great Glen to 
be converted into additional supported living. This is on track to be refurbished and 
ready for occupation by autumn 2019 and will provide 20 one bed flats with a general 
communal area.   The supported living plan is working on 12 pipeline schemes with 
total accommodation of 73 units of accommodation and 4 other potential 
developments.      

Reshaping Care in Hinckley – in February 2018 we consulted on proposals to 
reshape adult social care services in Hinckley. People were asked for views on plans 
to change the use of residential accommodation at two units of The Trees, Hinckley 
into a short breaks facility. The proposals form part of our strategy to move the 
emphasis away from residential care to a broader range of personalised care. The 
Hinckley Tree conversion of two existing semi-detached houses into four self-
contained single long term accommodation units designed for individuals from within 
the Transforming Care cohort is now nearing completion.   

Residential Short Breaks, Coalville – in May 2018 we announced that we were 
considering plans to develop a new adult social care facility in Coalville. We are 
hopeful of securing around £1.4m of funding to build a seven-bed development 
which would provide residential short breaks for adults with learning disabilities. It 
would mean that the existing short breaks service at Smith Crescent would close and 
be replaced by the new purpose built facility. Hamilton Court care home would also 
close. The proposal is to build the new development on the Hamilton Court/Smith 
Crescent site. 

Community Life Choices – our framework for Community Life Choices day 
services is now well established, with 24 organisations supporting around 800 
people to access day time activities. The model supports providers to deliver support 
for people to find non-social care funded activities in the community and to support 
people to gain employment and volunteering opportunities and improve their life 
skills. Successful relationships have been established with providers and more 
flexible solutions for individuals jointly identified. In relation to supporting people with 

25

121



learning disabilities into employment, the proportion in paid employment remained at 
11%, in the top quartile nationally, following involvement of a social enterprise via our 
community life choices service.     

Autism Strategy - the LLR Autism Partnership Board has been refreshed to 
implement the Think Autism Strategy. We are progressing a number of priority areas 
including workforce development to raise awareness of autism and improved post-
diagnostic information and support. In May 2018 work began to develop an LLR 
Autism Alliance. In summer 2018 young people aged 11-16 who are on the autism 
spectrum took part in an exciting free history project at the 1620s House and 
Garden. The Project Digby five-week programme was developed in partnership with 
Autism East Midlands. Project Digby was specifically tailored to meet the needs of 
young people on the autism spectrum.  

Shared Lives – shared lives is a scheme that matches adults who need support with 
carefully selected carers who provide them with respite or long term care in the 
carer’s home. We have some extremely positive stories come from Shared Lives 
placements. The service focuses on service users’ individual needs, meaning we 
can tailor their care requirements to allow them to live their own lives and fulfil their 
ambitions.     

Working Age Adults Accommodation Strategy to 2022 – our accommodation 
strategy aims to shape housing and other provider markets to ensure that a range of 
accommodation and support options are available. We aim to ensure there is more 
suitable accommodation to meet the needs of working age adults with disabilities.   

Whole-Life Disability Strategy – in September 2018 we unveiled a new strategy 
setting out how we will work alongside disabled people of all ages as well as families 
and carers to take more control of their own health and wellbeing. The strategy also 
aims to help prevent, reduce and delay the need for long-term care services and 
support people to lead independent and fulfilling lives.  Across the county, there are 
around 3,000 disabled people under the age of 65 who receive support from us. The 
document also focuses on young people, aged between 13 and 25 with special 
educational needs and disabilities who need additional support. The strategy 
emphasises the early work which agencies, schools and colleges can do to help 
young people become more independent. be active in the community, develop new 
skills and discover services appropriate to their needs. 

Changing Places – in June 2018 businesses and organisations were encouraged to 
apply for a grant to fund enhanced toilet facilities to meet the needs of people with 
multiple and profound disabilities. Grants of up to £20,000 were available, through 
our Shire Changing Places scheme, for firms looking to promote social inclusion in 
their local community by installing a Changing Places toilet. Changing Places toilets 
are different to standard disabled toilets with extra features and more space to meet 
these needs.   

26

122



Helping Older People to Stay Well and Independent – 65+ 

Older Persons Support – the number of people aged 65+ admitted to permanent 
care rose from 873 in 2016/17 to 920 in 2017/18, an increase of 5%.  However 
despite increased admissions the overall number in permanent care fell by 3% to 
1,635.   There were just short of 4,100 people aged 65+ in receipt of all forms of long 
term support, a 3% fall on the year before, suggesting shorter stays and admissions 
at an older age.  

Tackling Social Isolation – there is increasing evidence and awareness that 
loneliness and social isolation have an impact on people’s physical and mental 
health, wellbeing and independence.  The Council has started a two-phase project to 
develop a better understanding of the nature, extent and impact of loneliness and 
social isolation on people, communities and public services through collation of 
evidence and discussions with partners, and community organisations. Consider 
potential roles in tackling loneliness and social isolation across Leicestershire and 
potential improvement to delivery of existing services. Develop a business case to 
identify, develop and support decision making on options for tackling the issue, 
including improved and new activities. The Council is also collaborating with the 
University of Leicester’s Unit for Diversity, Inclusion and Community Engagement 
(DICE) to organise a summit on action to tackle loneliness and social isolation in 
Leicestershire, to take place at the University in late November.   

Falls Prevention - it is estimated that each year in Leicestershire falls cost the NHS 
approximately £23m with one in three people aged over 65 falling every year. The 
aim of the LLR Falls Programme is to improve the treatment pathway for those 
identified as being at risk of suffering a fall or who have experienced a fall. The 
programme provides the tools to ensure the appropriate course of action is taken to 
help each individual maintain their independence and avoid a falls related admission 
to hospital. Tools include specialist therapy triage and assessment for all referrals 
into consultant falls clinics and specialist therapy and falls prevention training for 
care home staff. The work also includes the development of the local falls 
management exercise programme ‘Steady Steps’ and extending access to an 
electronic Falls Risk Assessment Took smart phone application. 

Reablement – our reablement approach offers considerable benefits by supporting 
people to regain skills rather than be cared for in the traditional sense. By providing 
an intensive period of coordinated enabling support focusing on outcomes, positive 
results are achieved. The vast majority of new contacts resulting in reablement in 
2017/18 were following a hospital discharge.  The HART service provides intensive 
support for up to 4 to 6 weeks to help service users optimise their independence to 
continue living in their own home. 29% resulted in no further services, 51% low level 
support and just 20% required ongoing support. The proportion of people living at 
home 91 days following discharge from hospital via HART was 86% in 2017/18.    

Dementia Support – there are predicted to be over 9,000 people in the county living 
with dementia. Along with partners in health we fund and provide a range of 
information, advice and services to support people affected by dementia. Joint 
commissioning of a single community and hospital in-reach dementia support service 
provides a joined up service for the area, replacing three separate services. These 

27

123



support easier transition between hospital and community settings and co-ordinated 
care and integrate services around the person in order to improve outcomes.     

Extra Care Housing – we are looking to extend our offer to older adults seeking to 
live independently in accessible, telecare enabled housing with flexible on-site care 
and support, as an alternative to residential care. We successfully contributed 
towards the provision of 62 new extra care places in Loughborough, with the scheme 
opening on schedule. The site is forecast to be fully occupied in autumn 2018.  

Reducing Adult Care DTOCs – around 18% of adult care contacts and referrals are 
associated with people being discharged from hospital and the resources committed 
are extensive. During 2017/18 we invested £170k to support extra capacity in the 
hospital social work team and maintained our Homecare Assessment Reablement 
Team to ensure timely discharge. Overall there has been a 21% reduction in delayed 
bed days compared to 2016/17 and a 24% reduction in delays attributable to adult 
social care. Many actions contributed including piloting access to 14 short stay beds 
at Peaker Park to impact the number of permanent admissions to care homes and 
improvements in social care practice.  We are second lowest compared with other 
similar shire authorities. 

28

124



Public Health and Wellbeing  

Our aim is that Leicestershire has a healthy population with increased life 
expectancy and reduced health inequalities. We support the population to stay well 
through prevention and early intervention and through influencing the wider 
determinants of health and wellbeing such as the environment, housing, employment 
and education.  Our public health function plays a key role in contributing to the aim. 
A number of public health issues are prioritised in our Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  

Online Health and Support Information Hub - we want people to get support as 
quickly as possible when they need it. Our online information hub provides an 
access point for immediate support. First Contact Plus enables people to search 
from their own home through a broad range of wellbeing information, all in one place. 
The service includes information and links to organisations which provide support 
around topics such as health, falls, feeling safe, living independently, debts and 
benefits, work, learning, volunteering and families and relationships. First Contact 
Plus also signposts people to community groups, national charities and public health 
services.  Developments in 2017/18 include opening up access to self-referral to 
First Contact Plus via the website, integrating the warm homes service and 
facilitating access to the new falls pathway. During 2017/18 there were 5292 
referrals received and 6039 referrals made to partners.   

Early Help and Prevention – a focus on early help and prevention is fundamental to 
tacking the root causes of problems as soon as they arise. We are working toward a 
comprehensive offer for community based prevention by bringing together resources 
available. This includes a core menu of prevention services which will wrap around 
individuals and communities as an essential component of the model of integrated 
care. Our Unified Prevention Board continues to oversee the development and 
delivery of prevention activities. The prevention plan includes identifying gaps in 
service delivery to support areas like the integrated locality teams.    

Self-Care Campaign – in November 2017 a new campaign launched in 
Leicestershire encouraging people to take better care of themselves as well as 
showing what’s available to help them look after their health. The ‘self-care’ 
campaign aims to support people to build confidence in treating and preventing 
minor illnesses, so they don’t need more support further down the line. Self-care 
involved a number of seasonal campaigns, with the first one concentrating on 
increasing physical activity levels and eating healthily, which, in turn, can reduce or 
prevent the risk of diabetes. The campaign demonstrated the simple steps we can 
take to stay healthy and avoid potentially serious health problems occurring.    

Integrated Healthy Lifestyle Services – helping people live healthy lifestyles is 
vital. In June 2018 we commenced consultation on changes to lifestyle service 
delivery which would see the development of a new service for adults aimed at 
preventing diseases caused by smoking, physical inactivity and poor diet. Currently 
services such as weight management support, First Contact Plus and Quit Ready 
are run separately. However, around 25% of adults engage in combinations of 3 to 4 
unhealthy behaviours. The new approach would mean that people accessing one 
service could also be offered other lifestyle advice where appropriate, improving 
access, avoiding duplication and providing a more focused service. 

29

125



Local Area Coordinators (LACs) – LACs support vulnerable people by developing 
networks of community based support and utilising existing community assets. They 
operate in local neighbourhoods, closely linked to housing and community health 
services and to recreational and social opportunities. There are now 20 LACs 
covering 26 locations with one being a countywide post focusing on working with 
travelling families.  In November 2017 an event at Coalville Library launched the 
Local Area Co-ordinator scheme for the area. By improving the quality of life and 
independence of individuals and building stronger community links, LACs help to 
prevent people from reaching crisis point and reduce demand for health and social 
care services. 

Health Check Programme – in March 2018 we encouraged 40-74-year-olds in 
Leicestershire to make sure they took up the opportunity to have a free NHS health 
check. People who are GP-registered are contacted every five years to be invited for 
one of the checks, which can reduce the risk of developing Type 2 diabetes, heart 
disease, strokes, kidney disease and certain types of dementia. It’s free, and helps 
people understand the chances of getting health problems as they get older. The 
health check programme in Leicestershire is the responsibility of our Public Health 
Department.     

Healthy Weight and Diet – good nutrition is an essential part of a healthy lifestyle. 
Diet combined with physical activity can help people reach and maintain a healthy 
weight, reduce the risk of chronic disease and promote overall health. To help 
combat overweight and obesity we commission a range of services including weight 
watchers and the LPT Nutrition and Dietetic Service. The Food for Life programme 
also works with schools across Leicestershire and the Master Gardners programme 
helps people to learn to grow nutritious food. We are also developing a 
comprehensive, multidisciplinary tier 3 service for people with more severe complex 
conditions.  

Leicestershire Food Plan - healthy foods are fundamental to good health and we 
are developing a new Food Plan for Leicestershire. The Plan will provide a focus for 
our work to address ill-health due to overweight/obesity, reduce food waste costs 
and environmental impacts and strengthen our important local food manufacturing 
sector. The plan includes supporting Melton Borough Council and Harborough 
District Council in the national Sustainable Food Cities scheme by promoting healthy 
and sustainable food and alleviating food poverty and diet–related ill health and 
improving access to affordable healthy food. It will also mean that Leicestershire can 
become a member of the Sustainable Food Cities network which would open up 
funding opportunities and support from national experts. 

Reducing the Harm of Substance Misuse - Turning Point became our provider of 
substance misuse services in 2016 and provides integrated support for people with 
drug and alcohol problems. The service is delivered through recovery hubs in 
Loughborough, Coalville and Leicester.  Dear Albert, a local social enterprise, also 
continues to deliver group work programmes to increase engagement in mutual aid 
support for people recovering from substance misuse.   

Smoking Cessation – quitting smoking is often the single most effective way of 
improving health and preventing illness. In January 2017 our new stop smoking 
service, QuitReady, started work. People signing up for QuitReady work with a stop 

30

126



smoking advisor to help them quit with free tailored advice and the support of stop 
smoking medication. In January 2018 the QuitReady service teamed up with district 
councils to offer January quitters the opportunity to try out local leisure facilities and 
exercise classes for free if they stayed smoke free for four weeks or more. A total of 
275 local smokers set their quit date for January 2018.  In July 2018 we announced 
that since its launch the service had helped more than 1,600 people give up the 
habit. 88% rated the service as excellent and 9% as good.  

Sexual Health – sexual ill health can affect any part of society, often when it is least 
expected.  Our Sexual Health Strategy aims to streamline commissioning, improve 
patient pathways, efficiency and quality of care. The strategy includes approaches to 
screening for sexually transmitted diseases, teenage pregnancy and community 
based services.  There is continued focus on supporting schools in their work around 
relationships and sex education and access to services through new technology. In 
the last year £500K was contributed towards the refurbishment of a new base for 
integrated sexual health services in Leicester, to generate ongoing revenue savings.  

 

Children Get the Best Start - Child Health  

Ensuring that our children get the best start in life is a priority and also an investment 
in our future. We want to support parents to get it right in the 1001 critical days after 
birth and to ensure that children are prepared and ready for school, whatever their 
background.    

0-19 Healthy Child Programme - our service model for the Healthy Child 
Programme comprises a combined health visitor and school nursing service. The 
service prioritises the health of looked after children, children with SEND, traveller 
families and those at risk of exploitation. 

Early Years Health – we know that good health habits developed in the early years 
are likely to continue into adulthood. Our Healthy Tots Programme provides a 
framework to support early years settings to be health promoting organisations. The 
programme includes emotional health, wellbeing, physical activity and healthy 
eating. In November 2017 we reported that more than 130 day nurseries and 
childcare providers in Leicestershire were encouraging youngsters to be 'healthy 
tots' through the programme. The programmes physical activities include climbing 
stairs and tidying up to more physical play such as hopscotch and an obstacle 
course. Children are provided with healthy, balanced and nutritional snacks and 
there is also work done around self-confidence and awareness.  

Early Years Support - in spring 2018 we brought together our Early Years Special 
Educational Needs and Inclusion Service, our Early Learning and Childcare Service 
and our Early Years Autism Team into a single Early Years and Child Care Service 
in order to pool our early years expertise. The single service provides support to 
ensure that young children get the best start in life and that their health, development 
and learning are the best they can be. The service works directly with children and 
families as well as with early years’ providers and schools. 

31

127



Good Early Learning and Child Care – continuing good progress has been made 
to secure sufficient high quality childcare provision across the county with currently 
96% of providers judged by Ofsted to be good or better. More 3 and 4 year olds are 
also now accessing their entitlement to Early Years Pupil Premium, which can help 
accelerate progress. The percentage of children achieving a good level of 
development at the end of reception year was 70.8% an increase of 0.7% compared 
to 2017. 

Breast Feeding and Maternity Support – low breastfeeding rates are linked with 
inequalities in health, deprivation and reduced life expectancy. Breastfeeding peer 
support services are available in 6 areas and breastfeeding champions have been 
nominated in both health visiting and children centre teams. The ‘baby buddy’ app 
and ‘meals on heels’ app have been embedded across the county.  

Healthy Schools – the Leicestershire Health Schools Programme provides the 
framework to support schools to be health promoting settings. 40% of Leicestershire 
schools have renewed their healthy school status in the last 2 years, while 48% of 
schools have achieved ‘Enhanced Healthy Schools’ status by achieving meaningful 
outcomes on a public health priority. 

Teenage Pregnancy – teenage pregnancy is a key aspect of our sexual health 
strategy. In April 2018 it was announced that teenage pregnancy figures for under 
18’s across Leicestershire were down for the ninth consecutive year. Figures show 
the annual rate in 2016 decreased to 13.7 per 1,000 females aged 15-17 years, a 
16% decrease since the 2015 figures were released. Five districts in Leicestershire 
witnessed a decrease compared to the previous year, with Harborough seeing the 
greatest improvement. Work over the past year has included the roll out of free 
school training on relationship and sex education.  

 

Mental Health 

The considerable burden of mental illness means that strengthening individual 
resilience and helping people with mental illness to recover remain priorities for us.  
We are a partner in the Better Care Together Mental Health work-stream. The 
supporting programme incorporates a range of interventions aimed at helping people 
avoid becoming mentally ill and at mitigating the impact of mental illness in those 
who experience problems.    

Mental ill Health Prevention - our RU OK? website provides information about 
sources of support. As part of the local Mental Health Partnership group we have 
developed supporting practices. Mental Health First Aid training is offered to front 
line staff. Our adult learning service has also designed a number of opportunities for 
adult social care users including those anxious and depressed. Healthier in Mind is 
progressing a mental health strategy for LLR owned with local communities. 

Children’s Mental Health -   the Future in Mind plan is progressing improved 
support across LLR. £8m is being invested in child and adolescent services to 
support measures including mental health awareness training and healthy schools 
advisers to support pupils. As part of our approach to supporting mental health a 

32

128



toolkit has been launched for schools and an emotional wellbeing curriculum pack 
developed by the young people on our County Youth Council for Leicestershire. The 
pack has been launched to Leicestershire Secondary Schools as part of their Mental 
Health Awareness campaign and includes a variety of activities for work with young 
people aged 11 to 18. Through ‘routes to resilience’ we are supporting an evidence 
based approach to helping schools and families in their work developing the 
character, resilience and emotional wellbeing of children and young people. The 
programme is being offered to all state maintained and state funded primary schools, 
secondary schools and colleges across the county over the next three years. 

Suicide Prevention – death from suicide has devastating consequences. There are 
on average 55 deaths from suicide each year in Leicestershire and it remains the 
biggest killer of men under 50 and the leading cause of death in young people. 
Three-quarters of suicides are among men, with those aged 45-49 most at risk. In 
September 2018 we launched a new campaign to help prevent suicide by raising 
awareness of the risks and showing what support is available. The campaign called 
Start a Conversation is hoping to break the stigma around suicide, encouraging 
people to be more open about their worries and showing them where to seek help. 
The campaign is supported by a website giving people information on where to get 
help in a crisis and also how to maintain good mental health and support others in 
need. The website was officially launched on 10th September to coincide with World 
Suicide Prevention Day. Funding has also been secured for a 0.5.FTW suicide 
prevention coordinator post within the public health team. This will provide 
sustainability for the delivery of the campaign and will include day-to-day 
maintenance of the website.  

Mental Health Reablement - our mental health reablement service commenced in 
August 2017, and is part of the working age adult mental health structure. Working 
age mental health staff support people with needs ranging from low level through to 
complex and also with much broader needs including alcohol and drug problems. As 
a result of the changes the service has seen increased demand. The support they 
provide focuses on building confidence and skills and reducing risks, signposting and 
engaging with other relevant support. They leave the person with a ‘crisis and 
contingency plan’ as well as progress to continue recovery. Outcomes show the 
service is having a positive impact and timescales for allocating services are 
reducing.  

Recovery and Resilience Services – the model provides a coordinated approach 
to supporting people with mental health issues and is run through a number of hubs 
across Leicestershire. 

33

129



Physical Health, Sport and Physical Activity 

The role of physical activity in improving our health and wellbeing is increasingly 
acknowledged, helping to reduce the major causes of premature death and illness as 
well as the prevention and management of up to 20 chronic diseases. Leicester-
Shire and Rutland Sports (LRS) play a key role in sport and physical activity support 
and delivery.  

Getting People Active – Leicester Shire and Rutland Sport have developed and 
launched a sub-regional Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2017-21. During 
2017/18 £575k of public health funding was invested into county Locality Sport and 
Physical Activity Plans, generating 399,248 attendances recorded at physical activity 
and sport sessions. £115K was also secured from the 2 CCGs to deliver a Falls 
Management Exercise Programme. Over 5,000 participant interactions were 
recorded during 3 physical activity and sport campaign weeks - This Girl Can, Feel 
Alive from 65 and One You. 173 women and girls attended the This Girl Can ‘Charity 
Night Out’ at Brockington College. Evaluation showed that 80% of attendees classed 
themselves as inactive against activity guidelines of 150 minutes per week. Over 200 
local residents in care settings took part in the Twilight Games programme.  

Over 120 Early Years Practitioners accessed training to support them to create an 
active setting. A new combined ‘Active Schools’ Head Teacher Champion Group has 
been established with representation from primary, secondary and special schools 
as well public health teams.  All 10 School Sport and Physical Networks now have 
strategic Head Teacher Forums in place, to ensure a consistent and appropriate 
local offer within all schools. 

In June it was announced we had been awarded £442k from Sport England to help 
low-income families get active with their children. Working in partnership with the 
Leicestershire Home-Start charities, district councils and LRS we are one of the first 
to receive investment from £40m National Lottery funding dedicated to helping 
families get active together. The funds will target inactive families with at least one 
child aged 5 to 10.   

Staying Active - 2,505 young people participated in the Level 3 School Games 
Programme, across 40 competitions. 327 of whom were disabled young athletes, 
competing in 10 disability focused competitions. 8,259 young people participated in 
the Team Leicestershire competition programme across 8 sports. £37,827 was also 
invested into the delivery of 8 new and 42 sustained Satellite Club projects. This has 
resulted in over 600 participants aged 11-25 engaging in physical activity and sport 
linked to local community clubs. 18,250 activities were recorded during the eight 
week Workplace Challenge activity log. There were 496 active users from 119 
workplaces. £23,500 was invested from the Go Gold Funding Programme to support 
50 talented young athletes across the county. 67 community clubs and organisations 
were also supported to make successful funding applications, generating £669,827 
of external resources. 

Active Places - £226K was secured from the Sport England Community Asset Fund 
for 6 clubs across LLR. The Heart of England Boxing Club received £200,000 from 
the Persimmon Homes Healthy Community Scheme through a national public vote.  
The first LLR Active Places Forum took place with representation from the County 

34

130



Council, City Council, Rutland, district councils and Sport England. The team also 
worked with 12 schools to submit grant applications to the DfE Condition 
Improvement Fund. Over £1.7m was received through developer contributions 
towards physical activity and sport across the county. 

Active Economy - working with Sport England, the LLEP and local authorities we 
have appointed an Economy and Sport Growth Manager to lead this work area. 
England Netball relocated their national HQ to SportPark at Loughborough 
University, employing over 130 people. The Sport and Recreation Alliance also ran 
their conference attracting over 150 delegates to Leicestershire.  

LRS’s partner survey Net Promoter Score increased to 66%, rating LRS amongst the 
top 20% of all County Sports Partnerships in England. The LRS team also achieved 
the second highest QUEST Active Communities score in England in 2017 and 
achieved the standards of the UK Code of Sport Governance. 497 coaches, 
volunteers and club members accessed the 2017/18 LRS Workforce Education 
Programme. 40 South Asian women were provided with 1 to 1 support to access 
leadership and activator roles through the Take the Lead programme. 24 young 
people were trained and supported into employment through the Elite Leadership 
Volunteering Programme.  Over 98,300 users visited the LRS website, an increase 
of 45% from 2016/17.  The Get Active Search Engine, which features local activity 
sessions and clubs and organisations, was accessed by over 33,500 users. Over 
8,400 individuals, ranging from partners to young athletes, school and community 
settings, benefitted from 90 LRS organised events and courses. 

35

131



Opportunity 

In relation to opportunity we have a number of aims including that every child gets 
the best start in life, everyone is able to aim high and reach their potential and that 
every child has access to good quality education.  

Educational Quality 

We aim to ensure good life chances for all by reducing inequalities in educational 
attainment and by raising standards for those with poorer outcomes.  We continue to 
champion excellence in our schools and high academic achievement. We support 
the work of the Leicestershire Education Excellence Partnership and school heads in 
securing good standards, improvement advice and sharing good practice.  

Education Effectiveness - early in 2018 we completed a review of our school 
improvement functions and this has led to the creation of our new Education 
Effectiveness Team. The team supports our strategy to work collaboratively and 
productively with schools and academies across Leicestershire for the benefit of 
Leicestershire learners. 

High Standards in Primary – there was a 3.7% increase in the percentage of 
children reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics at the 
end of Key Stage 2 (age 11) in Leicestershire schools. Provisional data suggests 
that Leicestershire will be above the national average.  In relation to progress from 
Key Stage 1 to 2 provisional data suggests that Leicestershire will have seen further 
considerable improvements in reading, writing and mathematics. Though may still be 
just below the national average.   

High Standards in Secondary – Key Stage 4 performance in Leicestershire 
schools improved for the two headline measures of Progress 8 and Attainment 8. 
Attainment 8 rose from 45.6 to 46.1 and Progress 8 rose from -0.11 to -0.03. 
Attainment 8 takes the average point score (from 1-9) in each of the eight key 
subject areas. The Leicestershire score represents an average grade C compared to 
old GCSE measures. This is now close to the England state schools average of 
46.5. 18 Leicestershire secondary schools performed above average with some 
former 11-14 high schools as well as some previous 11-16 schools now performing 
well above the national average. A small number of studio schools (offering more 
vocational provision) and some academies performed below the national average 
and will continue to be subject to enhanced monitoring and school improvement 
support.  Progress 8 is a measure where ‘0’ represents the target, indicating that all 
pupils have made the expected progress between key stage two and four. The 
Leicestershire score of -0.03 is closer to ‘0’ than the 2017 score of -0.11. 
Education of Vulnerable Groups - our Oakfield Short Stay School continues to 
support children that are at risk of exclusion or have been permanently excluded 
from primary school. 
The proportion of children in receipt of special educational needs support achieving 
the expected standard aged 11 is higher than last year.  This has previously been 
identified as an area for improvement in Leicestershire.  

36

132



Education Inclusion – we have appointed a new Inclusion Manager to bring 
together all our education inclusion functions and develop capacity to support 
inclusion in mainstream schools. The Pupil Services Team, who lead work with 
children missing education, electively home educated and pupils with medical needs 
moved into the Inclusion Service in September 2018, providing greater opportunity to 
develop our support for these children. The Pupil Services team has been working to 
support children who are not able to attend school due to their medical needs. These 
numbers have increased significantly over the last few years and last year we 
provided education to around 300 students. Our numbers of pupils who are electively 
home educated has been rising and is now around 500. 

Information, Advice and Guidance - information advice and guidance services 
moved into the council recently from the careers agency Prospects and are now part 
of our new Inclusion Service. The team provide support to vulnerable young people 
who are at risk of, or not in, education employment and training. 

School Place Planning – our 2017/18 capital programme delivered an additional 
1101 school places, including the new Birkett House Special School, a new Hallam 
Fields Primary school in Birstall, additional places for children with autism and capital 
for the expansion of early years providers.  In April 2018 it was revealed that 9 out of 
10 children across Leicestershire had secured a place at their first-choice primary 
school for the autumn. A total of 92.8% of children were offered their preferred 
option, 4.4% their second choice and 0.8% their third.  This represents an 
improvement of 1.5% on last year, with 98% of the 7,300 applications received 
gaining a place at one of their top three choices. In January we invited expressions 
of interest from Academy Proposers to operate a new 420 place primary school to 
serve the new Lubbesthorpe development, and expect selection of our new preferred 
Academy Trust to be confirmed shortly by the Regional Schools Commissioner.  

School Fire Safety – in February we reported that a new policy on fire safety in 
Leicestershire schools was being drawn up in light of national recommendations 
following the Grenfell Tower tragedy. The blueprint will reflect changes to legislation 
being considered and spell out when sprinklers should be fitted.  Since July 2017 we 
have contacted all 281 county schools, including academies, to make sure their fire 
risk assessments abide by current fire regulations.  

37

133



Keeping People Safe  

Our aim is that people in Leicestershire are safe and protected from harm. In 
particular that people at most risk or in crisis are protected and supported to keep 
safe and that people are safe in their daily lives. In July we agreed a new Children 
and Families Partnership Plan to 2021 setting out our shared vision with partners for 
children and families and our priority outcomes. Delivery is underway against the 
priority action plans.  

Safeguarding 

We continue to work in close partnership with the local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board to implement strong interagency arrangements for the protection of children 
from harm and provide a range of support services for children in need.   

Safeguarding Children – in June we refreshed our plans for safeguarding children.  
Our aims are transitioning to new effective multi-agency safeguarding children 
arrangements, recognising and responding to the impact of multiple risk factors in 
families, robust pathways for children to access services, that children at risk of 
exploitation are effectively safeguarded and improved safeguarding of children with 
SEN D.   We have had more contacts to children’s services this year than previous 
years, though referrals into social care and the number of child protection plans have 
reduced.   More referrals are repeat referrals and more child protection plans were 
for children who have previously been on a plan.  

During the year we have worked with young people to set up a young person’s 
advisory group to support the work of the Board, conducted a series of formal audits 
of safeguarding arrangements including case audits of front line practice, serious 
case reviews and dissemination of learning, reviewed safeguarding procedures, and 
provided training on topics relevant to safeguarding.  In relation to the trilogy of risk - 
domestic abuse, substance misuse and mental health issues - we have developed 
materials for agencies to communicate messages and improve practice. We have 
also carried out work on the emotional health needs of parents and children and 
safeguarding.      

First Response – our First Response Children’s Duty team operates 24 hours a day 
and is the front door to accessing children services. The team deals with around 
25,000 calls and 30,000 emails a year and includes urgent responses to those at 
imminent risk and an early response to stop concerns escalating.   We have 
reviewed and revised the service delivery model for First Response, strengthening 
the front door into children’s services. We are also part of the Signs of Safety 
Innovation Project.     

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) - the work of our multi-agency CSE Hub has been 
recognised and praised by OFSTED. As a result of the robust joint response with the 
police and other partners we have seen the identification of young people at risk 
increasing and also supported children through successful convictions of 
perpetrators and individual work with victims to move forward positively. The Hub 
has also taken a lead on identifying and supporting young people who go missing 
and overseeing the completion of return interviews, undertaken independently by 

38

134



staff within our Listening and Support Service. We have seen reductions in the 
numbers of children and young people reported missing and more return interviews 
carried out, alongside better planning and support to young people who go missing 
and place themselves at risk. ‘Chelsea’s Choice’ theatrical CSE education was also 
rolled out to secondary school children. CSE outreach workers and faith and 
community champions have worked to engage and raise awareness regarding CSE 
with third sector bodies.      

Cyber Safety - the safeguarding partnership has rolled out the ‘In the Net’ resource 
to raise awareness of CSE and online safety with primary age children. This was 
seen by 5,500 primary school children across 73 schools.  

Improving Children’s Services – our last Ofsted inspection in late 2016 found that 
children’s services ‘required improvement’ overall, with half of all councils inspected 
having this rating. We initially invested an extra half-a–million pounds to recruit social 
workers to reduce caseloads and drive quality across our work.  In addition an extra 
£2.5m investment in children’s services is allowing us to create new posts including 
social workers and a children’s rights officer.  The recruitment drive aims to attract 37 
staff to support children. In June 2018 there was a progress report on our 
improvement plan setting out a variety of improvements made so far and better 
outcomes as a result. The Ofsted Annual Conversation in February 2018 and 
resulting feedback letter recognised the progress that has been made to date.   

Safeguarding Adults – during the year the Safeguarding Adults Board has 
conducted a series of audits including a Safeguarding Adults Audit Framework, case 
reviews of frontline practice regarding safeguarding and domestic abuse, and 
reviewed and disseminated learning from safeguarding adults reviews. The Board 
has also supported use of the Vulnerable Adults Risk Management tool to support 
consistent responses to vulnerable adults who do not meet thresholds for access to 
safeguarding services. There has been an increase in the number of people whose 
desired outcomes have been met through safeguarding enquiries.         

We have reviewed the MARAC process with the police and agreed a social care post 
within the planned MARAC Hub to provide advice, guidance and support. The post 
will help ensure that there is an effective multi-agency approach to manage high risk 
domestic abuse cases. There has been a major refresh of our safeguarding training 
programme and we have also revised our Safeguarding Adults team to more quickly 
identify if safeguarding thresholds are not being met and provide alternative 
signposting and referrals to manage any risk.  Safeguarding data indicates that 
safeguarding enquiries in care homes have dropped from 61.6% to 38.9% reflecting 
work with providers to reduce risk.           

In June 2018 we agreed a new plan for safeguarding adults. Priorities include 
prevention of safeguarding need, improving understanding of capacity to consent 
and the Mental Capacity Act across agencies, more consistent use of adult 
safeguarding thresholds, and ensuring work is informed by adults with care and 
support needs.   There were 1500 safeguarding enquiries investigated in 
Leicestershire in 2017/18, a 15% increase on the previous year. 55% were located in 
the community with the remainder in care homes.  

39

135



Our new front door Safeguarding Team is now operational allowing additional 
information gathering to provide effective application of thresholds, resulting in fewer 
safeguarding enquiries requiring transfer to locality teams. Our Safeguarding 
Effectiveness Group continues to oversee overall effectiveness. In relation to 
‘making safeguarding personal’ the desired outcome was achieved or partially 
achieved in 95% of enquiries. The focus of our Safeguarding Adults Team ensures a 
consistent and timely approach to applying safeguarding thresholds and in 
identifying and addressing immediate risk. We are working with partners to establish 
a post to manage high risk domestic abuse cases on a daily basis and early 
identification of which cases also meet safeguarding thresholds. We have also 
delivered the new safeguarding training to 400 front line staff. Feedback from staff 
has been positive.    

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards – we continue to invest significantly in Best 
Interest Assessor (BIA) staffing to cope with increased referral rates and those that 
require renewals, and we commission external support to help people waiting 
assessment.  In spring 2018 we began procuring BIAs, mental health assessors and 
paid persons representative to increase capacity to impact on waiting lists.  

 

Keeping Children Safe and Cared For 

Our aim is that all children are living in stable environments and have secure 
attachments and that families are self-sufficient and able to cope. Like other local 
authorities we have seen the number of children in care increase significantly over 
the last few years. Leicestershire currently has 552 young people in care. 

Child Placements - to support our children in care who experience the most 
challenges we have worked hard to improve placement stability, leading to a 
significant improvement - this year 8% of placements were disrupted compared to 
15% last year, exceeding regional comparators. One reason has been the 
establishment of the Dedicated Placement Support Team, who wrap around a young 
person and carers to provide intensive support to help stabilise placements and work 
towards positive outcomes for the young person. Over the last 12 months the team 
have supported young people to remain in placement, to move successfully from 
residential to a family type placement, and for others to return home to family or to 
live independently. In July we agreed the development of a new Children’s 
Innovation Partnership for children’s care services. The Partnership will explore 
teaming up with a non-profit group or charity to help design and deliver support to 
families in care or on the edge of care. Similar initiatives are working well elsewhere. 

Fostering - we have plans to ensure that Leicestershire’s children in care remain 
locally in the county and also save £3m by recruiting more in-house foster carers 
rather than expensive private agencies. We have been working hard to increase the 
number of foster carers, recruiting carers for specific groups, for example parent and 
baby placements, and importantly to retain carers once they foster. In February we 
launched our revised website “We are Family”, alongside recruitment and retention 
activity that has seen use of social media, our children in care making a film and 
being part of foster carers training and our improved offer to carers. We also have 
run a variety of events to encourage individuals to become foster parents. The 

40

136



evenings provide prospective foster parents with an opportunity to meet and talk to 
carers, as well as the council's fostering team. In July 2018 we agreed proposals to 
increase the fees paid to foster carers together with a package of support and training. 
The proposals see first time foster carers and those at the lower end of the payment 
scale receive up to £40 per week more. The changes are part of a longer term 
strategy to strengthen the support given to children and young people in care, and 
improve training for existing carers.  

Adoption – adoption can transform lives; both for our adopters and for the children 
in our care who need loving, permanent families’. In October 2017 we launched a 
drive to encourage more people to become adopters. We had 34 children in our care 
that needed adopters. These included babies, pre-school children, older children and 
children with disabilities or health issues. We aim to recruit 70 adopters to help meet 
the need and held regular ‘find out about adoption’ events. Our service managers 
have worked hard to review all cases and ensure that appropriate plans are in place 
for children. The Child Decision Making Panel and Permanence Panel are now well 
established and we are seeing evidence of timely decision making and planning for 
children. It takes us on average 517 days from entering care to adoption, less than 
the average of 549 days. The Permanence Thematic Audit also this year evidenced 
improved practice in this area. We are also working on a model to strengthen 
Fieldwork Teams.   

Care Leavers - the Leaving Care Team is established and has been working hard 
with partners to develop our Offer for Care Leavers’. Good work has been 
undertaken with partners and all Care Leavers will now be exempt from Council Tax 
in the early years in independence. The multiagency high needs panel is now well 
embedded and can evidence shared responsibility, actions, and improved outcomes 
for the most vulnerable Care Leavers. In addition, key performance areas such as in 
touch, suitable accommodation and employment, education and training remains 
consistently good or an improving picture. The percentage of care leavers in 
education, employment or training has improved to 50.7% placing us in the second 
quartile for performance. 88% of care leavers were in suitable accommodation, also 
second quartile performance.   

Looked After Children Outcomes – our Virtual School have worked to get 
agreement across the council to establish a number of apprenticeship posts for 
Children in Care. Dental checks have improved from 74% to 86% and health checks 
from 75% to 78.8%. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire completion has 
increased from 45% to 78.6%.     

Children in Care Attainment - the Virtual School has robust procedures in place to 
monitor and track the progress of children looked after by the Council. Daily 
attendance and exclusion returns and termly attainment data ensure timely 
interventions to address emerging issues. Instability, high levels of complex needs 
and length of time in and point of entry into care remain key factors influencing 
education and attainment at Key Stage 4, as do high numbers of pupils with SEND 
and the relatively small numbers in the cohort. Regular meetings ensure that focus is 
maintained on pupils’ individual needs so that appropriate support is implemented to 
facilitate optimum progress, this may be pastoral and academic support in school 
which is often funded by Pupil Premium Plus. 

41

137



Support for Vulnerable Children 

We have developed a new SEND Strategy to 2020 setting out our vision and 
priorities for developing support and provision for children and young people with 
SEND. The Strategy is overseen by a Strategic SEND Board. Priorities include 
supporting schools to develop their provision and developing local specialist services 
to ensure sufficient places across a variety of needs.    

SEN D Local Offer  and Advice – our local offer brings together details about local 
health, education and social care services in one place for children and young 
people aged 0-25. This one stop shop provides a valuable resource and experiences 
of services and facilities can also be submitted via the site. We have also rolled out 
our Local Offer Roadshow to support parents, carers and many professionals.  Our 
SENDIASS service also continues to provide free, impartial and confidential advice 
and support on all matters relating to SEND including education, health and social 
care issues. Its aim is to empower parents, carers and children to voice their 
thoughts about the support they need in place.      

Early Help SEN D - early this year we launched our Early Help SEND offer through 
the development of our SEND Early Help Service. The service supports and 
manages referrals for a specialist summer play scheme and has successfully 
supported 112 families to access the scheme. The team have also supported 225 
families of children with SEN and early feedback from these families is positive. 

EHC Plan Assessments - over the last year we have supported over 3600 children 
with Education Health and Care (EHC) plans. This is a significant increase in 
numbers compared to last year.  We have been congratulated by the Parliamentary 
Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families on converting all of our 
statements to Education Health and Care Plans. 

SEN D Family Support Team – our new SEN D Family Support team has been 
established to support parents and carers of children and young people aged 0-19 
who have a disability.  SEND Family Support and Assessment Workers help with 
information and advice, applying for early help short breaks and specialist summer 
play schemes and parenting support including managing family routines and 
boundaries.   

Specialist Teaching Service – we have reviewed our Specialist Teaching Services 
and brought them together into a single service including the Autism and Learning 
Support Team, Hearing Support Team and Vision Support Team. The Specialist 
Teaching Service has supported children with SEN over the last academic year to 
successful engage with education and to reach their outcomes. 

Disabled Children’s Service - the Disabled Children’s Service work with around 
500 cases covering support through direct payments, short breaks, Children in Need 
Plans and support to children subject to Child Protection Plans and children in our 
care. The service has worked to develop a new Pathway to Adulthood that sets out 
how we will support children in their transition to adulthood.  

42

138



Anti-Bullying – in November 2017 school children across Leicestershire were   
asked to don odd socks as part of a campaign to raise awareness around bullying. 
The ‘Odd Socks Day’ marked the beginning of Anti-Bullying Week, supported by the 
Council. A key aim of the campaign was to empower children and young people to 
celebrate what make them unique. During the week schools undertook awareness 
raising activities, while our anti-bullying team delivered governor and workforce 
training about homophobic, bi-phobic and transphobic bullying. In July 2018 more 
than 20 schools in Leicestershire were recognised for their commitment to tackling 
bullying through a Beyond Bullying Award.   

 

Supporting Families and Early Help   

We seek to intervene early and provide a range of early help and preventative 
services to support children and families and ensure that problems don’t escalate. 
Doing this helps save the costs of more expensive interventions for a range of 
agencies.   

Family Information Service and Directory – our Family Information Service aims 
to provide information advice and guidance to all families and families to be. Our 
Family Information Directory provides information on many useful organisations and 
activities such as childcare, children and young peoples’ activities, support groups, 
providers offering advice, support services across education, health and care and 
the SEND local offer.   

New Family Wellbeing Service – we agreed to redesign various elements of our 
Early Help Services into an integrated Family and Wellbeing Service for 0-19 year 
olds. We are bringing together Children’s Centres, Supporting Leicestershire 
Families (SLF), the Youth Offending Service (YOS) and Information, Support and 
Assessment teams into the new service. These four services work with children and 
families to tackle problems before they get serious. The new service will support 
vulnerable children and their families, be run from 21 hubs and centres across the 
county and reduce costs by £1.5m removing duplication across services. Helping the 
most vulnerable families is key, and the new service will ensure they receive 
specialist, tailored support. Bringing together services will help us tackle problems at 
an early stage more effectively, but does mean fewer people will receive support. In 
July, following consultation, we agreed to invest an extra £2m to ensure more 
children’s centres could be kept open under the proposals than originally envisaged. 

Children’s Centres - our Children’s Centre Programme continues to focus on 
supporting families needing extra help, especially in the first 1001 days from 
pregnancy until the child’s second birthday.    

Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF) - SLF helps people tackle a range of 
issues including drugs, truancy, unemployment, domestic violence, health problems 
and anti-social behaviour. It is on course to support 3,300 families by 2020 - last year 
it helped 70% of the families it supported to make positive progress and is in the top 
5% of councils nationally. 

43

139



Early Help Evaluation - we have evaluated our Early Help Services and found that 
they are effective, highly valued and innovative. The multi-agency key worker 
approach is working well and the services are valued by families and partners. The 
study found that staff have high levels of confidence in effecting change with  93%  
of workers believing they can affect change in complex families, all or most of the 
time. Families make significant progress and the majority of families sustain 
changes, 67% aren’t re-referred. The study also found that the impact on social care 
referrals is significant, 68% of families had involvement prior to early help support 
which drops to 33% after the case is closed.  

 

Safer Communities 

We place high priority on keeping Leicestershire communities safe by helping 
minimise crime and anti-social behaviour, reducing youth offending, supporting 
victims of crime, and providing consumer protection services.     

Community Safety and Crime Minimisation - Leicestershire has seen a rise in 
total crime of 17% to 60 crimes per 1000 population, though this is lower than the 
England average of 84 crimes per 1000 population. Violence against the person has 
increased by 39% over the last year, with violence with injury increasing by 24%.  
Although there has been a large increase, violent crime rates are substantially lower 
than national rates. There were 5 violence with injury offences per thousand 
population compared to 9 nationally. Leicestershire has the second lowest rate 
compared to its comparable neighbours.  

The latest Statistical bulletin: Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2018 
suggests that recording improvements have had a big impact on police recorded 
violence. Ongoing work by police forces over the last three years to improve crime-
recording practices has driven an increase in recorded violence against the person 
offences. Anecdotal evidence suggests that the improvements have had a larger 
effect on relatively less-harmful types of violent crime but less impact on more 
harmful sub-categories, such as homicide and violent offences involving weapons.  

Police recorded crime data and NHS data give more insight into the lower-volume 
but higher-harm violence.  These indicate a continued rise in the number of offences 
involving knives or sharp instruments, with police recording 16% more offences this 
year compared with last year; provisional NHS data show a small proportion of these 
offences result in an admission to hospital with admissions for assaults involving a 
sharp instrument increasing by 14% for England in the last year. Published figures 
for Leicestershire police force (LLR) show 725 offences involving a knife or sharp 
instrument. This is an increase of 46% on the previous year substantially higher than 
the English increase. There has been a 14% increase in police recorded vehicle 
offences in Leicestershire which mirrors the national picture which saw a 12% 
increase.  This category of crime is thought to be well-reported by the public and 
relatively well-recorded by the police. There was a 3.6% rise in total burglary figures 
in 2017/18. Nationally burglary offences increased by 6%.   

44

140



Youth Offending – first time entrants to the criminal justice system aged 10-17 was 
104 last year, down from 126 the year before. The rate of re-offending per young 
offender was 0.71 for 2017/18 also an improvement on the 2016/17 figure of 0.91.    

Kick Start Your Life (KSYL) - the KSYL is an innovative programme using sport as 
a mechanism to engage with young people who pose the greatest risk of offending 
or causing harm. KSYL delivers a bespoke programme for the young person based 
around the sporting activity that they want to do. The project supported 36 young 
people in 2017/18 and is being expanded to cover arts provision as well as sporting 
activity.    

IMPACT Project – the IMPACT project continues to work with young people 
involved in Anti-Social Behaviour. The IMPACT team carries out street based work 
with young people in areas where ASB has been identified as a problem. The teams 
undertake work in relation to drugs, knives, sexual health, risks of exploitation on line 
and on the street. YOS has also over the last 12 months been working with the 
Police and other partners to develop a response to knife crime. A knife crime 
awareness programme has been developed and is being delivered in schools. Multi-
agency work has also progressed to seek to tackle ‘county-lines’ drug dealing 
activities.       

Safer Summer Campaign – in June 2018 we launched a campaign to keep people 
safe during the summer months. In partnership with the district councils and 
Leicestershire Police, the ‘Safer Summer’ Respect/Tolerate campaign focused on 
antisocial and nuisance behaviour. As part of their wider campaign, the police also 
focused on three other crime areas that normally peak during the summer months - 
online safety, burglary and personal safety. 

Hate Incidents and Crime – in October 2017 the Council and partners across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, raised awareness about how victims and 
witnesses can report hate incidents and crimes, as part of National Hate Crime 
Awareness Week.  New videos outlined the importance and benefits of reporting. 
They make it clear how and where reports can be made and what action and help is 
available including support from specialist services such as Victim First. As well as 
releasing new videos the council hosted a number of events throughout October.   

We co-ordinated and hosted a workshop in February bringing together LLR partners 
and a number of voluntary and community based organisations. A task and finish 
group has drawn up a new LLR Hate Action Plan for 2018-21 and Hate 
Communications Strategy.  LLR community safety leads and the police lead for 
young people have been working together to ensure consistency in awareness 
material taken into schools and we have joined up our approach on the Diversity 
Workshops that are taken into primary schools.  

Domestic Abuse - in November 2017 the Council and partners across LLR raised 
awareness of locally commissioned specialist domestic abuse and sexual violence 
services, using innovative campaign materials and activities which targeted BME 
communities, women aged 45+ and parents/carers with children.  The campaign also 
developed materials which targeted council premises and workers. In June 2018, the 
council held a stakeholder workshop to consult with partners and share learning 
about the Complex Needs Refuge Project, which ran throughout 2017-18 and was 

45

141



funded by a successful bid to the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government  

Prevent – our Leicestershire Corporate Prevent Group delivers our responsibilities 
for stopping people becoming or supporting terrorism, in support of the 
Government’s national Prevent Strategy.  The group leads work on Prevent and 
associated counter terrorism under the new national counter-terrorism strategy 
Contest 3. During 2017/18 a number of schools across the county requested and 
received an overview on WRAP for their Governors. These requests have come 
forward following an Ofsted inspection within the school. In partnership with 
Leicester City Council and the OPCC we have coordinated an Integrated Prevent 
Project for Key Stage 3 which has been offered to selected schools. The offer 
includes the Going to Extremes production from Alter Ego, Safe Space which is a 
peer leadership/training programme for young people and ParentZone which is an 
organisation that works with professionals, young people and parents to raise 
awareness of online safety.  

Celebrate Safely – in November 2017 two groups of children were crowned winners 
of the Celebrate Safely competition. The youngsters created ideas on how to 
celebrate safely as part of a campaign and received awards at a special event at the 
Warning Zone in Leicester. The Celebrate Safely campaign involved a range of 
partner agencies in Leicestershire.     

Ask for Angela Safety Scheme – in February a campaign was launched which 
supports people feeling uneasy on a date in pubs and clubs to discreetly approach 
staff and request assistance. Available at participating venues the ‘Ask for Angela’ 
initiative is a simple yet effective scheme designed to provide support and 
reassurance for members of the public if they are feeling vulnerable.   

Consumer Protection 

Our Trading Standards Service continues to play a key role in ensuring a good level 
of consumer protection, fair business trading environment and safe consumer goods.  

Intelligence Led Enforcement – the Trading Standards Service adopts an 
intelligence led approach in supporting local businesses by identifying and 
proactively engaging with businesses that produce or supply high risk products. 
Complaints levels are also monitored to ensure that the Trading Standards Service 
can intervene as early as possible to reduce the risk of non-compliance. Surveys 
indicate an overall business satisfaction rate of 88% in regard to the support 
provided by the service.     

Safer Consumer Goods – working under the auspices of the National Trading 
Standards Ports and Borders Project and in collaboration with UK Border Force, 
Trading Standards Officers prevented over 180,000 unsafe or non-compliant 
products from entering the UK, via East Midlands Airport (EMA). Whilst undertaking 
these checks officers also identified counterfeit goods and in June 2018 more than 
£240,000 of fake football kits, brought to market in preparation for the FIFA World 
Cup, were seized at EMA. The seizure of these consignments prevented sales to 
unsuspecting consumers and contributed to protecting the investment of those 

46

142



legitimate businesses that were lawfully engaged in the supply of the genuine 
merchandise.     

Counterfeit Tobacco – in August 2018 we announced that over 7,000 counterfeit 
and illicit tobacco products had been seized so far by our trading standard’s team 
and police aided by a team of sniffer dogs.  The haul of cigarettes and hand-rolling 
tobacco was seized from retail and residential premises across the county. The 
selling of illegal tobacco not only threatens the health of communities it also 
damages the local economy.     

Money Scams – fraudsters scammed nearly 49,000 older people across the UK in 
the past year, equivalent to almost six reports every hour according to a recent BBC 
investigation. The total number of reports has nearly doubled in the past three years. 
In June 2018 the Council was recognised as a Friends Against Scams organisation 
in a bid to encourage more people to spread the word and to take a stand against 
scams. Last year our Trading Standards Team provided support to more than 200 
victims of postal, telephone and doorstep scams. The successful interventions 
prevented the victims incurring further losses. As part of the scheme council 
employees are being trained about different types of scams and how to spot and 
support a victim.  In August Trading Standards officers hosted a series of roadshows 
across Leicestershire to promote scam awareness and encourage residents to 
become a friend against scams.  Our adult social care service is also establishing 
officer posts in the Trading Standards Team to ensure work around financial fraud 
and scams continues on a long term basis.   

47

143



Great Communities 

We want Leicestershire communities to be thriving and integrated places where 
people help and support each other and take pride in their local area.  Our priority 
outcome reflects the importance of good quality, thriving communities. We want 
communities that embrace diversity with a strong sense of place, celebrating culture 
and heritage.  

New Communities Strategy – in December 2017 we set out our continued 
commitment to work together with communities to make a difference to peoples’ lives 
through publishing a refreshed Communities Strategy. Since our first Communities 
Strategy was adopted in 2014 significant progress has been made. Thirty local 
libraries are now being run by community groups and volunteers, and 300 projects 
have been funded through our SHIRE Grants scheme. The refreshed strategy 
provides direction for the next five years, with the ambition being that communities 
can thrive, take pride in their local area and are able to help themselves. We ran 
events and workshops and asked for feedback about the plan via social media. 
Residents felt that ‘community spirit’ and a sense of neighbourliness was key, and 
that they needed to easily access information, guidance and advice from public and 
voluntary sector organisations. 

SHIRE Community Grants – the SHIRE Community Grants programme makes 
grants of up to £10,000 available for projects that improve the lives of vulnerable and 
disadvantaged people in the county. In 2017/18, the Council awarded a total of 
£420,188 in SHIRE Grants to 105 different projects. Examples of projects awarded 
funding include £5,000 to Mosaic as a contribution to a new, fully accessible 
narrowboat, which will enable people with disabilities and limited motor skills to steer 
the boat, £7,800 for the Zinthiya Trust to deliver a successful money management, 
debt and energy advice service to disadvantaged communities in Coalville and  
£8,232 to Fusion Lifestyle, for physical activity sessions to support people with 
mental health issues in Loughborough, which will lead to more peer mentors.    

Community Capacity Building –   a range of community capacity building initiatives 
have progressed including funding for the development of a good neighbour scheme 
facilitated by the Rural Community Council, contracting with VAL to support 
communities to develop new initiatives that bring people together and develop 
resilience and resourcefulness and providing a Local Area Co-ordination service to 
support people to access community resources and build capacity.    

Social Enterprises – the Cooperative and Social Enterprise Development Agency 
(CASE) provide a social enterprise support service across Leicestershire. In 2017-18 
CASE supported over 30 social enterprises to trade more effectively and generate 
greater income. 

Countywide Voluntary Sector Infrastructure Services - support for the voluntary 
and community sector in Leicestershire is provided by an infrastructure service 
contract held by Voluntary Action Leicestershire. The service supports the shared 
objectives of the Council and CCGs, specifically around managing demand through 
early, community level intervention and prevention, increasing community resilience 
and more effective delivery of services by community groups.    

48

144



Volunteering – we continue to encourage and support people to volunteer, to help 
their communities, meet new people and learn new skills. We have supported 
Volunteer 4 Good which aims to get people aged 50+ more involved with local 
environmental projects. One of our officers who has worked with hundreds of 
volunteers and supported them to develop long-term opportunities has been 
honoured with a national award.  Nicola Seika was named volunteer manager of the 
year at the Heritage Volunteering Conference in April.  The award, which celebrates 
outstanding examples of volunteer leadership, innovation and collaboration, was 
handed out by the Heritage Volunteering Group, who reviewed entries from 
volunteering projects across the country. Our volunteering officer for heritage 
supported more than 500 volunteers of all ages and has been a pioneer in 
developing new opportunities for people with hidden disabilities.  

Parish and Town Councils - the Council in partnership with Leicestershire and  
Rutland Association of Parish and Local Councils organised a series of events with 
regard to supporting parishes to provide a range of services and activities This 
included referencing the role of Parish and Town Councils as community leaders and 
the potential for community managed services and activities. The events explored 
the challenges and opportunities local councils face, as well as the role of the County 
Council in supporting, strengthening and enabling Town and Parish councils.  

Neighbourhood Planning  - Neighbourhood Plans are unlike other formal planning 
policy documents in that they are designed to be prepared by communities.   
Neighbourhood Plans vary in content and detail and are able to cover a range of 
planning issues or focus on a single topic of importance to the community.   These 
planning policies are then used to assess planning applications. A total of 12 new 
groups were formed to develop a neighbourhood plan during 2017-18 and 8 of these 
went on to become designated groups with the authorisation to formally develop a 
neighbourhood plan. An additional 6 groups which were formed previously were also 
designated.  The County Council responded to 23 consultations on draft plans and a 
total of 10 plans were fully adopted and are now being used to help guide new 
development. 

Carillion Radio/Hermitage FM – we have worked closely with partners on the 
expansion of community radio services for Coalville and surrounding communities. 
Carillion Wellbeing Radio plays an important role in supporting communities to 
improve their wellbeing and health. The award by OFCOM of an area-wide 
broadcasting licence to the station, one of only five community stations awarded 
such a licence in that round, was fantastic news. The Council’s Communities Team 
has been helping the station to make connections with key partners, for example the 
CCGs, GPs and others in the health sector, and to access funding.      
 

Equalities Challenge Group - Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group (LECG) is 
a partnership of organisations and individuals across Leicestershire who have a 
strong commitment to the equalities agenda. The key purpose of LECG is to support 
the Council to comply with its Public Sector Equality Duty and enhance 
understanding of how Leicestershire communities of interest perceive the impact of 
service development and changes. The group’s members have been involved in a 
wide range of service reviews including the Countywide Accessible Policy Review, 

49

145



Whole Life Disability Strategy, Home to School Transport Policy and Carers 
Strategy.  

Holocaust Memorial Day – in January 2018 the Council hosted an event to mark 
Holocaust Memorial Day. This is an international day of remembrance for victims of 
the Holocaust and all other genocides. Holocaust Memorial Day enables us all to 
remember and honour those who have suffered and continue to suffer from crimes 
against humanity. It's an opportunity to learn, respect and stand united against 
divisive elements so that all citizens can enjoy the dignity and freedoms of a tolerant 
and diverse society. The Memorial Day also remembers the tragic loss of life as a 
result of subsequent genocides in Cambodia, Bosnia, Rwanda, Darfur and other 
locations. 

Leicestershire Inter Faith Forum – the annual conference of the Inter Faith Forum 
for representatives of local faith groups held in December 2017 included 
presentations on the political, cultural and social issues affecting relationships within 
and between faith communities and the wider society and on how local faith groups 
can contribute  to a wide range of emergency response scenarios. 

Staff Fundraising – in December 2017 it was reported that staff at County Hall 
raised more than £4,000 for charity.  County Council staff held a cake sale and ran a 
tombola and bonanza raffle with 72 prizes for the annual Poppy Appeal, raising a 
huge £4,057 – £580 more than the previous year. The funds went to the Royal 
British Legion which is using the money to support the armed forces community 
through hardships, injury and bereavement. The staff organised putting the collection 
tins out, baked cakes at home in their own time, donated gifts and ran activities.  

Emergency Management – our aim is that Leicestershire communities are resilient 
to emergencies. In October 2017 a series of free virtual events were held to 
encourage people to prepare for a crisis. The events allowed people to put questions 
to emergency planning experts. 30 minute sessions tackled topics ranging from 
preparing your family home to protecting your business from cyber-crime. This was 
part of a week-long campaign run by LLR Prepared, the local forum which brings 
together police, fire, councils and other agencies across Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland to protect residents and businesses in an emergency. 

50

146



Great Communities – Libraries, Heritage and Culture 

Our aim is that our cultural and historical heritage and the natural environment are 
enjoyed and conserved.  

Smart Libraries Roll Out – in April 2018 we announced that self-access technology 
was to be rolled out across our libraries. Up to 14 will be converted to ‘Smart 
Libraries’ to extend the opening hours by up to 30 hours per week per library, 
meaning that people who are members of the library service will be able to enter the 
library and use the facilities using their library card when there are no staff on site. 
Having self-access technology in libraries across Leicestershire will give residents 
more choice of when they are able to visit the libraries, catering for a much wider 
audience. 

Community Managed Libraries – in July 2018 we noted and congratulated 
Community Managed Library groups on their achievements in developing local 
libraries into thriving community hubs.  31 libraries have transferred to community 
management with a further 4 in the process of transferring. We also noted the 
continued support to help groups to run their libraries and agreed a process to be 
followed should any group be unable to continue to provide a library service.     
 
National Library Week – in October 2017 families across Leicestershire were urged 
to visit their local library as part of a week-long  showcase of what the library service 
has to offer, and gave people the chance to celebrate the creative, innovative and 
diverse activities that take place across the county. Most people know that they can 
borrow books from the library, however, the week was also a chance to discover 
something new and find out about the wealth of events, activities and services on 
offer in Leicestershire libraries.  A programme of events and activities throughout the 
week highlighted the services available including free digital library services, health 
and wellbeing support, family events and learning activities. A Wriggly Readers Story 
and Rhyme time session was streamed live from Wigston Library on Leicestershire 
Libraries’ Facebook page to celebrate Libraries Week and is the first time a County 
Council event has been live streamed on social media. The Facebook post reached 
over 1000 people and attracted positive feedback from members of the public.  

Summer Reading Challenge – in July 2018 we launched our summer reading 
challenge with nearly 10,000 children starting the scheme. The Mischief Makers 
themed event encouraged children to collect rewards as they complete the challenge 
with medals and certificates collected when they finish reading or listening to six 
library books during the summer holidays.    

Libraries Supporting Children’s Digital Skills - libraries across the county 
continue to host Code Clubs to help children aged 9-13 learn how to code with the 
support of library staff and volunteers. Libraries have invested in new technology to 
enhance digital learning events, including digital stop motion animation and green 
screen technology. In February 2018 Loughborough Library held ‘TechTastic’ - a 
digital festival to showcase a range of technologies including: 3D printing, coding, 
circuit building and virtual reality. Regional organisations took part in the event 
including Charnwood Arts, Cuttlefish Media, Interact Labs, Phoenix and 
Loughborough University Arts. The successful event was attended by over 150 

51

147



school children and members of the public and marked the launch of a new micro;bit 
lending scheme which allows library members to borrow the handheld programmable 
computers free from four libraries across the county. 

Message in a Bottle Scheme – in August 2018 two schemes to ensure that elderly 
and vulnerable people are safe in a medical emergency were promoted in libraries 
across the county. The Message in a Bottle scheme encourages people to keep their 
personal and medical details on a standard form in a bottle in the fridge. The Herbert 
Protocol encourages people to put together useful information on a separate form, in 
the event of a vulnerable person going missing. Paramedics, police, firefighters and 
social services can then quickly locate the details and ensure people are treated 
quickly, which can save lives.             

New Heritage Hub – in June 2018 we unveiled exciting plans for a new heritage 
hub, bringing together unique artefacts telling Leicestershire’s story. The centre 
would house over one million fascinating museum artefacts, archives and specialist 
resources for schools, currently stored at the Records Office and five sites around 
the county. It’s proposed to locate it at County Hall in Glenfield, making it easier for 
people to access the historic documents and collections reflecting fashion and 
design, art, natural history, home and family lives and more. The vast collection 
includes the only surviving letter from Leicester-born Joseph Merrick, known as the 
Elephant Man, unique records documenting the Suffragette movement and the 
internationally important Symington collection of corsetry and swimwear. By housing 
a range of items together in one place in a modern, secure and accessible location 
we aim to make it easier for more people to learn about the area’s rich past.  The 
new hub will bring together the Record Office, local collections, creative learning and 
registration service records.       

Record Office – in November 2017 the County Record Office earned Archive 
Service Accreditation recognising good performance in all areas of archive service 
delivery. Visitors to the Record Office can see fascinating and unique items including 
an account of a 16th century lion attack in Loughborough, and documents from the 
local firm producing kit for Captain Scott’s expedition to the Antarctic. The Archive 
Service Accreditation Panel noted that the Record Office was “adaptive, relevant and 
resilient in an ever-changing environment.” 

Snibston Site and Country Park – in October 2017 we unveiled plans to transform 
the former Snibston Colliery site and country park in Coalville in to a vibrant place to 
live and visit. We’re committed to investment in Coalville and the plans celebrate 
Snibston’s mining history and make the country park more attractive to visitors. 
Bringing in more people is key to the success of the site as additional income from 
the car park and visitor centre will make it sustainable. Plans include creating a 
heritage trail so people can learn more about the former colliery’s historic pithead 
buildings and improving the country park, with a café, visitor centre, picnic tables, 
outdoor play area and mountain bike trail. Proposals for a cycle link into the town 
centre, along a former railway, will be the subject of a later planning application. The 
plans were approved by the District Council planning committee on 9 May.   

52

148



1620s House – in March 2018 the 17th century house near Coalville re-opened to 
the public for the 2018 season. During the opening weekend, costumed members of 
the Sealed Knot Society recreated the sights, sounds and activities of the early 
Jacobean period. Visitors were able to see the wealthy family members and their 
servants going about their business in the house, while, outside in the grounds, there 
was a tented camp full of early 17th century cookery, crafts and games.  The 1620s 
house and garden was honoured at Leicestershire Promotions 2017 Hospitality and 
Tourism awards, where it was highly commended in the Great Days Out (Small 
Attraction) category. There were a number of high quality events which along with 
the Barn tea room helped to attract an increased number of visitors both new and 
repeat. The 2 annual plant fairs at the site were widely publicised and attracted over 
1,000 visitors in total.  

Bosworth Battlefield - the Heritage Centre continued to attract a wide range of 
audiences. It rebranded its annual battle re-enactment event to become Bosworth 
Medieval Festival which enabled the site to widen the activity base of the event 
whilst also attracting a greater number of family audiences. General visitors to the 
site enjoyed the revised exhibition, the guided walks and the catering facilities of the 
Tithe Barn, along with access to the country park. 

Century Theatre - the Century Theatre based in Coalville continued with its 
seasonal programme of shows and activities. With the assistance of Performing Arts 
@ Century Theatre and the group of committed volunteers, the theatre continued to 
attract performers from the Vienna Festival Ballet, tribute bands, Live and Local 
shows, up and coming comedians and local amateur and drama societies. 

Century of Stories - the Century of Stories project will complete its Heritage Lottery 
funded activity after 4 years of exploring the social history around individual and 
shared legacies of World War One. Over 140 events have taken place attracting 
nearly 2,000 participants across the County. The project attracted a number of 
awards including Best Research Project at the Leicestershire and Rutland Heritage 
Awards, and the national heritage volunteering project of the year. 

Green Plaques – our green plaque awards recognise and celebrate people and 
places which have made an important and enduring contribution to the county. In 
November 2017 a former factory in Leicestershire which created popular children’s 
toys such as Action Man, Tiny Tears dolls and Star Wars figures was recognised 
with a plaque. The plaque was installed at the Coalville Business Park where the toy 
factory once stood. In February 2018 a plaque was installed at the former house of 
pioneering Leicestershire inventor William Cotton in Loughborough. William was a 
hosiery manufacturer who developed a powered knitting machine called the Cottons 
Patent, used around the world.  In May a plaque was unveiled for Lady Florence 
Dixie at Bosworth Hall, remembered as an author, traveller and strong supporter of 
the suffragette movement and equality for women. In July 2018 a plaque was 
unveiled for Earl Shilton war hero Tommy Brown who helped to salvage vital 
codebooks from a sinking U-boat, which were used by codebreakers at Bletchley 
Park to break into the Enigma cipher, helping to shorten the war. Also in July voting 
closed on the next round of green plaque nominees and the 6 people chosen for a 
plaque were announced in August 2018.     

53

149



Great Communities - Environment and Waste  

Our aim is to ensure that sustainable management of our natural resources 
continues to protect our environment. We also aim to protect and enhance the 
environment across the county and improve the quality of life of residents. 

New Environment Strategy – in July we approved a new Environment Strategy to 
2030 and associated three-year Action Plan. To date over £21m has been invested 
in significant projects across the county which have direct and indirect environmental 
benefits including the street lighting LED project, installation of solar panels and the 
biomass boiler project. Under the new strategy we aim to minimise our 
environmental impacts and contribute to the improvement of the wider environment 
through local action.  We will also continue to play a significant role in protecting and 
enhancing the environment of Leicestershire, meeting the challenges of climate 
change and seeking to embed environmental sustainability into both social and 
economic development in the county.  

The strategy consists of 15 aims, and high level targets covering climate change, 
waste, water, energy, transportation and environmental performance.  Key aspects 
of the strategy include empowering communities, residents, the public sector and 
businesses to become resilient to climate change alongside the council’s 
commitment to reduce its own impact on the environment.  Targets include a 38% 
reduction in carbon emissions by 2030 (against a 2016/17 baseline), an increase in 
the level of low carbon and renewable energy generated on council land and 
properties to 15% by 2021 and exploring an increase in our fleet of energy efficient 
vehicles and reducing business mileage. As part of the UK100 campaign we have 
pledged to use 100% clean energy by 2050.  

Food Waste Prevention – residents hoping to tackle food waste last year took part 
in our food waste prevention scheme - the community kitchens project. We delivered 
the project in partnership with Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council and 
Sainsbury’s after receiving £20,000 from Sainsbury’s as part of the supermarket’s 
‘Waste less, Save more’ initiative. We used the funds to support the community by 
opening kitchens in Earl Shilton, Barwell and Wykin, and organised a 10-week 
course at each of them, with the aim of getting people thinking about what food they 
throw away at home. The courses, which began in September 2017, enabled 
participants to eat and socialise together, while learning and sharing tips on how to 
reduce food waste and save money. 

Composting - each year Leicestershire residents produce more than 300,000 
tonnes of rubbish and recyclables, some of which is uncooked fruit, vegetables and 
garden waste that could have been composted rather than binned. To help, we offer 
cut-price compost bins to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill. Residents can 
also call on the support of a Master Composter, volunteers who use their own skills 
and enthusiasm to raise awareness of the benefits of home composting. Last year 
67,000 tonnes of green garden waste was collected from residents for composting in 
Leicestershire.    

Recycling - in September 2017 residents were urged to look and feel good as part 
of a campaign to tackle recycling. We teamed up with Recycle Now as part of 
Recycle Week to encourage people to dispose of their bathroom items, such as 

54

150



empty deodorant cans, properly. The campaign focused on the mantra ‘what goes 
around comes around’, due to items such as aerosols being able to be recycled 
again and again without any loss in quality. Despite around 156,000 tonnes of 
collected waste being recycled, composted, or sent for reuse across Leicestershire, 
there are certain items that evade the recycling bin. For National Recycle Week we 
encouraged people to root out the recycling in rooms that are often missed.  

Waste Education - in January 2018 we looked to inspire the next generation of 
recyclers by linking up with theatre company, PALS Productions, to look at ways of 
providing engaging activities to get youngsters thinking about sustainability. The 
company, which incorporates interactive teaching techniques in workshops on 
reducing, reusing and recycling, carried out a five-week tour of primary schools 
across the county.  We also offered free educational waste reduction workshops, 
activities and talks to community groups and schools in Leicestershire who have an 
interest in reducing waste, and living more sustainably. In March 2018 school 
children across Leicestershire were given the chance to inspire recycling across the 
county by creating a work of art. The competition was a great way for youngsters to 
have fun while learning about the difference recycling can make.   

Shire Recycling Grants – we continue to offer recycling grants of up to £3,000 
aimed at community groups and other organisations. The purpose is to support 
activities that enable local residents and communities to reduce, reuse or recycle, 
and can include food waste cafés, clothes swaps, second-hand toy libraries, 
community composting, repair cafés or upcycling events to give old, damaged or 
unwanted items a new lease of life.  

Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) – in September 2017 we surveyed 
customers at each of our 14 household waste sites.  The survey found that 98.9% 
were either fairly or very satisfied with the service at the site overall. Site users were 
particularly complimentary of site cleanliness and the helpfulness of site staff. Our 
programme of small improvements and works to ensure environmental compliance 
at the RHWS and waste transfer stations has also continued, underpinning our 
commitment to providing a high quality service.  We also recycled over 12,000 
tonnes of waste taken to RHWS. This includes many items such as cardboard, scrap 
metal, light bulbs and batteries as well as over 15,000 fridges and freezers and 
around 1,800 tonnes of small electrical items such as toasters, kettles, radios, fairy 
lights etc.  

Fly-Tipping – in May 2018 we launched a countywide campaign to stop fly-tipping. 
The #IfOnly campaign saw councils across the county join forces to warn people 
they face tough action if they are caught fly-tipping. The consequences can range 
from a £400 fixed penalty notice to an unlimited fine, a criminal record or time in 
prison. The campaign focused on the stories of four characters – based on real 
people who have been caught fly-tipping in the past. The examples show that people 
can be caught for all sorts of reasons, from putting a fridge on the pavement to 
dumping bags by a local recycling bank.  Residents can also be fined and 
prosecuted for using a trader who doesn’t have a waste licence and operates door-
to-door. 

Waste Disposal and Treatment – last year we managed the disposal or treatment 
of nearly 186,000 tonnes of waste that could not be recycled. This waste includes 

55

151



black bags collected at the kerbside, trade waste (from shops and businesses), bulky 
waste such as beds and mattresses and small volumes of hazardous chemicals and 
clinical waste. Of the waste for disposal and treatment 67,000 tonnes was used in a 
variety of energy recovery processes which generates electricity and heat which is 
environmentally better than disposal to landfill.      

Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions – in December 2017 we reported that a 
number of energy-saving improvements had seen us reach our greenhouse gas 
emissions target four years ahead of schedule. In 2017/18 as part of our Energy 
Strategy £0.5m has been spent on upgrading lighting, boilers and heating controls 
on County Council premises.  £0.6m was spent on solar PV panels and LED lighting 
as part of the energy score+ programme. Our performance for 2017 saw a decline of 
55% in greenhouse gas emissions from the 2008/9 baseline, significantly exceeding 
our 34% target set for 2020-21.  The most significant decreases were attributed to 
the change of streetlights to LEDs (64%) and reduced gas use in buildings (55%), as 
a result of a biomass boiler being installed at County Hall. Other factors include 
improvements in the efficiency of fleet vehicles, a decrease in electricity and gas 
consumption following a review of our buildings and investment in energy efficiency 
and renewable energy and a reduction in emissions from business mileage.   

Water and Energy Strategy - annual electricity costs for the year to August 2018 
were £1.2 million lower than the previous year. Consumption of electricity and gas 
was reduced by 40% in comparison with the previous year. This was achieved by 
investments in LED lighting upgrades for street lighting and renewable energy 
generation systems.  

100% Clean Energy - in May 2018 we committed to using 100% clean energy by 
2050 by becoming a signatory to the UK100 campaign. Aiming to ensure that energy 
will come from renewable sources such as wind, water and solar power and not from 
fossil fuels. Climate change is an issue globally and we have a responsibility to 
ensure that we do all that we can to tackle the problem. Pledging our support to the 
campaign means we can work with communities and businesses in the county to 
change to a low carbon economy, which will help to secure an environmentally 
sustainable future. We are also supporting the LLEP to develop a Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS) which will set out how the area will promote ‘clean growth’.  Through 
the Local Industrial Strategy and our pledge to UK100 we’ll have the opportunity to 
support the development and expansion of low carbon businesses and make clean 
energy more economical and reliable. 

Green Energy and Solar Farm - in April we unveiled innovative proposals for a 
solar farm and industrial units to generate green energy and almost £1m a year for 
council services. The plan involves creating a renewable energy facility and 14 
workspaces for businesses on land off the A6 north of Quorn. Each year the site 
would produce 10 megawatts of electricity - enough to power around 3,000 homes - 
and generate £940,000 for the council to invest into front line services.  The plan will 
breathe new life into disused farm land. SCORE+ has seen installations of approx. 
£2.2m into local schools and academies of Solar PV, energy efficient LED lighting, 
new boilers for heating the swimming pools and a heat recovery system for the pools 
air handling units.  

56

152



Two boreholes are being installed to provide water for our Highways Gulley Jetting 
Team, this will allow us to make an annual reduction of £8,000 to our water usage 
costs across both sites. We are investigating the installation of a Rain Water 
Harvesting System at County Hall, to further reduce our water usage and 
subsequent costs.  The biomass boiler at County Hall is now alone generating 
£70,000 annually in Renewable Heat Incentive government subsidy in addition to 
reducing costs and emissions of carbon dioxide. The photovoltaic solar panel 
installations across the corporate estate, including County Hall, earned £70k in Feed 
in Tariff payments during 2017/18. We are now undertaking a programme to 
introduce Renewable Energy technologies to our Agricultural Buildings, including 
Solar PV installations to our Local Farms. This will help in meeting the objective to 
achieve a 1% year on year increase in the generation of renewable energy 
generated by the Council.  

Fosse Energy - the Fosse Energy white label energy supply company has been 
launched to staff members. The scheme is delivered in partnership with Leicester 
City Council and Robin Hood Energy and offers competitive energy supply deals for 
Leicestershire residents for their gas and electricity costs. Fosse Energy will be fully 
launched to the public in November 2018. 

Electric Vehicle Charging - electric vehicle charging points were installed at five 
locations: County Hall, Croft and Mountsorrel Highways Depots, Loughborough 
Technology Unit and Coalville Business Unit.  The charging points will be available 
to visitors as well as staff, providing cheap rate charging for electric vehicles, 
including the authority’s own pool cars.  

Climate Change Grants – in October 2017 community groups and organisations 
were encouraged to apply for the latest round of shire climate change grants. Grants 
of up to £5,000 were made available through the scheme run by the Council to 
help groups and organisations to reduce their carbon emissions by improving their 
community buildings. Groups which have already been supported by the grant 
include members of Blaby Methodist Church, who received help with cavity wall 
insulation and new heaters for their building.  

Wildlife - we teamed up with the Woodland Trust to encourage farmers and 
community groups to provide a habitat for wildlife by planting trees across the 
Charnwood, Hinckley and Bosworth and Blaby areas. Applicants applied for a 
MOREhedges pack – which includes a minimum of 100m of new hedgerow, 475 
shrubs and 25 trees and a MOREwoods pack – which consisted of free trees and 
shrubs to plant a woodland. In April we launched a new course for people who want 
to make their gardens a welcome habitat for wildlife. Working with The Conservation 
Volunteers we ran a one-day training event looking at how important gardens are for 
insects and animals. It included advice on how people can make changes in their 
own gardens for local wildlife.  

Ash Dieback – in July we set aside £5m to deal with effects of a disease which 
affects ash trees. The majority of the 500,000 or so ash trees in the county could be 
lost to ash dieback over 5 to 15 years. The council is responsible for around 6,000 
trees on its highways and 2,000 trees on schools and other sites. The ash dieback 
action plan includes an inspection regime, looking at funding streams for replanting 
trees and minimising the impact on the landscape, ecology and the environment.    

57

153



Corporate Enablers – Ensuring a Sustainable and Successful 
Organisation leading modern, highly effective services 

Over recent years we have been dealing with the major funding cuts and pressures 
by transforming service delivery, working with partner agencies to integrate and 
share services, pursuing smarter commissioning and procurement, generating extra 
income through a more commercial focus, more and better digital and online delivery 
and supporting staff to deliver more with less.   

Transformation Programme – in August 2018 we published a report showcasing 
how we are continuing to transform local services in order to deliver significant 
savings whilst seeking to maintain or improve outcomes. The report highlights a new 
approach to road maintenance and the roll out of LED street-lighting plus a number 
of other successes last year. During the year the programme worked with partners to 
make community urgent care services available 24 hours, 7 days per week, brought 
recycling and household waste sites in house, launched a programme to replace key 
human resources and finance systems, rolled out smart libraries and worked with 
partners to launch a new sexual health service making greater use of technology.  
The report shows how much the council is changing and willing to challenge the way 
it works to maintain a modern and sustainable public service.   

However, the scale of the financial and transformation challenge is increasing. The 
simple changes have been made and the straightforward savings long-since 
delivered.  What remains is complex change, often involving multiple partners and 
many risks. Our Transformation Unit is working to assess and deliver initiatives to 
help meet the current significant savings requirements as well as to consider how to 
reduce the savings gap. Further details are in the supporting performance 
compendium.    

Leicestershire Traded Services (LTS) – with reducing grant from the government 
operating commercial services helps to keep more services sustainable. We provide 
more than 200 services to police forces, NHS organisations, local authorities, 
schools and academies. In July we agreed a new Commercial Strategy and work-
plan to 2022. The plan builds on the progress made by Leicestershire Traded 
Services and increases the pace to ensure that traded income makes an increasing 
contribution to our budget. This will allow alternative operating models to enable 
trading. A new Commercial Strategy Board has been established as part of the 
approach. LTS increased its surplus by £900k to £1.8m in 2017/18 and now targets 
a surplus of £3.2m by 2020.  The customer base has increased both in terms of 
other public bodies and surrounding areas. School food has been particularly 
successful, winning new customers in Leicester and neighbouring areas. The new 
plan will embed commercial awareness and skills, enhance current traded activity 
and develop new models of delivery.   

Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy – in September 2018 we approved a 
new Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy. The Strategy sets out the basis on 
which we propose to invest some of our financial resources with the aim of 
generating income to support front line services. Income generated by the Fund has 
reduced the amount of savings required.  Unlike some other authorities our Strategy 
is not seeking external borrowing to fund investments but using existing capital 

58

154



resources available to the Council. During 2017/18 a net investment of £29m was 
made in the Fund, which following a £9m capital appreciation now stands at £101m.   

Over the past 12 months the portfolio has grown significantly with an above average 
return of nearly 12%, generating £2.7m of net income.  This is expected to grow to 
about £10m per year by 2022 as developments are completed and tenants secured. 
There were two significant acquisitions during the year (multi let office schemes in 
Lichfield and Nottingham). Disposals within the fund achieved total capital receipts of 
£5.4m through a combination of realising development potential and the restructuring 
of the farms and industrial portfolios and the income and capital receipts are being 
used to support front line services.   

Strategic Property - our Strategic Property Services continue to proactively manage 
all property and land to ensure that the council has the property it needs to support 
service delivery in the most effective and efficient way, supporting performance 
improvements and increased productivity.  Recently the role played by the council’s 
asset investments has increasingly supported housing, infrastructure and economic 
development. During 2017/18 we raised a total of £7.7m in capital receipts from the 
sale of property assets to support delivery of services.  We are also making 
significant progress with our energy initiatives. 

Workplace Strategy - a new Workplace Strategy is being finalised which will set out 
how the Council will maximise the use of its property portfolio and reduce operational 
property costs. This has entailed a review of all lettings, property occupancy and 
analysis of the total financial implications of running each property within the estate 
including the cost of maintaining the buildings. Other revenue generating initiatives 
are also being considered. Savings are anticipated through a rationalisation of our 
use of satellite offices and increased usage of County Hall, as well as the potential to 
rent out further areas of the building. 

Digital Strategy and ICT – we have invested £1m in our ICT infrastructure with 
security upgrades, a refresh of the Local Area Network, replacement of the backup 
solutions and refresh of our internet gateway. Implementation of Skype for Business 
has allowed us to replace traditional telephony to enable smarter and more efficient 
working practices and synergy with partners.  Since its phased roll out the use of 
video and audio meetings has increased and the average length of these meetings is 
17 minutes – which has had an overall positive impact on productivity.       

An ambitious IT and Digital Strategy has been developed and launched.  It includes 
a programme of innovation – called 3i – to drive fast-paced pilots which will test the 
potential for new technology and ways of working.  The first pilot has focused on the 
development of virtual workers, able to pick up manual, repetitive tasks and release 
staff to focus on more valuable work. The innovation programme has also developed 
a series of video and animated clips to encourage digital skills and adoption. ICT is 
also working with departments across the Council to identify areas in which digital 
innovation and technology can be used as an enabler to generate efficiencies and 
promote change. The ‘Incubation Team’ looks to promote many of the measures 
identified in the Digital Strategy, including delivering easy-to-use digital services 
which help people do things for themselves and enabling better ways of working. 
The enterprise will operate in a trial format for year one.  

59

155



People Strategy - our People Strategy focus over the past year has been on 
assisting the Council to improve the performance management of the workforce.  A 
new Performance Management Framework has been launched which will be 
followed by a revised Performance Development Review process, both of which are 
in support of the Council’s new values and behaviours.

Staff Wellbeing - the number of days lost to sickness absence during 2017/18 was 
9.72 per FTE. This is an improvement on the previous year, but remains higher than 
our target. Work continues on the implementation of an Attendance Management 
Action Plan which has seen the number of absence management cases increase, 
with 351 cases ongoing. The number of referrals to the staff counselling service 
remains high with 873 counselling sessions provided during 2017/18.

Productivity – in December 2017 the Council was named the number one council 
for productivity by national consultancy firm iMPOWER.  They looked at whether 
councils are getting value for money across a range of areas including overall 
performance, adult social care and children’s services such as fostering placements. 
The index also scored each council for the work they do with NHS services.  

Overview and Scrutiny - our cross-party overview and scrutiny function has been 
active in overseeing, monitoring and challenging a wide range of change and policy 
proposals and raising issues of concern to communities. Our Scrutiny Commission 
has sought to influence proposals for growth such as the Strategic Growth Plan, 
Severn Trent Water’s approach to managing water supply and demand and flood 
risk and the new Council Outcomes Framework. In relation to social care we have 
considered delayed transfer of care targets, reconfiguration of in-house learning 
disability residential accommodation and SMART library pilot delivery. On health we 
considered the impact of the new emergency department at Leicester Royal 
Infirmary, winter pressures and non-emergency patient transport, GP practices 
provision in the North Blaby area and the successful campaign to keep the 
Children’s Heart Unit at Glenfield.

In relation to children we have considered improvements in Children’s Social Care 
following the Ofsted inspection, removal of residential provision at Maplewell Hall 
Special School and changes to early help and children’s centre services. SEN and 
mainstream home to school transport policy, the Highways infrastructure Asset 
Management Plan and road casualties have all been considered by our environment 
and transport scrutiny committee. 

60

156



Published December 2018

Annual 
Performance 
Compendium
2018

Appendix B - Draft Performance Compendium 2018157



 

CONTENTS 

  

PART 1 Page 
Inequality in Funding and Fairer Funding Campaign………..……………. 1 

Lowest Funded County……………………..………………………….. 2 

Alternative Funding Model…………………………………..…………. 2 

Core spending power charts……………………………………..……. 3 

Financial and Service Pressures…………………………………………….. 6 

Budget Pressures.…………………………...………………………….. 6 

Further Service Reductions and Transformation...………………...….…… 7 

Recent Savings…………………………………………………..……… 7 

Savings to Come…………………………………………………..……. 7 

Transformation Areas………………………………………………..…. 8 

PART 2  
Financial Sustainability of Local Authorities………………………...…....… 10 

CIPFA / Institute for Government Analysis of Performance..……………... 10 

Adult Social Care Pressures…………………………………………………. 11 

Children’s Social Care Pressures……………………………………………. 14 

Other National and Local Pressures.……………………………………...... 16 

Risks, Risk Management and Monitoring………………………......………. 19 

PART 3  
County Performance Benchmarking Results 2016/17………………..…… 21 

Leicestershire Data Dashboards 2017/18………………………………...... 32 
 

158



 

Inequality in Funding and Fairer Funding Campaign  

Low funding remains the Council’s Achilles heel and without a fair system local 
services are increasingly being cut to the bone. The Council’s financial position 
moving forwards continues to be extremely challenging. The list of county authorities 
with serious financial issues also continues to grow with Northamptonshire, 
Somerset, Lancashire, East Sussex, Shropshire, Buckinghamshire, West Sussex,  
Suffolk and Surrey going public with financial problems - with some counties moving 
to provide services only to the statutory minimum. Many of the above accompany the 
County Council at the bottom of the funding league table. The position is serious with 
major implications for the provision of services to the people of Leicestershire.  

In September 2018 new research highlighted that County Councils might need to 
make almost £1bn worth of savings in 2019/20. With £685m in savings and cuts next 
February to balance 2019-20 budgets and an extra £233m of ‘unplanned’ frontline 
service cuts, which have not yet been identified also needed.  This comes after 
counties had to spend an extra £264m over budget to meet cost pressures in 
children’s services. Reductions are likely to see cuts to care and public health 
services, the introduction of extra charges, the closure of recycling centres and bus 
routes, and fewer potholes being filled. Overall county authorities are in a serious 
and extremely challenging financial position with further planned funding cuts and 
continued escalation of costs with not enough money to run vital services.  

A decision to increase NHS funding has already been made and spending on 
services such as Welfare, Education, Defence and Police may also be increased or 
protected. It is unlikely that Local Government will receive additional funding.  It 
seems unlikely that the council, when it rolls forward its Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
into 2022/23, will be able to identify sufficient savings to bridge the funding gap in the 
later years. To balance the budget without a significant impact on services will 
require a major efficiency initiative and a successful outcome to the fair funding 
campaign. 

Extent of Funding Inequality  

In terms of the scale of inequality, Leicestershire would be over £330m better off if 
we had the same income per head as one of the highest funded authorities, the 
London Borough of Camden. Chart 1 sets out the extent of current funding 
inequality. Given Camden’s funding per head our budget would be around 70% 
higher and we would be looking to invest in services and not cut them. By 2021 we 
will have taken almost a quarter of a billion pounds out of the budget. This is why we 
must succeed in securing fairer funding, before we become unable to fund statutory 
services.       

  

1

159



Lowest Funded County 

Leicestershire remains the lowest-funded county council in the country with greater 
risks to service delivery and improvement as a result.  If we were funded at the same 
level as Surrey we would be £99m per year better off. Some of the higher funded 
counties are the better performing ones with currently higher service standards – 
though increasingly those counties are reducing service scope and standards. 
Leicestershire’s low funded position means that the scope for further savings is 
severely limited compared to other authorities.   

However reductions in government funding are making it increasingly difficult to 
maintain good delivery levels and target improvements in response to key local 
issues.  With a further £50m to save, £13m of which is unidentified, balancing the 
books is harder than ever. Without fair funding we are increasingly cutting to the 
bone of public services. Some of the identified savings areas are set out later in this 
report.          

National Review 

For a number of years the Council has been pressing the Government for change – 
and they have agreed that a new approach is required. The Government has 
announced that it is revising the way in which local government funding is calculated, 
with the aim of having a new system in place by 2020/21.  

Alternative Funding Model 

Last year we presented a new simplified funding model based on factors that drive 
demand for local services. It allocates money in a fair way, based on need, and 
narrows the gap between the highest and lowest funded councils. If implemented the 
funding model would unlock up to an extra circa £47m for Leicestershire, reducing 
the need for further cuts. This would be a more just way of distributing money and 
importantly would give Leicestershire its fair share.    

Fair Funding Campaign 

We continue to campaign to ensure that Leicestershire gets a fairer deal. The current 
funding system is out of date, complex and unclear and based upon old systems 
which focus heavily on past levels of spending. We continue to work closely with the 
leaders of fellow low funded authorities and produced and signed a joint response to 
the Government’s Fair Funding consultation. 

Impact of Cuts on Performance 

The extent of service reductions made has already impacted most areas of service 
delivery and some areas of performance and further cuts to come will put at risk 
other priority areas. The later sections of this report set out the current performance 
position, progress, service pressures and current risks to delivery.    

2

160



CSP per Head 2018/19 Difference to LCC (CSP per Head)
Additional Funding (if LCC
funded at same level)

Kensington and Chelsea

Camden

Islington

Hackney

Tower Hamlets

Southwark

Knowsley

Lambeth

Hammersmith and Fulham

Westminster

Lewisham

Greenwich

Blackpool

Liverpool

Haringey

South Tyneside

Hartlepool

Richmond upon Thames

Brent

Isle of Wight Council

Middlesbrough

Gateshead

Waltham Forest

Salford

Torbay

Sutton

Newham

Wolverhampton

Croydon

Redcar and Cleveland

Sunderland

Barking and Dagenham

Ealing

Newcastle upon Tyne

St. Helens

Walsall

Harrow

Northumberland

Bedford

Cumbria

Kingston upon Thames

East Sussex

Enfield

Halton

Rutland

North Tyneside

Rochdale

Sefton

Blackburn with Darwen

Kingston upon Hull, City of

£1,053

£1,089

£1,182
£1,160
£1,124

£1,088
£1,085

£1,049
£1,049

£864

£859
£858

£855

£907

£969

£957

£926

£907

£896

£877
£869
£868

£858
£857

£888

£864

£862

£866

£852

£972

£855

£951

£929
£933

£888

£993
£992
£984

£966

£946
£943

£915

£906
£904

£890

£887
£878

£867

£863

£860

£255

£189

£174

£294

£274

£252

£229

£211

£187

£182
£181

£177

£376

£292

£279

£248

£229

£219

£211

£199
£192
£190

£180
£180
£177

£186

£184

£504
£483
£446
£412
£410
£407

£372
£371
£315
£314
£307

£289

£269
£266

£238

£228
£226

£213

£210
£201

£190

£186

£183

£174M

£129M

£119M

£201M

£187M

£172M

£157M

£144M

£128M

£124M
£124M

£121M

£256M

£199M

£191M

£170M

£157M

£149M

£144M

£136M
£131M
£130M

£123M
£123M
£121M

£127M

£126M

£344M
£330M
£305M
£281M
£280M
£278M

£254M
£254M
£215M
£215M
£210M

£197M

£184M
£182M

£162M

£156M
£155M

£145M

£143M
£137M

£129M

£127M

£125M

Core Spending Power per head 2018/19 - All upper tier authorities

Authority Type
County Unitary

City Unitary

Borough Unitary

Met District

County Council

Inner London Boro

Outer London Boro

(Page 1 of 3)

3

161



CSP per Head 2018/19 Difference to LCC (CSP per Head)
Additional Funding (if LCC
funded at same level)

Wirral

Havering

Sandwell

Merton

Devon

Barnet

Manchester

Oldham

Herefordshire, County of

Reading

Bristol, City of

Nottingham

County Durham

Birmingham

Surrey

Dorset

North East Lincolnshire

Darlington

Cornwall

Stoke-on-Trent

Bexley

Hounslow

Brighton and Hove

Norfolk

Tameside

Rotherham

North Yorkshire

Leicester

Cheshire West and Chester

Bolton

Telford and Wrekin

Lancashire

Bromley

Redbridge

Stockport

Barnsley

Shropshire

West Berkshire

Sheffield

Stockton-on-Tees

Plymouth

Doncaster

Hillingdon

Bradford

Essex

Somerset

Warwickshire

Nottinghamshire

Southend-on-Sea

Wakefield

£834

£825

£819

£782

£829
£825

£816

£810

£801

£777

£833

£819
£819

£794

£791

£781

£777

£762

£850

£850

£839
£838

£823

£809
£806

£792

£785
£783

£778

£776

£774

£762

£846

£823
£821

£810

£803

£790

£771
£767
£765
£763

£850

£847

£842

£812
£810

£789
£788

£775

£157

£147

£142

£104

£151
£147

£138

£133

£124

£100

£155

£142
£142

£117

£114

£104

£100

£110

£173

£172

£162
£161

£146

£132
£128

£115

£107
£106

£101

£169

£146
£144

£132

£126

£112

£173

£170

£164

£134
£133

£112

£85

£98

£97

£84

£94
£89
£88
£85

£98

£107M

£100M

£106M

£110M

£103M
£101M

£100M

£118M

£118M

£111M

£115M
£116M

£118M

£112M

£85M

£68M

£97M
£97M

£80M

£78M

£71M

£68M

£58M

£90M
£88M

£79M

£73M
£72M

£69M

£67M

£66M

£58M

£97M

£99M
£98M

£90M

£86M

£71M

£64M
£61M
£60M
£58M

£94M

£77M

£91M

£92M
£91M

£76M
£75M

£67M

Core Spending Power per head 2018/19 - All upper tier authorities

Authority Type
County Unitary

City Unitary

Borough Unitary

Met District

County Council

Outer London Boro

(Page 2 of 3)

4

162



CSP per Head 2018/19 Difference to LCC (CSP per Head)
Additional Funding (if LCC
funded at same level)

West Sussex

North Somerset

Wokingham

East Riding of Yorkshire

Kent

Buckinghamshire

Wandsworth

Central Bedfordshire

North Lincolnshire

Oxfordshire

Cheshire East

Southampton

Derbyshire

Calderdale

Peterborough

Coventry

Dudley

Thurrock

Hertfordshire

Wiltshire

Gloucestershire

Worcestershire

Wigan

Derby

Bury

Suffolk

Slough

Portsmouth

Bournemouth

Solihull

Lincolnshire

Leeds

South Gloucestershire

Poole

Bracknell Forest

Milton Keynes

Luton

Kirklees

Swindon

Warrington

Bath and North East Somerset

Cambridgeshire

Northamptonshire

Hampshire

Medway

Staffordshire

Leicestershire

Trafford

York

Windsor and Maidenhead

£744

£750

£747

£738

£734

£645

£761
£760
£760

£752
£752

£751

£745

£736

£730

£725
£723
£720
£716
£714

£706
£704
£704

£693

£621

£748

£746
£746

£739

£738

£730

£729

£707

£671

£761

£760
£757

£751

£749

£745

£742
£740

£736

£729

£704
£701
£701

£692
£677

£754

-£56
-£32

£67

£73

£69

£61

£56

£84
£83
£82

£75
£75

£73

£68

£58

£53

£48
£46
£43

£36

£29
£27
£27

£15

£38

£71

£69
£69

£62

£61

£52

£51

£30

£84

£82
£79

£74

£71

£67

£65
£63

£59

£51

£27
£24
£24

£14

£77

-£6
£0

-£38M
-£22M

£46M

£50M

£47M

£42M

£39M

£57M
£56M
£56M

£51M
£51M

£50M

£46M

£40M

£36M

£33M
£31M
£29M

£25M

£20M
£18M
£18M

£10M

£26M

£48M

£47M
£47M

£42M

£41M

£36M

£35M

£20M

£57M

£56M
£54M

£50M

£49M

£46M

£44M
£43M

£40M

£35M

£18M
£16M
£16M

£10M

£52M

-£4M
£0M

Core Spending Power per head 2018/19 - All upper tier authorities

Authority Type
County Unitary

City Unitary

Borough Unitary

Met District

County Council

Inner London Boro

(Page 3 of 3)

5

163



Financial and Service Pressures  

By planning ahead we have saved £178m since 2010. The council is now much 
leaner but tough choices still loom large, exacerbated by chronic national 
underfunding, limiting our scope to make savings.  Delivering on our outcomes and 
ambitions for Leicestershire continues to be hampered by low funding. The overall 
2017/18 local government funding settlement as whole involves a 3% real terms cut 
in spending power. Over the medium term the combination of an ageing and growing 
population and static income will put us under increasing financial pressure that 
means we need to continue to save money.   

Budget Pressures 

The impact of inflation over the period of the MTFS is estimated at around £47.8m. 
The removal of the Government’s cap on public sector pay rises and its policy of 
National Living Wage increases are anticipated to lead to higher pay increases than 
in recent years, and other increased costs, particularly relating to fuel and energy, 
are anticipated.    

Rising demand means that over the period of the MTFS growth of £41.2m is required 
to meet demand and cost pressures with £14.3m required in 2018/19. Pressure on 
school places and Leicestershire’s infrastructure is expected from population growth, 
with estimates of a 12% increase in the County’s population by 2030. The main 
elements of demand growth and pressure are: 

Children and Family Services (£17.5m) - mainly due to pressures on the placements 
budget and social work teams from increased numbers of looked after children. In 
relation to sschool places funding for new school places is not fully covered by 
Government grant – 23 new schools are required in the medium to long term, 
depending on the timing of schools an annual shortfall in funding of circa £2m could 
occur from 2022/23.  

Adult Social Care (£10.1m) - largely the result of increasing numbers of people with 
learning disabilities and an ageing population with increasing care needs. 

Public Health (£1.4m) - mainly due to reductions in the Public Health specific grant. 
Public health already receives 31% less public health grant per head than the 
national average.  

Environment and Transport (£3.3m) - primarily relating to increased numbers of 
clients and costs on the Special Educational Needs (SEN) Transport budget and to 
projected increases in household waste due to population and economic growth. 
Costs of dealing with a major disease affecting Ash Trees could be an extra £5m.  

The financial position of the Council reflects the fact that income is simply not 
keeping up with demands on the budget. These demands primarily relate to both a 
growing and ageing population and a large increase in school-age children requiring 
support, which put huge demands on social care and SEND services. 

  

6

164



Further Service Reductions and Transformation  

Recent Savings  

Examples of savings progressed recently to help meet this significant challenge 
include -  

SEN Home to School Transport – in March due to budget pressures we agreed to 
a 50% reduction in the discount for low-income families for pre-five and post 16 
transport. Stopping council arranged taxi and minibus provision to transport SEN 
students to post-16 education and providing direct financial support instead; 
replacing transport to post 16 education for eligible students with an annual travel 
grant of £150 for those who are rurally isolated or from a low income background.   
The changes will be introduced in September 2019. SEN transport costs have 
increased by 42% from £6.5m in 2011/12 to £9.2m in 2016/17 – with the costs 
expected to grow by 4-5% every year.  

Maplewell Hall – proposals to removed residential facilities at Maplewell Hall special 
school were also approved. None of the students were assessed as needing 
residential education provision and the council faces difficult decisions as budgets 
become increasingly stretched. Budgets for pupils with SEN are under particular 
pressure.    

Early Help Services – last year we agreed proposals to merge, reshape and target 
our early help services including a significant reduction in our physical building based 
children’s centre offer. The proposals aim to target services on those most in need 
and also save £1.5m.     

More Savings Still To Come and Impact  

Further savings of £37m have been identified, with £17.6m needing to be delivered 
in 2018/19; more are expected over the next four years 2018-22. This is a 
challenging task given that savings of £178m have already been delivered over the 
last eight years. The main four-year savings are below. It is estimated that the 
proposals will lead to a reduction of up to 300 posts over the four year period. 
Further savings will be required to close the budget shortfall of £4.5m in 2020/21 
rising to £13.2m in 2021/22. 

Children and Family Services - £6.6m - this includes savings from increasing internal 
foster care provision and reviewing early help services.  

Adults and Communities - £9.7m - this includes managing demand through 
promoting independence leading to reducing costs of social care by reviewing 
personal budget allocations and contracts.  

Public Health - £1.3m this includes savings from reviewing early help and prevention 
services. Savings will also impact on health visiting and school nursing post 2020 
and a reduction in support for those overweight or obese.  

Environment and Transport - £7.1m - savings will be delivered through a revised 
approach to highways maintenance, reviewing contracts, service reviews, the 

7

165



continued roll-out of the LED street lighting programme, a revised model for 
Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) and a revised payment mechanism 
for recycling credits. Review of parking restrictions in town centres and impact of 
yellow lines (£0.6m) including reviewing on street parking charges in town centres.  

In relation to passenger transport in March 2017 we began consultation on a new 
policy and strategy for public transport. Where there is not a commercial service, we 
spend around £2.4m on passenger transport services supporting around 40 routes. 
Some services are subsidised by as much as £17 per person per journey. The 
passenger transport proposals are expected to save around £400,000. We’re very 
aware of the importance of passenger transport services, particularly for rural 
communities, but are continuing to face significant financial challenges though 
remain fully committed to continuing to support passenger transport services. 

Chief Executive’s Department - £0.6m - this includes service reviews and a review of 
funding for economic development activity. 

Corporate Resources - £5.4m - this includes reviews of all support services e.g. 
Property, Traded Services, ICT, Human Resources and Finance and an increased 
contribution from Commercial Services. 

Attention is also being given to services funded by specific grants as these services 
are exposed to grant cuts and demand increases with shortfalls typically falling on 
the council budget.   

Refreshed Transformation Areas   

To help bridge the funding gap a number of initiatives are under development to 
generate further savings. Once business cases have been completed savings will be 
confirmed and included in a future MTFS. The initiatives are: 

Adult Social Care  

 Lower cost adult social care provision – review of different models. 
 Fully integrated care pathways for working age adults with disabilities. 
 Reductions in admissions to hospital and long term care through alternative 

provision provided to people in their own home. 
 Adult Social Care – developing a new Operating Model. 
 The budget for Communities and Wellbeing Service will reduce from £5.3m to 

£4.3m by 2020/21.   

Public Health 

 0-19 Health Visiting and School Nurse service – exploring new ways of delivery. 
 Integrated Lifestyles – combining aspects of delivery of lifestyle services. 

Children and Family Services  

 Fostering Service – review of recruitment and support for in-house fostering 
 SEN D pressures - tackling problems with ‘high needs block’ SEN D expenditure. 

8

166



Environment and Transport  

 Future Residual Waste Strategy – review of disposal contracts. 
 Reuse – increase levels of reuse of county waste. 
 Recycling and Household Waste Sites – investigation of potential benefits 

following the insourcing of RHWS sites and review of current provision. 
 Highways Delivery Model – review of alternative delivery models. 
 Highways Income Generation/Section 278 

Corporate Services 

 Corporate Asset Investment Fund – further investment  
 IT and Digital Strategy Implementation. 
 Commercialism – review of new opportunities to trade and explore which services 

delivered to schools could be suitable for a traded offer. 
 Property Initiatives – maximise use of buildings and reduce accommodation 

costs. 
 People Management – review use of the Apprenticeship Levy and agency 

workers. 
 Replace Oracle ERP system and improve working practices of ICT/Finance/HR 

etc.  
 Financial Arrangements – review how future liabilities are provided for. 

The development and ultimately the achievement of these savings will be extremely 
challenging and will require focus, discipline and innovation.    

  

9

167



Financial Sustainability of Local Authorities 2018 – National Audit 
Office Report 

In March 2018 the National Audit Office (NAO) released a report looking at the 
financial sustainability of local authorities. Some key facts highlighted in the report 
are a 49% real terms reduction in government funding since 2010/11 and a 28.6% 
real terms reduction in spending power with one authority at that point issuing  a 
section 114 notice indicating they were at risk of running out of money. There had 
been a 3% reduction in spending on social care services and a 32.6% reduction in 
spending on non-social care services to 2016/17. 66% of authorities with social care 
responsibilities drew down on their reserves in 2016/17.   

Nationally adults and children’s social care have seen a reduction of 3.3% and an 
increase of 3.2% whilst spending on transport has fallen 37% and culture and related 
services by 35%. Planning and development has fallen by 52.8% and housing by 
45.6%. Nationally social care now accounts for 54.4% of service spend. The NAO 
found that in adult social care the number of users accessing services fell steeply in 
the early years and there is evidence of funding pressures adding to pressures within 
the wider health care system and adult care provider markets. There has also been a 
33.7% reduction in households getting a weekly waste collection, a 48.4% reduction 
in miles of subsidised bus journeys and 10.3% reduction in library service points. 

In relation to financial sustainability the NAO find that the financial position of the 
sector has worsened markedly, particularly for authorities with social care 
responsibilities with signs of real financial pressure and trends not sustainable over 
the medium term.   10.6% of single tier and counties have the equivalent of less than 
three years’ worth of reserves left based on the current rate of use.   Given non-
social care budgets have already been reduced many authorities have little room for 
manoeuvre in finding further savings. The scope for local discretion in service 
provision is also eroding. The current trajectory for local government is towards a 
narrow core offer increasingly centred on social care.    

The NAO also concluded that despite various short term funding initiatives the 
government does not have a long-term funding plan for local authorities. In addition 
that there is a lack of ongoing coordinated monitoring of the impact of funding 
reductions across the full range of local authority services, as funding continues to 
tighten there are risks to statutory services and in certain areas data is limited and it 
is not possible to ascertain where service levels are being maintained. 

CIPFA and Institute for Government Analysis of Performance  

A report by CIPFA and the Institute for Government in autumn 2018 also took a data 
driven analysis to look at the performance of government drawing on 150 data sets. 
The report attempts to shed light on the extent to which public services are at 
breaking point or whether there is room for more efficiency. The report finds signs of 
mounting pressure in public services. Indeed the Health Secretary has 
acknowledged that there are extraordinary pressures in the health and care system. 
The CIPFA/IFG report raises serious concerns about the quality of prisons, adult 
social care, waste collections and libraries, with growing recruitment and retention 
difficulties across a range of services and rising workloads and stress levels. 

10

168



National spending on health is crowding out other spending and at local level 
spending on social care is following the same pattern, at the expense of other 
services such as libraries, waste and trading standards, with more costs being 
passed to citizens. The number of libraries nationally has fallen by 14% since 
2009/10. This is creating obvious potential for public resentment as universal 
services are squeezed by social care, used only by a minority.  

Adult Social Care Nationally  

The LGA's adult social care green paper, launched in August 2018, estimates a 
social care funding gap of £3.5 billion by 2025, just to maintain existing standards of 
care. Meanwhile, a recent editorial in the Telegraph argues that the biggest long-
term issue facing the country is social care and that the costs of looking after the 
growing number of elderly people into old age, often infirm and ill, will be 
unsustainable. A new report commissioned by the Department of Health and Social 
Care, claims that the number of elderly people needing care will double to 1.2m at a 
cost of £18.7bn by 2040. In addition the LGA and charity Carers UK said many of the 
5.7 million people looking after family or friends in England were unable to take a 
break from their roles. 

In February 2018 the National Audit Office published a report on the adult social care 
workforce in England. Key findings were that turnover and vacancy rates across the 
social care workforce are high, the growth in the number of jobs has fallen behind 
growth in demand for care and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) felt that the 
sustainability of the care market remained precarious.  The vacancy rates for nurses 
working in care had doubled to 9%. Providers had particular difficulty recruiting to the 
post of registered manager. Also, that there is no evidence that the sector is 
sustainably funded. Four fifths of local authorities are paying fees to providers that 
are below the benchmark costs of care.    

A report in September 2018 found that about 110,000 jobs in adult care in England 
were left vacant, a rise of 22,000 in a year, according to workforce data. Training 
charity Skills for Care said the vacancy rate had risen from an estimated 6.6% in 
2017 to 8% in 2018. It said employers found it a "challenge" to get people with the 
"right values" for care work. The statistics also show 31% of carers left or changed 
jobs in 2017-18. 

Recent analysis carried out by the BBC found that one in five care homes in England 
were judged not good enough. Nearly 3,000 of the country's 14,975 care homes are 
currently rated either inadequate or needing improvement. In addition CQC has said 
that "variability" in standards of care across the country was "a real concern" and 
vowed to continue to tackle "poor care". 

The Care Quality Commission, in its October 2018 annual report on health and care, 
highlighted continuing challenges around demand and funding, coupled with 
significant workforce recruitment/retention pressures. Workforce problems were 
having a direct impact on people’s care and the adult social care market remained 
fragile with providers continuing to close contracts. As unmet need continues to rise, 
the tipping point has been reached for some people who are not getting the care 
they need.  In July 2018 one in six adult social care services needed to improve amid 

11

169



rising demand from an ageing population and increased numbers with complex 
chronic conditions.  
 
Age UK estimates that 1.4m older people do not have access to the care and 
support they need. In two years the number of people with an unmet care need has 
risen by almost 20% to nearly 1 in 7 older people. Friends and family carers often fill 
the gap. Three quarters of carers had received no support to help them have a day’s 
break in the previous 12 months.        
  
Local Adult Social Care Pressures 

Demand and Workforce Pressures - locally adult care continues to experience 
high turnover and vacancy rates. Some providers in domiciliary care are 
experiencing turnover rates of over 50% suggesting retention is becoming 
increasingly problematic. We have established an external workforce project to work 
with external providers to improve their recruitment and retention – including 
improving the image of the sector.   Some organisations have a strong contingent of 
European workers and there is a level of concern about the impact of Brexit. 
Following national recruitment there remains approximately 30 vacant care pathway 
posts.  The use of agency staffing has also increased considerably during the year. 
These are mainly at Best Interest Assessor, AMHP, social worker and community 
support worker levels where staff are in short supply. 

Quality Pressures - providers are monitored against agreed quality standards in 
contracts. Information sharing meetings and alerts are in place to share where there 
are performance concerns. Intelligence is used to risk assess contracted providers 
and themed visits used if necessary. The Council is taking action at different levels in 
relation to quality concerns within one or more services currently. We have had 
instances of provider failure and had two small residential services closed in June 
2018 together with closures to domiciliary care agencies. We have an ongoing 
process in place to mitigate known risks and loss of services. The green paper on 
adult social care is critical in the context of market fees and sustainability. In relation 
to CQC ratings 87% of Leicestershire providers are good or outstanding compared 
with 75.6% nationally. 32 providers (13%) require improvement of which 2 are 
inadequate – compared with 24% nationally. 

Ensuring People have a positive experience - since the start of the annual adult 
social care survey satisfaction levels have fluctuated each year between high 50% to 
mid-60%. Last year social care quality of life returned to 18.4 and the proportion of 
service users with as much social contact as they would like dropped back to 42%. 
During 2017/18 the Council received 186 complaints about adult social care, a 14% 
increase, with an even spread of the subject of complaints. There have been 10 
decisions by the ombudsman regarding ASC with 2 adverse findings, down from 7 
last year. Areas of improvement include transport, safeguarding and mental health 
cases. There has also been a positive reduction in complaints regarding home care 
providers. There remain some challenges around accuracy of commissioned orders 
which are often features of complaints and also some issues with the processing of 
carers personal budgets, with a number of process and resource improvements 
planned. 

12

170



Mental Health Demand - there has been a continued increase in referrals for 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. Despite an increase in service capacity for 
assessments to be carried out overall there was an increase in the waiting times for 
DoLS in Leicestershire. In spring 2018 we began procuring BIAs, mental health 
assessors and paid persons representative to increase capacity to impact on waiting 
times. At the end of March the department had 880 new referrals and 675 renewals 
waiting to be allocated.  

Health Pressures - demands on urgent care services and changes to continuing 
health care processes have resulted in challenges to the health and care system. 
CCGs are experiencing financial challenges as is the main acute provider. There 
remain significant challenges in determining demand and capacity requirements at a 
system level. The estimated funding gap is £400m.   

Despite the pressures there is a clear focus in adult social care on safely managing 
the risks to service delivery of budget reductions and ensuring resources are 
available to meet demographic growth pressures. 

  

13

171



Children’s Social Care Nationally  

Children’s services across the country are under huge strain, with the Local 
Government Association estimating a £2bn national funding gap by 2020. Children’s 
social care pressures are also pushing authorities to in year overspends for example 
Suffolk have a projected £8.6m overspend this year.  The Children's Commissioner 
for England has warned that cuts to early years and youth centres will lead to an 
increasing number of children who fall through the gaps in the care system, risking 
exclusion from school or involvement in gangs. 

In addition three children in every classroom are suffering mental health problems 
fuelled by social media, the Chief Executive of Barnardo’s has said. Children’s 
services are struggling to cope with a crisis made worse by the internet and social 
media, which was exposing children to cyber bullying, sexual exploitation, grooming 
and gaming addiction. 

Nationally three out of four parents say their children's mental health deteriorated 
while waiting for NHS support, according to a report by charity Young Minds. It says 
a fresh approach is needed to supporting young people, including more help from 
community groups, otherwise they could start to self-harm, become suicidal or drop 
out of school. The charity, which surveyed 2,000 parents and carers whose children 
have looked for mental health support, found that there was "a black hole in youth 
and community services" where essential early support could be provided, with fewer 
trusted adults such as youth workers available to help young people cope. The 
number of teenage girls admitted to hospital for self-harm has almost doubled, 
according to the latest hospital admissions figures. NHS Data revealed that the 
number of admissions jumped from 7,327 in 1997 to 13,463 last year. 

Local Children’s Social Care Pressures 

There are significant financial pressures within the Children and Family Services 
budget in respect of the cost of placements for looked after children and investment 
in staffing through additional posts and agency social workers to address issues 
identified by the Ofsted inspection. This financial pressure is reflective of the national 
position. There are currently more than 550 children in care in Leicestershire and this 
is forecast to increase to up to 750 by March 2022. The growing pressure on our 
budget means that we have had to begin to further reduce early help costs and 
deliver services differently. The Government has also yet to make a commitment to 
continuing their financial support to our Supporting Leicestershire Families 
programme after 2018/19.  That support is over £2m per year.  

The Local Safeguarding Children Board has this year found that capacity of workers 
has impacted upon their ability to attend development opportunities and put learning 
into practice. Also that consistency of practice within agencies across a range of 
areas of work still requires improvement including quality of assessment and 
recording.   Locally the average case load was 19 with some outliers and specific 
issues arising from capacity in particular service areas. These issues are being 
addressed but are a significant cost pressure on the service.  Growth of £3m relates 
to the social care workforce to recruit additional social workers, allow for higher 
agency costs and introduce a market place premium to attract social workers to 
Leicestershire. 

14

172



Nationally the number of looked after children, including those in foster care, has 
been steadily increasing in recent years, with local authorities struggling to provide 
placements for children in their areas, and the unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children arriving in the UK putting further pressure on the care system. Thousands 
more foster-carers are needed. 

Independent fostering agencies (IFAs) play a vital role but placements with IFAs can 
be at considerably higher cost than those provided by local authorities, often costing 
twice as much as an in-house placement.  The independent market itself does not 
have enough capacity to cope with demand, can be somewhat inflexible, and is often 
less responsive when care is needed for young people with complex needs. Care 
packages are often dictated by the market rather that the child’s care plan. It is 
essentially a seller’s market which is proving increasingly difficult for local authorities 
to influence. 

The situation in Leicestershire mirrors that nationally.  The cost of caring for Looked 
After Children (LAC) is estimated to increase by £12million over 4 years from March 
2018 to March 2022.  As at March 2018, Leicestershire had 40.5 LAC per 10,000 
population.  This is much lower than its statistical neighbour average (51), East 
Midlands average (55) and England average (62).  However it is estimated that over 
four years to 2021/22 the number of LAC in Leicestershire will grow to become in 
line with its statistical neighbours, reflecting a national trend.  

Residential placements make up a significant amount of the service’s placement 
spend. There are currently 63 children in external residential placements which 
forms approximately 11% of the total LAC population. Residential costs for the end 
of the 2017/18 were £9.7m, 38% of the total placement spend.  These pressures are 
not unique to Leicestershire; the Local Government Association has identified circa 
£600 million financial pressures across local authorities in England. 

SEN High Needs Block (HNB) Pressures: at the end of august 2018 the projected 
over spend on the high needs block was £3.4m and its status changed from Amber 
to Red. The projected over spend is as a result of a number of factors; an increase in 
Education Health and Care Plans (33% over 4 years), increase in the number of post 
16 young people with an EHCP who are now the responsibility of the authority to 
fund until 25 and an increase in the number of children accessing independent 
provision. The overspend reflects system wide issues in how the funding is 
determined; High Needs funding to date has not reflected need and is largely based 
upon levels of expenditure from 2012/13 with some minimal levels of national growth 
reflecting changes in responsibilities. Nationally there are growing concerns about 
the level of funding within the High Needs Block (HNB).  

The Association of Directors of Children’s Services undertook a survey of financial 
pressures and reported that of 85 local authorities in 2016/17 only 17 reported their 
spend was in line with the grant and that the remaining 85 authorities had an 
aggregated overspend of £139.5m. Work is underway within the department to 
develop a 5 year plan to bring HNB spend in line. 

Three authorities are subject to judicial review over savings planned to reduce high 
need expenditure. The High Court has backed campaigner’s objections to planned 
savings of £7m over three years in Bristol. Surrey plan savings of £20m and 

15

173



Hackney £5m, Judicial Reviews will consider the position in the autumn. Overspends 
are being reported in most Councils. At a regional finance officers network meeting 
all authorities were reporting current and estimated future high needs overspends 
and an expectation of reserves being fully utilised within the 2018/19 financial year. 

Other National Pressures Identified 

Welfare Assistance - about 7.75m people are now living in council areas with no 
access to local welfare assistance schemes which provide vital support to those in 
crisis, research has found. Of the 131 top tier councils who responded to a request 
for information, 22 said they do not have a scheme providing payments such as care 
grants and crisis loans in place, with provision said to be under threat in 29 other 
areas. The largest fall in expenditure on schemes between 2010-11 and 2017-18 
was in the East Midlands, where the outlay fell by 94% from £16.2m to £0.9m. The 
second biggest decrease was in the West Midlands (88%) - from £24.4m to £3m 
over the same period. Nationally demand has increased for homelessness services 
with the number of households assessed as homeless and entitled to temporary 
accommodation increased by 33.9%.  

Public Heath - more than 8 out of 10 councils are having to reduce their public 
health budgets this year. 130 out of 152 local authorities plan to reduce their public 
health budgets in 2018/19, with funding reduced by £96.3 million on last year.  A 
separate study has suggested that in some areas health visitors are struggling to 
care for families properly because they have high workloads in which some are 
looking after as many as 829 children. In addition in some areas nurses have warned 
cuts to public health budgets are forcing them to turn people away from sexual 
health clinics due to the resulting staff shortages. 

There also continues to be pressures such as increased diabetes linked to higher 
levels of obesity. In July 2018 it was reported that levels of severe obesity in children 
aged 10 and 11 have reached the ‘highest point’ since records began. The head of 
the NHS has also recently highlighted the need to get more serious about aspects of 
prevention and public health, including the challenges of the ‘new public health’, 
looking at some of the new threats to health and wellbeing that are different from 
those previous generations such as self-harm, eating disorders, gambling addiction 
and health inequalities. Latest data suggests a levelling off in the improvement in life 
expectancy. Women in the UK are also living shorter lives on average than many of 
their counterparts in Europe, according to new analysis by Public Health England. 
The data from the annual Health Profile for England, shows the average life 
expectancy for women is 83, 17th place out of 28 EU nations. Spanish women live 
the longest in Europe, at 86.3 years.  

Air pollution - there has increasingly been a national focus on the impact of air 
pollution on health, including dementia, asthma, strokes and fertility. One in three 
children in Britain is growing up with air pollution damaging their health, a study has 
found. About 4.5 million children, including 1.6 million aged five and under, live in 
areas with levels of particulate matter above what the World Health Organisation 
considers safe, according to UNICEF UK. 

 

16

174



Public and School Transport - a recent report by the Campaign for Better 
Transport reported reduced bus services. Its ‘Buses in Crisis’ report found that 
councils had reduced by £182m on bus services over the decade, due to budget 
pressures. The County Councils Network earlier this year reported that data from 20 
rural authorities showed that there were 22,000 fewer pupils getting free school 
transport, such as buses and taxis in 2017, compared with three years before. It said 
school transport costs are on average almost 10 times higher for councils in rural 
areas than for those in cities and that budget shortages meant rural school transport 
was being cut to a bare minimum. 

Crime and Community Safety – Leicestershire has seen a rise in total crime of 
17% to 60 crimes per 1000 population, though this is lower than the England 
average of 84 crimes per 1000 population. Violence against the person has 
increased by 39% over the last year, with violence with injury increasing by 24%.  
Although there has been a large increase, violent crime rates are substantially lower 
than national rates. There were 5 violence with injury offences per thousand 
population compared to 9 nationally. In relation to knife crime there is an increase of 
46% on the previous year, substantially higher than the English increase. There has 
been a 14% increase in police recorded vehicle offences in Leicestershire which 
mirrors the national picture which saw a 12% increase.  There was a 3.6% rise in 
total burglary figures in 2017/18. Nationally burglary offences increased by 6%.   

Trading Standards - the reduction in funding available for local government trading 
standards departments is impacting council’s ability to tackle issues such as scams 
according to LGA research. The figures show that funding for trading standards 
teams has fallen from £213m to £103m since 2009.  

Workforce Stress - poor mental health affects half of all employees, according to a 
survey of 44,000 people carried out by the mental health charity Mind. Only half of 
those who had experienced problems with stress, anxiety or low mood had talked to 
their employer about it. Mind says around 300,000 people lose their job each year 
due to a mental health problem. According to research undertaken in association 
with the Association of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers, 48% 
of 285 respondents believed their workload had increased significantly in the past 
year to an almost unmanageable level, while more than one in 10 say it is already 
unmanageable. Almost three-fifths (59%) say they are currently working more than 
the 48 hours a week legally permitted by the working time directive. Two-thirds 
(66%) of chief executives and 57% of senior managers say they worked beyond this 
level. Two-thirds of respondents report their job has become more stressful. Three-
quarters say they know of a colleague who has experienced mental health issues. 

Other Local Pressures Identified 

Maintaining Public Satisfaction – in July 2018 LGA public polls on resident 
satisfaction with local councils, conducted every four months, show the lowest levels 
of resident satisfaction since polling started six years ago and a downward trend. 
The Council’s Community Insights Survey also shows deterioration in satisfaction 
compared to the previous 12 month period. Ongoing national funding reductions, 
lack of fair funding, increased council tax, some high profile service changes and 
associated publicity are likely to be factors. However Leicestershire’s results remain 

17

175



substantially higher than the national results, although the gap has narrowed over 
the past three years. 

Staff Wellbeing - the mental health of employees is a significant and growing issue 
for the County Council. The Council’s counselling service continues to be used by a 
large number of employees, some of whom are currently on sick leave, to assist 
them in being able to return to work, and it has also supported a number of 
employees to the extent that has prevented them from having to take sick leave. The 
Council has a commitment to tackling the stigma around mental illness and making 
‘getting help’ easily available and confidential. In January 2018 the Wellbeing 
Strategy was launched which has a dedicated section on mental health issues. In 
addition to the counselling service employees are able to contact a Mental Health 
First Aider and sign up to attend mindfulness sessions. There are a number of other 
activities available which are designed to assist in improving mental health and these 
are advertised on the intranet. 

The number of referrals has continued to rise. The number of sessions provided has 
risen from 905 in 2013/14 to 1442 in 2016/17. Overall, the majority of the referrals 
were related to mental health, depression and acute anxiety which have increased 
since 2015/16. It was agreed in June 2018 that due to general levels of demand, and 
the time employees had to wait to see a counsellor, an additional full time counsellor 
would be employed so the resource would increase to 3.2 FTE’s. The new employee 
is due to join the service in November 2018 and will help to relieve pressure on the 
in-house face to face service.  

Sickness Absence - the Council’s People Strategy for 2017 – 2020 has a focus on 
the importance of the Council being able to increase its performance and productivity 
through a skilled, flexible and resilient workforce. An Attendance Management 
project has specifically been put in place to assist in reducing the current level of 
sickness absence, both short and long term. It has an element (Intensive Support 
Team) which works alongside managers to assist them in developing their skills and 
their overall approach to making sure that as far as possible their staff remain fit and 
well and able to attend work. On those occasions when an individual needs to take 
sick leave, managers, where necessary, are being supported by Strategic HR to 
assist them in managing a return to work at the earliest possible opportunity. 

Complaints – in July we considered analysis of Council service complaints and 
compliments during 2017/18 highlighting a number of improvements in how the 
organisation both handles and learns from complaints. During 2017/18 there was a 
3% increase in corporate complaints and 7% increase in ombudsman enquiries. With 
101 corporate complaints upheld. 4 ombudsman enquiries found maladministration 
with injustice. Issues included delays in providing services, quality of work, accuracy 
of information and professional decision making. Effective complaints handling 
training continues to be delivered.    

  

18

176



Risks, Risk Management and Enhanced Monitoring   

The Council has had its ninth austerity budget and the financial environment 
continues to be challenging with a number of known major risks over the next few 
years. There is little doubt that the authority faces the most uncertain and risky 
financial environment for a generation. Given the pressures and further reductions it 
is important that the Council has effective performance monitoring and risk 
management arrangements in place. In relation to risk management the Council has 
a good risk management process to help it to identify possible risks, score these in 
terms of likelihood and impact and take mitigating actions. The council has both 
departmental and corporate risk registers. Corporate financial risks currently 
identified include -     

 Non-achievement of savings and income targets. The requirement for savings 
and additional income totals £50m over the next four years of which £13m is 
unidentified. Successful delivery of savings is dependent upon a range of factors, 
not all of which are in the control of the Council. 

 The financial positions of Health and Social Care are intrinsically linked and of 
growing importance. In common with the Council the CCGs are struggling to 
produce a balanced budget. The implications for the Council could be reductions 
in the funding received through the BCF (£30m+) and additional costs as a result 
of changes in the NHS, such as the Transforming Care programme that will move 
more care into the community.  

 Service pressures resulting in an overspend, including demand-led children’s and 
adult social care, particularly on the children’s social care and SEN placements 
budget. 

 The strength of the economy dictates the funding of the public sector. Growth in 
the UK economy has slowed and Brexit uncertainly is unlikely to help in the short 
to medium term. The implications for the Council will depend upon how long a 
reduced level of growth persists. 

 The increasing reliance on income generated from services in other parts of the 
public sector. Given the much tighter financial environment for the sector it will be 
challenging to maintain or keep increasing income. 

 Inflation is higher than the 2% target, which will have a direct impact on the cost 
of goods and services procured by the Council and could also influence the rate 
at which the National Living Wage increases. 

 2020 could see the biggest changes to local government finance for a generation. 
The following initiatives, that lack any real detail, are all planned to be 
implemented in that year - 75% Business Rate retention, including significant new 
responsibilities; Fair Funding Review, covering redistribution of funding nationally; 
Health Integration plans implemented. 

 There is a very real potential for the Council to encounter a significant ongoing 
issue for which no specific financial provision has been made. This is evidenced 
by the emergence of several authorities who are facing real difficulties in 
balancing their budget in a sensible way.  

  

19

177



Other key corporate risks identified include:  

 Managing sickness absence;  
 Children and Family Services being able to recruit and retain skilled social 

workers and managers;  
 Supplier continuity plans;  
 IT Cyber Security risks;  
 Data Protection and GDPR.  

There is also an extensive list of service department risks which continue to be 
monitored.      

As a result of the above and in line with our business intelligence strategy we are 
continuing to enhance performance reporting through greater data warehousing, 
self-service dashboards and tableau technology. This is in terms of both outcomes 
for residents and also operational service improvement metrics for managers. A wide 
range of engagement, surveys, inspections, peer review, quality systems and 
feedback channels are also in place to detect quality issues at an early stage. 
Contract management is also being enhanced in key areas. This is linked to delivery 
of the priority outcomes identified for the county.  

  

20

178



Comparing Our Performance: Benchmarking Results 2016/17 

This annual report compendium uses performance indicators to compare our 
performance over time against targets and with other local authorities. Comparison 
or benchmarking helps to place Leicestershire’s performance in context and also to 
prompt questions such as ‘why are other councils performing differently to us?’ or 
why are other councils providing cheaper or more expensive services? 

The County Council compares itself with all 27 two-tier English county areas in terms 
of spend per head and performance. We use a range of nationally published 
indicators linked to our improvement priorities, inspectorate datasets and national 
performance frameworks. Our sources include central government websites, the 
Office for National Statistics, NHS Digital and the Local Government Association.  

Our comparative analysis draws on 212 performance indicators across our main 
priorities and areas of service delivery. Our approach looks at performance against 
each indicator and ranks all county areas with 1 being highest performance and 27 
lowest. We then group indicators by service or theme and create an average of 
these ranks as well as an overall position.      

Overall Comparative Performance 

The chart below shows Leicestershire’s relative overall performance compared to the 
27 two-tier counties over the past 6 years, excluding any consideration of 
funding/expenditure. Low comparative funding has meant that Leicestershire has 
had to move quickly to reduce some service levels which reduced the overall pure 
comparative performance position. However following other counties reducing 
services as well as a strong focus on performance the council has moved back up in 
comparative terms to 6th during 2016/17.   

 

21

179



Comparing Performance and Expenditure 

The Fair Funding section of the report notes that Leicestershire is the lowest funded 
county in the country. It is therefore critical to review the Council’s performance in 
the light of spend per head on different services. Our approach uses scatter charts to 
show the relationship between spend and performance. The vertical axes show rank 
of net expenditure per head, with low spend to the right. Therefore authorities that 
are high performing and low spending would be in the top right quadrant, while those 
that are low performing and high spending would be to the bottom left as shown 
below.       

High 

 

 

 

Rank of 
performance 

 

 

Low 

  

High performance /  

high spend 

 

 

high performance /  

low spend 

 

  

low performance /  

high spend 

 

 

Low performance /  

low spend 

   

High                   Rank of spend per head                   Low 

 

Overall Performance vs Expenditure 

Looking at the overall position for 2016/17, Leicestershire is ranked 6 of 27 counties 
in performance terms. In terms of net spend per head Leicestershire is ranked 1 of 
27 counties i.e. among the lowest spending of all counties. This and the theme 
performance discussed below are shown in charts over the following pages.     

  

22

180



Theme
Overall Performance

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire
Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon

Dorset

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire
Hertfordshire

Kent

Lancashire

Leicestershire

Lincolnshire
Northamptonshire

Nottinghamshire

Oxfordshire

Somerset

Staffordshire

Suffolk

Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Worcestershire

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

Norfolk

North Yorkshire

23

181

rwilding
Highlight



Theme
Economy

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon
Dorset

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Leicestershire

Lincolnshire
Norfolk

North Yorkshire

Nottinghamshire

Somerset
Staffordshire

Suffolk

Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

Oxfordshire

Worcestershire

Northamptonshire

Lancashire

24

182

rwilding_1
Highlight



Theme
Transport & Highways

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon

Dorset

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Lancashire

Lincolnshire

Norfolk

North Yorkshire

Northamptonshire

Nottinghamshire

Oxfordshire

Somerset
Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Worcestershire

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

Leicestershire

Suffolk

Staffordshire

25

183

rwilding_2
Highlight



Theme
Adult Social Care

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon
Dorset

East Sussex

Essex Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Lancashire

Leicestershire

Lincolnshire

Norfolk

North Yorkshire

Northamptonshire

Nottinghamshire

Oxfordshire

Staffordshire

Suffolk

Surrey
Warwickshire

West Sussex

Worcestershire

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

Somerset

26

184

rwilding_3
Highlight



Theme
Public Health

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon

Dorset

East Sussex
Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Leicestershire

Lincolnshire
Norfolk

Northamptonshire

Nottinghamshire

Oxfordshire

Somerset

Staffordshire

Suffolk

Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

North Yorkshire

Worcestershire

Lancashire

27

185

rwilding_4
Highlight



Theme
Children's Social Care

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Cumbria

Derbyshire

Devon
Dorset

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Kent

Lancashire

Leicestershire

Lincolnshire

Norfolk

Northamptonshire

Nottinghamshire

Oxfordshire

Somerset
Staffordshire

Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Worcestershire

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

North Yorkshire

Suffolk

28

186

rwilding_5
Highlight



Theme
Waste

Comparator
Revenue
Deprivation

How to Read This Chart
The chart is divided up into quadrants based
upon average rank (reference lines) for all
indicators, and net revenue expenditure per
head for county councils only. Therefore
authorities in the top right quadrant are high
performing and low spending, while authorities
in the bottom left are low performing and high
spending. The 'Deprivation' comparator uses
local authority 2015 Multiple Deprivation rank. 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28

High <---                                           Comparator Rank                                            ---> Low

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28Lo
w
 <
--
-  
   

   
  I
nd
ic
at
or
 R
an
k 
(H
ig
h 
= 
be
tt
er
 p
er
fo
rm
in
g)
   
  

   
  -
--
> 
H
ig
h

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire

Derbyshire

Devon

Dorset

East Sussex

Essex

Gloucestershire

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Lancashire

Leicestershire
Lincolnshire

Norfolk

North Yorkshire

Northamptonshire

Nottinghamshire

Oxfordshire
Somerset

Staffordshire

Suffolk

Surrey

Warwickshire

West Sussex

Source: LAIT, ASCOF, Fingertips, various, 2018. Produced by the Business Intelligence Service, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

 LCC Performance Benchmarking - Themes

Revenue Rank (High = Higher Revenue per Head)

Cumbria

Worcestershire

29

187

rwilding_6
Highlight



Lower Comparative Performing Areas 2016/17 

The indicators listed below fall within the lower 4th quartile, which is defined as 
performance that falls within the bottom 25% of two tier county councils. 

Strong Economy 

Transport & Highways 

 Ease of Access (all) (NHT survey indicator KBI 03) 
 Bus journeys per head 

Opportunity, Wellbeing and Health 

Adult Social Care - survey based indicators 

 Social care-related quality of life score (1A) 
 The proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily life 

(1B) 
 Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their care and support (3A) 
 Overall satisfaction of carers with social services (3B) 
 The proportion of people who use services who find it easy to find information 

about support (3D1) 
 The proportion of people who use services who feel safe (4A) 

Public Health 

 Cumulative percentage of the eligible population aged 40-74 offered an NHS 
Health Check who received an NHS Health Check (2.22iv) 

 Proportion of five year old children free from dental decay (4.02) 

Best Start in Life 

 % of inspected early years providers rated good or outstanding 
 % Achieving Good Level of Development at Foundation Stage (pupils eligible for 

free school meals) 

Keeping People Safe 

Safeguarding Children and Looked After Children 

 Emotional Health of Looked After Children 
 % Looked After Children with up to date immunisations 
 % Looked After Children receiving a dental check 

Communities 

Waste 

 Total waste per household 

30

188



Libraries 

 Library visits (per 1,000 pop.) 
 Library issues (per 1,000 pop.) 
 Other library indicators covering stock, borrowers, public computers  

Housing - none 

 

Lower Performing Areas – Partnerships 

Police and Crime 

 Burglary Rate (per 1,000 pop.) (Includes residential, business & community) 
 Theft other (per 1,000 pop.) 
 Vehicle crime (per 1,000 pop.) 

Schools and Academies - none 

  

31

189



 

Theme Performance Dashboards 2017/18  

Introduction 

In order to measure our progress against our priority outcomes we are tracking a 
number of key performance measures for each of the outcomes. These are 
summarised in a set of theme dashboards with ratings that show how our 
performance compares with other areas where known, whether we have seen any 
improvement in performance since the previous year, and whether we have 
achieved any relevant targets. As well as this annual report, we also publish theme 
dashboards on our website on a quarterly basis so that our overall performance and 
progress is transparent.   

Initial analysis of 2017/18 end of year data shows that of 191 metrics (excluding 
schools and crime) 76 improved, 36 showed no real change and 59 got worse.  
Direction of travel cannot be determined for 20 indicators, due to the absence of 
previous data or changes to indicator definitions. More information on service 
performance and progress is set out in the individual theme sections of the report.  

 

Overview of Performance Improvement and Reduction 

The paragraphs that follow review each theme dashboard, highlighting indicators 
that have shown improvement compared to the previous period, as well as those that 
have worsened.  

Strong Economy 

Overview 

This dashboard provides a high level overview of the Leicestershire economy. 
Looking at the 8 performance indicators, 6 show improvement compared to the 
previous period. These indicators covered economic growth, broadband delivery, 
business creation and survival. The 2 other indicators had no previous or new data. 

Employment and Skills 

This dashboard covers the skills of the local population, as well as employment and 
unemployment. Looking at the 12 performance indicators, 4 show improvement 
compared to the previous period. These indicators cover apprenticeships, % with 
NVQ 4+ qualification levels and gross weekly pay. The employment, unemployment 
and NEET rates remained broadly unchanged. Four indicators covering JSA 
claimants and skill levels showed small deteriorations in performance. 

  

32

190



Transport 

This dashboard covers transport infrastructure including road condition, journey 
times, bus usage and road safety. Looking at the 11 performance indicators, 4 
display improvement compared to the previous period. These indicators cover road 
safety, satisfaction with cycle routes and business concerns about congestion. Five 
indicators remain similar and these covered average vehicle speeds, satisfaction 
with traffic levels, road condition and gritting. Two indicators show a decline in 
performance: CO2 emissions from road transport and bus passenger numbers. 

Housing – Affordable and Quality Homes  

This dashboard covers the supply of new housing. Looking at the 11 indicators, 2 
show an improvement (new RSL owned dwellings and units of specialist/extra care 
housing), while 4 deteriorated (supply of new homes, purchase affordability, 
households living in temporary accommodation and units of supported 
accommodation for working age adults). The % of adults with a learning disability 
who live in their own home or with their family remain similar to the previous year, 
while 4 other indicators had no previous or new data. All indicators with comparative 
data display above average performance. 

Wellbeing – Health and Care 

Health and Care   

The first dashboard covers work with health partners to reduce admissions to 
hospital and residential care, and facilitate discharge from hospital and reablement. 
A number of the indicators have associated Better Care Fund (BCF) targets. Looking 
at the 9 performance indicators, 3 display improvement compared to the previous 
period (covering delayed transfers of care from hospital and admissions of older 
people to residential care). Three indicators covering admissions to care and hospital 
show deterioration. Three indicators display similar performance to the previous 
year: 2 covering reablement remain above average, while the metric for service 
users who find it easy to find information about support remains in the bottom 
quartile. 

The second dashboard covers adult social care services including support for carers. 
Five of the 14 indicators are derived from nationally mandated surveys. Looking at 
the 14 performance indicators, 2 show an improvement in performance: % of care 
homes requiring improvement or inadequate and the dementia diagnosis rate. Seven 
indicators show a decline in performance. These cover service users receiving direct 
payments and cash payments, service users perceiving that they have control over 
their daily life, overall satisfaction with care and support, social care related quality of 
life, % of home care providers requiring improvement or inadequate and the gap in 
employment rate for those in contact with secondary mental health services. Three 
indicators display similar results: carers receiving direct payments and cash 
payments, and % of adults with a learning disability in paid employment. Two 
indicators derived from the biennial carer’s survey did not have new data this year. 

  

33

191



Public Health 

This dashboard covers adult health. Looking at the 19 indicators, 7 show an 
improvement compared to the previous period, while 6 deteriorated and 5 show no 
change. Data was not available for 1 indicator. The indicators that have improved 
cover life expectancy, healthy life expectancy (males), cancer mortality, mortality for 
preventative causes, smoking prevalence and alcohol related admissions. The 
indicators displaying lower performance are the gap in life expectancy between the 
best and worst-off, CVD mortality, respiratory disease mortality, non-opiate drug 
treatment and adult obesity. The indicators with similar performance were healthy life 
expectancy (females), opiate drug treatment, NHS health checks, and physical 
activity/inactivity. 

Best Start in Life 

This dashboard covers child health and early years services. Looking at the 13 
indicators, 8 showed an improvement compared to the previous period, while 2 
deteriorated and 1 showed no change. Data was not available for 2 indicators. The 
indicators that have improved cover smoking in pregnancy, 5 year old dental decay, 
quality of early years provision, take up of free early education by 3 and 4 years olds, 
achievement of a good level of development at school reception age, excess weight 
at primary age and under 18 conceptions. The indicators displaying lower 
performance are the inequality gap in achievement across early learning goals and 
chlamydia diagnoses, where the aim is to increase the detection rate. The indicator 
with similar performance was the take-up of free early education by 2 year olds. 

Mental Health 

This dashboard covers mental health and wellbeing. Looking at the 7 indicators, 1 
improved, 2 deteriorated, 1 stayed the same and 3 had no data available.  The 
indicator showing improvement was the suicide rate, while the % of people with a 
low happiness score and the % of people with a high anxiety score both deteriorated.  

Opportunity  

Schools and Academies 

This dashboard covers school admissions, school quality, and attainment including a 
focus on vulnerable groups. Looking at the 13 indicators, 6 show an improvement 
compared to the previous period, while 4 deteriorated and 3 show no change. Data 
was not available for 4 indicators. The 6 indicators showing improvement covered % 
offered first choice primary school, Key Stage 1 and 2 attainment and progress 
between these two stages in reading, writing and maths. The indicators showing a 
decline in performance were % of pupils offered first choice secondary school, % of 
schools assessed as good or outstanding, Key Stage 2 attainment for pupils eligible 
for free school meals and pupils with special educational needs (SEND) achieving 
Attainment 8. The indicators showing no change covered % of special schools 
assessed as good or outstanding (currently 100%), Key Stage 2 attainment for pupils 
with SEND and the secondary persistent absence rate. 

 

34

192



Keeping People Safe  

Safeguarding Children, Families and Vulnerable Adults 

This dashboard covers Early Help services, child safeguarding and looked after 
children. Looking at the 19 indicators, 9 show improvement compared to the 
previous period, while 6 display a decline in performance and 2 showed no change. 
Data was not available for 2 indicators. The 9 indicators showing improvement were 
the number of families and individuals supported by Early Help Services, % of 
Payment by Results families outcomes met, % children in care with 3 or more 
placements in year, looked after children’s health checks, immunisations and 
emotional health, care leavers in education employment or training, and time to 
place with prospective adopters. The 6 indicators showing lower performance cover 
timeliness of single assessment, re-referrals to children’s social care, review of child 
protection cases, repeat child protection plans, children in the same placement for 2+ 
years and the % of children waiting 14 months or less for adoption. The 2 indicators 
displaying similar performance are care leavers in suitable accommodation and 
looked after children’s dental checks. 

Safer Communities 

This dashboard covers youth justice, domestic abuse and adult safeguarding. The 
dashboard contains 10 indicators, of which 3 show improvement compared to the 
previous period, 5 deteriorated and 1 shows no change. Data was not available for 1 
indicator. The 3 indicators showing improvement were first time entrants to youth 
justice, youth re-offending and the achievement of desired outcomes for adult 
safeguarding enquiries. The indicators showing lower performance were young 
people sentenced to custody, perceptions of anti-social behaviour, users of adult 
social care who say services made them feel safe, adult safeguarding alerts raised 
and % of adult safeguarding enquiries substantiated. The % of domestic violence 
cases reviewed at MARAC that are repeat incidents shows no change. 

Police and Crime 

This dashboard includes indicators for total crime as well as specific crime types 
covering burglary, vehicle crime, violence and criminal damage. With the exception 
of the burglary rate, all other indicators show lower performance than in the previous 
year. Three indicators now fall within the bottom (worst) quartile compared to other 
two-tier county areas: burglary, vehicle and theft rates, while three indicators 
(violence against the person, criminal damage and sexual offences) remain within 
the top quartile. 

Communities 

Environment and Waste 

This dashboard covers waste management and the County Council’s environmental 
impact. It includes 11 indicators, of which 7 show improvement compared to the 
previous period and 4 deterioration. The 7 indicators showing improvement are total 
waste per household, CO2 emissions from councils operations, buildings and street 
lighting, business mileage, renewable energy generated and CO2 emissions per 

35

193



capita in the county.  The 4 indicators showing lower performance are household 
waste recycled, % of collected waste sent to landfill and 2 indicators covering to 
waste and recycling from the council’s own operations. 

Great Communities 

This dashboard covers libraries, cohesion and volunteering. Looking at the 15 
indicators, 6 showed improvement compared to the previous period, while 3 
displayed a decline in performance and 4 showed no change. Data was not available 
for 1 indicator. The 6 indicators showing improvement are % of survey respondents 
giving unpaid help, local election turnout, Library Service issues, children's issues, e-
downloads and the number of communities running their own library. The 3 
indicators showing lower performance are the % of users of adult social care 
services who had sufficient social contact, % of respondents agreeing that they can 
influence County Council decisions and library visits. The 4 indicators showing no 
change were % agreeing people from different backgrounds get on well, people 
willing to work with others to improve their neighbourhood, satisfaction with the local 
area as a place to live, and visits to heritage sites. 

Corporate Enablers 

This dashboard covers customer service, digital delivery, procurement and the 
Council workforce. Looking at the 19 indicators, 7 show improvement compared to 
the previous period, 6 display a decline in performance and 6 show no change. The 
7 indicators showing improvement covered the County Council website star rating 
and visits, procurement savings, days lost to sickness absence, RIDDOR health and 
safety incidents, % of workforce of a BME background and % managers that are 
female. The 6 indicators showing lower performance cover perceptions of the County 
Council, media rating, commendations received and the Stonewall Workplace 
Equality Index Ranking. The 6 indicators displaying no change are satisfaction with 
the Customer Service Centre, complaints received, speed of response to complaints, 
staff satisfaction, staff perception of the Council’s commitment to equality and  
diversity, and % of the workforce that is disabled. 

  

36

194



Explanation of Performance Indicator Dashboards 

The performance dashboards set out year end results for a number of the 
performance indicators (PIs) that are used to help us monitor whether we are 
achieving our priority outcomes. These outcomes have been identified within our 
Strategic Plan. Many indicators relate to more than one theme, but in this report, 
each indicator has been assigned to just one theme. 

Where relevant, the performance sections show 2017/18 year end outturn against 
performance targets (where applicable), together with comparative performance 
information where available and commentary. Where it is available, the dashboards 
indicate which quartile Leicestershire’s performance falls into. The 1st quartile is 
defined as performance that falls within the top 25% of relevant comparators. The 
4th quartile is defined as performance that falls within the bottom 25% of relevant 
comparators. Each dashboard uses different comparator groups and these are 
explained at the bottom of each dashboard. The polarity column indicates whether a 
high or low figure represents good performance. 

Of the current comparative analysis out of 144 indicators 38 are top quartile, 54 
second quartile, 25 third quartile and 27 fourth quartile.  The report uses 
performance dashboards for each theme to display performance data so that 
important information and risks can be identified more readily. A dashboard is a 
visual display of the most important information so that it can be monitored at a 
glance. A red circle indicates a performance issue, whereas a green tick indicates 
exceptional performance. The direction of travel arrows indicate an improvement or 
deterioration in performance compared to the previous result. 

37

195



Fair Funding
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Finance & Value For Money

* Core Spending Power per head of population 4th ↑ £677
Fair 

Funding
£653 High

Leicestershire has the lowest core spending power per head of 27 
county councils nationally which poses a risk to service delivery 
going forwards ‐ fair funding campaign proposing new funding 
model.

* Net expenditure per head of population 4th → £504 MTFS £502 High As above

* Education ‐ expenditure per head of population 4th ↓ £314 MTFS £337 High
Education spend per head is the lowest of 27 county councils 
nationally.

* Adult Social Care ‐ expenditure per head of population 4th ↑ £214 MTFS £209 High
Adult Social Care spend per head is the lowest of 27 county councils 
nationally.

* Children's Social Care ‐ expenditure per head of population 4th ↑ £99 MTFS £89 High
Children's Social Care spend per head is the 2nd lowest of 27 county 
councils nationally.

* Public Health ‐ expenditure per head of population 4th ↓ £38 MTFS £40 High
Public Health spend per  head is the 3rd lowest of 27 county councils 
nationally.

* Highways & Transport ‐ expenditure per head of population 3rd ↑ £46 MTFS £38 High
Highways & Transport spend per  head is the 8th lowest of 27 
county councils nationally.

*
Environment & Regulatory ‐ expenditure per head of 
population

3rd ↓ £41 MTFS £46 High
Environment & Regulatory spend per  head is the 9th lowest of 27 
county councils nationally.

* Culture ‐ expenditure per head of population 2nd ↑ £17 MTFS £14 High
Culture spend per head increased for 2017/18 and was the 7th 
highest of 27 counties. The increase is due to ‘one off’ technical 
revaluations of Libraries linked to community transfers.

* Efficiencies and other savings achieved  ‐ N/A £17.8m £16.4m £26.2m High
Efficiencies and savings achieved during 2017/18 were greater than 
the annual target due to early delivery of some transformation 
projects.

% agree County Council provides value for money 1st/2nd ↓ 60.4% 69.8% High

The Authority receives the second lowest funding of all county 
councils. For 2018/19 the Authority increased Council Tax by 2.99% 
and levied the government's 3% adult social care precept. The result 
is significantly better than the England average of 48% (LGA Survey).

% affected by spending cuts ‐ N/A 21.4% N/A Low
The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18.

* Leicestershire Traded Services operating profit ‐ ↑ £2.2m £2.4m £1.7m High
Further development of traded services has taken place during 
2017/18.

Notes:   Comparators are other county councils.

38

196



Strong Economy
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Right Infrastructure for Sustainable Growth

* Productivity and competitiveness (total Gross Value Added to 
local economy) (Leics, Leicester & Rutland)

‐ ↑ £24.2bn £23.7bn High
Continued growth in the local economy. Data shown is for 2016 and 
2015. 

* Productivity and competitiveness (Gross Value Added to local 
economy per head) (Leics & Rutland)

2nd ↑ £22,920 £22,579 High As above

* % of premises with access to high speed broadband ‐ ↑ 96% 95% High
There are now 90,000 additional premises with access to high speed 
broadband.

* % take up of new high speed broadband  2nd ↑ 48.6% 43.9% High
The figures are for Broadband Delivery UK Phase 1 (data is for June 
and December 2017)

* Private sector funding secured to deliver infrastructure 
(Section 106)

‐ ↓ £9.6m £12m High Amounts vary depending upon development activity.

Businesses are supported to flourish

* Business confidence ‐ N/A +9% N/A High
Source: LLEP Business Survey. The figure shown is positive minus 
negative for how business conditions are expected to change over 
the next 2 years.

* Number of new enterprises per 10,000 population  1st ↑ 64.2 50.1 High

The Council has encouraged business growth and survival by 
investing in enterprises through allocating Regional Growth Funds to 
businesses and setting up a business gateway that provides advice 
and guidance. Data shown is for 2016 and 2015.  

* 3 year business survival rates   1st ↑ 65.2% 62.8% High
A range of business growth and business support initiatives continue 
to support business survival.  Data shown is for 2016 and 2015.

Notes:   Comparators are other county councils

39

197



Strong Economy ‐ Employment & Skills
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Highly skilled and employable workforce

* % achieving a Level 2 qualification by the age of 19 3rd ↓ 83.2% 85.3% High
Leicestershire saw a small reduction in 19 year olds qualified to 
Level 2.

*
% of working age population with at least NVQ 2 level 
qualifications

2nd ↓ 76.5% 79.9% High

Equivalent to 5 GCSEs at A* to C ‐ considered labour market entry 
qualification. Work continues to progress improvements in skills. 
(Data shown is from the ONS Annual Population Survey for year to 
December 2017)

*
% of working age population with at least NVQ 3 level 
qualifications

2nd ↓ 58.7% 61.4% High
Work continues to progress improvements in skills. (Data shown is 
from the ONS Annual Population Survey for year to December 2017)

*
% of working age population with at least NVQ 4 level 
qualifications

2nd ↑ 36.2% 35.2% High As above.

*
% businesses experiencing difficulties recruiting staff in the 
past 12 months

‐ N/A 28.0% Low Source: LLEP Business Survey. 

*
Number of apprentices employed by Leicestershire County 
Council  ‐ ↑ 200 70

Large increase following a drive to meet the 2.3% target of 
apprenticeship starts as a proportion of the workforce for each 
financial year.

Number of apprentices enrolled on Adult learning Service 
programmes who work for other employers  ‐ ↑ 381 288

Large increase, partly linked to the introduction of the 
apprenticeship levy and associated targets.

* % Out‐Of‐Work Benefit claimants (JSA) 1st ↓ 1.0% 0.8% Low
Rate has remained at 1.1% or below for the past 3 years and is lower 
than the regional (1.8%) and national positions (2.1%).  (Data shown 
is for March 2018). 

* Unemployment rate 3rd → 3.7% 3.6% Low
The rate is lower (better) than the regional (4.1%) and national 
positions (4.3%), but is worse than the average for county councils. 
Data shown is for year to March 2017.

Employment rate 3rd → 77.5% 77.4% High
The rate is higher (better) than the regional (74.7%) and national 
positions (75.0%), but is worse than the average for county councils. 
Data shown is for year to March 2017.

*
16 to 17 year olds who are not in education employment or 
training (NEET)

1st 
(2015/16) → 2.2% 2.2% Low The result remains consistently low

* Gross weekly pay  ‐ all full time workers 2nd ↑ £540.20 £531.00 High

Notes:   Comparators are other county councils

40

198



Opportunity: School & Academy Performance
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Access to good quality education

* % of pupils offered first choice primary school 3rd ↑ 93.0% 92% 91.4% High
The number of pupils offered their first choice primary school 
increased for 2017/18.

* % of pupils offered first choice secondary school 2nd ↓ 91.0% 95% 93.3% High
The number of pupils offered their first choice secondary school was 
slightly lower in 2017/18.

* % of schools assessed as good or outstanding 2nd ↓ 88.7% 90.1% High
The number of good or outstanding schools remains high but is 
slightly below the 2016/17 level.

Key Stage 1

*
Key Stage 1 expected standard or above in Reading, Writing 
and Maths

1st (2016) ↑ 63.9% 62.7% High Increase compared to 2017.

Key Stage 2

*
Achievement of expected standard or above in Reading, 
Writing and Maths at Key Stage 2   1st ↑ 65.3% 61.4% High Increased performance compared to 2017.

*
% pupils eligible for Free School Meals achieving expected 
standard in Reading, Writing & Maths at KS2

2nd (2017) ↓ 36.7% 38.2% High

Reading progress between Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 3rd (2017) ↑ ‐0.28 ‐0.50 High Improved performance compared to 2017.

Writing progress between Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 3rd (2017) ↑ 0.01 ‐0.40 High Improved performance compared to 2017.

Maths progress between Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2  2nd (2017) ↑ ‐0.19 ‐0.80 High Improved performance compared to 2017.

Key Stage 4 & 5
* Attainment 8 (attainment in 8 subjects at GCSE level)  2nd ↑ 46.1 45.7 High

* Attainment 8  ‐ pupils eligible for Free School Meals 3rd (2017) → 31.5 32.0 High
The attainment of pupils eligible for Free School Meals remains a 
priority in Leicestershire.

*
Progress 8 (measure covering overall Key Stage 2‐4 progress)

2nd ↑ ‐0.03 ‐0.11 High

* Average points score at 'A' Level (or equivalent) 3rd → 212.6 212.7 High

41

199



Opportunity: School & Academy Performance
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Vulnerable groups

% of special schools assessed as good or outstanding  1st → 100% 100% High All special schools are now rated as good or outstanding.

*
Pupils with special educational needs achieving expected 
standard or above at KS2 (Reading, Writing and Maths)

3rd (2017) → 6.9% 6.8% High Similar to the 2017 result.

* Pupils with special educational needs achieving Attainment 8 2nd (2017) ↓ 15.3% 19.5% High

* Secondary school persistent absence rate  3rd (2017) → 13.1% 12.8% Low
Secondary school persistent absence is similar, although slightly 
higher, than 2016/17.

Notes:  Responsibility of schools and academies with support from Leicestershire Education Excellence Partnership (LEEP). Comparators are other county councils. 

42

200



Strong Economy ‐ Transport
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Strategic Transport Infrastructure

*
Average vehicle speeds during the weekday morning peak 
(7am‐10am) on locally managed ‘A’ roads in Leicestershire 
(mph)

2nd (2016) → 31.3 
(2017)

30.3 
(2020/21)

31.7 
(2016)

High
In 2015 DfT changed the way in which they calculate this indicator 
to incorporate every day of the year.  The average speed remains 
above the target for 2020/21

Satisfaction with traffic levels & congestion (NHT 
satisfaction survey)

2nd (2017) → 37.1% 42% 37.7% High
Slight reduction in satisfaction compared to the previous year, 
satisfaction levels have been largely static for this indicator for the 
last four years.

* % of businesses citing concerns about traffic congestion ‐ ↑ 28% Reduction 37% Low

The percentage of employers who perceived a reduction in 
congestion would significantly benefit them declined from 37% 
(LLEP Business survey 2015) to 28% (LLEP Business survey 2017), 
showing an improvement in performance for this indicator.

Total CO2 emissions in the local authority area originating 
from road transport (BEIS) (kilotonnes).

2nd (2016) ↓ 1878 
(2016)

<1797
1820 
(2015)

Low
Emissions declined in performance from 2015 to 2016. The Council 
continues its work to reduce emissions through a variety of 
schemes. 

Sustainable Transport & Road Maintenance

*
% of the classified road network (A, B and C class roads) 
where structural maintenance should be considered 
(SCANNER)

 ‐ → 2% 5‐6% 2% Low
The condition of Leicestershire highways remains at a very good 
level and is amongst the best in the country.

% of network gritted  ‐ → 45% 45% 45% High

We expect to grit all of our priority routes 1 and 2 (which cover 
45% of the network). In 2017/18 we successfully gritted all of these 
routes equivalent to 20,000 tonnes of salt across 115,740 miles of 
road.  The Council completed 1,256 night runs, a 41% increase on 
last year reflecting the most challenging conditions in recent years.

*
Overall satisfaction with the condition of highways (NHT 
satisfaction survey)  1st (2017) → 39.5% top quartile 40.0% High

Despite a slight reduction in satisfaction Leicestershire remains the 
top ranked county and the 11th highest overall (of 112) for 
satisfaction in the NHT 2017 survey.

Satisfaction with cycle routes/lanes & facilities (NHT 
satisfaction)  1st (2017) ↑ 41.8% 47.0% 40.9% High

Satisfaction with this indicator improved slightly since 2016. 
Leicestershire was ranked in the top quartile compared to 
participating counties in the NHT 2017.

* Number of bus journeys
4th 

(2016/17) ↓ 13.22m 13.6m 13.78m High

There has been a decrease in overall passenger journeys compared 
to 2016/17. Over the year, there had been a number of registration 
changes to the commercial network involving route changes or 
service reductions which had impacted upon passenger journey 
figures. Nationally there has been a decline in patronage.

43

201



Strong Economy ‐ Transport
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Road Safety (Keeping People Safe)

* Total casualties on our roads  1st (2017) ↑ 1194 1638 1705 low
2017 saw a significant reduction in overall casualties on 
Leicestershire roads following changes in police reporting 
procedures.

* People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents 1st (2017)  ↑ 213 178 225 low
Although 2017 saw the lowest number of KSI casualties since 2013, 
we remain above the trajectory set to achieve the long term target 
of 167 by 2020.

Notes:   Comparators are other county councils

44

202



Housing ‐ Affordable & Quality Homes
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Right number and type of homes in the right places

* 5 Year Supply of Deliverable Sites ‐ housing units ‐ N/A 26,096 High

* Total new dwellings 1st ↓ 3,140 4,716 3,660 High

This has been falling since 2015/16 and has dipped below the 
Leicestershire average of 3,318, showing a decline in performance. 
The target is a notional annual target to meet the annual 
requirement for new housing identified in the Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) (Quartile is new 
dwellings per 10k population).

* New dwellings ‐ Registered Social Landlord owned 1st ↑ 680 580 High
2017/18 shows an 15.5% increase in this indicator. (Quartile is new 
dwellings per 10k population).

* % agree that local housing meets local needs
2nd 

(2015/16)
N/A 58.4% NA High

The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18. This is a new indicator.  However, this has 
declined in performance each quarter since the beginning of 
2017/18.

*
Housing affordability ‐ ratio of lower quartile house price to 
lower quartile earnings

2nd ↓ 8.45 8.13 Low

This has increased slightly since the previous year, showing a decline 
in performance. The least affordable places to purchase property in 
Leicestershire is in Harborough, Oadby & Wigston and Melton. 
(DCLG data.)

*
Number of households living in temporary accommodation 
(per 1,000 households)

2nd 
(2016/17) ↓ 0.4 0.38 Low This has doubled since 2014‐15 (0.2).

Enough suitable housing for those with care needs

*
Number of units of supported accommodation for working 
age adults (PD/LD/MH) 

‐ ↓ 282 318

*
Number of units of specialist accommodation / extra care 
housing 

‐ ↑ 259 197 High
Increase due to opening of Waterside Court, a 62 unit extra care 
scheme in November 2017

*
% of adults with a learning disability who live in their own 
home or with their family (ASCOF 1G)

2nd 
(2016/17) → 80.3% 80% 79.4% High

The proportion of people with a learning disability aged 18‐64 who 
live in settled accommodation has improved during the past few 
years and at 80% remains high.

Development does not have a negative impact

* Number of Local Plans adopted within the last 5 years ‐ N/A 4
This includes Local Plans for Blaby, Charnwood, North West Leics, 
Oadby and Wigston BCs.

* Number of Local Plans adopted with conservation policies ‐ N/A 4 All the above include conservation policies

Notes:   Comparators are other county councils

45

203



Wellbeing ‐ Health & Care
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Unified Prevention, Information & Urgent Response

*
Permanent admissions of older people to residential and 
nursing care homes per 100,000 pop (ASCOF 2A Pt II) (BCF)

2nd ↑ 547.9 630.6 632.7 Low
There was a reduction in the number of people aged 65 or over 
permanently admitted to residential or nursing homes during 
2017/18 compared to the previous year.

*
Permanent admissions to residential or nursing care of 
service users aged 18‐64 per 100,000 pop (ASCOF 2A Pt I)

1st ↓ 9.0 6.1 7.1 Low
There was an increase in the number of people aged 18‐64 
permanently admitted to residential or nursing homes during 
2017/18 compared to the previous year.

*
Non‐elective admissions to hospital per 100,000 pop per 
month  (BCF)

2nd ↓ 816.31 737.92 760.4 Low
Non‐elective admissions to hospital continue to be higher than 
planned for and additional work is underway to tackle this. Actions 
progressing through BCF plan implementation.

*
Admissions from injuries due to falls per 100,000 pop per 
month (BCF) ↓ 149.6 133.6 Low

There were 2,186 emergency admissions for injuries due to falls for 
residents of Leicestershire aged 65 and over in 2016/17.

*
% of people who use services who find it easy to find 
information about support (ASCOF 3D part 1)

4th → 68.6% 71.0% 70.1% High
The proportion of service users who found it easy to find 
information in 2017/18 was similar to the previous year

Improved Discharge & Reablement

*
Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 pop per 
month (BCF)  2nd ↑ 249.88 312.19 377.10 Low

This indicator measures the number of bed‐days taken up due to a 
delay in hospital discharge. Data shown is for the final quarter of 
each year.

*
Delayed transfers of care attributable to adult social care 
only ‐ average days per month   1st ↑ 188 227 248 Low

There was considerable improvement in the number of delayed 
transfers of care attributable to adult social care in 2017/18, 
particularly during the second half of the year. Compared to 15 
similar shire authorities Leicestershire were ranked second highest 
in performance.

*
% of people aged 65+ still at home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services 
(ASCOF 2B Pt I) (BCF)

2nd → 86.1% 87.0% 86.5% High
Performance in 2017/18 was similar to the previous year although 
fell just short of the BCF target.

*
% of people receiving reablement with no subsequent long‐
term service (ASCOF 2D)

2nd → 80.4% 80.0% 80.2% High
ASCOF 2D measures the proportion of people who had no need for 
ongoing services following reablement.  During 2017/18 
performance was similar to the previous year and met the target.

Notes: ASCOF benchmarks are compared to all social services authorities
BCF indicator targets are for 2017/18. 'ASCOF' refers to the Department of Health Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework

46

204



Wellbeing ‐ Health & Care
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Personalisation

*
% of people who use services who have control over their 
daily life (ASCOF 1B)

4th ↓ 74.6% 77.8% High
The proportion of service users stating that they have control over 
their daily life dropped slightly from the previous year.

% of people using social care who receive self‐directed 
support (national, ASCOF 1C Pt 1a)     

3rd ↓ 94.4% 97.0% 95.5% High
The proportion of people in receipt of a personal budget has 
reduced slightly on last year.

% of carers receiving self‐directed support (ASCOF 1C Pt 1b) 2nd → 99.7% 99.0% 99.7% High
The proportion of carers in receipt of a personal budget remained 
similar in 2017/18 to the proportion in the previous year.

% of service users receiving support via cash payments 
(ASCOF 1C Pt 2a)   

1st ↓ 53.8% 45.0% 55.4% High
A small reduction in the proportion of service users with a direct 
payment, although this remains very high compared to other local 
authorities.

% of carers receiving direct payments (ASCOF 1C Pt 2b) 2nd → 97.0% 96.0% 96.7% High
The proportion of carers with a direct payment remains similar to 
the previous year.

Dementia

* Dementia diagnosis rate by GPs 2nd (Eng.) ↑ 70.0% 66.7% 68.6% High

The rate of persons aged 65 and over with a recorded diagnosis of 
dementia per person estimated to have dementia given the 
characteristics of the population and the age and sex specific 
prevalence rates. 

Care Quality
Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their 
care and support (ASCOF 3A)

4th ↓ 58.3% N/A 65.3% High The level of satisfaction reduced during 2017/18.  

Overall satisfaction of carers with their care and support 
(ASCOF 3B)

4th 
(2016/17)

N/A N/A N/A 31.2% High
The figure is taken from the biennial survey of carers and will next 
take place in autumn 2018.

% of Care Homes requiring improvement or inadequate ‐ 
rating

‐ ↑ 13% N/A 18% Low Indicator based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) data.

% of Home Care Providers requiring improvement or 
inadequate ‐ rating

‐ ↓ 13% N/A 10% Low Indicator based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) data.

* Social care related quality of life (ASCOF 1A) 4th ↓ 18.4 N/A 18.9 High
This measure is drawn from a number of questions in the annual 
survey of service users including such topics as control over daily 
life, how time is spent, and social contact.  

* Carers reported quality of life (ASCOF 1D)
3rd 

(2016/17)
N/A N/A N/A 7.5 High

The figure is taken from the biennial survey of carers and will next 
take place in autumn 2018.

People reach their potential

*
% of adults with a learning disability in paid employment 
(ASCOF 1E)

1st → 11.2% 11.0% 11.1% High
The proportion of people aged 18‐64 with a learning disability 
known to the council who are in paid employment remains high at 
11%

*
Gap in employment rate between those in contact with 
secondary mental health services and the overall rate

4th 
(2016/17) ↓ 74.40% 70.10% Low Data is for 2016/17 and 2015/16

Notes: ASCOF benchmarks are compared to all social services authorities. 'ASCOF' refers to the Department of Health Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework. 

47

205



Wellbeing ‐ Public Health
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Public Health

* Life Expectancy – Males (Leics) 
1st 

(Eng.) ↑ 80.7 80.5 High

Males in Leicestershire can expect to live over 1 year longer than the 
average for England. To reduce health inequalities we are tackling 
the wider determinants of health through a range of 
projects/activity. Latest data is for the period 2014‐16. 

* Life Expectancy – Females (Leics)
2nd         
(Eng.) ↑ 84.0 83.9 High

Females in Leicestershire can expect to live 0.9 years longer than the 
average for England. Latest data is for the period 2014‐16.

* Healthy Life Expectancy – Males (Leics) 
1st 

(Eng.) ↑ 65.2 63.6 High
Males in Leicestershire can expect to live almost 2 healthy years 
longer than the average for England (63.3 years). Latest data is for 
the period 2014‐16. 

* Healthy Life Expectancy – Females (Leics)
2nd         
(Eng.) → 65.8 65.8 High

Females in Leicestershire can expect to live almost 2 healthy years 
longer than the average for England (63.9 years). Latest data is for 
the period 2014‐16.

Slope Index of Inequalities – Males (Leics) ‐ ↓ 6.2 6.1 Low
The gap in life expectancy between the best‐off and worst‐off males 
in Leicestershire for 2014‐16 is 6.2 years. Ranked 5th best out of 16 
similar areas.

Slope Index of Inequalities – Females (Leics) ‐ ↓ 5.3 4.8 Low
The gap in life expectancy between the best‐off and worst‐off 
females in Leicestershire for 2014‐16 is 5.3 years.  Ranked 10th best 
out of 16 similar areas.

* Under 75 CVD Mortality (per 100,000 population)
2nd         
(Eng.) ↓ 62.8 62 Low

A variety of work contributes to reducing cardiovascular disease. 
Latest data is for the period 2014‐16.

* Under 75 Cancer Mortality (per 100,000 population) 
1st         

(Eng.) ↑ 123.4 124.5 Low
Various actions to help people to adopt healthier lifestyles and 
become more aware of cancer risk factors. Latest data is for the 
period 2014‐16.

* Under 75 Respiratory Disease Mortality (per 100,000 
population)

1st         
(Eng.) ↓ 24.9 24 Low

Public health advice and support and wider prevention programmes 
for respiratory disease. Latest data is for the period 2014‐16

* Age standardised mortality for preventative causes for age 75 
and under 

1st         
(Eng.) ↑ 152.8 153.5 Low

* Prevalence of smoking among persons aged 18 years and 
over  

1st         
(Eng.) ↑ 12.1% 13.5% Low

A new stop smoking service began in 2017. Between 2011 and 2016, 
Leicestershire's smoking prevalence has been similar to the England 
average. In 2017, the smoking prevalence is significantly better than 
the national average. The England average in 2017 is 14.9%.

48

206



Wellbeing ‐ Public Health
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Rate of hospital admissions for alcohol related causes (per 
100,000 population ‐ Leics) 

2nd         
(Eng.) ↑ 578 592 Low

Leicestershire has performed better than the England average since 
2011/12. Latest data is for period 2016/17. 

* % who successfully completed drug treatment (non‐opiate)
2nd
(Eng.) ↓ 35.7% 40.5% High

Data shows completions in 2016 with non re‐presentations up to 6 
months.  The data presented is for Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined.

* % who successfully completed drug treatment (opiate)
3rd         
(Eng.) → 6.6% 6.8% High

Data shows completions in 2016 with non re‐presentations up to 6 
months. The data presented is for Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined.

Cumulative percentage of the eligible population aged 40‐74 
offered an NHS Health Check who received an NHS Health 
Check in a five year period

3rd
(Eng.) → 43.1% 43.1% High

New health check service contract with the GPs has been agreed 
along with efforts to encourage pharmacies and GPs to work 
together to improve health check uptake. Data relates to the time 
period  2013/14 ‐ 2017/18.

* % of adults classified as overweight or obese (Leics)
2nd
(Eng.) ↓ 62.7% 60.9% Low

Data sourced from Active Lives Survey. Latest data is for period 
2016/17.

* % of physically active adults 2nd → 66.2% 66.5% High Latest data derived from the Active Lives Survey

* % of physically inactive adults 2nd → 21.7% 21.9% Low Latest data derived from the Active Lives Survey

% people presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection  ‐ N/A No data 43.1% Low No data is available for 2015‐17.

Notes: PHOF benchmarks are compared to all single / upper tier authorities

49

207



Wellbeing ‐ Best Start in Life
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

* Smoking at time of delivery (Leics & Rutland)
2nd         
(Eng.) ↑ 8.6% 10.0% Low

Significant decreasing trend has been witnessed over the past five 
years. The data presented is for Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined.

% Mothers initiating breastfeeding (where status is known) ‐ N/A No data 70.9% High
The latest data available is for 2015/16. No data is available in 
2016/17 due to data quality issues.

* Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6–8 weeks from birth (Leics) ‐ N/A No data No data High
No data is available in 2015/16 and 2016/17 due to data quality 
issues.

* Percentage of 5 year olds who are free from obvious dental 
decay

2nd         
(Eng.) ↑ 77.7% No data High

Compared to the last survey results in 2014/15, there has been a 
significant improvement in 5 year olds free from dental decay in 
Leicestershire in 2016/17. The latest data now performs similar to 
the national average.

* % of providers in early years assessed as good or outstanding 4th ↑ 96.0% 94.0% High Improvement compared to previous year.

* % take‐up of free early education by 2 year olds 2nd → 77.0% 77.0% High
Take up of free childcare places for 2 year olds has remained stable 
during the year

* % take‐up of free early education by 3 & 4 year olds  1st ↑ 100.0% 95.0% High Improvement compared to the previous year.

* % Achieving Good Level of Development (early years) 3rd ↑ 70.8% 70.2% High
Achievement in Leicestershire has risen for the fifth consecutive 
year.

* % Inequality gap in achievement across early learning goals 3rd ↓ 29.0% 28.3% Low
While overall achievement has improved (see above) the inequality 
gap has increased marginally, by 0.7%.

* Excess weight in primary school age children in Reception 
(Leics) 

1st         
(Eng.) ↑ 20.3% 21.3% Low

Improvement in performance from 21.3% in the previous year. 
Leicestershire now performs better than the England average of 
22.6%.

* Excess weight in primary school age children in Year 6 (Leics) 
1st         

(Eng.) ↑ 29.6% 31.3% Low
Improvement in performance from 31.3% in the previous year to 
29.6%. Leicestershire remains in the top quartile and performs better 
than the England average of 34.2%.

* Chlamydia diagnoses (per 100,000 aged 15‐24) (Leics)
2nd
(Eng.) ↓ 1887 1973 High

Slight decline in performance in chlamydia detection rate from 2016 
to 2017, however a significant increasing trend witnessed over the 
last five years.

* Under 18 conception (rate per 1,000 females aged 15‐17) 
(Leics)

1st         
(Eng.) ↑ 13.7 16.3 Low

Leicestershire's teenage pregnancy rate has dropped for the 9th 
consecutive year ‐ lower than East Midlands and England rates. 
Latest data is 2016.

Notes: PHOF benchmarks are compared to all single / upper tier authorities

50

208



Wellbeing ‐ Mental Health
Strategic 
Plan Description

Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Mental Health

* % of people with a low satisfaction score ‐ N/A No data No data Low

We are a key partner in the Better Care Together Mental Health 
workstream, with a range of interventions aimed at helping people 
avoid becoming ill ‐ focus on building wellbeing and resilience. No 
data is available for 2015/16 and 2016/17.

* % of people with a low happiness score
2nd         
(Eng.) ↓ 8.2% 6.9% Low

We are a key partner in the Better Care Together Mental Health 
workstream, with a range of interventions aimed at helping people 
avoid becoming ill ‐ focus on building wellbeing and resilience. Latest 
data is for period 2016/17. We are similar to the England average.

* % of people with a high anxiety score
2nd         
(Eng.) ↓ 19.9% 16.8% Low

We are a key partner in the Better Care Together Mental Health 
workstream, with a range of interventions aimed at helping people 
avoid becoming ill ‐ focus on building wellbeing and resilience. Latest 
data is for period 2016/17. We are similar to the England average.

* Excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with serious mental 
illness

‐ N/A No data 362.9 Low
A transformation plan is being progressed to strengthen community 
based support and access to specialist help. Latest data is for period 
2014/15. The average for England is 370.0

Suicide rate (per 100,000)
2nd
(Eng.) ↑ 8.9 9.3 Low

Suicide prevention programme developed. ‘Start a Conversation’ 
campaign aims to raises awareness of risks and show what support is 
available. Latest data is for period 2014‐16. The average for England 
is 9.9 per 100,000 population.

* % of patients that received treatment in Child & Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) within 4 weeks ‐ (urgent)

‐ N/A 66.2%
A revised indicator definition means that data for the previous year is 
not comparable.

* % of patients that received treatment in Child & Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) within 13 weeks ‐ (routine)

‐ → 96.0% 96.8% High A similar figure to 2017

Notes: PHOF benchmarks are compared to all single / upper tier authorities

51

209



Keeping People Safe ‐ Safeguarding Children, Families & Vulnerable Adults
Strategic 
Plan Description

Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Supporting Families & Early Help

Number of families supported by Early Help Services ‐ ↑ 1851 1659 High
The SLF service continues to support a high number of families in 
Leicestershire

* Number of individual involvements with Early Help Services ‐ ↑ 5043 4898 High
The Early Help Service continues to support a high number of 
families in Leicestershire

*
Payment by Results (PBR) families outcomes met ‐ SLF Phase 
2

1st ↑ 1185 2799 927 High

At the end of 2017/18 LCC had achieved 42% of the overall PBR 
Target number of families. This figure now stands at 1596 which 
equates to 57%, as there have been 2 subsequent PBR claims in 
2018/19.

Safeguarding Children

Single assessments completed within 45 working days 2nd ↓ 82.9% 85% 86.0% High The national framework has a target of 45 days for completion.

* % re‐referrals to children’s social care within 12 months 4th ↓ 29.9% 22% 17.0% Low The result is higher (worse) than the previous year.

*
Child protection cases which were reviewed within required 
timescales 

2nd ↓ 94.9% 100% 100% High The result is lower (worse) than the previous year.

*
Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan for 
a second or subsequent time

3rd ↓ 24.0% 19% 19.0% Low The result is higher (worse) than the previous year.

52

210



Keeping People Safe ‐ Safeguarding Children, Families & Vulnerable Adults
Strategic 
Plan Description

Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Looked After Children

*
Stability of placements ‐ children in care with 3 or more 
placements in year. 

2nd 
(2016/17) ↑ 8.8% 9% 9.8% Low

*
Stability of placements ‐ children in same placement for 2+ 
years or placed for adoption

2nd 
(2016/17) ↓ 67.5% 70% 69.3% High

* % Looked after children receiving health checks
2nd 

(2015/16) ↑ 78.6% 90% 62.7% High Specialist nurse for Looked After Children progressing improvements

* % Looked after children receiving dental checks
4th 

(2015/16 → 83.5% 90% 83.3% High Specialist nurse for Looked After Children progressing improvements

* % Looked after children receiving immunisations
4th 

(2015/16 ↑ 94.2% 81.2% High Specialist nurse for Looked After Children progressing improvements

* Emotional Health of looked after children ‐ mean SDQ score
4th 

(2016/17) ↑ 14.6% 16.9 Low

*
% children in care achieving expected standard or above in 
Reading, Writing and Maths at Key Stage 2

3rd (2017) N/A 22.2% High
The number of looked after children in each school year group is 
very small, so the results can fluctuate.

* % children in care achieving Attainment 8 3rd (2017) N/A 18.2% High

*
Care leavers aged 19, 20 and 21 in education, employment 
or training

2nd 
(2016/17) ↑ 55.1% 50% 52.0% High

Children in Care service working closely with Prospects to identify 
those in need of support.

* Care leavers aged 19, 20 and 21 in suitable accommodation
1st 

(2016/17) → 89.4% 80% 90.0% High

Total average time in days to place with prospective 
adopters

1st (2014‐
17) ↑ 414 466 Low

Range of initiatives to improve fostering and adoption. Data shows 3 
year average for 2014‐2017.

* % children who wait less than 14 months for adoption
1st 

(2016/17) ↓ 64.8% 66.0% High

Notes:  Children's Social Care data is provisional ‐ to be confirmed by DfE in winter 2018/19. Comparators are other county councils.

53

211



Keeping People Safe ‐ Safer Communities
Strategic 
Plan Description

Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17 Polarity Commentary

Youth Justice

*
Rate of proven reoffending by young people in the youth 
justice system    

1st 
(2015/16) ↑ 0.71 0.91 Low

Comparative data shows that performance remains consistently high 
compared to other areas.

*
Number of first time entrants to the criminal justice system 
aged 10 ‐ 17

1st 
(2016/17) ↑ 104 126 Low First time entrants have reduced further to 104 for 2017/18.

% of young people receiving a conviction in court who are 
sentenced to custody

1st 
(2016/17 ↓ 3.2% 1.3% Low The result equates to 6 young people.

Anti‐social Behaviour

*
% of people that agree ASB has decreased or stayed the 
same

‐ ↓ 80.7% 91.2% High
The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18.  Changes to the survey are likely to be a 
factor in the reduction.

Vulnerable People

*
Reported domestic abuse incident rate (per 1,000 
population)

‐ N/A 8.6 N/A 7.6 High
There has been a 13% increase in Domestic offences and incidents 
when compared to the previous year. Domestic abuse is known to 
be under reported, and the aim is to increase reporting of incidents.

*
% of domestic violence cases reviewed at MARAC that are 
repeat incidents

‐ → 30% 28%‐40% 30% NA
MARAC re‐referrals in the county are 30%. This is the same as in the 
previous financial year, and is within the SafeLives recommended 
threshold of between 28% and 40%.  

Safeguarding Adults

*
% of people who use services who say that those services 
have made them feel safe and secure (ASCOF 4B)

2nd ↓ 88.4% 90% 90.9% High
The proportion of people stating that the services they receive help 
them to feel safe remains high although fell slightly from the 
previous year.

* Number of safeguarding adults alerts raised ‐ ↓ 4,509 NA 4,297 Low
Safeguarding concerns include those cases where LCC receive 
reports of concern for a person's welfare, or where a safeguarding 
incident is reported.  

*
% of safeguarding adults enquiries substantiated or partly 
substantiated

‐ ↓ 46.0% NA 43.0% Low

Checks are made to see if a an enquiry meets safeguarding 
thresholds prior to it being opened and before the conclusion is 
known. Concluding a safeguarding enquiry as substantiated 
evidences that on the balance of probabilities, the abuse occurred.

Of safeguarding enquiries where an outcome was expressed, 
the % fully or partially achieved

‐ ↑ 95.0% NA 94.0% High
Outcomes expressed and achieved are part of the 'Making 
Safeguarding Personal' outcome measures which were introduced to 
develop an outcomes focus to safeguarding work.

Notes:  Comparators are other county councils, except where (Eng.) indicates that  comparison is with all English local authority areas.

54

212



Keeping People Safe ‐ Police & Crime
Strategic 
Plan

Description Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Crime Minimisation

* Total crime (per 1,000 population) 2nd ↓ 59.7 51.1 Low Total number of crimes is 17% higher than the previous year.

Total Burglary Rate (Includes residential, business & 
community)

4th → 7.6 7.3 Low

Burglary rates have shown large monthly variations since April 2017, 
however the overall  trend is stable. A change in the way Burglary is 
classified means a year on year comparison for residential  burglary 
or commercial burglary is not possible. 

Criminal damage and arson (per 1,000 population) 1st ↓ 7.3 6.8 Low Criminal damage rates have increased by 6.2%

Theft other (per 1,000 population) 4th ↓ 9 7.8 Low Theft has increased by 15%

Vehicle offences (per 1,000 population) 4th ↓ 8.3 7.2 Low

Vehicle crime has shown a steady increasing trend  over the last 12 
months with a 15% increase. There was a peak in vehicle crime in 
October 2017, since then there has been a positive 
decreasing/stabilising trend.

Public order offences (per 1,000 population) 2nd ↓ 2.8 1.7 Low Public Order Offences have shown a 66% increase.                                   

Violence against the person (per 1,000 population) 1st ↓ 15.3 11.0 Low
The number of reported violence with injury offences has risen by 
39%. This mirrors the national trend. However Leicestershire has low 
rates compared to other similar authorities.

Sexual offences (per 1,000 population) 1st ↓ 1.5 1.2 Low

There is a 26% increase in reporting of sexual offences. This 
continues a trend of increased reporting which is partly related to an 
increased confidence in reporting to the Police. Leicestershire has a 
low rate compared to other similar authorities.

% People who feel safe after dark 1st/2nd ↓ 85.4% 88.6% High
The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18. The result is significantly better than the 
England average of 75% (LGA Survey).

Notes:   Responsibility of Police & Crime Commissioner (published as part of overview & scrutiny role). Comparators are other county areas.

55

213



Great Communities ‐ Environment & Waste
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Waste Management

* Total household waste per household (kg) 
4th 

(2017/18) ↑ 1051 <1104 1094 Low

Total household waste has decreased slightly this year resulting in 
improved performance on this indicator. This indicator is in the 
fourth (bottom) quartile, however, the range between top and 
bottom quartile is narrow.  Leicestershire's result is 10kg below the 
bottom quartile threshold of 1041kg and 31kg below the median 
result of 1020kg.

*
% of household waste sent by local authorities across 
Leicestershire for reuse, recycling, composting etc. 

2nd 
(2016/17) ↓ 45.8% 50% 49.7% High

Percentage of household waste sent by local authorities for reuse, 
recycling and composting has fallen by 3.9% compared to 16/17. 
This has been due to a combination of reasons.

* % local authority collected waste landfilled
3rd 

(2016/17) ↓ 33.6% 30% 29.9% Low
The proportion of waste landfilled has declined slightly in 
performance compared to last year.

*
Waste produced from LCC non‐operational / internal sites 
(tonnes) 

‐ ↓ 466 <791 456 Low
Waste produced at LCC sites has risen slightly from last year but still 
continues to be significantly under the target.

* % waste from LCC non‐operational / internal sites recycled ‐ ↓ 55.8% 70% 59.0% High

Although the recycling rate at County Hall is very good (around 
75%), other County Council buildings, particularly those with 
community use, are only achieving recycling rates of less than 50%.  
As part of the new Environment Strategy 2018‐2030 a differentiated 
approach to this target has been adopted.

Reducing Carbon Emissions & Mitigating the Impact of Climate Change

*
Total CO2 emissions from LCC operations (excluding schools) 
(tonnes)  ‐ ↑ 13,935 26,120 21,181 Low

The council's carbon emissions have reduced this year by 34.2% 
compared to 16/17 and are well ahead of their target.

Carbon emissions from LCC buildings (tonnes)   ‐ ↑ 4,906 8,222 5,738 Low
Carbon emissions from our buildings have reduced by 14.5% 
compared to 16/17 and are well ahead of their target. 

CO2 emissions from LCC street lighting & traffic signs 
(tonnes)  ‐ ↑ 4,265 11,476 9,532 Low

Carbon emissions from street lighting and traffic signs have reduced 
by a further 55%. This reflects the full year roll out of the installation 
of LED lighting and lighting management. There has been a 68% 
reduction in emissions since 14/15.

Total Business miles claimed (‘000s of miles)  ‐ ↑ 5,833 6,960 6,199 Low
The number of business miles claimed continues to reduce and is 
now ahead of the long‐term (2020‐21) target.

Amount of renewable energy generated as a % of 
consumption  ‐ ↑ 12.7% 11.9% 10.9% High

Increase of 1.8% on previous year, partly due to new renewable 
installations. Ahead of target by 0.8%. 

* CO2 Emissions per capita in the local area 3rd (2016) ↑ 5.4 (2016) 5.8 (2015) Low Data is provided by the government (BEIS) and is 2 years in arrears. 

56

214



Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Great Communities
People feel welcome / diversity is celebrated 

*
% of people who use services who had as much social 
contact as they would like (ASCOF 1I pt 1)

4th ↓ 42.1% 48.0% 46.2% High
Indicator sourced from the annual adult social care survey.  42% of 
service users responding to the survey stated that they had as much 
social contact as they would like; a reduction from the previous year.

*
% of carers who had as much social contact as they would 
like (ASCOF 1I pt 2)

3rd 
(2016/17)

N/A N/A 31.4% High
No carers survey conducted in 2017/18.  The next will take place in 
the autumn 2018.

*
% agree people from different backgrounds get on well 
together

‐ → 93.4% 95.0% High

We continue work to strengthen community cohesion, supporting 
communication with and across community groups. The results are 
from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 residents during 
2017/18.

* Reported hate incidents (per 1,000 population) ‐ ↑ 0.79 0.71 High

There has been a recent increasing trend in reporting of hate 
incidents.  The Hate and Prevent Delivery Group will oversee a multi‐
agency action plan, the aim is to ensure an effective response to 
reported hate incidents, promote confidence in communities and 
encourage reporting. 

Communities participate in future planning

*
% people willing to work together with others on something 
to improve their neighbourhood

‐ → 77.3% 75.6% High
The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18. The latest result is similar to the previous 
year.

*
% of respondents who had given some unpaid help in the last 
12 months  ‐ ↑ 44.10% 35.1% High

The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18. The latest result is significantly higher 
than the previous year.

*
% of respondents agreeing that they can influence County 
Council decisions affecting their local area

‐ ↓ 23.40% 29.60% High
The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18. The latest result is significantly lower than 
the previous year and changes to the survey are likely to be a factor.

* Local election turnout 4th (2017) ↑ 32.9% 30.3% High
Results are 'total vote turnout' for county elections in 2013 and 
2017.

*
% of respondents stating that they were satisfied with their 
local area as a place to live

1st/2nd → 95.20% 95.70% High
The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18.The result is significantly better than the 
England average of 82% (LGA Survey).

57

215



Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Cultural, historical and natural heritage 

* Library total visits
4th 

(2016/17) ↓ 980.6k 1.0m 1.01m High
The number of visits to libraries fell short of the target by 2% in 
2017/18.

* Library total issues
4th 

(2016/17) ↑ 1.51m 1.41m 1.48m High
The number of library issues increased by 2% on the previous year 
and surpassed the 2017/18 target.

* Library children's issues ‐ ↑ 592.8k 551.0k 580.0k High
The number of children's issues increased by 2% on the previous 
year and surpassed the target.

* Library total e‐downloads
4th 

(2016/17) ↑ 139.4k 100.2k 77.1k High
The number of E‐loans increased by over 80% on the previous year 
and surpassed the target.

* Number of communities running their own library ‐ ↑ 31 30 High
A further 4 libraries are in the process of transferring to community 
management.

* Number of visits to heritage sites ‐ → 151.6k 152.3k 152.3k High
The number of visitors to heritage sites in 2017/18 was similar to 
the previous year.

Notes:   Comparators are other county areas.

58

216



Corporate Enablers
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Customer Services & Digital Delivery

% think Leicestershire County Council doing a good job ‐ ↓ 44.9% 56.2% High

The results are from the Community Insights Survey of c.1600 
residents during 2017/18. The latest result is lower than the 
previous year. Ongoing national funding reductions, lack of fair 
funding, increased council tax, some high profile service changes and 
changes to the survey are likely to be factors.

% that trusts the County Council 1st/2nd ↓ 59.6% 77.6% High
As above. The result is better than the England average of 57% (LGA 
Survey).

% that feel well informed about the County Council 3rd/4th ↓ 58.3% 65.0% High
As above. The result is similar to the England average of 59% (LGA 
Survey).

* Media rating (points) ‐ ↓ 4717 4200 5432 High
The result is lower than the previous year, partly due to a number of 
high profile service changes and associated publicity.

*
% satisfied with the overall service  from the Customer 
Service Centre (cmetrix ratings)

‐ → 89.0% 80% 90.0% High
Results from cmetrix tool which measures customer satisfaction ‐ 
findings are being used to further improve the service.

* County Council website star rating (SOCITM)  ‐ ↑ 4 3 High
Digital Strategy will enhance digital delivery across a range of 
services.

* Number of unique visits to the LCC website  ‐ ↑ 1.40m 1.24m High
Work is underway to exploit web analytics to better target services 
and the digital offer. 

* Number of complaints reported ‐ → 268 260 Low
38% of the complaints were upheld during 2017/18, a very similar 
percentage to the previous year.

* Number of commendations reported ‐ ↓ 188 253 High

* % Complaints responded to within 20 days ‐ → 90% 90% High

Results are consistent over the past 2 years. 65% of all complaints 
received a response within 10 working days. Effective complaints 
handling training continues to be delivered to managers within the 
organisation.

Procurement & Commissioning

County Council procurement savings ‐ ↑ £3.96m MTFS £2.36m High
Figure excludes savings projects which may have a procurement 
element but which are not exclusively the results of procurement 
activity.

59

217



Corporate Enablers
Strategic 
Plan

Description
Quartile 
position

Direction of 
Travel

End of Yr 
2017/18

Target / 
Standard

End of Yr 
2016/17

Polarity Commentary

Equalities and People Strategy

* % staff satisfaction with County Council as an employer ‐ → 89.2% 91.0% High
Biennial staff survey not conducted during 2018. Results shown are 
2015 and 2017 Staff Surveys.

* Working days lost to sickness 3rd ↑ 9.72 10.16 Low
Work continues on the implementation of an Attendance 
Management Action Plan.

* Number of RIDDOR (Health & Safety) Incidents ‐ ↑ 19 22 Low
The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 
Regulations 2013 require employers to report specified workplace 
incidents.

* % of whole workforce from a BME background ‐ ↑ 12.3% 13% 12.1% High
Targets are designed to achieve the same level of representation in 
the workforce as within the local population, based upon the 2011 
census.

* % of whole workforce that is disabled  ‐ → 4.2% 5% 4.2% High As above.

* % of employees graded 13 and above that are women  1st/2nd ↑ 62.6% 62% 58.8% High
The result is above the median for English local authorities of 53%. 
Work continues to support female manager development through 
the spring forward positive action programme.

*
% of the workforce that feels that LCC is committed to 
equality & diversity

‐ → 91.5% 91.9% High
Biennial staff survey not conducted during 2018. Results shown are 
2015 and 2017 Staff Surveys.

Stonewall Workplace Equality Index Ranking ‐ ↓ 79 36 Low
The Council is the fifth ranked local authority in the Index, in which 
over 430 employers participated during 2018.

Notes: Comparators are other county councils.

60

218



CABINET - 23 NOVEMBER 2018 
 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH – 
LEICESTERSHIRE’S HEALTH – THE CHALLENGE OF FRAILTY 

AND MULTI-MORBIDITY 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
      PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Director of Public Health’s Annual 

Report for 2018 “Leicestershire’s Health - the Challenge of Frailty and Multi-
Morbidity”, which is appended to this paper.   

 
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

a) The recommendations contained with the Director of Public Health 
Annual Report 2018 be supported;  

 
b) It be noted that the Annual Report will be submitted to the County 

Council on 5 December 2018. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.  The Director of Public Health's Annual Report is a statutory independent report 

concerning the health of the population of Leicestershire. 
 

4. To enable the County Council to consider the Report, which will help inform 
future commissioning decisions.  

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. The Annual Report was considered by the Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 7 November and its comments are set out in Part B of this report. 
It will be submitted to the County Council meeting on 5 December 2018. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. Last year's Annual Report gave an overview of the health of Leicestershire and 

an update on progress against the recommendations made in that report.   

219 Agenda Item 6



 

Resource Implications 
 
7. There are no resources implications arising directly from this report. The 

recommendations set out in the report will inform commissioning decisions 
relating to the priorities for public health. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
8. None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk  
Telephone: 0116 305 7913 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

220

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk


 

PART B 
 
Background 
 
9. The Director of Public Health's (DPH) Annual Report is a statutory independent 

report on the health of the population of Leicestershire.  It aims to improve the 
health and wellbeing of the people of Leicestershire by reporting publicly and 
independently on trends and gaps in the health and wellbeing of the population 
and by making recommendations for improvement to a wide range of bodies, 
such as NHS organisations, district councils, and the community and voluntary 
sector. 

 
10. One of the roles of the Director of Public Health is to be an independent 

advocate for the health of their population.  The Annual Reports are the main 
way by which Directors of Public Health make their conclusions known to the 
public. 

 
Summary of the Annual Report 
 
11. This year’s report presents on the changing population of Leicestershire, the 

prevalence of individual and multiple health conditions (otherwise known as 
“multi-morbidity”) in the population and data on excess winter deaths and place 
of death.  The growing number of people living with multiple health conditions 
presents as bigger challenge to public services as the overall growth in the 
number of older people. 

 
12. The health and care system should promote ‘healthy ageing’.  The 

recommendations in Part 3 of the Annual Report set out  ways to achieve this, 
by: 

 

a. tackling social isolation and loneliness; 
b. promoting social prescribing; 
c. preventing and reducing falls; 
d. promoting physical activity throughout life and into older age; 
e. supporting carers; 
f. supporting the healthcare system in improving treatment of people with 

frailty and multi-morbidity. 
 

13. Being socially connected to friends, family and the wider community is a key 
element of healthy ageing.  ‘Social prescribing’ is a key way in which broader 
services can help support the frail, and those with multiple health conditions to 
maintain independence, for example by connecting individuals with voluntary 
groups in their local area.  The model for social prescribing in Leicestershire, 
with public health services at its heart, continues to be central to the emerging 
integrated locality teams which are responsible for coordinating the care 
provided by different organisations.  In addition to utilising the social prescribing 
model for Leicestershire to connect people with their communities, the Council’s 
‘tackling loneliness and social isolation’ project, alongside the Government 
Strategy for tackling loneliness, will provide further opportunities for the whole 
council to ‘do more’ on loneliness. 
 

221



 

 
14. Falls are a serious health issue for older people, with around a third of all people 

aged 65 and over falling each year.  Regular physical activity can develop and 
maintain strength and balance in frail patients.  Public Health will continue to 
support the implementation of the Preventing Falls programme with an 
emphasis on evaluating the effectiveness of the postural stability programmes. 

 
15. Physical activity is a key preventative element of healthy ageing – from 

protecting against some forms of dementia, to reducing the risk of depression, 
heart disease and the risk of a fall in older age.  Working with partners in 
Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport and district councils, Public Health will ensure 
that muscle strengthening activity and physical activities of older people are 
reflected in sport and physical activity plans. 

 
16. Supporting the health of carers is a key element to ensuring a good outcome for 

the frail and those with multiple health conditions.  The recently adopted Joint 
Carer’s Strategy for Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland sets out a broad 
programme of support for carers.   

 
17. The health and care system needs to continue its redesign work so as to enable 

the individual to be treated as a whole, not as a series of separate illnesses or 
conditions.  The recently produced LLR Frailty Resource Pack is a welcome 
step to help local health services in understanding, and responding to, frailty.   

 
18. In response to the recommendations of the 2017 report, a new integrated 

lifestyle service will be in place for September 2019, with an Air Quality Action 
Plan shortly to be produced.  Progress on the implementation of a 
comprehensive weight management pathway remains limited. 
  

Comments of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
19. The Committee noted that the Director of Public Health had used his 2018 

report to focus on specific areas that he wished to highlight and encourage 
partners to work on, rather than reporting on the whole of the Public Health 
Department’s remit.  For example, the creation of an integrated weight 
management pathway was an area where partners such as clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs) had previously been asked to assist with but 
further work still needed to be carried out by partners, and the Director had used 
his Annual Report to reiterate this point.   

 
20. Members endorsed the Director’s proposals to treat the patient as a whole 

rather than focusing on a specific illness or condition.  The emphasis on social 
prescribing was welcomed. In response to a suggestion that more social 
activities should be available through GP Practices, the Director of Public Health 
explained that the philosophy was to take the patient away from GP Practices, 
however, more work could be carried out to develop Patient Participation 
Groups.  

 
 
 

222



 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
21. Implementation of the Annual Report’s recommendations would have a positive 

impact on health inequalities. 
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
22. The recommendations within this report focus on actions across agencies that 

will improve the population’s health. The basis of the report is improving 
population health in partnership with other key agencies.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2017 
http://www.lsr-online.org/reports/director_of_public_health_annual_reports 
 
Joint Carers Strategy 2018 – 2021 - Recognising, Valuing and Supporting Carers In 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4  
 
Appendix 
 
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2018: “Leicestershire’s Health - the 
Challenge of Frailty and Multi-Morbidity”.  

223

http://www.lsr-online.org/reports/director_of_public_health_annual_reports
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire’s health –  
the challenge of frailty and multi-morbidity

Annual Report of the  
Director of Public Health 2018

225



Contents
1. Foreword   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  2

2. Introduction   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  3

3. Recommendations and summary   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  4

4. The ageing population  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  6
4 .1 Population  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7
4 .2 Prevalence of conditions  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 10

5. Multi morbidity and frailty  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  18
5 .1 Multi morbidity  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 18
5 .2 Frailty and hospital admissions  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  22
5 .3 Mortality   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  30

6. Treating the person, not the condition   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  33

7. Feedback on recommendations from 2017   .  .  .  .  .  37

1. Foreword
Welcome to my annual report for 2018 . In my last annual report we presented an 
infographic picture of many different aspects of the health of Leicestershire .

Presenting such an analysis led to a raft of publicity and interest on a range of diverse topic areas . As can 
be seen in the ‘update on recommendations’, the report has led to action and progress on air quality, a food 
plan for Leicestershire, joint work on community safety and health with the Leicestershire Safer Communities 
Strategy Board (LSCSB) and some initial thoughts about addressing rural health inequalities .

In this year’s report I have focussed on the ageing population and, in particular, the challenges of  
‘multi-morbidity’ .

We are all aware of the profound changes in our population structure and the demand that places on health and 
council services . But, in itself, getting older is not the problem . It’s the increasing number of years spent in poor 
health that drives demand .

It is important to recognise this and think about how services might be delivered in such a way that takes 
account of the increase in multi morbidity . As a whole system we need to continue our efforts to promote good 
health throughout all ages, if we want effective care for our future generations .

I would like to thank Liz Orton, Rob Howard, Trish Crowson and Joshna Mavji from the public health 
department for their help in compiling the report and Natalie Davison from the Strategic Business Intelligence 
Team for her tremendous work in constructing the infographics and narrative that underpin this report .

2  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

226



2. Introduction
Directors of Public Health have a statutory duty to write an Annual Public Health Report that 
describes the state of health within their communities .

It is a major opportunity for advocacy on behalf of the population and, as such, can be used to help talk to the community 
and support fellow professionals, providing added value over and above intelligence and information routinely available such 
as that contained within health profiles or the Joint Strategic Needs assessment (JSNA) .

It is intended to inform local strategies, policy and practice across a range of organisations and interests and to highlight 
opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of people in Leicestershire . The annual report is an important vehicle by 
which Directors of Public Health can identify key issues, flag up problems, report progress and thereby serve their local 
populations . It is also a key resource to inform stakeholders of priorities and recommend actions to improve and protect the 
health of the communities they serve .

Within this report, data is presented on the changing population of Leicestershire, the prevalence of individual and 
multiple conditions in the population and data on excess winter deaths and place of death . The content should be used by 
commissioners and providers of services to respond to changes in the health of Leicestershire residents .

3  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

227



3. Recommendations and summary
Like last year’s report, I am aware that this one is ‘data heavy’ . Each slide should contain something of relevance for commissioners and providers 
of services to reflect on in their plans, as well stimulating wider public debate on the changing nature of the population’s health . There are, though, 
actions I intend to progress through the work of the public health department:

If there is one thing we can all do it is to promote ‘healthy ageing’ . There are many ways 
to do this:

Social Isolation/Loneliness
Being socially connected to friends, family and the wider community is a key element 
of healthy ageing . In addition to utilising the social prescribing model for Leicestershire 
to connect people with their communities, the Council’s ‘tackling loneliness and social 
isolation project’, alongside the Government Strategy for tackling loneliness, will provide 
further opportunities for the whole council to ‘do more’ on loneliness .

Promote Social Prescribing in Leicestershire
‘Social prescribing’ is a key way in which broader services can help support the frail, 
and those with multiple health conditions to maintain independence . I will ensure 
that the model for social prescribing in Leicestershire, with public health services at its 
heart, continues to be integral to the emerging integrated locality teams .

The social prescribing model should consider how frail patients in the community 
should have a home assessment for trip hazards and for other risks such as poor 
medication compliance, social isolation, difficulty with the activities of daily living, and 
alleviating the strain on carers .

Falls
Falls are a serious health issue for older people, with around a third of all people aged 
65 and over falling each year . Regular physical activity, can develop and maintain 
strength and balance in frail patients . 

We will continue to support the implementation of the Falls programme with an 
emphasis on evaluating the effectiveness of the postural stability programmes . 

Physical Activity
Physical activity is a key preventative element of healthy ageing – from protecting 
against some forms of dementia, to reducing the risk of depression, heart disease and 
the risk of a fall in older age .

Working with partners in Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport (LRS) and district 
councils, Public Health will ensure that muscle strengthening activity and physical 
activities of older people are reflected in sport and physical activity plans . 

Carers
Supporting Carers and supporting them to be healthy is a key element to ensuring a 
good outcome for the frail and those with multiple health conditions .

The recently adopted Carer’s Strategy across Leicestershire, Leicester City and Rutland 
sets out a broad programme of support for carers . Within public health I will ensure 
we play our part in the implementation of the Carer’s strategy, ensuring that public 
health information services provide good advice to carers .

Support the health care system to treat the person, 
not the individual condition
Healthcare systems are not currently designed to treat patients with multiple illnesses . 
The recently produced LLR Frailty Resource Pack is a welcome step to local health 
services understanding, and responding to, frailty .

Through the specialist support provided by public health consultants to CCG’s and the 
broader health system, public health can play a part in redesigning pathways to take 
account of frailty and multi-morbidity . The introduction of risk stratification software 
in GP practices will give better quality, comprehensive data on multi-morbidity . Public 
Health should use this to target work and influence pathway development .

4  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

228



Health Summary of Leicestershire 2018
Group Indicator Name Time Period Sex

Life expectancy
and causes of

death

Life expectancy at birth 2014 - 16
Female

Male

Under 75 mortality rate: all causes 2014 - 16 Persons

Under 75 mortality rate: cancer 2014 - 16 Persons

Under 75 mortality rate: cardiovascular 2014 - 16 Persons

Suicide rate 2014 - 16 Persons

Injuries and ill
health

Cancer diagnosed at early stage 2016 Persons

Dementia diagnoses (aged 65+) 2018 Persons

Diabetes diagnoses (aged 17+) 2017 Persons

Hip fractures in older people (aged 65+) 2016/17 Persons

Hospital stays for self-harm 2016/17 Persons

Killed and seriously injured on roads 2014 - 16 Persons

Behavioural risk
factors

Alcohol-related harm hospital stays 2016/17 Persons

Alcohol-specific hospital stays (under 18s) 2014/15 - 16/17 Persons

Excess weight in adults (aged 18+) 2016/17 Persons

Physically active adults (aged 19+) 2016/17 Persons

Smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+) 2017 Persons

Child health

Breastfeeding initiation 2016/17 Female

Infant mortality rate 2014 - 16 Persons

Obese children (aged 10-11) 2016/17 Persons

Smoking status at time of delivery 2016/17 Female

Under 18 conceptions 2016 Female

Wider
determinants of

health

Children in low income families (under 16s) 2015 Persons

Employment rate (aged 16-64) 2016/17 Persons

GCSEs achieved 2015/16 Persons

Statutory homelessness 2016/17 Persons

Violent crime (violence offences) 2016/17 Persons

Health
protection

Excess winter deaths Aug 2013 - Jul 2016 Persons

New cases of tuberculosis 2015 - 17 Persons

New sexually transmitted infections 2017 Persons

l Life expectancy for both males and females is significantly
better than the national average
l Healthy life expectancy for both males and females is
significantly better than the national average
l Suicide rate is similar to the national average
l Dementia diagnoses are similar to the benchmark goal of
66.7%
l Diabetes diagnoses are similar to the national average
l Hip fractures in older people are similar to the national
average
l Admissions to hospital for alcohol specific conditions for under
18s and all ages are both significantly better than the national
average
l Excess weight in adults is similar to the national average
l The percentage of physically active adults is similar to the
national average
l Smoking prevalence is significantly better than the national
average
l Under 18 conceptions (teenage pregnancy rate) is significantly
better than the national average
l Children with excess weight aged 4-5 years and aged 10-11
years are both significantly better than the national average
l School readiness: achieving a good level of development at the
end of reception is similar to the national average
l Excess winter deaths  is similar to the national average
l 5.9% of all-cause adult mortality is attributable to air
pollution, measured as fine particulate matter, PM2.5. Nationally,
air pollution is attributable to 5.3% of all adult deaths.

Compared To England Value or Target
Better Not compared Similar

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Local Authority Health Profiles, Public Health England.

Health summary of Leicestershire 2018

5  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

229



4. The ageing population
The ‘ageing population’ is rightly seen as a big issue for health, social care, other public services 
and society as a whole . Previous annual reports have highlighted the profound changes in our 
population both now and in the future .

The latest Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Leicestershire states that, of the predicted overall population growth 
in Leicestershire to 2041 of 107,000 people, roughly three quarters of that growth will be in the 65+ age group .

But getting older on its own should not drive up healthcare costs . The growth of our older population - people living longer, 
healthier lives should be celebrated . Our older population are a valued part of our community and contribute a wealth 
of experience and skills . Many of the older population are active members of the community, contribute to third sector 
organisations and work as informal carers .

But the key phrase in celebrating older life is ‘healthier lives’ . We know that healthy life expectancy is not increasing at the 
same rate as overall life expectancy, with recent signs that increases in life expectancy have now stalled .

This means we are living more years in poorer health, often with an increasing number of health conditions in a health 
system that is designed to respond to single diseases and acute health problems . 

The increasing number of health conditions and age-related impairments, and the inevitable high cost of care as we get 
closer to death at whatever age, are strongly linked to healthcare costs .

6  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

230



4.1 Population

Population Projections in Leicestershire
Between 2016 and 2041 the population of Leicestershire is projected to increase by 15 .8% to 787,500 in 2041, an 
increase of 107,100 people . This is higher than the projected increase of 12 .4% for the East Midlands and 12 .1% for 
England .1 

The greatest cumulative change by broad age group is projected to occur in the 65+ age group, accounting for an additional 
74,300 older people in the county by 2041 . This represents a projected increase of 54 .5%, higher than the national 
increase of 51 .5% . However, the 85+ age group is projected to experience a percentage growth of 126 .6% . The population 

in this age group is expected to more than double, from 17,700 persons in 2016 to 40,100 persons in 2041 .1 

7  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

231



2016-based population projections in Leicestershire

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

0K10K20K

Males

0K 10K 20K

Females

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14

5-9
0-4

 Population 2016

0K10K20K

Males

0K 10K 20K

Females

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14

5-9
0-4

 Population 2041

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018.

The 2016-based population projections
provide statistics on the potential future size
and age structure of the population. They are
used as a common framework for informing
local-level policy and planning as they are
produced in a consistent way. The projections
take the revised mid-2016 population
estimates as their starting point. The
projected local authority populations for each
year are calculated by ageing on the
population from the previous year, applying
local fertility and mortality rates to calculate
the number of projected births and deaths,
and then adjusting for migration into and out
of each local authority.  The local authority
fertility, mortality and migration assumptions
are derived using estimated values from the
five years before the base projection year.

Please note the population projections are not
forecasts. They do not attempt to predict the
impact of future government or local policies,
changing economic circumstances or other
factors that may influence demographic
behaviour.

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000

Males

0K 2K 4K 6K 8K 10K

Females

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14

5-9
0-4

 Population Change 2016 to 2041

Population Projections in Leicestershire

2016-based population projections in Leicestershire

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

0K10K20K

Males

0K 10K 20K

Females

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14

5-9
0-4

 Population 2016

0K10K20K

Males

0K 10K 20K

Females

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14

5-9
0-4

 Population 2041

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2018.

The 2016-based population projections
provide statistics on the potential future size
and age structure of the population. They are
used as a common framework for informing
local-level policy and planning as they are
produced in a consistent way. The projections
take the revised mid-2016 population
estimates as their starting point. The
projected local authority populations for each
year are calculated by ageing on the
population from the previous year, applying
local fertility and mortality rates to calculate
the number of projected births and deaths,
and then adjusting for migration into and out
of each local authority.  The local authority
fertility, mortality and migration assumptions
are derived using estimated values from the
five years before the base projection year.

Please note the population projections are not
forecasts. They do not attempt to predict the
impact of future government or local policies,
changing economic circumstances or other
factors that may influence demographic
behaviour.

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000

Males

0K 2K 4K 6K 8K 10K

Females

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14

5-9
0-4

 Population Change 2016 to 2041

8  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

232



Life Expectancy at Birth & Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth in Leicesteshire
Nationally, life expectancy at birth has remained constant for males over the last two time periods and in females over the last three periods, at 79.5 and 83.1 years respectively. In
Leicestershire, life expectancy at birth for males has shown a slight increase from 80.3 years in 2013-15 to 80.5 years in 2014-16, whereas life expectancy for females has remained
constant at 83.7 years. Nationally, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen for males and females compared to the previous time period, from 63.4 years to 63.3 years in males and
from 64.1 years to 63.9 years in females. In Leicestershire, healthy life expectancy at birth in males has increased from 62.0 years in 2013-15 to 63.7 years in 2014-16. In females,
healthy life expectancy at birth has remained constant for the last two time periods 65.8 years. The gap in life expectancy at birth and healthy life expectancy at birth infers the number
of years a person is likely to live in poor health. As shown by the graph, females, on average, live more years in poor health than males. The latest data from 2014-16 shows in
Leicestershire males spend 15.5 years in poor health compared to 18.2 years in females. This is lower than the national average of 16.2 and 19.3 years respectively.

Male Female

2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013 - 15 2014 - 16 2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013 - 15 2014 - 16

Ye
ar

s

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

64.3

79.7

64.9

79.9

63.9

80.1

64.8

80.3

63.6

80.5

65.2

80.7

64.8

83.8

66.2

83.8

64.7

83.9

64.8

83.9

65.8

83.9

65.8

84.0

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

0.1i - Healthy life expectancy at birth 0.1ii - Life expectancy at birth

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, PHE

Life Expectancy in Leicestershire
Nationally, life expectancy at birth has remained constant for males over the last two time periods and in females over the 
last three periods, at 79 .5 and 83 .1 years respectively . In Leicestershire, life expectancy at birth for males and females have 
shown a slight increase from 80 .5 to 80 .7 years between 2013-15 and 2014-16 in males and from 83 .9 to 84 .0 years 
between 2013-15 and 2014-16 in females .2

Nationally, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen for males and females compared to the previous time period, from 63 .4 
years to 63 .3 years in males and from 64 .1 years to 63 .9 years in females . In Leicestershire, healthy life expectancy at birth 
in males has increased from 63 .6 years in 2013-15 to 65 .2 years in 2014-16 in males . In females, healthy life expectancy 
at birth has remained constant for the last two time periods 65 .8 years .2

The gap in life expectancy at birth and healthy life expectancy at birth infers the number of years a person is likely to live in 
poor health . As shown by the graph, females, on average, live more years in poor health than males . The latest data from 
2014-16 shows in Leicestershire males spend 15 .5 years in poor health compared to 18 .2 years in females . This is lower 
than the national average of 16 .2 and 19 .3 years respectively .2

Life Expectancy at Birth & Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth in Leicesteshire
Nationally, life expectancy at birth has remained constant for males over the last two time periods and in females over the last three periods, at 79.5 and 83.1 years respectively. In
Leicestershire, life expectancy at birth for males has shown a slight increase from 80.3 years in 2013-15 to 80.5 years in 2014-16, whereas life expectancy for females has remained
constant at 83.7 years. Nationally, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen for males and females compared to the previous time period, from 63.4 years to 63.3 years in males and
from 64.1 years to 63.9 years in females. In Leicestershire, healthy life expectancy at birth in males has increased from 62.0 years in 2013-15 to 63.7 years in 2014-16. In females,
healthy life expectancy at birth has remained constant for the last two time periods 65.8 years. The gap in life expectancy at birth and healthy life expectancy at birth infers the number
of years a person is likely to live in poor health. As shown by the graph, females, on average, live more years in poor health than males. The latest data from 2014-16 shows in
Leicestershire males spend 15.5 years in poor health compared to 18.2 years in females. This is lower than the national average of 16.2 and 19.3 years respectively.

Male Female

2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013 - 15 2014 - 16 2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013 - 15 2014 - 16

Ye
ar

s

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

64.3

79.7

64.9

79.9

63.9

80.1

64.8

80.3

63.6

80.5

65.2

80.7

64.8

83.8

66.2

83.8

64.7

83.9

64.8

83.9

65.8

83.9

65.8

84.0

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

0.1i - Healthy life expectancy at birth 0.1ii - Life expectancy at birth

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, PHE

9  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

233



4.2 Prevalence of Conditions

GP Recorded Disease Prevalence
With the introduction of the new General Medical Services (GMS) contract in April 2004, a quality framework of indicators 
(QOF) was developed for general practice, the QOF . An integral part of the QOF is the collection of prevalence data to allow 
practices to case find those patients that require specific management . Prevalence data within the QOF are collected in the 
form of practice registers . Please note, while many patients are likely to suffer from co-morbidity, i .e . are diagnosed with 
more than one of the clinical conditions included in the QOF clinical domain, robust analysis of co-morbidity is not possible 
and therefore patients may be on more than one disease register if they have multiple conditions or risk factors .

The table shows the percentage of patients recorded on a QOF disease register in Leicestershire General Practices . In 
2016/17, over 100,000 patients (14 .9%) were on the Hypertension disease register and almost 58,000 patients aged 18 
years and above (10 .7%) were on the Depression disease register in the county . Both these percentages are significantly 
higher than the national percentages of 13 .8% and 9 .1% respectively . Almost 37,000 patients aged 17 years and above 
(6 .7%) in Leicestershire were recorded on the Diabetes Mellitus register .3 This is identical to national prevalence, but still 
represents a substantial burden of ill-health locally .

10  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

234



GP recorded disease prevalence in Leicestershire, 2016/17

Group Disease Register Register Prevalence

Cardiovascular

Atrial Fibrillation (All Ages)
Coronary Heart Disease (All Ages)
CVD - Primary Prevention (Ages 30-74)
Heart Failure (All Ages)
Heart Failure due to LVSD (All Ages)
Hypertension (All Ages)
Peripheral Artery Disease (All Ages)
Stroke and TIA (All Ages)

High Dependency

Cancer (All Ages)
Chronic Kidney Disease (Ages 18+)
Diabetes Mellitus (Ages 17+)
Palliative Care (All Ages)

Lifestyle Obesity (Ages 18+)

Musculoskeletal
Osteoporosis (Ages 50+)
Rheumatoid Arthritis (Ages 16+)

Neurology

Dementia (All Ages)
Depression (Ages 18+)
Epilepsy (Ages 18+)
Learning Disabilities (All Ages)
Mental Health (All Ages)

Respiratory Asthma (All Ages)
COPD (All Ages)

0.5%

3.1%

3,639

20,754

1.8%

14.9%
0.3%
1.0%
1.4%

2.1%

12,111

100,613
2,095
6,614
5,411

14,073

6.7%36,847
0.8%

4.3%
2.8%

5,664

23,197
18,811

8.9%48,394

0.7%4,175
0.4%1,090

0.7%
0.4%
0.8%

5,026
2,575
4,084

10.7%
0.9%

57,914
5,983

1.8%12,146
6.2%41,600

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher than England Average Lower than England Average Similar to England

With the introduction of the new GMS contract in April 2004, a quality framework of indicators (QOF) was developed for general practice, the QOF. An integral part of the QOF is the
collection of prevalence data to allow practices to case find those patients that require specific management. Prevalence data within the QOF are collected in the form of practice
registers. The purpose of a QOF disease register is to define a cohort of patients with a particular condition or risk factor. Please note, while many patients are likely to suffer from
co-morbidity, i.e. are diagnosed with more than one of the clinical conditions included in the QOF clinical domain, robust analysis of co-morbidity is not possible and therefore patients
may be on more than one disease register if they have multiple conditions or risk factors.

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Quality and Outcomes Framework, NHS Digital

GP recorded disease prevalence in Leicestershire, 2016/17

Group Disease Register Register Prevalence

Cardiovascular

Atrial Fibrillation (All Ages)
Coronary Heart Disease (All Ages)
CVD - Primary Prevention (Ages 30-74)
Heart Failure (All Ages)
Heart Failure due to LVSD (All Ages)
Hypertension (All Ages)
Peripheral Artery Disease (All Ages)
Stroke and TIA (All Ages)

High Dependency

Cancer (All Ages)
Chronic Kidney Disease (Ages 18+)
Diabetes Mellitus (Ages 17+)
Palliative Care (All Ages)

Lifestyle Obesity (Ages 18+)

Musculoskeletal
Osteoporosis (Ages 50+)
Rheumatoid Arthritis (Ages 16+)

Neurology

Dementia (All Ages)
Depression (Ages 18+)
Epilepsy (Ages 18+)
Learning Disabilities (All Ages)
Mental Health (All Ages)

Respiratory Asthma (All Ages)
COPD (All Ages)

0.5%

3.1%

3,639

20,754

1.8%

14.9%
0.3%
1.0%
1.4%

2.1%

12,111

100,613
2,095
6,614
5,411

14,073

6.7%36,847
0.8%

4.3%
2.8%

5,664

23,197
18,811

8.9%48,394

0.7%4,175
0.4%1,090

0.7%
0.4%
0.8%

5,026
2,575
4,084

10.7%
0.9%

57,914
5,983

1.8%12,146
6.2%41,600

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher than England Average Lower than England Average Similar to England

With the introduction of the new GMS contract in April 2004, a quality framework of indicators (QOF) was developed for general practice, the QOF. An integral part of the QOF is the
collection of prevalence data to allow practices to case find those patients that require specific management. Prevalence data within the QOF are collected in the form of practice
registers. The purpose of a QOF disease register is to define a cohort of patients with a particular condition or risk factor. Please note, while many patients are likely to suffer from
co-morbidity, i.e. are diagnosed with more than one of the clinical conditions included in the QOF clinical domain, robust analysis of co-morbidity is not possible and therefore patients
may be on more than one disease register if they have multiple conditions or risk factors.

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Quality and Outcomes Framework, NHS Digital

GP Recorded Disease Prevalence

11  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

235



Hypertension 
Cardiovascular disease is a key driver of premature mortality (death under 75 years) and inequalities in Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland (LLR) . Across LLR the prevalence of coronary heart disease, stroke, heart failure, hypertension and atrial fibrillation are 
likely to be underestimated with a large number of patients at risk of CVD remaining undiagnosed and unaware of their CVD risk .

One of the key interventions identified by the Department of Health and NICE in reducing health inequalities within populations 
was through optimising blood pressure (BP) control in patients with uncontrolled hypertension .

Increasing the prescribing of antihypertensives by 40% in patients with hypertension, in conjunction with other key interventions, 
will contribute to reducing the gap in life expectancy between affluent and deprived groups by around 6% . Hypertension is the 
third most costly risk factor across England . 

Optimising anti-hypertensive treatment for diagnosed hypertensives in Leicestershire would realise significant cost savings to the 
NHS . National guidance suggest that the implementation of targeted hypertension programmes can reduce activity for a wide 
variety of conditions including, but not limited to, diabetes, heart failure, strokes and myocardial infarctions .

Hypertension is a ‘trojan horse’ to address multiple long term conditions (e .g . heart failure, diabetes, stroke, dementia and chronic 
kidney disease) through the use of prevention (including Health Checks), upskilled primary care staff, a communications campaign 
and a streamlined clinical management protocol . The overall integration of primary and secondary prevention should be improved by 
developing a more coordinated and high-profile approach around hypertension across the system .

Locally, work has begun to implement a Hypertension Prevention Programme . The objectives of this are:

• To improve prevention of hypertension in primary care via optimal use of patient registers, anti-hypertensives and longer term 
management of these patients

• To improve the connection between NHS Health Checks, primary prevention (e .g . lifestyle advice and services) and subsequent 
hypertension management

• To increase awareness of the importance of checking blood pressure (i .e . Know Your Numbers) both amongst the public and 
health professionals .

• To develop a clear end-to-end hypertension prevention pathway and treatment protocol that maximize patient care and 
outcomes as well as reducing burden on the system

By working towards the objectives outlined above, the intended outcomes are 

• To reduce the number of hypertensives not optimally treated with anti-hypertensives

• To reduce the financial and clinical burden of hypertension and subsequent illness on the NHS

• To avert heart attacks and strokes in line with RightCare estimates

12  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

236



Hypertension
The QOF disease register examines the number of people diagnosed with hypertension (high blood pressure) but it is 
important to understand the number of people who may have undiagnosed hypertension in the local area . Public Health 
England have created hypertension prevalence estimates based on Health Survey for England data from 2013 and 2014 to 
help understand this . 

It is estimated that 170,000 people in Leicestershire and Rutland have either GP recorded or undiagnosed hypertension . 
This is equal to approximately 24 .9% of the population . Across Leicestershire and Rutland it is estimated that 70,000 
people are living with undiagnosed and untreated hypertension . In both CCGs, the estimated undiagnosed hypertension 
prevalence is 12 .0%, at GP level it ranges from 11 .1% to 14 .2% . Comparisons with the estimates and the 2014/15 QOF 
suggest that approximately 59 .4% of the expected number of people with hypertension in Leicestershire and Rutland are 
recorded on GP registers . At GP level, this percentage ranges from 9 .7% to 67 .0% .4 

Hypertension prevalence estimates in Leicestershire and Rutland, 2014/15
It is estimated that 170,000 people in Leicestershire and Rutland have either GP recorded or undiagnosed hypertension. This is equal to approximately 24.9% of the population. Across
Leicestershire and Rutland, it is estimated that 70,000 people are living with undiagnosed and untreated hypertension. In both CCGs, the estimated undiagnosed hypertension
prevalence is 12.0%. At GP level, it ranges from 11.1% to 14.2%. Comparisons with the estimates and the 2014/15 Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) suggest that approximately
59.4% of the expected number of people with hypertension in Leicestershire and Rutland are recorded on GP registers. At GP level, this percentage ranges from 9.7% to 67.0%.

CCG name
QOF register
hypertension

prevalence (%)

QOF register
hypertension

cases

Estimated
undiagnosed

prevalence
16+ (%)

Estimated
undiagnosed

cases

NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

NHS West Leicestershire CCG

England 5,552,400

37,050

33,250

12.0%

12.0%

12.5%

7,833,779

54,339

48,454

13.8%

14.5%

15.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 u

nd
ia

gn
os

ed
pr

ev
al

en
ce

 1
6+

 (%
)

Estimated undiganosed hypertension prevalence by GP practice

Ratio of observed (QOF) to expected hypertension by
GP practices

CCG Name
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG NHS West Leicestershire CCG 0.52 0.67

Observed vs Expected Ratio

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Hypertension prevalence estimates for local populations, October 2016, PHE

13  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

237



Depression and Anxiety
Around a quarter of the over 65s will be affected by depression . The prevalence of depression may be higher 
in those living in a care home where up to 40% of older adults may experience depression . Higher rates of 
depression are also associated with adults who have suffered a stroke or heart disease or have a diagnosis of 
Parkinson’s or Alzheimer’s disease .

The Government’s recent Loneliness Strategy has highlighted the importance of social connections between 
individuals and communities . Locally, the social prescribing model, the work of Council services such as 
Local Area Coordination and the Council’s initiative on social isolation and loneliness highlight e important the 
County Council attach to this area of work .

14  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

238



Depression and Anxiety in Leicestershire

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

%
0.0

10.0

20.0

Percentage reporting a long term MSK problem who also
report depression or anxiety  (GPPS)

The depression recorded prevalence from QOF examines the percentage of the practice
register with a diagnosis of depression. In contrast, the indicator reporting the percentage
of depression or anxiety among patients is sourced from the GP Patient Survey. Across all
time periods presented, the prevalence of depression or anxiety identified in this survey is
higher (12.5% compared to 10.6% in 2016/17), perhaps because patients who have chronic
conditions are more likely to respond. However, differences in the two prevalence
estimates might also reflect an under- diagnosis of depression in General Practice.

It is well known that mental illnesses are frequently comorbid with physical illnesses and
vice versa. The bar chart shows the prevalence of anxiety or depression in Leicestershire is
significantly higher for those with a musculoskeletal (MSK) condition compared to those
without a MSK condition, a pattern which is reflected nationally.

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

%

0.0

5.0

10.0

Percentage reporting depression or anxiety (GPPS)

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

%

0

5

10

Depression recorded prevalence (QOF): % of practice register
aged 18+

% reporting depression or anxiety
% reporting a long term MSK problem who also report depression or anxiety

Statisitcal Significance compared to England:
Better

N.B. Grey bars display 95% confidence intervals

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Fingertips, Public Health England

Depression and Anxiety
The depression recorded prevalence from QOF examines the percentage of the practice register with a diagnosis of depression .5 In contrast, the indicator reporting the percentage of 
depression or anxiety among patients is sourced from the GP Patient Survey . Across all time periods presented, the prevalence of depression or anxiety identified in this survey is higher 
(12 .5% compared to 10 .6% in 2016/17), perhaps because patients who have chronic conditions are more likely to respond . However, differences in the two prevalence estimates might 
also reflect an under- diagnosis of depression in General Practice . 

It is well known that mental illnesses are frequently comorbid with physical 
illnesses and vice versa . The bar chart shows the prevalence of anxiety or 
depression in Leicestershire is significantly higher for those with a musculoskeletal 
(MSK) condition compared to those without a MSK condition, a pattern which is 
reflected nationally . In 2016/17, a fifth (20 .2%) of those patients in Leicestershire 
with a long term MSK condition also reported depression or anxiety, compared to 
12 .5% of the entire population .6 

Statistical Significance compared to England:

15  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

239



Diabetes prevalence and estimated diabetes diagnosis rate in Leicestershire

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

%

0

2

4

6

Recorded QOF prevalence (aged 17+)

H
ar

bo
ro

ug
h

M
el

to
n

N
or

th
 W

es
t

Le
ic

es
te

rs
hi

re

H
in

ck
le

y 
an

d
Bo

sw
or

th

Bl
ab

y

Ch
ar

nw
oo

d

O
ad

by
 a

nd
W

ig
st

on

%

0

20

40

60

80

84.1 88.0
73.8 78.0 78.0 78.1

66.2

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with diabetes aged 17+ in
Leicestershire districts, 2017

2015 2016 2017

%

0

20

40

60

80

Trend of estimated diagnosis rate for people with diabetes
aged 17+ in Leicestershire

For Local Authorities, Clinical Commissioning Groups and local Health and Wellbeing
Boards to understand the scope for prevention and make headway in tackling the rising
numbers of people with or at risk of diabetes, it is important to understand not only how
many people have diabetes (number of cases of diabetes recorded on QOF register) but
also the estimated number of people expected to have diabetes given the characteristics of
the population. This will help identify the scale of the challenge in terms of numbers and
costs in developing diabetes identification and prevention programmes. It will also help
monitor the progress of closing the gap (i.e. meeting previously unmet need) between
observed prevalence (number of cases of diabetes recorded on QOF register) and actual
prevalence in identifying people at high risk or with undiagnosed diabetes.

Statistical Significance compared to England
Better Similar Worse

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Fingertips, Public Health England

Diabetes
For the Council, Clinical Commissioning Groups and the Health and Wellbeing Board to understand the scope for prevention and make headway in tackling the rising numbers of people with 
or at risk of diabetes, it is important to understand not only how many people have diabetes but also the estimated number of people expected to have diabetes given the characteristics of the 
population . This will help identify the scale of the challenge in terms of numbers and costs in developing diabetes identification and prevention programmes . It will also help monitor the progress 
of closing the gap (i .e . meeting previously unmet need) between observed prevalence and actual prevalence in identifying people at high risk or with undiagnosed diabetes .

In Leicestershire the percentage of the population diagnosed with diabetes has significantly increased over the last five years, from 6 .2% in 2012/13 to 6 .7% in 2016/17 . Nationally, the 
percentage has increased year on year throughout this time . The latest data in 2016/17 shows Leicestershire performs similar to the national average (6 .7%) .7 

The estimated diabetes diagnosis rate examines the number of people with a formal 
diagnosis of diabetes (from the QOF disease register) as a proportion of the estimated 
number with diabetes . This then infers the proportion of the expected diabetes population 
who are with undiagnosed diabetes . Over the last three years in Leicestershire, the 
estimated diagnosis rate has remained similar to the national average . The latest data from 
2017 shows 78 .6% of the expected diabetes population has been diagnosed, similar to the 
national rate (77 .1%) . However throughout the county, variation exists . Harborough has the 
lowest estimated diagnosis rate (66 .2%) and Oadby and Wigston, the highest (88 .0%) .2

16  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

240



Preventable sight loss in Leicestershire

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

0

50

100

150

Rate of sight loss due to age related
macular degeneration (AMD) in those
aged 65+ per 100,000 population

Prevention of sight loss will help people maintain independent lives as far as possible and
reduce needs for social care support, which would be necessary if sight was lost
permanently. The indicators presented show the counts of new completions of
Certifications of Visual Impairment (all causes - preventable and non-preventable) by a
consultant ophthalmologist as a rate of the resident population in the county. Where the
cause of sight loss is Age-related Macular Degeneration (AMD), Glaucoma or Diabetic Eye
Disease, the rate of new completions of Certifications of Visual Impairment due to these
disorders have been examined separately. Completing the sight loss certification initiates
the process of registration with a local authority and leads to access to services. 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

0

20

40

60

Rate of sight loss certifications per 100,000 population

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

0

5

10

15

Rate of sight loss due to glaucoma in
those aged 40+ per 100,000 population

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

0

2

4

Rate of sight loss due to diabetic eye
disease in those aged 12+ per 100,000
population

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England

Sight Loss
Prevention of sight loss will help people maintain independent lives as far as possible and reduce needs for social care support, which would be necessary if sight was lost permanently . 
The counts of new completions of Certifications of Visual Impairment (all causes - preventable and non-preventable) by a consultant ophthalmologist as a rate of the resident population 
in the county have been examined . In Leicestershire the rate of sight loss certifications per 100,000 population has remained significantly worse (higher) than the national average 
since 2013/14 . The latest data shows in 2016/17 there were 333 new certifications in the county .2 Completing the sight loss certification initiates the process of registration with a local 
authority and leads to access to services .

Where the cause of sight loss is Age-related Macular Degeneration (AMD), Glaucoma 
or Diabetic Eye Disease, the rate of new completions of Certifications of Visual 
Impairment due to these disorders have been examined separately . For the last five 
years, the rate of sight loss due to AMD in those aged 65 years and above and the 
rate of sight loss due to diabetic eye disease in those aged 12 years and above has 
remained similar to the national average . The rate of sight loss due to glaucoma in 
those aged 40 years and above has declined year on year for the past three years, to 
perform significantly better (lower) than the national average in 2016/17 .2

17  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

241



5. Multi Morbidity and Frailty

5.1 Multi Morbidity
Multimorbidity, commonly defined as the presence of two or more chronic medical conditions in an individual, is associated 
with a greater risk of disability and dying early, a lower quality of life and increased healthcare utilisation, including 
emergency admissions .

Studies show that multimorbidity is more common in older people, women and those who come from poorer backgrounds . 
However, it’s not just a problem for these groups .  People across all ages and backgrounds can develop multi morbidity .  
Rates of multi morbidity in older people are largely due to higher rates of physical health problems or conditions . However, in 
the less affluent, multimorbidity due to combinations of physical and mental health conditions is common .

Patients with multiple long term conditions often have complicated medical needs, including having to manage multiple 
illnesses and complex medication regimens . Multimorbidity also affects the quality of life of the families and carers of 
patients affected .

Multimorbidity has a substantial impact on various health services ranging from general practice to end-of-life care . Much of 
the management of patients with multimorbidity is undertaken in primary care, placing large demands on GPs .

18  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

242



Forecasted prevalence of Long Term Conditions in people aged 65 years and 
above
The chart shows the projected number of people over the age of 65 years with a long term condition between 2017 and 
2035 in Leicestershire . The numbers are based on the current prevalence rates applied to projected populations . Please 
note, the numbers refer to people on individual registers i .e . people with multi-morbidities will be counted on each register, 
therefore the totals will be greater than projected populations for the over 65s . The projected increase in number of people 
with the following conditions between 2017 and 2035 in Leicestershire is: Dementia (80 .0%), Stroke (51 .3%), Bronchitis 
and emphysema (46 .4%), Heart attack (47 .9%), Depression (45 .4%), Diabetes (44 .8%), Obesity (38 .5%) .8

Forecasted prevalence of limited long term conditions in people aged 65 and above in Leicestershire
The chart shows the projected number of people over the age of 65 with a long term condition between 2017 and 2035 in Leicestershire. The numbers are based on the current
prevalence rates applied to projected populations. Please note, the numbers refer to people on individual registers i.e. people with multi-morbidities will be counted on each register,
therefore the totals will be greater than projected populations for the over 65s. The projected increase in number of people with the following conditions between 2017 and 2035 in
Leicestershire is: Dementia (80.0%), Stroke (51.3%), Bronchitis and emphysema (46.4%), Heart attack (47.9%), Depression (45.4%), Diabetes (44.8%), Obesity (38.5%).

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035

0K

20K

40K

60K

80K

100K

120K

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 n

um
be

r p
re

di
ct

ed
 to

 h
av

e 
th

e 
di

se
as

e

10,401

12,265

14,613

17,028

11,943
12,682

14,075

15,867

17,365

17,394
18,470

20,425

22,971
25,193

10,059

36,444 38,346 41,868
46,573 50,474

9,458

6,799 7,269
8,158

9,168

Bronchitis and emphysema
Dementia

Depression
Diabetes

Heart attack
Obesity

Stroke

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: POPPI

Forecasted prevalence of limited long term conditions in people aged 65 and above in Leicestershire
The chart shows the projected number of people over the age of 65 with a long term condition between 2017 and 2035 in Leicestershire. The numbers are based on the current
prevalence rates applied to projected populations. Please note, the numbers refer to people on individual registers i.e. people with multi-morbidities will be counted on each register,
therefore the totals will be greater than projected populations for the over 65s. The projected increase in number of people with the following conditions between 2017 and 2035 in
Leicestershire is: Dementia (80.0%), Stroke (51.3%), Bronchitis and emphysema (46.4%), Heart attack (47.9%), Depression (45.4%), Diabetes (44.8%), Obesity (38.5%).

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035

0K

20K

40K

60K

80K

100K

120K

Es
ti

m
at

ed
 n

um
be

r p
re

di
ct

ed
 to

 h
av

e 
th

e 
di

se
as

e

10,401

12,265

14,613

17,028

11,943
12,682

14,075

15,867

17,365

17,394
18,470

20,425

22,971
25,193

10,059

36,444 38,346 41,868
46,573 50,474

9,458

6,799 7,269
8,158

9,168

Bronchitis and emphysema
Dementia

Depression
Diabetes

Heart attack
Obesity

Stroke

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: POPPI

19  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

243



Prevalence estimates of Multi-Morbidity
Although multi-morbidity (presence of multiple chronic (long-term) conditions) has been researched extensively, there 
is currently no consensus on its precise definition . The number, type (physical or mental health) and selection criteria 
for conditions included in multi-morbidity indices vary from one author to another . The differences in definitions and 
measurement tools give rise to non-comparable information on the prevalence of multi-morbidity across various studies . 
Barnett et al .9 defined multi-morbidity as the presence of two or more chronic conditions from 40 specified conditions, and 
reported prevalence by sex, age group and area deprivation decile . The data reported here are based on two or more, three 
or more, and physical and mental health comorbidity only . 

Prevalence estimates for the East Midlands show, regardless of gender, as we age the prevalence of multi-morbidity 
increases . In each age group, the prevalence of two or more chronic conditions was the highest, followed by three or more 
chronic conditions and the physical and mental health comorbidity . In Leicestershire, the highest count of people (65,000) 
with multi-morbidity was in the 65-84 years age group with two or more conditions respectively . This was followed by the 
45-64 years age group with two or more conditions (53,000) and the 65-84 years age group with three or more conditions 
(44,000) . Interestingly, there was a higher count of people with two or more chronic conditions in the 25-44 years age 
group compared to those in the 85 year and above age group . This is likely to reflect the smaller absolute population in the 
older age group .10 

20  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

244



Estimated prevalence of multi-morbidity by number of chronic conditions and age

Age group
2 or more chronic

conditions
3 or more chronic

conditions
Physical and Mental
Health comorbidity

0-24

25-44

45-64

65-84

85+ 4,645

16,708

20,741

8,714

993

9,938

44,055

27,440

6,780

716

12,535

64,384

53,162

17,796

3,576

Estimated people with multi-morbidity in Leicestershire

Sex
Age
group

2 or more chronic
conditions

3 or more chronic
conditions

Physical and Mental
Health comorbidity

0 20 40 60 80

Prevalence (%)

0 20 40 60 80

Prevalence (%)

0 20 40 60 80

Prevalence (%)

Males

0-24

25-44

45-64

65-84

85+

Females

0-24

25-44

45-64

65-84

85+

Prevalence of multi-morbidity in the East Midlands

716 64,384
Number of people

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

Expected prevalence estimates are based on observed prevalence estimates provided by Barnett
and colleagues and mid-2011 population estimates. Source: Public Health England

Prevalence estimates of Multi-Morbidity

Estimated prevalence of multi-morbidity by number of chronic conditions and age

Age group
2 or more chronic

conditions
3 or more chronic

conditions
Physical and Mental
Health comorbidity

0-24

25-44

45-64

65-84

85+ 4,645

16,708

20,741

8,714

993

9,938

44,055

27,440

6,780

716

12,535

64,384

53,162

17,796

3,576

Estimated people with multi-morbidity in Leicestershire

Sex
Age
group

2 or more chronic
conditions

3 or more chronic
conditions

Physical and Mental
Health comorbidity

0 20 40 60 80

Prevalence (%)

0 20 40 60 80

Prevalence (%)

0 20 40 60 80

Prevalence (%)

Males

0-24

25-44

45-64

65-84

85+

Females

0-24

25-44

45-64

65-84

85+

Prevalence of multi-morbidity in the East Midlands

716 64,384
Number of people

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

Expected prevalence estimates are based on observed prevalence estimates provided by Barnett
and colleagues and mid-2011 population estimates. Source: Public Health England

21  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

245



5.2 Frailty and Hospital Admissions
The strongest risk factor for frailty is age but not all old or very old adults are frail, nor is it always associated with co-
morbidity or disability . Frailty is a long-term condition which can predate a health crisis by a decade or more and many 
people with frailty also have multimorbidity .

Frail individuals have up to ten times the rate of adverse outcomes such as falls, hospital or care home admissions, and are 
less able to cope with life events such as illness and trauma .

It describes how our bodies gradually lose their in-built reserves, leaving us vulnerable to dramatic, sudden changes in 
health triggered by seemingly small events such as a minor infection or a change in medication or environment . Frailty 
defines the group of older people who are at highest risk of adverse outcomes such as falls, disability, admission to hospital, 
or the need for long-term care .

Older people with moderate to severe frailty are often well known to local health and social care professionals . They usually 
have weak muscles and also usually have other conditions like arthritis, poor eyesight, deafness and memory problems . 
This means older people with frailty will walk slowly, get tired easily and struggle to get out of a chair or climb stairs . Typically 
therefore they are housebound, or only able to leave their home with help . 

22  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

246



Emergency admission for residents aged 65 years and above
Good management of long term conditions requires effective collaboration across the health and care system to support people in managing conditions and to promote swift recovery 
and reablement after acute illness . There should be shared responsibility across the system so that all parts of the health and care system improve the quality of care and reduce the 
frequency and necessity for emergency admissions .

In 2017/18, the crude rate of emergency admissions for patients aged 65 years and above in Leicestershire is 24,770 per 100,000 population aged 65 years and above . This is the 
6th highest rate out of the 16 CIPFA nearest neighbours to Leicestershire .11 The map illustrates the variation across Leicestershire in the rate of emergency admissions for people aged 
65 years and above and will identify areas where the rates are both higher and lower than the national average . Areas of both types might warrant further investigation to establish 
either the underlying causes for higher rates and thus gain an understanding of where improvements might be required, or for lower rates what good practice might look like . Areas in 
Wigston, Hinckley, Coalville and Loughborough may benefit from targeted intervention to reduce emergency admissions from residents in these areas .12 

Emergency admissions (65+) from all causes in Leicestershire
Good management of long term conditions requires effective collaboration across the health and care system to support people in managing conditions and to promote swift recovery
and reablement after acute illness. There should be shared responsibility across the system so that all parts of the health and care system improve the quality of care and reduce the
frequency and necessity for emergency admissions.

Standardised Admission Ratio, people aged 65+, MSOA,
2015/16 - 2017/18

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e

G
lo

uc
es

te
rs

hi
re

D
ev

on

H
am

ps
hi

re

Su
ff

ol
k

N
or

th
 Y

or
ks

hi
re

O
xf

or
ds

hi
re

W
ar

w
ic

ks
hi

re

Es
se

x

Ca
m

br
id

ge
sh

ir
e

Le
ic

es
te

rs
hi

re

St
aff

or
ds

hi
re

N
ot

ti
ng

ha
m

sh
ir

e

So
m

er
se

t

D
er

by
sh

ir
e

N
or

th
am

pt
on

sh
ir

e
0K

10K

20K

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00
 6

5+
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

Emergency Admissions (65+) per 100,000 65+ population by
CIPFA Nearest Neighbours, 2017/18

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Local Area Performance Measures, DoH and HES and ONS population estimates

Numerator: Emergency admission code (episode order number = 1, admission method starts with 2). Age at admission 65 and over. Ordinary admission only (classpat = 1). Admissions are only included
if they have a valid Local Authority code. Denominator: Local Authority estimates of resident population, Office for National Statistics (ONS)

Emergency admissions (65+) from all causes in Leicestershire
Good management of long term conditions requires effective collaboration across the health and care system to support people in managing conditions and to promote swift recovery
and reablement after acute illness. There should be shared responsibility across the system so that all parts of the health and care system improve the quality of care and reduce the
frequency and necessity for emergency admissions.

Standardised Admission Ratio, people aged 65+, MSOA,
2015/16 - 2017/18

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e

G
lo

uc
es

te
rs

hi
re

D
ev

on

H
am

ps
hi

re

Su
ff

ol
k

N
or

th
 Y

or
ks

hi
re

O
xf

or
ds

hi
re

W
ar

w
ic

ks
hi

re

Es
se

x

Ca
m

br
id

ge
sh

ir
e

Le
ic

es
te

rs
hi

re

St
aff

or
ds

hi
re

N
ot

ti
ng

ha
m

sh
ir

e

So
m

er
se

t

D
er

by
sh

ir
e

N
or

th
am

pt
on

sh
ir

e
0K

10K

20K

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00
 6

5+
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

Emergency Admissions (65+) per 100,000 65+ population by
CIPFA Nearest Neighbours, 2017/18

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Local Area Performance Measures, DoH and HES and ONS population estimates

Numerator: Emergency admission code (episode order number = 1, admission method starts with 2). Age at admission 65 and over. Ordinary admission only (classpat = 1). Admissions are only included
if they have a valid Local Authority code. Denominator: Local Authority estimates of resident population, Office for National Statistics (ONS)

23  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

247



Falls
Regular physical activity can develop and maintain strength and balance . Poor muscle strength increases the risk of a fall by 
three quarters in older adults .

Locally, the Falls programme has put in place a number of interventions .

The Postural Stability Programmes continue to be delivered across the County CCG footprints . As a result of the additional 
funding approved by East and West CCG to enable the Falls programme to continue until March 2019, the Postural Stability 
Programme continues . This investment from the CCG's will enable a further 18 courses (14 week duration) to be completed 
by the end of the financial year . As each course ends, each candidate will undertake a repeated falls risk prediction tools to 
identify the impact of the programme .

The Therapy Triage service continues to review referrals into the consultant falls clinic and redirect a large number of these 
directly to Therapy review and support . As a result patients are continuing to benefit from drastically reduced waits, therapy 
interventions in a timely manner and only onwardly referred to a Consultant Falls clinic if it is professionally supported by the 
Leicestershire, Leicester City and Rutland (LLR) Falls Therapists .

The Falls Prevention Programme within community settings to be launched in August 2018 (delayed from June 2018) . 
The programme will run for 12 months and strengthen the prevention/self assessment/early intervention activities for LLR 
regarding those at risk of falling in the future .

The Ambulance and Fire Service have agreed to work together to design the pilot Falls Response service . This service will 
respond to fallers who have been triaged as not requiring medical intervention to lift hem up, but still need lifting from the 
floor promptly .

24  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

248



Emergency admissions (aged 65+) due to falls in Leicestershire

Standardised Admission Ratio, people aged 65 and over,
MSOAs, 2015/16 - 2017/18

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

0

2,000

4,000

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to
falls per 100,000 population by age, 2010/11 - 2016/17

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

Age Group
65-79 65+ 80+

Falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions for older people, and
significantly impact on long term outcomes, e.g. they are a major precipitant of people
moving from their own home to long-term nursing or residential care. The highest risk of
falls is in those aged 65 and above and it is estimated that about 30% people aged 65 and
above living at home and about 50% of people aged 80 and above living at home or in
residential care will experience an episode of fall at least once a year.

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: HES, ONS population estimates and Public Health Outcomes Framework

Numerator: Emergency admissions for falls injuries classified by primary diagnosis code (ICD10 code S00-T98) and external cause (ICD10 code W00-W19) and an emergency admission code (episode
order number = 1, admission method starts with 2) . Age at admission 65 and over. Regular and day attenders have been excluded. Admissions are only included if they have a valid Local Authority
code. Denominator: Local Authority estimates of resident population, Office for National Statistics (ONS)

Emergency Admissions from Falls
Falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions for older people, and significantly impact on long term outcomes, e .g . they are a major precipitant of people moving from 
their own home to long-term nursing or residential care . The highest risk of falls are in those aged 65 years and above and it is estimated that about 30% of people aged 65 years and 
above living at home and about 50% of people aged 80 years and above living at home or in residential care will experience an episode of fall at least once a year .

The local data for Leicestershire shows the rate of emergency admissions for falls increases with age, with the rate of admissions for those aged 80 years and above being five times 
higher than those aged 65 to 79 years .2 The map illustrates the variation across Leicestershire in the rate of emergency admissions for falls in people aged 65+ will identify areas 
where the rates are both higher and lower than the national average . Areas of both types 
identified might warrant further investigation to establish either the underlying causes for 
higher rates and thus gain an understanding of where improvements might be required, or 
for lower rates what good practice might look like . Areas in Hinckley, Market Harborough, 
Ashby-de-la-Zouch and Shepshed may benefit from targeted intervention to reduce 
emergency admissions from falls from residents in these areas .12

Emergency admissions (aged 65+) due to falls in Leicestershire

Standardised Admission Ratio, people aged 65 and over,
MSOAs, 2015/16 - 2017/18

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

0

2,000

4,000

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to
falls per 100,000 population by age, 2010/11 - 2016/17

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

Age Group
65-79 65+ 80+

Falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions for older people, and
significantly impact on long term outcomes, e.g. they are a major precipitant of people
moving from their own home to long-term nursing or residential care. The highest risk of
falls is in those aged 65 and above and it is estimated that about 30% people aged 65 and
above living at home and about 50% of people aged 80 and above living at home or in
residential care will experience an episode of fall at least once a year.

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: HES, ONS population estimates and Public Health Outcomes Framework

Numerator: Emergency admissions for falls injuries classified by primary diagnosis code (ICD10 code S00-T98) and external cause (ICD10 code W00-W19) and an emergency admission code (episode
order number = 1, admission method starts with 2) . Age at admission 65 and over. Regular and day attenders have been excluded. Admissions are only included if they have a valid Local Authority
code. Denominator: Local Authority estimates of resident population, Office for National Statistics (ONS)

25  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

249



Dementia
Dementia describes a group of symptoms associated with a decline in memory and other thinking skills, severe enough to 
reduce a person’s ability to go about their daily business . Alzheimer’s disease accounts for between two thirds and three 
quarters of cases .

There are a number of changes at different stages of life that evidence suggests could help prevent more than a third 
of cases of dementia . Dementia in later life is associated with low educational attainment in childhood, hearing loss, 
hypertension, obesity, smoking, depression, physical inactivity, social isolation, and diabetes .

Age is also associated with increasing levels of dementia but dementia itself is not an inevitable part of ageing

Smoking is one of the biggest lifestyle risk factors for dementia . It doubles the risk of dementia by increasing the risk of 
cardiovascular disease, diabetes and stroke . One of the best ways to prevent dementia is to quit smoking .

26  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

250



Emergency admissions (aged 65+) with a mention of dementia in Leicestershire

Standardised Admission Ratio, people aged 65 and over,
MSOAs, 2015/16 - 2017/18

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Trend of Directly Standardised Rate per 100,000 population
(aged 65+), 2012/13 - 2016/17

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.

Numerator: Emergency admissions with any mention of dementia (F00-F04, G30 & G31) in any diagnostic field position and an emergency admission code (episode order number = 1, admission method
starts with 2). Age at admission 65 and over. Ordinary admission only (classpat = 1). Admissions are only included if they have a valid Local Authority code. Denominator: Local Authority estimates of
resident population, Office for National Statistics (ONS)

Source: HES, ONS population estimates and Fingertips, PHE

Emergency Admissions from Dementia
This indicator is useful to understand the variation in the provision of care of people with dementia in England . It examines the trend in the directly age standardised rate of emergency 
inpatient hospital admissions for people with a mention of dementia in any of the diagnosis code positions (aged 65 years and above) per 100,000 population in Leicestershire . Over 
the last five years, the rate has remained significantly better (lower) than the national average and has seen a year on year decrease over the last two years .13 

The map illustrates the variation across Leicestershire in the rate of emergency admissions for people aged 65 years and above with dementia and will identify areas where the rates are 
both higher and lower than the national average . Areas of both types identified might warrant further investigation to establish either the underlying causes for higher rates and thus gain 
an understanding of where improvements might be required, or for lower rates what good practice might look like . Areas in Coalville, Shepshed, Hinckley, Loughborough and Ashby-de-
la-Zouch may benefit from targeted intervention to reduce emergency admissions from falls from residents in these areas .12

27  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

251



Emergency Admissions from any Frailty Diagnosis
To understand where frailty is higher than expected in the county, we used Hospital Episode Statistics to extract the unique 
patients aged 65 years and over who had one or more frailty syndrome diagnosis code in any diagnosis field . Definitions 
of the frailty syndromes were provided from J Soong et al .14 . Across the county, almost 20,000 people aged 65 years 
and over with one or more frailty syndromes were admitted to hospital between 2014/15 to 2016/17 . The map illustrates 
the variation across Leicestershire in the rate of emergency admissions for people aged 65 years and above with at least 
one frailty syndrome and will identify areas where the rates are both higher and lower than the national average . Areas in 
Loughborough, Coalville, Shepshed, Hinckley, Wigston and Ashby-de-la-Zouch may benefit from targeted intervention to 
reduce emergency admissions due to frailty from residents in these areas .15 

The analysis also allows us to estimate what conditions and syndromes related to frailty we might want to prioritise due to 
the demand imparted on the acute health system . In Leicestershire, evidence points to dementia diagnoses and admissions 
related to falls .15

28  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

252



Patients with a frailty related hospital admission in Leicestershire, 2014/15 - 2016/17

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+
1
2

3
4
5
6

7

21
96

274

664
1,145
1,592

19
116
255

617
1,171
2,017

7
13
80

207

403
1,011
2,117

9
39
91

271
604

1,995

9
12
56

141
386

1,831

16
39

85
267

1,848

Count of patients by the number of different frailty diagnoses

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+

Anxiety and Depression
Delirium
Dementia
Falls and Fractures
Functional dependence
Incontinence
Mobility problems
Pressure ulcers
Senility 225

510
1,041
651
160

1,686
1,755
846
530

199
493

1,100
737
196

1,893
1,751
811
773

136
437
997
625
168

1,572
1,341
661
883

75
282
693
461
109

1,119
724
383
954

41
206
474
280
79

773
301
207

1,028

20
131
331
224
58

656
154
133

1,234

Count of patients by the type of different frailty diagnoses Standardised Admission Ratio of unique patients with a
frailty related hopsital admission, aged 65+, MSOAs

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.
Source: HES, NHS Digital and ONS mid-year population estimates
Data provided by Public Health England, Local Knowledge and Intelligence Service East Midlands

Numerator: Counts of unique patients aged 65 and over, with finshed admission episodes (where EPISTAT=3 and EPIORDER=1) in the financial years 2014/15, 2015/16 and/or 2016/17, and at least one ICD diagnosis
code in any of the following groups: Anxiety & Depression: F32, F33, F34, F38, F41, F43, F44; Delirium: F05; Dementia: F00, F01, F02, F03, F04; Senility: R54; Pressure ulcers: L89; Incontinence: R15, R32; Functional
dependencies: Z74, Z75; Mobility problems: R26; Falls and fractures: S32, S33, S42, S43, S62, S72, S73 OR cause in: W06, W07, W08, W09, W10, W11, W12, W13, W14, W15, W16, W17, W18, W19. Where patients had
multiple admission episodes, the most recent admission episode for that patient was used to get the patients age, address and GP practice to group by to avoid double counting patients. Denominator: Counts of unique
patients aged 65 and over, with finshed admission episodes (where EPISTAT=3 and EPIORDER=1) in the financial years 2014/15, 2015/16 and/or 2016/17.

Emergency Admissions from any Frailty Diagnosis

Patients with a frailty related hospital admission in Leicestershire, 2014/15 - 2016/17

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+
1
2

3
4
5
6

7

21
96

274

664
1,145
1,592

19
116
255

617
1,171
2,017

7
13
80

207

403
1,011
2,117

9
39
91

271
604

1,995

9
12
56

141
386

1,831

16
39

85
267

1,848

Count of patients by the number of different frailty diagnoses

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+

Anxiety and Depression
Delirium
Dementia
Falls and Fractures
Functional dependence
Incontinence
Mobility problems
Pressure ulcers
Senility 225

510
1,041
651
160

1,686
1,755
846
530

199
493

1,100
737
196

1,893
1,751
811
773

136
437
997
625
168

1,572
1,341
661
883

75
282
693
461
109

1,119
724
383
954

41
206
474
280
79

773
301
207

1,028

20
131
331
224
58

656
154
133

1,234

Count of patients by the type of different frailty diagnoses Standardised Admission Ratio of unique patients with a
frailty related hopsital admission, aged 65+, MSOAs

Statistical Significance compared to England
Higher Lower Similar

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.
Source: HES, NHS Digital and ONS mid-year population estimates
Data provided by Public Health England, Local Knowledge and Intelligence Service East Midlands

Numerator: Counts of unique patients aged 65 and over, with finshed admission episodes (where EPISTAT=3 and EPIORDER=1) in the financial years 2014/15, 2015/16 and/or 2016/17, and at least one ICD diagnosis
code in any of the following groups: Anxiety & Depression: F32, F33, F34, F38, F41, F43, F44; Delirium: F05; Dementia: F00, F01, F02, F03, F04; Senility: R54; Pressure ulcers: L89; Incontinence: R15, R32; Functional
dependencies: Z74, Z75; Mobility problems: R26; Falls and fractures: S32, S33, S42, S43, S62, S72, S73 OR cause in: W06, W07, W08, W09, W10, W11, W12, W13, W14, W15, W16, W17, W18, W19. Where patients had
multiple admission episodes, the most recent admission episode for that patient was used to get the patients age, address and GP practice to group by to avoid double counting patients. Denominator: Counts of unique
patients aged 65 and over, with finshed admission episodes (where EPISTAT=3 and EPIORDER=1) in the financial years 2014/15, 2015/16 and/or 2016/17.

Standardised Admission Ratio of unique patients with a  
frailty related hospital admission, aged 65+, MSOAs

29  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

253



5.3 Mortality

Excess Winter Deaths
In common with other countries, more people die in the winter than in the summer in England and Wales . The Excess 
Winter Deaths (EWD) Index is defined as the ratio of extra deaths from all causes that occur in the winter months compared 
with the expected number of deaths, based on the average of the number of non-winter deaths . Between August 2013 to 
July 2016 there were an estimated 889 excess winter deaths in Leicestershire . This represents a EWD Index of 15 .8%, 
which means that 15 .8% more deaths occurred in the winter months compared with the non-winter months .2 As it is 
common to observe large fluctuations in EWDs for which trends over time are often not smooth, we have presented a 
three-year moving average to smooth out any short-term fluctuations and make the trend over time clearer in the graphs 
presented . 

Nationally, EWDs are generally higher in females and the elderly . In Leicestershire the EWD Index for those aged 85 years 
and above has been consistently higher (although not significantly) than those of all ages since recordings began . When 
examining by gender, on a national level, the EWD Index for females aged 85 and above has been higher than males 
(although not always significantly) for the last 12 time periods . In Leicestershire, the EWD Index for males aged 85 and 
above has been higher (although not significantly) than females in the same age group for the last three time periods .2

30  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

254



Excess Winter Deaths in Leicestershire
In common with other countries, more people die in the winter than in the summer in England and Wales. The Excess Winter Deaths (EWD) Index is defined as the ratio of extra deaths
from all causes that occur in the winter months compared with the expected number of deaths, based on the average of the number of non-winter deaths. Between August 2013 to July
2016 there were an estimated 889 excess winter deaths in Leicestershire. This represents a EWD Index of 15.8%, which means that 15.8% more deaths occurred in the winter months
compared with the non-winter months. As it is common to observe large fluctuations in EWDs for which trends over time are often not smooth, we have presented a three-year moving
average to smooth out any short-term fluctuations and make the trend over time clearer in the graphs presented.  Nationally, EWDs are generally higher in females and the elderly. In
Leicestershire the EWD Index for those aged 85 years and above has been consistently higher (although not significantly) than those of all ages since recordings began. When examining
by gender, on a national level, the EWD Index for females aged 85 and above has been higher than males (although not always significantly) for the last 12 time periods. In
Leicestershire, the EWD Index for males aged 85 and above has been higher (although not significantly) than females in the same age group for the last three time periods.

Aug 2011 - Jul 2014 Aug 2012 - Jul 2015 Aug 2013 - Jul 2016
M

al
e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

EW
D

 In
de

x

Excess Winter Deaths Index (3 years) by sex and age group

Au
g 

20
01

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

4

Au
g 

20
02

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

5

Au
g 

20
03

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

6

Au
g 

20
04

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

7

Au
g 

20
05

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

8

Au
g 

20
06

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

9

Au
g 

20
07

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

0

Au
g 

20
08

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

1

Au
g 

20
09

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

2

Au
g 

20
10

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

3

Au
g 

20
11

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

4

Au
g 

20
12

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

5

Au
g 

20
13

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

6

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

EW
D

 In
de

x

Trend in Excess Winter Deaths Index (3 years) by age group

Age Group 85+  yrs All ages

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Excess Winter Deaths in Leicestershire
In common with other countries, more people die in the winter than in the summer in England and Wales. The Excess Winter Deaths (EWD) Index is defined as the ratio of extra deaths
from all causes that occur in the winter months compared with the expected number of deaths, based on the average of the number of non-winter deaths. Between August 2013 to July
2016 there were an estimated 889 excess winter deaths in Leicestershire. This represents a EWD Index of 15.8%, which means that 15.8% more deaths occurred in the winter months
compared with the non-winter months. As it is common to observe large fluctuations in EWDs for which trends over time are often not smooth, we have presented a three-year moving
average to smooth out any short-term fluctuations and make the trend over time clearer in the graphs presented.  Nationally, EWDs are generally higher in females and the elderly. In
Leicestershire the EWD Index for those aged 85 years and above has been consistently higher (although not significantly) than those of all ages since recordings began. When examining
by gender, on a national level, the EWD Index for females aged 85 and above has been higher than males (although not always significantly) for the last 12 time periods. In
Leicestershire, the EWD Index for males aged 85 and above has been higher (although not significantly) than females in the same age group for the last three time periods.

Aug 2011 - Jul 2014 Aug 2012 - Jul 2015 Aug 2013 - Jul 2016

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

M
al

e

Fe
m

al
e

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

EW
D

 In
de

x

Excess Winter Deaths Index (3 years) by sex and age group

Au
g 

20
01

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

4

Au
g 

20
02

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

5

Au
g 

20
03

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

6

Au
g 

20
04

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

7

Au
g 

20
05

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

8

Au
g 

20
06

 - 
Ju

l 2
00

9

Au
g 

20
07

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

0

Au
g 

20
08

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

1

Au
g 

20
09

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

2

Au
g 

20
10

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

3

Au
g 

20
11

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

4

Au
g 

20
12

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

5

Au
g 

20
13

 - 
Ju

l 2
01

6

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

EW
D

 In
de

x

Trend in Excess Winter Deaths Index (3 years) by age group

Age Group 85+  yrs All ages

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework

Excess Winter Deaths

31  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

255



Deaths in Usual Place of Residence
The proportion of deaths in usual place of residence (DiUPR) is a key indicator for end of life care and acts as a proxy quality marker for choice and access . The latest data from 2016 
shows as age increases, the proportion of people dying in their usual place of residence increases . In Leicestershire over the last six years, the percentage of DiUPR has significantly 
increased . This pattern is consistent across all age bands .16 

When examining DiUPR by cause of death in 2015, this showed Dementia and Alzheimer’s disease had the highest percentage of DiUPR (73 .1%), followed by Cancer (49 .9%), 
Circulatory disease (44 .3%) and Respiratory disease (33 .1%) . Trend analysis for Leicestershire shows that deaths in usual place of residence for Respiratory disease has shown no 
significant increase over time whereas Dementia and Alzheimer’s disease, Cancer and Circulatory disease have all shown significant increases in the percentage of DiUPR .16Death in Usual Place of Residence (DiUPR) in Leicestershire

<65 yrs 65-74 yrs 75-84 yrs 85+  yrs

%

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

36.4%
40.8%

46.8%

55.8%

DiUPR by age in Leicestershire, Persons, 2016

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

%

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

Trend of DiUPR by Underlying Cause of Death in Leicestershire

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: End of Life Care Profile, PHE

Underlying Cause of Death
All Causes (%) Cancer (%) Circulatory disease (%) Dementia & Alzheimer's disease (%) Respiratory disease (%)

Death in Usual Place of Residence (DiUPR) in Leicestershire

<65 yrs 65-74 yrs 75-84 yrs 85+  yrs

%

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

36.4%
40.8%

46.8%

55.8%

DiUPR by age in Leicestershire, Persons, 2016

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

%

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

Trend of DiUPR by Underlying Cause of Death in Leicestershire

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2018.Source: End of Life Care Profile, PHE

Underlying Cause of Death
All Causes (%) Cancer (%) Circulatory disease (%) Dementia & Alzheimer's disease (%) Respiratory disease (%)

32  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

256



6. Treating the person, not the condition
The challenge of frailty and multi morbidity will need action in a number of areas . There are 
broadly:

• actions the health and care system need to consider to help them care successfully for patients 
with multiple conditions;

• actions public health and wider local government can support to help people live a healthy old age, 
and;

• actions that public sector partners can work together on to reduce isolation and encourage 
participation in communities

The health system
The longer term challenge for the health system is shifting away from treating individual diseases towards providing help for 
people with a number of different conditions . This help should be the earlier the better and preferably, in their own communities . 
The ‘system’ should be about prevention, early identification and management of conditions, ideally within primary care, to 
prevent the onset of ill health .

For healthcare, this suggests a need to ensure investment in improved primary care, prevention, case management and 
integrated/co-ordinated NHS and social care . Improvements to information sharing across services, and implementing ‘risk 
stratification’ tools in general practice will help . 

GPs when caring for younger and poorer patients with multimorbidity, should consider the cross over between physical 
and mental health morbidities . By comparison, when caring for older patients with multimorbidity, the sheer number of 
morbidities is likely to define a patients’ needs . A well thought out collaborative planning process is crucial for people with 
multimorbidity .

33  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

257



Promote healthy ageing
We need to maintain good health throughout life . Quitting smoking, being physically active and eating well will not only help 
slow the earlier onset of chronic conditions such as osteoarthritis and diabetes, but lifestyle improvements in those with 
multiple health conditions and the frail can help them keep well .

Loneliness and social isolation
Being housebound is a risk factor for loneliness, and that loneliness is itself a risk factor for depression, poor sleep, impaired 
thinking skills, higher use of health care with more GP visits, higher use of medication, and higher incidence of falls . Linked 
to prevention and social prescribing, tackling loneliness and supporting people in their own communities will help mitigate 
the increasing numbers of frail people .

34  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

258



Social Prescribing
Social prescribing is a way of linking patients in primary care with sources of support within the community . It provides GPs 
with a non-medical referral option that can operate alongside existing treatments to improve health and well-being . 

In Leicestershire the vision for social prescribing is that: ‘We will work together to create a coherent social prescribing offer 
across Leicestershire that will benefit citizens by allowing them greater access to our menu of services and community 
resources, to enhance their health and wellbeing’ .

The Council’s ‘First Contact Plus’ service acts as the coordinating “front door” for accessing a range of social prescribing 
solutions, as illustrated by Figure 1 .

Figure 1

The social prescribing model recognises that the ‘offer’ would not be the same in the two areas as, for example, the physical 
activity services and approach to community development vary by district council .

Emerging Model for Social Prescribing

Physical Activity 
Exercise on Referral  

District Councils’ 
Physical Activity Offer

Patient and GP Dialogue
Consent for referral for 

social prescription
Social Support/ 

Community Support
Local Area Co-ordinators (LAC)  
LCC’s Communities Strategy  

Voluntary Sector Officer

Lightbulb
Leicestershire’s 

Integrated Housing 
Support

First Contact Plus
Navigator for Social 

Prescribing

Information,  
Advice and Guidance

Core Offer  
Digital Council  

Integrated Points of 
Access

Wellbeing and  
Wellness Services
Recovery College  

Smoking Cessation  
Diabetes Prevention  

Carers Support 
IAPT

Volunteering
Timebanking 

Targeted community 
capacity building in 

response to  
community need

35  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

259



Local Area Coordination
Local Area Coordination (LAC) is an approach to supporting people and their families to have a good life as part of their local 
community that is a central part of the social prescribing model .

Rather than waiting for people to fall into crisis, assessing deficits, testing eligibility and fitting people into more expensive 
(and increasingly unaffordable) services, it works alongside people to:

• Build and pursue their personal vision for a good life,

• Stay strong, safe and connected as contributing citizens,

• Find practical, non-service solutions to problems wherever possible, and

• Build more welcoming, inclusive and supportive communities .

Local Area Coordinators take time to build valued, trusting relationships with individuals, families and communities – they 
start with supporting people to build a vision for a good life and the ways they may get there . Services are the last part of the 
conversation .

By starting with asking ‘what matters to you?’ rather than ‘what’s the matter?’ they promote a focus on person-centred care 
rather than on individual medical conditions .

Support for carers
Informal carers, friends and family, often provide considerable support to people with multimorbidity . It is important to take 
an integrated approach to identifying and assessing carer health and wellbeing . Carers have worse health outcomes than 
people who are not carers and that they might need support too . 70% of carers come into contact with health professionals 
with only around 10% being identified as carers .

36  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

260



7. Feedback on recommendations for 2017

Air quality
As an emerging national risk to health, I would encourage a partnership approach between Leicestershire County Council, 
District Councils, businesses and other partners to address this issue with the urgency and scale that it requires .

Response:

Public Health have started to map a range of air quality related health conditions against modelled air quality across 
Leicestershire, and will be working with new modelling software within the Department Environment & Transport and 
the University of Leicester to take this forward .

This Winter will see the launch of an action plan for air quality in Leicestershire focussing on better data and intelligence, 
active travel promotion in identified hot spots, and a communications campaign to educate wider public on what they 
can do to reduce their own impact on air quality and protect themselves and their families if they have health issues 
exacerbated by poor air quality”

Demography
The figures for life expectancy, healthy life expectancy and population change make it clear that Leicestershire’s population is 
undergoing rapid change . It is estimated that 56,000 men and 58,000 women are living in the ‘age gap’ between healthy 
life expectancy and life expectancy, potentially in poor health . This accounts for 17% of the population in the county . It is 
imperative that government funding formulas reflect the drivers for demand for our services, such as adult social care, so that 
Leicestershire can plan for this ongoing change .

Response:

The recommendation still stands . Council officers and members continue to lobby for fairer funding work . It is hoped we 
will have sight of the new system in the spring for implementation for 2020/21 .

37  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

261



Lifestyles
Around two-thirds of deaths among the under 75s are caused by diseases and illness that are largely avoidable, including 
cancer and diseases of the circulatory system . Many of the direct causes are due to lifestyle related factors and are preceded 
by long periods of ill-health . I will ensure that lifestyle services tackle multiple lifestyle risk factors and that such services are 
integral to developments such as Integrated Locality Teams .

Response:

Following public consultation, Council Cabinet approved the development of a new model for an integrated lifestyle 
service to be in place for September 2019 . The model will deliver: 

a . Universal Tier 1 support for all residents – The provision of online evidence-based information on healthy eating, 
nutrition and cooking that is consistent with NICE Guidelines;

b . Integrated lifestyle service triage - The introduction of a telephone-based triage service to develop personalised 
behaviour change plans and co-ordinate access to lifestyle services as necessary . Some people will need only one-
off information, advice and guidance . Other people will need more support and for weight management would be 
referred to the in-house Tier 2 service; 

c . In-house Tier 2 weight management service working alongside the existing Quit Ready smoking cessation service . 
The adult weight management service will operate using a combination of online/web based information, telephone 
support, app, text and web-chat approaches and face to face groups for specific, targeted, service users to form an 
integrated and multi-component service . Access will be by self-referral or GP referral to online information or to the 
existing First Contact Plus (FC+) telephone service .

d . Improved cross referral - improving integration and cross referral of people across lifestyle services including physical 
activity services delivered by district councils .

Through the work of the Unified Prevention Board (UPB – a sub-group of the Health and Well Being board), prevention 
services are represented at each integrated locality team across Leicestershire, helping ensure that prevention play a key 
part in the development of multi-disciplinary working across health and social care .

38  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

262



Alcohol
Alcohol specific hospital admissions highlight ‘hotspots’ around the county where such admissions occur . I will help develop 
stronger links between the Leicestershire Community Safety Partnership Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board to work 
on identified joint priorities such as alcohol related admissions .

Response:

Public Health completed a needs assessment to explore links between health & wellbeing and community safety . This 
led to the development of 5 priority areas of focus, one of which is alcohol misuse . These priorities have been endorsed 
by the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategic Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board . In addition, Public Health 
is leading on the development of a substance misuse strategy which will include elements such as criminal justice and 
domestic abuse and will have key partners such as the police at the heart of its development .

The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) are leading on the development of ‘People Zones’ which 
are geographically defined areas wherein public services (including health, police, local authorities, fire services and 
criminal justice services) work collaboratively to address the key social problems for that particular area . The intention 
is to address the issues that are the highest priority for the local community and the organisations that support them . 
One of the People Zone areas is Bell Foundry which has the highest number of alcohol specific hospital admissions 
in Leicestershire . Stakeholders within this People Zone area have identified drug related crime as a key issue and an 
ambition statement has been developed which focuses on addressing substance misuse

39  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

263



Weight management
Although our weight management services show a level of effectiveness, it is clear that they are, in part, providing for a 
group of patients with a higher level of need than they were designed for . I would re-new a call for all partners, including 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), to recognise their commissioning responsibilities in the creation of an integrated 
weight management pathway .

Response:

Obesity related ill-health and the importance of having an obesity pathway in place has been recognised across the 
healthcare system in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, and is part of several work streams to redesign patient 
pathways (e .g . gastroenterology and cardiology), led by University Hospitals Leicester NHS Trust .

The Council’s part of the ‘obesity pathway’ has been redesigned and through this work the continued gap in CCG 
commissioned specialist weight management services has been highlighted . There will be some groups not eligible 
for Council weight management services (e .g . people with complex obesity-related ill health, people with learning 
disabilities and women who are pregnant) that may not have access to weight management support unless this gap is 
addressed .

40  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

264



Deprivation and rural health
Although relatively affluent as a whole, analysis of the ‘housing and environment’ domain of the Index of Multiple Deprivation 
shows that Leicestershire faces challenges around housing and access to services . A priority for public health in the next 
year will be to examine rural health in more depth and ensure that robust plans are in place to tackle rural health issues .

Response:

The recently completed demography chapter of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2018-2021 sets out 
data on the health and well being needs of Leicestershire both now and into the future . The JSNA sets out the key rural 
health issues that should be borne in mind by commissioners and providers .

Farmers and other agricultural workers are included amongst occupational groups that are at particularly high suicide 
risk (other groups include nurses and doctors) . For example, GPs in rural areas, aware of the higher rates of suicide in 
farmers and agricultural workers, will be well prepared to assess and manage depression and suicide risk .

The recently launched ‘Start a Conversation’ campaign tackling attitudes and stigma towards death by suicide, 
recognises the importance of rurality as a risk factor . The Leicestershire and Rutland Rural Partnership holds a series of 
suicide prevention awareness training workshops across the county .

41  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

265



References
1 .  Office of National Statistics (2018) Subnational population projections for England: 2016-based . Available at: 

https://www .ons .gov .uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/
subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2016based 

2 .  Public Health England (2018) Public Health Outcomes Framework . Available at: https://fingertips .phe .org .uk/profile/
public-health-outcomes-framework 

3 .  NHS Digital (2017) Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) - 2016/17 . Available at: https://digital .nhs .uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/quality-and-outcomes-framework-achievement-prevalence-and-exceptions-data/
quality-and-outcomes-framework-qof-2016-17 

4 .  Public Health England (2016) Hypertension prevalence estimates for local populations . Available at: https://www .gov .
uk/government/publications/hypertension-prevalence-estimates-for-local-populations

5 .  Public Health England (2018) Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNA Profile . Available at: https://fingertips .phe .org .uk/
profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna 

6 .  Public Health England (2018) Musculoskeletal Diseases Profile . Available at: https://fingertips .phe .org .uk/profile/msk 

7 .  Public Health England (2018) NHS Health Check Profile . Available at: https://fingertips .phe .org .uk/profile/nhs-health-
check-detailed 

8 .  Institute of Public Care (2018) . Projecting Older People Population Information . Available at: http://www .poppi .org .uk/ 

9 .  Karen Barnett, Stewart W Mercer, Michael Norbury, Graham Watt, Sally Wyke, Bruce Guthrie, Epidemiology of 
multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study . The Lancet, 
Volume 380, Issue 9836, 2012, Pages 37-43, ISSN 0140-6736, https://doi .org/10 .1016/S0140-6736(12)60240-2 . 
(http://www .sciencedirect .com/science/article/pii/S0140673612602402) 

10 . Public Health England (2018) PHE prevalence estimates of multi-morbidity (region and local authority)

11 . Department of Health and Social Care (2018) Local area performance measures: NHS social care interface dashboard . 
Available at: https://www .gov .uk/government/publications/local-area-performance-metrics-and-ambitions 

12 . Leicestershire County Council (2018) . Standardised Admissions Ratio from Hospital Episode Statistics and ONS Mid-
year Population Estimates .

42  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

266



13 . Public Health England (2018) Dementia Profile . Available at: https://fingertips .phe .org .uk/profile-group/mental-health/
profile/dementia 

14 . Soong J, Poots A, Scott S, et al . Quantifying the prevalence of frailty in English hospitals . BMJ Open 2015;5:e008456 . 
doi: 10 .1136/bmjopen-2015-008456 

15 . Public Health England, Local Knowledge and Intelligence Service East Midlands (2018) Patients with frailty admissions 
in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, 2014/15 - 2016/17 

16 . Public Health England (2018) End of Life Care Profile . Available at: https://fingertips .phe .org .uk/profile/end-of-life

43  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2018

267



268



 

CABINET – 23RD NOVEMBER 2018 
 

DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW MODEL FOR HOMELESSNESS AND 
HOUSING SUPPORT  

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 
PART A 

 

Purpose of the Report  
 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval to consult on a new 
model for Homelessness and Housing Support Service for Leicestershire. 

 

Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 

 
a. The draft model for homelessness and housing support be agreed for 

consultation; 
 

b. A further report be submitted to the Cabinet in Spring 2019 regarding the 
outcome of the consultation and presenting the final service model for 
approval. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. The County Council has a statutory duty to take appropriate steps to improve the 

health of people living in Leicestershire. This includes the provision of health 
improvement information, advice and support services aimed at preventing illness. 
Consultation with stakeholders will help inform the revised model. Being homeless 
has significant negative impacts on both physical and mental health and so the 
health of the homeless people is a priority area for public health. 

 
4. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) includes a savings target of £3.1m by 

2020/21across a number of contracts as part of the Early Help and Prevention 
Review (EHAP). Expenditure on homelessness support has been included in the 
Review and any savings realised from the current offer will contribute to the EHAP 
savings target. 

  
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the proposed new model 

at its meeting on 16 January 2019 as part of the consultation process.  The outcome 
of the consultation together with the final delivery model will be submitted to the 
Cabinet for approval in the spring of 2019.  

269 Agenda Item 7



6. Subject to approval of the final model by the Cabinet, it is intended that it would be 
implemented from October 2019. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions   

 
7. In September 2014 Cabinet considered the outcome of the strategic review of the 

Adults and Communities Department’s secondary prevention services, and 
authorised the Director of Adults and Communities to implement the proposed 
prevention offer for Homelessness Support establishing the current service.   

 
8. In June 2016, the Cabinet considered the outcome of an independent review of Early 

Help and Prevention services and approved the EHAP Strategy arising from that 
review.  The proposed new model for homelessness and housing support is within 
the scope of this Strategy and will form part of the prevention offer in Leicestershire 
as set out in the Target Operating Model for prevention in the EHAP review.  

 
9. In April 2018 commissioning responsibility for the service was transferred from the 

Department for Adults and Communities to Public Health, along with a revised MTFS 
savings target of £200,000 to be achieved by April 2020. 

 

10. The Council does not bear the statutory responsibility for homelessness support.  
That responsibility lies with district councils under the Homelessness Act 2002 and 
latterly the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA), which came into effect from 3 April 
2018 and which places a new duty to prevent and relieve homelessness regardless 
of priority.  The Council does however have a duty under the Act to assist the district 
councils with formulating their strategies and to take these into account when 
formulating its social service function.  

 
11. The proposals outlined in the report support the County Council’s Strategic Plan and 

Single Outcomes Framework adopted in December 2017.  Specifically it supports the 
following outcomes: 

 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity: The people of Leicestershire have the 
opportunities and support they need to take control of their health and 
wellbeing. 
 

 Keeping People Safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 
harm. 
 

 Affordable and Quality Homes: Leicestershire has a choice of quality homes 
that people can afford.  

 
Resource Implications 
 
12. The new model for homelessness and housing support is expected to achieve savings 

of £200,000 per annum which would contribute to the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) savings target.  The total remaining budget for this service will be 
£300,000 per annum.  

 
13. As part of the service remodel, it is likely that TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings 

(Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981) will apply. The purpose of TUPE is to 
protect employment rights when employees transfer from one business to another, 

270



which may be the case with the new delivery model.  Further work is required to 
identify potential redundancy costs.   

 
14. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance have 

been consulted on the content of this report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

15. Mr. J. Miah CC (Loughborough East).  This report has been circulated to all Members 
of the County Council via the Members’ News in Brief. 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health 
Tel. 0116 305 4239 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Rob Howard, Consultant in Public Health 
Tel: 0116 305 4256 
Email: rob.howard@leics.gov.uk  

 
 

  

271

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:rob.howard@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background  
 

16. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places statutory duties on the Council for public 
health services, including the duty to improve public health through mandated and 
non-mandated functions.  

 
17. There is strong evidence that the public health duties of the Council make it desirable 

to offer support for a vulnerable group of society with poor health outcomes.  Without 
appropriate support there is likely to be a pressure on the Council’s statutory services 
including Residential Care, Supporting Independence Services, and Home Care. 

 
18. Being homeless has, as would be expected, significant negative impacts on both 

physical and mental health. The average age of death for those who are rough 
sleeping or resident in homeless accommodation is 47 for men and 43 for women, 
therefore, the health of the homeless is a priority area for public health. In 2014, 80% 
of homeless people in England reported that they had mental health issues, with 45% 
having been diagnosed with a mental health condition. The most prevalent health 
problems among homeless individuals are substance misuse (62.5%), and 42.6% 
report having both substance misuse and mental health issues. Given that these 
problems are causally linked with homelessness, they add significantly more costs to 
homelessness due to the need for health and social care support 

 
19. It is proposed that a future service model provides support for those at risk of 

homelessness who require more intensive support with issues such as substance 
misuse and mental health issues, moving away from the current more general 
housing support service. In addition the new model will work with families at risk of 
homelessness as well as single people.  

 
Current Service 

 
20. The County Council currently commissions housing-related support to vulnerable 

people who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. This service is currently 
provided by Nottingham Community Housing Association (NCHA). 

 
21. There are two components to the current service:- 

 
a) An in-reach support service into the Falcon Centre Homeless Hostel in 

Loughborough which NCHA sub-contracts to Falcon Support Services within 
the Falcon Centre.  The hostel is a 30-bedded hostel based in Loughborough, 
for homeless single people and couples over the age of 18. The current cost of 
this element of the contract is £180,000 per year.  

 
b) An outreach floating support service which is delivered by both NCHA and The 

Bridge.  The current cost of this element is £320,000.  This includes a 
combination of telephone support, group work, specific issue surgeries, e.g. 
benefits advice, signposting and one-to-one contact where necessary.  This 
element of support consists of 6.2 whole time equivalent staff.  

 

272



22. The current service aims to enable service users to develop or maintain their 
independence within the community. It does this by providing ‘short term’ 
accommodation and a floating support service, to both prevent homelessness and to 
support and enable homeless people to move back into secure appropriate 
accommodation.  

 
Proposed New Model for Homelessness and Housing Support  

 
23. It is proposed that the in-reach housing support element based at the Falcon Centre 

remains unchanged, continuing to provide intensive support and accommodation in 
times of crisis. However it is proposed that the outreach floating support element will 
be decommissioned and replaced with a redesigned (£120,000) community outreach 
model in line with the Council’s Local Area Coordination service (LAC).  

 
24. Leicestershire Local Area Coordination is a complex community-based intervention, 

operationally delivered by a team of Coordinators.  Also referred to as an Asset 
Based Community Development programme, LAC’s fundamental aims are to 
increase individual and community capacity while reducing demand for costly primary 
and acute services, as well as other public services, by working with beneficiaries 
who are vulnerable and often experiencing a range of multi-layer complex 
challenges.  It is considered that this evidence based preventative model could 
therefore also be applied to homelessness prevention.   The remit of the current LAC 
Service would expand to include responsibilities around prevention of homelessness. 
A number of additional Local Area Coordinators would be recruited.  Subject to 
consultation on the service model it is anticipated that around three whole time 
equivalent posts would be created as specialist posts working in partnership with the 
wider LAC team. 

 
25. LACs have already established excellent partnerships and referral mechanisms with 

district and voluntary and community sector partners. It is expected that referrals 
would continue to be received for outreach floating support and that onward referrals 
would be made for other supporting services including district council prevention 
services and substance misuse and mental health services.  The LAC coordinators 
will, if the proposal is accepted, facilitate a holistic assessment of need and ensure 
that the right services are engaged to provide wrap around support to individuals at 
risk of homelessness.  Different to the current offer, the LAC model would work with 
families as well as single people at risk of homelessness.  

 
26. The Homelessness LAC coordinators would enable the development of a consistent 

Leicestershire-wide approach to preventing homelessness.  Each specialist LAC 
would have a distinct geographical remit. The specialist LACs will also provide 
cascade training to all the other 22 current LACs to enable them to provide an 
enhanced service tackling some of the key risk factors for homelessness such as 
support with tenancy issues, debt counselling, neighbourhood disputes, alcohol and 
drug addiction and family breakdown.  

 
27. Each specialist LAC would develop relationships with district and community partners 

to ensure a consistency of approach, identifying and where possible filling in gaps in 
service provision, and will work to ensure duplication of services is avoided.  

 

273



28. The Falcon Centre in-reach service element would remain unchanged. The Centre 
in-reach support element would enable support for those already homeless and in 
crisis, complementing the specialist LAC service, and Homelessness Service 
provision already being provided by district councils.  

 
Timeline 

 
29. The current service has been extended until end September 2019. It is planned for a 

new service to be in place no later than October 2019. 
 

Consultation 
 

30. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, a targeted consultation exercise is planned to take 
place for 12 weeks between January and April 2019.  The consultation will seek the 
views of district councils, the current provider, Nottingham Community Housing 
Association (and its sub-contracted providers), the wider voluntary and community 
sector, CCGs and health service providers, and the current service providers for 
substance misuse and mental health services.  This will be done via an online 
questionnaire and targeted consultation events.  The Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will receive a report on the proposals at its meeting in January 2019. 

 
31. The outcomes of the consultation will help inform the final model which will be 

presented to the Cabinet for approval in the spring of 2019. 
 

Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 

32. The Equality Act 2010 imposes a duty on the local authority when making decisions 
to exercise due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people who have a 
protected characteristic and those who do not.  An Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) report will be completed in relation to the impact of any 
change to service model.  This will be informed by the outcomes of the consultation 
and will be presented to the Cabinet alongside the consultation outcomes to assist 
the Cabinet with the exercise of its Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 
2010.    
 

33. An  EHRIA screening assessment has been carried out, which concludes that 
although the proposals are likely to have an impact on individuals or groups 
associated with several of the ‘protected characteristics’, at this stage the direction 
and size of the impact is unknown and so a full EHRIA is required.  The EHRIA 
screening will be used to inform the consultation exercise, for example in targeting 
the cohorts and representative groups who should be involved. 

 
Background Papers 

 
Report to the Cabinet on 17 June 2016 - Early Help and Prevention Review and Strategy 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4  

 
 

274

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4


  
CABINET – 23RD NOVEMBER 2018  

 
IMPROVING CONNECTIVITY WITHIN WATERMEAD COUNTRY 

PARKS – NEW FOOTBRIDGE AND CYCLEWAY 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. This report sets out a proposal for a new footbridge and cycleway across the 

River Soar near Thurmaston to improve connections within Watermead Country 
Parks, and seeks approval to progress the project and for the County Council to 
contribute funding towards the footbridge and associated paths which would be 
built in partnership with Leicester City Council.  It should be noted that there are 
two Watermead Country Parks, the northern park is in the ownership of the 
County Council and the southern is owned by the City Council. 
 

2. The report also highlights the ongoing partnership work between Leicester City 
and Leicestershire County Councils to maintain and develop Watermead Country 
Parks as a safe and welcome visitor attraction. 

 
Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended:- 
 

a) That £750,000 is allocated for the construction of the footbridge and 
associated footpaths and cycleway at Watermead Parks identified on the 
plan appended to this report subject to the City Council agreeing to 
contribute the equivalent amount;  
 

b) That the Director of Corporate Resources in consultation with the Director of 
Law and Governance is authorised to take all necessary steps to progress 
the project including leading on the procurement for the scheme and 
establishing joint programme arrangements with Leicester City Council; 
 

c) That the continued partnership working between both Councils be welcomed 
and supported. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
4. To improve connectivity within Watermead Country Parks and to promote, 

maintain and enhance the Parks as a visitor attraction. 

275 Agenda Item 8



Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. It is expected that the Leicester City Mayor will also make a decision with respect 

to funding of the scheme and joint working on 23rd November.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
 

6. Subject to approval by the Cabinet and the City Mayor and the necessary 
agreements being reached with other parties, it is intended that work on the new 
footbridge would commence in the spring of 2019 at the earliest.  It is expected 
that it would take around 12 months to complete the work; the nature of the 
terrain means that it is unlikely that much work will advance during the winter 
months.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The proposed improvements align with the ambitions in the County Council’s 

Strategic Plan to enhance the quality of life throughout Leicestershire, working in 
partnership with others. 
 

8. The enhancement to the cycling and footpath provision along the river and canal 
corridor between the city centre and Birstall, Thurmaston, and Syston will 
encourage more environmentally sustainable transport, as set out in the 
Council’s Environment Strategy. 

Resource Implications 

 
9. Considerable exploratory work has already been undertaken by both councils 

and a feasibility study was commissioned by the City Council to explore the 
practicality of constructing the footbridge.  The work undertaken indicates that 
construction of the bridge and associated footpaths will cost around £2m, 
including the relevant licences and agreements.  
 

10. The City Mayor has agreed that a budget of £500,000 could be made available 
from the approved Local Growth Fund programme from the River Soar Grand 
Union Canal Access project.  This has already been the subject of a key decision 
by the City Mayor on 13th July 2018 and is approved funding as part of a wider 
programme of work which the City Council is delivering with partners from the 
Environment Agency and the Canal and River Trust. 

 
11. There is therefore a remaining balance of the £1.5m, which will be split equally 

between the County and City Councils.  A decision by the City Mayor will be 
required for approval of the remaining £750,000 and this decision will also be 
made by 23rd November.  Funding for the County Council element of the project 
has already been earmarked within the Authority’s “Future Developments Fund” 
and can be drawn upon when required.  

 
12. As the bridge would be adopted by the County Council once built, a provision will 

be made within the overall budget towards the future maintenance arrangements 
and this would be agreed by the City and County Councils towards the end of the 
programme. 
 

276



Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

13. A copy of this report has been circulated to Mr. I. Bentley CC (Birstall), Mr. T. 
Barkley CC (Syston Ridgeway) and Mrs B. Seaton CC (Thurmaston Ridgemere). 
 

Officers to Contact   
 

Chris Tambini  
Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
E-mail: christambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Roderick O'Connor  
Assistant Director, Commercial and Customer Services 
Tel: 0116 305 5846 
E-mail: roderick.o'connor@leics.gov.uk          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

277

mailto:christambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:RoderickO'Connor@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
  

Background 
 
14. Watermead Parks are two attractive open spaces that contain a network of lakes, 

woodlands and nature reserves between the valley of the River Soar and the Old 
Grand Union Canal.  The parks and facilities link the Leicester city centre to the 
north of the city and to Birstall, Thurmaston, Syston, and Cossington.  The parks 
are popular and valued by local residents and visitors to the area.  

 
15. Leicester City and Leicestershire County Councils have been working 

collaboratively since 2016, with officers meeting regularly to discuss the parks’ 
management.  In recent months new joint branding and signage bearing the 
logos of both councils has been erected. 
 

16. Due to the financial difficulties experienced by local authorities in recent years, 
the quality and provision of parks facilities has declined in many areas across the 
country.  Whilst there are well established existing systems in place to manage 
Watermead Parks, the City Mayor and Leader of the County Council are keen to 
see greater benefits achieved through co-production. 
 

17. The vision over the next five years is for the two Councils to work together to 
attract more visitors and maintain, enhance and develop the parks as a high 
quality, accessible space for residents and visitors now and for the future.  There 
is also an opportunity to improve the cycling and footpath provision along the 
river and canal corridor between the city centre and communities to the north, 
which was originally established with the help of “Big Lottery” funding received in 
2008 and used over the subsequent years.  

 
Proposal  

 
18. A key challenge for connectivity between the North and South Parks is the lack 

of a central crossing, hence the proposal for a new bridge across the River Soar.  
This would both improve access to the parks for pedestrians and cyclists and 
provide a more direct link route into central Leicester for communities to the 
north. 

 
19. The development of a bridge and improvements to the pathways will enable 

greater connectivity, enhance walking and cycling travel options, and will improve 
access to open spaces.   
 

20. Increasing the levels of physical activity for all is a public health priority for both 
County and City Councils.  Promoting and facilitating physical activity through 
active travel can make a significant positive contribution to both people’s physical 
and mental health, and steps to reduce reliance on vehicle transport (e.g. to 
schools and workplaces) can help to improve air quality.     

 
 
 
 

278



Exploratory Work 
 

21. Officers began exploratory work in the autumn of 2017 (as a joint City-County 
project).  It was decided that, given the various constraints of the site, the 
location shown on the appended plan, to the north of the Bridge Business Park, 
represented the most feasible option.      

 
22. The land to the south of site of the proposed bridge is privately owned, and initial 

dialogue has taken place with the landowner regarding the principle of a new 
footpath route and bridge across their land. The landowner has indicated that 
they would agree to the work being progressed subject to satisfactory terms 
being agreed.  

 
23. Any associated costs that the landowner incurs will be paid for from the 

programme budget, and the landowner has indicated that there may also be a 
cost for surrender of a portion of their land to support the project and help 
develop the area.  Any further costs associated with the dedication of third party 
land are yet to be confirmed. 
 

24. In the meantime, an officer working group has been exploring the concept and 
practical issues relating to buildability and construction access have also been 
considered, to provide a high-level cost estimate and understanding of risks, 
particularly around the ground conditions and flooding.  

 
25. Additional ground investigation works have been undertaken (in August 2018) on 

either side of the river at the proposed bridge location.  The detailed report is 
expected shortly, but initial findings indicate that suitable ground is available at 
reasonable depth, thus enabling the bridge to be founded on piles.  This removes 
a significant element of building risk.  
 

Proposed Next Steps 
 

26. Once funding is secured from both councils the next steps would be to 
commence a procurement exercise for a contractor and also to appoint a project 
manager. A planning application will also be required from the County Council. 
 

27. Initial conversations have taken place with the Environment Agency and the 
Canal and River Trust, which also own land which may be affected by the 
construction of the bridge, and further discussions are planned.  County Council 
and City Council officers will also commence dialogue with the appointed 
solicitors of the landowner. 
 

28. Subject to the necessary agreements being obtained, it is intended that the 
County Council would initiate a procurement exercise and establish joint 
programme arrangements with the City Council to progress the project and 
manage risks and resources. 

 
 
 
 

279



Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

29. An Equalities and Human Resources Impact assessment will be carried out. 
However an initial pre-assessment is that the bridge and improved paths will 
have a positive impact in improving accessibility. 
 

Environmental Implications 
 

30. The construction of the bridge is expected to have minor negative environmental 
implications and should ultimately result in positive environmental implications for 
the parks.  However, there is a plan to carry out a series of ecological studies 
prior to and during construction.  
 

Risk Assessments 
 

31. The main risk to this programme is that both councils will require the consent of 
the landowners to construct the bridge on their land. As indicated above, positive 
dialogue is taking place.   
 

Background Papers 
 

None. 
 
Appendix 
 
Plan showing proposed new bridge and footpath links, Watermead Country Parks 
 

280



Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or
civil proceedings. Leicestershire County
Council 100019271. Published 2018

Proposed New Bridge & Links
Watermead Country Parks

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey
material with the permission of Ordnance Survey
on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s
Stationary Office © Crown copyright.

Birstall
Thurmaston

Alderton
Car Park

Watermead North
Car Park

New Bridge

Cycleway To
Syston &

Cossington

Cycleway To 
City Centre

Watermead North
Country Park

Watermead South
Country Park

City Boundary

City Boundary

City Boundary

Key

New Bridge

Car Parks

Cycleways

Other Paths

City Boundary

Appendix 1

River Soar

Marina

281



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

283 Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2018.
	4 Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan - Consideration Of Revised Plan For Approval.
	Appendix A - Strategic Growth Plan
	Appendix B - Key changes
	Appendix C - Risk Assesment
	Appendix D - Scrutiny Commission minute
	Appendix E - EHRIA

	5 Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium 2018.
	Appendix A - Annual Delivery Report
	Appendix B - Performance Compendium

	6 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2018: Leicestershire's Health - The Challenge of Frailty and Multi-Morbidity.
	Appendix - DPH Annual Report 2018

	7 Development of a New Model for Homelessness and Housing Support.
	8 Improving Connectivity within Watermead Country Parks - New Footbridge and Cycleway.
	Appendix - Watermead Bridge Plan

	12 Adult Social Care Target Operating Model.



